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Part I  

Item 1. Business.  

Description of Business  

We are a specialty retailer of consumer electronics, home-office products, entertainment software, appliances and related services. We operate 
retail stores and/or commercial Web sites under the brand names Best Buy (BestBuy.com and BestBuyCanada.ca), Future Shop (FutureShop.ca), 
Magnolia Audio Video (MagnoliaAV.com) and Geek Squad (GeekSquad.com), as well as an outlet store on eBay.  

Our vision is to make life fun and easy for consumers. Our business strategy is to bring technology and consumers together in a retail 
environment that focuses on educating consumers on the features and benefits of technology and entertainment products, while maximizing 
overall profitability. We believe our stores offer consumers meaningful advantages in store environment, product value, product selection and 
customer service, all of which advance our objectives of enhancing our business model, gaining market share and improving profitability. 
During fiscal 2003, we adopted four strategic initiatives that we believe will further enhance our business model. Additional information on our 
strategic initiatives is included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations , of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

We were incorporated in the state of Minnesota in 1966 as Sound of Music, Inc., and changed our name to Best Buy Co., Inc. in 1983. We began 
as an audio components retailer, and with the introduction of the videocassette recorder in the early 1980s, expanded into video products. In 
1983, we revised our marketing strategy and began using mass-merchandising techniques, which included offering a wider variety of products 
and operating stores under a "superstore" concept. In 1989, we dramatically changed our method of retailing by introducing a self-service, 
noncommissioned, discount-style store concept designed to give the customer more control over the purchasing process.  

In fiscal 2000, we established our first online shopping site, BestBuy.com. Our "clicks-and-mortar" strategy is designed to empower consumers 
to research and purchase products seamlessly either online or in retail stores. Our online shopping site offers products in all of our principal 
product categories. In fiscal 2004, we continued to make enhancements to improve the shopping experience on our Web sites.  

The Best Buy store format has evolved to include more interactive displays and, for certain products, a higher level of customer service, with the 
latest version designed to increase labor efficiency and to improve merchandising. In fiscal 2000, we introduced a small-market Best Buy store 
concept that offers merchandise in the same product categories as larger stores, with a product assortment tailored to each respective community. 
In fiscal 2004, as part of our customer centricity initiative, we developed and tested several new store formats and customized the product 
offerings within these stores to meet the needs of our customers better.  

Our International segment was established in connection with our acquisition of Future Shop Ltd. (Future Shop) in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 
2003, we launched our dual-branding strategy in Canada by introducing the Best Buy brand. We continue to believe the Canadian market can 
support both brands.  

Acquisitions  

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, we acquired the common stock of Magnolia Hi-Fi, Inc. (Magnolia Hi-Fi), a Seattle-based, high-end retailer 
of audio and video products, for $88 million in cash. We acquired Magnolia Hi-Fi to access an upscale customer segment. During fiscal 2004, 
Magnolia Hi-Fi began doing business as Magnolia Audio Video. We believe the new name and redesigned logo are more representative of  
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Magnolia Audio Video's image as an upscale retailer of high-end consumer electronics.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2002, we acquired all of the common stock of Future Shop for $377 million. The Future Shop acquisition marked 
our expansion into international operations and provided us with an opportunity to increase revenue, gain market share, leverage our operational 
expertise in consumer electronics retailing and increase shareholder value. Since the acquisition, we have continued to build on Future Shop's 
position as the leading consumer electronics retailer in Canada.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2003, we acquired all of the common stock of Geek Squad, Inc. (Geek Squad) for approximately $3 million. Geek 
Squad provides residential and commercial computer support services. We acquired Geek Squad to further our plans of providing technology 
support services to customers. As of February 28, 2004, Geek Squad service was available in seven markets and had in-store technicians in more 
than 20 U.S. Best Buy stores. By the end of fiscal 2005, we expect to have Geek Squad technicians available in the majority of our U.S. Best 
Buy stores. Geek Squad's operations were a very small part of our fiscal 2004 business. However, our goal is to make Geek Squad North 
America's largest provider of in-home computer repair and installation services, and we believe that over time it will become a more significant 
factor in our business.  

All three acquisitions described above were accounted for using the purchase method. Under this method, net assets and results of operations of 
those businesses were included in our consolidated financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition.  

In fiscal 2003, we put on hold any major acquisitions or expansion beyond North America to focus on our core business. During our fiscal 2004 
fourth-quarter earnings conference call on March 31, 2004, we confirmed that we do not intend to make any material acquisitions for the next 
18 months.  

Additional information regarding our acquisitions is available in Note 3, Acquisitions, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

General Development of Business  

During our fiscal year ended February 28, 2004, there were no significant changes to our corporate structure or material changes in our mode of 
conducting the business, except as follows:  

Sale of Musicland  

On June 16, 2003, we sold our interest in The Musicland Group, Inc. (Musicland) to an affiliate of Sun Capital Partners Inc. The affiliate of Sun 
Capital Partners Inc. assumed all of Musicland's liabilities, including approximately $500 million in lease obligations, in exchange for all of the 
capital stock of Musicland, and paid no cash consideration. The transaction also resulted in the transfer of all of Musicland's assets other than a 
distribution center in Franklin, Indiana, and selected nonoperating assets. The sale of our interest in Musicland resulted in an after-tax loss on the 
disposal of discontinued operations totaling $66 million. In connection with the sale, Musicland is purchasing transition support services from us 
for up to one year from the date of the sale, until Musicland is able to develop long-term providers for these services.  

We acquired the common stock of Musicland Stores Corporation in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. The original strategy behind our Musicland 
acquisition was to bring Best Buy's core competencies in retailing consumer electronics to new consumer segments, including segments typically 
underserved by our Best Buy stores. However, the Musicland business did not meet our financial objectives. The sale of our interest in 
Musicland allows us to focus on our core business, which is our primary growth and profit driver. Musicland's financial results have been 
classified separately as discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements for all periods presented.  
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Additional information regarding Discontinued Operations is included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations , and Note 2, Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Unless otherwise noted, the following discussion relates to continuing operations only.  

Financial Information  
about Segments  

During fiscal 2004, we operated two reportable segments: Domestic and International. The Domestic segment is comprised of U.S. Best Buy and 
Magnolia Audio Video operations. U.S. Best Buy stores offer a wide variety of consumer electronics, home-office equipment, entertainment 
software, appliances and related services. Magnolia Audio Video stores offer high-end audio and video products. The International segment is 
comprised of Future Shop and Best Buy operations in Canada. Future Shop and Canadian Best Buy stores offer products similar to those offered 
by U.S. Best Buy stores.  

Additional information regarding our "Segment Performance" is included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, selected financial data for our segments is available in 
Note 10, Segments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Reference is also made to Part II, Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for a discussion regarding the risks associated with foreign operations.  

Domestic Segment  

Overview  

U.S. Best Buy  

At February 28, 2004, we operated 608 U.S. Best Buy stores in 48 states and the District of Columbia that averaged approximately 43,500 retail 
square feet. Collectively, U.S. Best Buy stores totaled approximately 26.4 million retail square feet at the end of fiscal 2004, or about 90% of the 
Company's total retail square footage. For fiscal 2004, U.S. Best Buy retail stores generated average revenue of approximately $38.6 million per 
store.  

Magnolia Audio Video  

At February 28, 2004, we operated 22 Magnolia Audio Video stores in California, Washington and Oregon that averaged approximately 10,000 
retail square feet. Collectively, Magnolia Audio Video stores totaled approximately 218,000 retail square feet at the end of fiscal 2004, less than 
1% of the Company's total retail square footage. For fiscal 2004, Magnolia Audio Video retail stores generated average revenue of 
approximately $6.5 million per store.  

Operations  

U.S. Best Buy  

U.S. Best Buy stores follow a standardized and detailed operating procedure called Standard Operating Platform (SOP). The SOP includes 
procedures for inventory management, transaction processing, customer relations, store administration, product sales and merchandise display. 
All stores function in exactly the same manner under the SOP. During fiscal 2004, in conjunction with our customer centricity initiative, we 
began testing a new, Adaptive Operating Platform (AOP). The AOP decentralizes authority and allows the person closest to the customer to 
make informed decisions. This change may involve some variation in product offerings, staffing, promotions and store design.  

U.S. Best Buy store operations are organized into three divisions. Each division is divided into regions and is under the supervision of a senior  
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vice president who oversees store performance through regional vice presidents. Regional vice presidents have responsibility for a number of 
districts within their respective region. District managers monitor store operations and meet regularly with store managers to discuss 
merchandising, new product introductions, sales promotions, customer loyalty programs, employee satisfaction surveys and store operating 
performance. Similar meetings are conducted at the corporate level with divisional and regional management. Our Senior Vice President of retail 
operations has overall responsibility for retail store processing and operations, including labor management. Each district also has a loss 
prevention manager, with product security personnel employed at each store to control physical inventory losses. Advertising, merchandise 
buying and pricing, as well as inventory policies for U.S. Best Buy stores are centrally controlled.  

U.S. Best Buy stores are generally open 75 hours per week, seven days a week. A store is typically staffed by one manager and four to five 
assistant managers. The average staff in each store ranges from 65 to 150 people, depending on store size and sales volume. Beginning in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2005, the management structure and store staffing levels of our U.S. Best Buy stores were adjusted and is now based on 
sales productivity. Previously, management structures and store staffing levels were based primarily on store size.  

Magnolia Audio Video  

Magnolia Audio Video stores are typically managed by a store manager, an audio/video sales manager and, if the store contains mobile products, 
a mobile electronics sales manager. Magnolia Audio Video stores are generally open 72 hours per week, seven days a week. Depending on an 
individual store's volume and product offerings, store staffing includes eight to 25 commissioned sales personnel, two to six commissioned 
mobile electronics installers and one to five sales support staff personnel. Corporate management for Magnolia Audio Video stores centrally 
controls advertising, merchandise buying and pricing, as well as inventory policies.  

International Segment  

Overview  

At February 28, 2004, we operated 108 Future Shop stores throughout all Canadian provinces and 19 Canadian Best Buy stores in Ontario, 
Alberta and Manitoba. Collectively, International stores totaled approximately 2.8 million retail square feet, or about 10% of the Company's total 
retail square footage, as of the end of fiscal 2004. For fiscal 2004, International retail stores generated average revenue of approximately 
$19.4 million per store.  

The dual-branding strategy allows us to retain Future Shop's brand equity and attract more customers by offering a choice of store experiences. 
As we expand the presence of Best Buy stores in Canada, we expect to gain operating efficiencies through the leveraging of our capital 
investments, supply chain management, advertising, merchandising and administrative functions. Our goal is to reach differentiated customers 
with each brand by giving them the unique shopping experiences they desire. The primary differences between our two Canadian brands are:  

In-store experience — The customer's interaction with store employees is different at each of the two brands. Future Shop stores have 
commissioned sales associates who take a more proactive role in assisting customers. Through their expertise and attentiveness, the sales 
associate drives the transaction. In contrast, Canadian Best Buy store employees are noncommissioned, and the stores offer 
more interactive displays and grab-and-go merchandising. This design allows the customer to drive the transaction as they experience the 
products themselves, with store employees available to demonstrate and explain product features.  

Store size — At the end of fiscal 2004, the average Future Shop store was approximately 21,000 retail square feet, compared with an 
average of approximately 29,000 retail square feet for Canadian Best Buy stores. Canadian  
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Best Buy stores generally have wider aisles, as well as more square footage devoted to entertainment software.  

Operations  

International stores use a standardized operating system. The operating system includes procedures for inventory management, transaction 
processing, customer relations, store administration, staff training and performance appraisal, as well as merchandise display. Advertising, 
merchandise buying and pricing, and inventory policies are centrally controlled.  

International store operations are organized to support two brands, each headed by a vice president. Each vice president has regional 
management who closely monitor store operations and meet regularly with store managers to review management and staff training programs, 
customer feedback and requests, store operating performance and other matters. Meetings involving store management, product managers, 
advertising, financial and administrative staff, as well as senior management, are held quarterly to review operating results and to establish 
future objectives.  

International stores are generally open 60 to 75 hours per week, seven days a week. A typical store is staffed by a general manager, several 
department sales managers, a customer service manager, and 48 to 95 full-time staff associates, as well as part-time associates. The number of 
full-time staff associates is dependent upon store size, sales volume and store brand.  

Narrative Description of Business  

Merchandise  

U.S. Best Buy  

U.S. Best Buy stores offer merchandise in four product categories: consumer electronics, home office, entertainment software and appliances. 
Consumer electronics, the largest product category for fiscal 2004 based on revenue, consists of video and audio products. Video products 
include televisions, digital cameras, DVD players, digital camcorders and digital broadcast satellite systems. Audio products include car stereos, 
shelf systems and speakers, home theater audio systems, portable audio equipment, audio components and mobile electronics. The home office 
category includes desktop and notebook computers and related peripheral equipment, telephones, cellular telephones and MP3 players. 
Entertainment software products include DVD movies, video game hardware and software, compact discs and computer software. The appliance 
category includes major appliances as well as vacuums, small electrics and housewares.  

The following table presents U.S. Best Buy stores' revenue, by product category, as a percentage of total U.S. Best Buy stores' revenue:  

Magnolia Audio Video  

Magnolia Audio Video stores offer merchandise in two product categories: consumer electronics and home office. Consumer electronics, the 
largest product category for fiscal 2004 based on revenue, consists of video and audio products. Video products include televisions, DVD 
players, digital cameras, digital camcorders, mobile video, digital broadcast satellite systems and video accessories.  
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Product Category  
   

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2004 
  

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2003 
  

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2002 
  
  

Consumer Electronics   36 % 37 % 35 % 
Home Office   35 % 34 % 35 % 
Entertainment Software   23 % 23 % 23 % 
Appliances   6 % 6 % 7 % 

  
Total   100 % 100 % 100 % 

  



Audio products include home receivers and amplifiers, home speakers, shelf systems, portable audio equipment, audio accessories, car stereos 
and car security systems. The home office category includes furniture, telephones and wireless communication devices.  

The following table presents Magnolia Audio Video revenue, by product category, as a percentage of total Magnolia Audio Video stores' 
revenue:  

International  

International stores offer merchandise in four product categories: home office, consumer electronics, entertainment software and appliances. 
Home office, the largest product category for fiscal 2004 based on revenue, includes desktop and notebook computers and related peripheral 
equipment, telephones, wireless communication devices and personal digital assistants. The consumer electronics category consists of video and 
audio products. Video products include televisions, digital cameras, DVD players, digital camcorders and digital broadcast satellite systems. 
Audio products include car stereos, portable audio equipment, home theater audio systems, audio components, shelf systems and speakers. 
Entertainment software products include video game hardware and software, DVD movies, computer software and compact discs. The appliance 
category includes major appliances as well as vacuums, small electrics and housewares. Canadian Best Buy stores do not carry appliances.  

Although the two store brands of our International segment carry similar product categories, there are differences in product brands and depth of 
selection within product categories. On average, approximately 40 percent of the product assortment (excluding entertainment software) overlaps 
between the two store brands.  

The following table presents International revenue, by product category, as a percentage of total International revenue:  

(1)  Subsequent to the date of acquisition, November 4, 2001 

 

Distribution  

U.S. Best Buy  

Generally, U.S. Best Buy stores' merchandise, except for major appliances and large-screen televisions, is shipped directly from manufacturers to 
our seven distribution centers located in California, Georgia, Minnesota, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma and Virginia. Major appliances and  
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Product Category  
   

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2004 
  

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2003 
  

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2002 
  
  

Consumer Electronics   97 % 96 % 95 % 
Home Office   3 % 4 % 5 % 

  
Total   100 % 100 % 100 % 

  

Product Category  
   

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2004 
  

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2003 
  

Percentage of 
Total Revenue 

Fiscal 2002 (1) 

  
  

Home Office   41 % 42 % 42 % 
Consumer Electronics   39 % 38 % 37 % 
Entertainment Software   16 % 15 % 17 % 
Appliances   4 % 5 % 4 % 

  
Total   100 % 100 % 100 % 

  



large-screen televisions are shipped to satellite warehouses in each major market. U.S. Best Buy stores are dependent upon the distribution 
centers for inventory storage and shipment of most merchandise. However, in order to meet release dates for selected products and to improve 
inventory management, certain merchandise is shipped directly to the stores from manufacturers and distributors. On average, U.S. Best Buy 
stores receive product shipments two or three times a week depending on sales volume. Generally, e-commerce merchandise sales are either 
picked up at U.S. Best Buy retail stores or fulfilled through our distribution centers. We also operate a dedicated distribution center in Indiana for 
U.S. Best Buy stores' entertainment software.  

We believe our current distribution centers and the relocation of the Oklahoma distribution center to a larger facility in fiscal 2005 will 
accommodate our expansion plans for U.S. Best Buy stores for the next several years.  

Magnolia Audio Video  

Magnolia Audio Video stores' merchandise is received and warehoused at either a distribution center in Kent, Washington, a regional warehouse 
in Hayward, California, or a Best Buy distribution center in Dinuba, California. All inventory is bar coded and scanned to ensure accurate 
tracking. In addition, a computerized inventory replenishment program is used to maintain optimal inventory levels at each retail store. 
Merchandise is delivered to retail stores an average of three times each week pursuant to an in-house distribution system. We believe our current 
distribution centers will accommodate our Magnolia Audio Video stores' operations for the next several years.  

International  

Our International stores' merchandise, except for appliances, is shipped directly from suppliers to distribution centers in British Columbia and 
Ontario. The majority of appliance sales are delivered by third-party distributors. Our International stores are dependent upon the distribution 
centers for inventory storage and shipment of most merchandise. However, in order to meet release dates for selected products and to improve 
inventory management, certain merchandise is shipped directly to the stores from manufacturers and distributors. Our International stores 
typically receive product shipments twice a week, with accelerated shipments during periods of high sales volume. Contract carriers ship 
merchandise from the distribution centers to retail stores. We believe our current distribution centers and the expansion of the Ontario 
distribution center during fiscal 2005 will accommodate our expansion plans for our International stores for the next several years.  

Suppliers  

Our strategy depends, in part, upon our ability to offer customers a broad selection of name-brand products and, therefore, our success is 
dependent upon satisfactory and stable supplier relationships. For fiscal 2004, our 20 largest suppliers accounted for nearly three-fifths of the 
merchandise we purchased, with five suppliers — Sony, Hewlett-Packard, Toshiba, Universal Music and Video Distribution, and Samsung — 
representing more than one-third of total merchandise purchased. The loss of or disruption in supply from any one of these major suppliers could 
have a material adverse effect on our revenue and earnings. We generally do not have long-term written contracts with our major suppliers. We 
have no indication that any of our suppliers will discontinue selling us merchandise. We have not experienced significant difficulty in 
maintaining satisfactory sources of supply, and we generally expect that adequate sources of supply will continue to exist for the types of 
merchandise sold in our stores. In fiscal 2004, we opened a global sourcing office in Shanghai, China, in order to purchase products directly 
from Asian manufacturers. We expect this office will allow us to increase our efficiency and provide us with the capability to offer private-label 
products that fill gaps in our existing product assortment.  
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Store Development  

The addition of new stores has played, and we believe will continue to play in the future, a significant role in our growth and success. Our store 
development program focuses on entering new markets; adding stores within existing markets; and relocating, remodeling and/or expanding 
existing stores. During fiscal 2004, we opened 78 new stores and remodeled, relocated or expanded an additional 13 stores. While many of the 
new stores opened in fiscal 2004 were in existing markets, others were in new markets, including the opening of Canadian Best Buy stores in 
Alberta and Manitoba, our first such stores outside the Greater Toronto area.  

The following table reconciles U.S. Best Buy stores open at the beginning and end of each of the last five fiscal years:  

The following table reconciles Magnolia Audio Video stores open at the beginning and end of each fiscal year since the date of acquisition:  

(1)  As of the date of acquisition, December 15, 2000 

 

The following table reconciles Future Shop stores open at the beginning and end of each fiscal year since the date of acquisition:  

(1)  As of the date of acquisition, November 4, 2001 

 

         10  

Fiscal Year  
   

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total 
Stores at 

End of 
Fiscal 
Year 

Balance forward   NA   NA   311 
2000   47   1   357 
2001   62   —  419 
2002   62   —  481 
2003   67   —  548 
2004   60   —  608 

Fiscal Year  
   

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total 
Stores at 

End of 
Fiscal 
Year 

Balance forward (1)   NA   NA   13 
2001   —  —  13 
2002   —  —  13 
2003   6   —  19 
2004   3   —  22 

Fiscal Year  
   

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total 
Stores at 

End of 
Fiscal 
Year 

Balance forward (1)   NA   NA   91 
2002   4   —  95 
2003   9   —  104 
2004   4   —  108 



The following table reconciles Canadian Best Buy stores open at the beginning and end of each fiscal year since inception of the International 
segment:  

During fiscal 2005, we expect to open approximately 73 new stores in the United States and Canada. Most of the new stores will be opened in 
markets where we already have stores, leveraging our infrastructure and making shopping more convenient for our customers. Included in the 73 
stores are approximately 60 U.S. Best Buy stores, including our first store in Hawaii. We also anticipate opening 10 Best Buy stores in Canada, 
including our first such stores in Calgary, Alberta; Regina, Saskatchewan; and Langley, British Columbia, and additional stores in the Greater 
Toronto area. Finally, we anticipate opening three new Future Shop stores, as well as relocating four existing Future Shop stores.  

Additional information regarding our "Outlook for Fiscal 2005" is included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Intellectual Property  

We believe we own valuable intellectual property including trademarks and tradenames some of which, including "Best Buy," the "Yellow Tag" 
logo, "Future Shop," and "Magnolia Audio Video," are of material importance to our business. Our intellectual property is the subject of 
numerous United States and foreign trademark and service mark registrations. We believe our intellectual property has significant value and is an 
important factor in the marketing of the Company, our stores and our Web sites. We are not aware of any facts that could negatively impact our 
continuing use of any of our intellectual property.  

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP), our balance sheets only include the cost of acquired 
intellectual property. The only material acquired intellectual property presently included in our balance sheets is the Future Shop tradename, 
which had a carrying value of $37 million at the end of fiscal 2004. The value of the Future Shop tradename is based on the continuation of the 
Future Shop brand in Canada and currently is considered an indefinite-lived intangible asset. If we ever were to abandon the Future Shop brand, 
we would incur an impairment charge based on the then-carrying value of the Future Shop tradename.  

Seasonality  

Our revenue and earnings are typically greater during our fiscal fourth quarter, which includes the majority of the holiday selling season.  
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Fiscal Year  
   

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total 
Stores at 

End of 
Fiscal 
Year 

Balance forward   NA   NA   NA 
2002   —  —  —
2003   8   —  8 
2004   11   —  19 



Working Capital  

We fund the growth of our business through a combination of available cash and cash equivalents and cash flows generated from operations. In 
addition, our revolving credit facilities are available for additional working capital needs or investment opportunities.  

Additional information on our "Liquidity and Capital Resources" is included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Customers  

During fiscal 2004, we had an average of over 1.5 million customer visits to our retail stores per day. We do not have a significant concentration 
of sales with any individual customer and, therefore, the loss of any one customer would not have a material impact on our business. No single 
customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue.  

Backlog  

Our retail stores and online shopping sites do not have a material amount of backlog orders.  

Government Contracts  

No material portion of the business is subject to renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts or subcontracts at the election of any 
government.  

Competition  

The consumer electronics retail industry is highly competitive. Our stores compete against other consumer electronics retailers, specialty home 
office retailers, mass merchants, home improvement superstores and a growing number of direct-to-consumer alternatives. Our stores also 
compete against independent dealers, regional chain discount stores, wholesale clubs, video rental stores and other specialty retail stores. Mass 
merchants continue to increase their assortment of consumer electronics products — primarily those that are less complex to sell, install and 
operate. Similarly, large home improvement retailers are expanding their assortment of appliances. In addition, consumers are increasingly 
downloading entertainment and computer software directly via the Internet.  

We compete principally on the basis of customer service; installation and support services; store environment, location and convenience; product 
assortment and availability; value pricing; and financing alternatives. In addition, we believe our complementary e-commerce operations have 
effectively positioned us to meet successfully current and future competitive challenges.  

We believe our store formats and brand marketing strategies differentiate us from most competitors by positioning our retail stores as the 
destination for new technology and entertainment products in a fun and informative shopping environment. Our stores compete by aggressively 
advertising and emphasizing a complete product and service solution, value pricing and financing alternatives. In addition, our trained and 
knowledgeable sales and service staffs allow us to tailor the product and service offerings to meet the needs of our customers.  

Research and Development  

We have not engaged in any material research and development activities during the past three fiscal years.  

Environmental Matters  

We are not aware of any federal, state or local provisions which have been enacted or adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the 
environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, that will materially affect our net earnings or competitive position, or 
result in material capital expenditures. However, we cannot predict with certainty the potential effect on our operations of possible future 
environmental legislation or regulations. During fiscal 2004, there were no material capital expenditures for environmental control facilities and 
no such material expenditures are anticipated.  

Number of Employees  

At the end of fiscal 2004, we employed approximately 100,000 full-time, part-time and seasonal employees in our operations. We  
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consider our employee relations to be good. There are currently no collective bargaining agreements covering any of our employees, and we 
have not experienced a strike or work stoppage.  

Financial Information about Geographic Areas  

We operate two reportable segments: Domestic and International. Financial information regarding the Domestic and International geographic 
areas is included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations , and Note 10, Segments, 
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.  

Available Information  

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and its rules and regulations. The Exchange Act requires us to file reports, 
proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Copies of these reports, proxy statements and other information can be read and copied at: 

SEC Public Reference Room  
450 Fifth Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20549  

Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  

The SEC maintains a Web site that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the 
SEC. These materials may be obtained electronically by accessing the SEC's home page at http://www.sec.gov .  

We make available, free of charge on our Web site, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on 
Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably 
practicable after we electronically file these documents with, or furnish them to, the SEC. These documents may be viewed on our corporate 
Web site at www.BestBuy.com — under "Company Information," select the "For Our Investors" link and then the "SEC Filings" link.  

We also make available, free of charge on our Web site, the charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation and Human Resources Committee 
and Nominating, Corporate Governance and Public Policy Committee, as well as the Corporate Governance Principles and the Best Buy Code of 
Business Ethics (including any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Best Buy Code of Business Ethics) adopted by our Board of 
Directors. These documents may be viewed on our corporate Web site at www.BestBuy.com — under "Company Information," select the "For 
Our Investors" link and then the "Corporate Governance" link.  

References to our Web site addresses do not constitute incorporation by reference of the information contained on the Web sites, and the 
information contained on the Web sites is not part of this document.  

Copies of any of the above-referenced information will also be made available, free of charge, by calling (612) 291-6111 or upon written request 
to:  

Best Buy Co., Inc.  
Investor Relations Department  
7601 Penn Avenue South  
Richfield, MN 55423-3645  
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Item 2. Properties.  

Stores, Distribution Centers and Corporate Facilities  

The following table summarizes the geographic location of our stores at the end of fiscal 2004:  
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Domestic Segment  

  

International Segment  

     

U.S. Best Buy 
Stores 

  

Magnolia Audio 
Video Stores 

  

Canadian Best 
Buy Stores 

  

Future Shop 
Stores 

Alabama   6   —  —  —
Alaska   1   —  —  —
Arizona   13   —  —  —
Arkansas   4   —  —  —
California   70   11   —  —
Colorado   10   —  —  —
Connecticut   6   —  —  —
Delaware   3   —  —  —
District of Columbia   1   —  —  —
Florida   37   —  —  —
Georgia   17   —  —  —
Hawaii   —  —  —  —
Idaho   2   —  —  —
Illinois   37   —  —  —
Indiana   15   —  —  —
Iowa   8   —  —  —
Kansas   7   —  —  —
Kentucky   5   —  —  —
Louisiana   6   —  —  —
Maine   2   —  —  —
Maryland   14   —  —  —
Massachusetts   18   —  —  —
Michigan   27   —  —  —
Minnesota   18   —  —  —
Mississippi   1   —  —  —
Missouri   14   —  —  —
Montana   2   —  —  —
Nebraska   3   —  —  —
Nevada   6   —  —  —
New Hampshire   6   —  —  —
New Jersey   17   —  —  —
New Mexico   5   —  —  —
New York   28   —  —  —
North Carolina   16   —  —  —
North Dakota   2   —  —  —
Ohio   28   —  —  —
Oklahoma   4   —  —  —
Oregon   4   3   —  —
Pennsylvania   22   —  —  —
Rhode Island   1   —  —  —
South Carolina   8   —  —  —
South Dakota   2   —  —  —
Tennessee   8   —  —  —
Texas   53   —  —  —
Utah   4   —  —  —
Vermont   1   —  —  —
Virginia   19   —  —  —
Washington   14   8   —  —
West Virginia   1   —  —  —
Wisconsin   12   —  —  —
Wyoming   —  —  —  —
Alberta   —  —  3   13 
British Columbia   —  —  —  22 
Manitoba   —  —  2   4 
New Brunswick   —  —  —  2 
Newfoundland   —  —  —  1 
Nova Scotia   —  —  —  2 
Ontario   —  —  14   40 
Prince Edward Island   —  —  —  1 
Quebec   —  —  —  20 
Saskatchewan   —  —  —  3 
          

Total   608   22   19   108 
          





Domestic Segment  

U.S. Best Buy Stores  

At the end of fiscal 2004, we operated 608 U.S. Best Buy stores totaling approximately 26.4 million retail square feet.  

U.S. Best Buy stores were serviced by the following distribution centers at the end of fiscal 2004:  

Note: We re-measured the square footage of all distribution centers in fiscal 2004.  

(1)  The New York distribution center was opened during the first quarter of fiscal 2004. 

 

(2)  The distribution of entertainment software to certain U.S. Best Buy stores previously performed by our former Edina, Minnesota, distribution center was transitioned to our Indiana 
distribution center during fiscal 2004. Following the completion of the transition of this service to the Franklin distribution center, and coinciding with the expiration of the lease of the Edina 
distribution center, we vacated the Edina facility.  

(3)  We broke ground on a new 720,000-square-foot distribution center in Ardmore, Oklahoma, during fiscal 2004. The distribution center will be located north of the existing location in 
Ardmore and will be owned. The new distribution center is scheduled to open in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The existing facility is being replaced in order to meet the expected increased 
demand for technology products and services. The new facility is expected to serve approximately 98 U.S. Best Buy stores in Arkansas, Kansas, Louisiana, Missouri, New Mexico, Oklahoma 
and Texas when it initially opens and will have the ability to serve up to 125 U.S. Best Buy stores.  

We lease space in 13 satellite warehouses in major metropolitan markets for home delivery of major appliances and large-screen televisions. 
U.S. Best Buy stores utilize approximately 2.5 million square feet in these warehouses.  

Effective March 31, 2003, we moved our principal corporate offices to Richfield, Minnesota. The new, owned corporate campus consists of four 
interconnected buildings totaling approximately 1.5 million square feet. We continue to own two facilities in Eden Prairie, Minnesota, 
aggregating approximately 540,000 square feet, which previously served as our principal corporate offices. These two facilities are currently for 
sale. At the end of fiscal 2004, we also leased approximately 260,000 square feet of additional office space in close proximity to our 
corporate campus.  

Magnolia Audio Video  

At the end of fiscal 2004, we operated 22 Magnolia Audio Video stores totaling approximately 218,000 retail square feet.  

We lease an 80,000-square-foot distribution, warehouse and office facility in Kent, Washington, of which approximately 54,000 square feet are 
used for distribution and warehouse operations, with the remainder dedicated to a service department and corporate administrative functions. In 
addition, we utilize a 13,000-square-foot leased regional warehouse in Hayward, California, and 45,000 square feet of the Best Buy distribution 
center in Dinuba, California.  

International Segment  

At the end of fiscal 2004, we operated 108 Future Shop stores and 19 Canadian Best Buy stores totaling approximately 2.8 million retail 
square feet.  

The operations of the International segment are serviced by two distribution centers located in Langley, British Columbia, and Brampton, 
Ontario. The distribution center in British Columbia is owned, while the distribution center in Ontario is leased. Merchandise, other than 

Location  
   

Square 
Footage 

  

Owned 
or 

Leased 

Dinuba, California   1,028,000   Owned 
Findlay, Ohio   1,010,000   Leased 
Nichols, New York (1)   720,000   Owned 

Franklin, Indiana (entertainment software) (2)   714,000   Owned 
Staunton, Virginia   701,000   Leased 
Dublin, Georgia   638,000   Owned 
Ardmore, Oklahoma (3)   566,000   Owned 
Bloomington, Minnesota   425,000   Leased 
        
Total   5,802,000     
        



appliances, is distributed from these two distribution centers, which are 413,000 square feet and 434,000 square  
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feet, respectively. Appliance sales in western Canada are fulfilled by the distribution center in British Columbia; however, a third-party 
distributor is used to warehouse appliances in Alberta and Ontario and to ship appliances to all parts of Canada other than British Columbia.  

In fiscal 2004, the British Columbia distribution center replaced a previously leased distribution center in Delta, British Columbia. We expect to 
expand the Ontario distribution center to 978,000 square feet by the end of fiscal 2005.  

Corporate offices for the International segment are located in a 141,000-square-foot leased facility in Burnaby, British Columbia.  

Global Sourcing Office  

In September 2003, we opened our first global sourcing office, located in Shanghai, China. At the end of fiscal 2004, we leased office space in 
China totaling approximately 12,000 square feet.  

Operating Leases  

Essentially all of our retail stores and a majority of our distribution facilities are leased. Terms of the lease agreements generally range up to 
20 years. Most of the leases contain renewal options and escalation clauses.  

Additional information regarding operating leases is available in Note 7, Lease Commitments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.  

We have been served with four purported class action lawsuits on behalf of persons who purchased the securities of Best Buy Co., Inc. between 
January 9, 2002, and August 7, 2002. The lawsuits, instituted in U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota on November 20, December 12, 
December 16 and December 23, 2003, name Best Buy Co., Inc., its Chairman and its Chief Executive Officer as defendants. The plaintiffs allege 
that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making material 
misrepresentations between January 9, 2002, and August 7, 2002, which resulted in artificially inflated prices of the Company's common stock. 
The plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, costs and expenses. We believe the allegations are without merit and intend to defend these actions 
vigorously.  

We also have been served with a shareholder derivative action venued in Hennepin County, State of Minnesota District Court. This case raises 
many factual matters similar to those raised in the federal securities law cases, described above. The state court action alleges violations of state 
law relative to fiduciary responsibilities, control and management of the Company and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs seek judgment in favor 
of the Company against certain named officer and director defendants for damages, equitable relief and attorneys' fees, costs and expenses. By 
agreement between the parties, and with Court approval, this case was put on inactive status. Based on the Company's information and belief, the 
claims against the named officer and director defendants are without merit and will be vigorously defended.  

We are involved in various other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of conducting business. The resolution of those proceedings is 
not expected to have a material impact on our results of operation or financial condition.  
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Executive Officers of the Registrant:  

Bradbury H. Anderson has been a director since August 1986 and is currently our Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. He assumed the 
responsibility of Chief Executive Officer in June 2002, having previously served as President and Chief Operating Officer since April 1991. He 
has been employed in various capacities with us since 1973. In addition, he serves on the board of trustees of Minnesota Public Radio; Junior 
Achievement; Retail Industry Leaders Association (RILA); American Film Institute (AFI); and Waldorf College.  

Richard M. Schulze is a founder of Best Buy. He has been an officer and director from our inception in 1966 and currently is Chairman of the 
Board. Effective in June 2002, he relinquished the duties of Chief Executive Officer, an office he had held since February 1983. He is a 
trustee of the University of St. Thomas, chairman of its Executive and Institutional Advancement Committee, and chairman of the board of 
governors of the University of St. Thomas Business School.  

Allen U. Lenzmeier has been a director since February 2001. He joined us in 1984 and is currently our President and Chief Operating Officer. 
Prior to his promotion to his current position, he served as President of Best Buy Retail Stores from 2001 to 2002 and as our Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer from 1991 to 2001. He is a national trustee for the Boys and Girls Clubs of America, and serves on its 
Twin Cities board of directors. He also serves on the board of directors of the Catholic Community Foundation of the Archdiocese of St. Paul 
and Minneapolis.  

Michael P. Keskey was named President — U.S. Retail Stores in April 2004. Previously, he had served as President — Best Buy Retail Stores 
since March 2002. Mr. Keskey also served as Executive Vice President — Retail Sales from 2001 to 2002 and as Senior Vice President — Retail 
Sales from 1997 to 2001. Mr. Keskey joined us in 1988.  

Ronald D. Boire joined us in June 2003 as Executive Vice President and General Merchandise Manager. Prior to joining us, he spent 17 years at 
Sony Electronics Inc., where he held various sales and marketing positions before becoming president of Sony's Personal Mobile Products 
Company. Most recently, he was president of the Sony Electronics Consumer Sales Company, and  
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Name  
   

Age 
  

Position With the Company  
   

Years With the 
Company 

Bradbury H. Anderson   54   Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer   31 
Richard M. Schulze   63   Founder and Chairman of the Board   38 
Allen U. Lenzmeier   60   President and Chief Operating Officer   20 
Michael P. Keskey   49   President — U.S. Retail Stores   16 
Ronald D. Boire   42   Executive Vice President — General Merchandise Manager   1 
Brian J. Dunn   43   Executive Vice President — Retail Sales   19 
Darren R. Jackson   39   Executive Vice President — Finance and Chief Financial Officer   4 
Michael A. Linton   47   Executive Vice President — Consumer and Brand Marketing and Chief 

Marketing Officer 
  5 

Michael London   55   Executive Vice President — Global Sourcing   8 
Philip J. Schoonover   43   Executive Vice President — Customer Segments   10 
John C. Walden   44   Executive Vice President — Human Capital and Leadership   5 
Robert A. Willett   57   Executive Vice President — Operations   —
Susan S. Hoff   39   Senior Vice President and Chief Communications Officer   21 
Joseph M. Joyce   52   Senior Vice President — General Counsel and Assistant Secretary   13 
Bruce H. Besanko   45   Vice President — Finance   2 



 

was responsible for managing sales and distribution of Sony's consumer electronics products throughout the United States. Mr. Boire also was a 
key member of Sony's operations committee, consumer business council, ethics committee, pension and welfare committee, and diversity 
steering committee.  

Brian J. Dunn was named Executive Vice President — Retail Sales in March 2002. Mr. Dunn joined us in 1985 and has held positions as 
Senior Vice President, Regional Vice President, regional manager, district manager and store manager.  

Darren R. Jackson was named Executive Vice President — Finance and Chief Financial Officer in April 2002. Mr. Jackson joined us in 2000 
as Senior Vice President — Finance and Treasurer and was promoted to Chief Financial Officer in 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Jackson served as 
chief financial officer of the Full-Line Store Division at Nordstrom, Inc. from 1998 to 2000 and as chief financial officer of Carson Pirie Scott & 
Co. Inc., a department store chain, from 1996 to 1998. A certified public accountant, Mr. Jackson has 15 years of experience in the retailing 
industry.  

Michael A. Linton was promoted to Executive Vice President — Consumer and Brand Marketing and Chief Marketing Officer in March 2002. 
Mr. Linton joined us in 1999 as Senior Vice President — Strategic Marketing. Prior to that, Mr. Linton held positions as vice president of 
marketing at Remington Products Corporation, maker of personal care and grooming products; vice president and general manager of a product 
category at James River Corporation, a manufacturer and marketer of consumer products, food and packaging; and a general manager at 
Progressive Insurance. Mr. Linton began his career at The Proctor & Gamble Company.  

Michael London was named Executive Vice President — Global Sourcing in February 2004. From July 2003 to February 2004, he served as 
Executive Vice President — Customer Centricity. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President — General Merchandise Manager from 
2001 to 2003, as Senior Vice President — General Merchandise from 1998 to 2001 and as Vice President — General Merchandise from 1996 to 
1998. Prior to joining us in 1996, Mr. London was a senior vice president for NordicTrack, a fitness equipment manufacturer, and executive vice 
president for Central Tractor Farm & Country, a specialty farm products retail supplier.  

Philip J. Schoonover was named Executive Vice President — Customer Segments in April 2004. Previously, he had served as Executive Vice 
President — New Business Development since February 2002. He was promoted to Executive Vice President of Digital Technology Solutions in 
February 2001 after having served for five years as Senior Vice President — Merchandising. Prior to joining us in 1995, Mr. Schoonover was an 
executive vice president for TOPS Appliance City, a retailer of home appliances and consumer electronics.  

John C. Walden was named Executive Vice President — Human Capital and Leadership in March 2002. Mr. Walden served as President of 
BestBuy.com, Inc. from 1999 to 2002. Prior to joining us in 1999, Mr. Walden served as chief operating officer of Peapod, Inc., an Internet 
retailer of groceries. Mr. Walden has also held executive positions with Ameritech Corporation, a telecommunications company, and Storage 
Technology Corporation, a maker of data storage products. Earlier he practiced corporate and securities law with Sidley, Austin, Brown and 
Wood LLP.  

Robert A. Willett became our Executive Vice President — Operations in April 2004. In April 2002, we engaged Mr. Willett as a consultant and 
special advisor to our Board of Directors on matters relating to operational efficiency and excellence. Prior to that, he was the global managing 
partner for the retail practice at Accenture LLP, a global management consulting, technology services and outsourcing company, and was also a 
member of its executive committee. Mr. Willett began his career as a store manager at Marks and Spencer P.L.C., a British department store 
chain, and has held executive positions at F.W. Woolworth & Co., as well as several other retailers in the United Kingdom.  
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Susan S. Hoff was named Senior Vice President and Chief Communications Officer in April 2004. Previously, she had served as Senior Vice 
President — Public Affairs and Investor Relations Officer since 2000. Since joining us in 1983, Ms. Hoff has served in various capacities 
including Vice President of Corporate Communications and Public Relations. Ms. Hoff is the daughter of Founder and Chairman of the Board 
Richard M. Schulze.  

Joseph M. Joyce was promoted to Senior Vice President — General Counsel and Assistant Secretary in 1997. Mr. Joyce joined us in 1991 as 
Vice President — Human Resources and General Counsel. Prior to joining us, Mr. Joyce was with Tonka Corporation, a toy maker, having most 
recently served as vice president, secretary and general counsel.  

Bruce H. Besanko joined us in April 2002 as Vice President — Finance. Prior to joining us, he spent approximately six years with Sears, 
Roebuck & Co. serving in positions of increasing responsibility, including most recently as the senior finance leader for its hardlines business. 
Mr. Besanko also brings finance and treasury experience from Atlantic Richfield Company and more than eight years of service in the United 
States Air Force in various leadership roles.  

 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.  

None.  

 

Part II  

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases 
of Equity Securities.  

Market Information  

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol BBY. The following table shows high and low sales 
prices of our common stock for each quarter of fiscal 2004 and 2003.  

Holders  

As of April 3, 2004, there were 5,795 holders of record of Best Buy common stock.  

Dividends  

In October 2003, our Board of Directors declared the Company's first-ever cash dividends, including the initiation of a regular quarterly cash 
dividend. A special dividend payment of $0.30 per common share, or approximately $97 million, and the first regular quarterly cash dividend of 
$0.10 per common share, or approximately $33 million, were paid on December 9, 2003, and January 28, 2004, respectively. These two dividend 
payments allowed the Company to commence its desired rhythm of paying $0.40 per common share per fiscal year, subject to legal and 
contractual restrictions. The second regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per common share is payable on May 12, 2004, to shareholders of 
record as of the close of business on April 21, 2004.  

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  

The information set forth under the caption "Executive Compensation Plan Information" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein 
by reference.  

Quarter  
   

1st 
  

2nd 
  

3rd 
  

4th 

Fiscal 2004                         
High   $ 38.77   $ 52.08   $ 62.15   $ 62.70 
Low     25.55     38.60     46.21     48.50 
 
Fiscal 2003 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

High   $ 53.75   $ 46.10   $ 28.40   $ 30.45 
Low     44.63     18.50     16.99     22.10 
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers  

In October 2003, we resumed purchasing shares of our common stock pursuant to a $400 million share repurchase program authorized by the 
Company's Board of Directors in fiscal 2000. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we purchased and retired 736,000 shares at a cost of 
$40 million. We have purchased and retired 4.6 million shares at a cost of $200 million since the inception of the share repurchase program in 
fiscal 2000. We consider several factors in determining when to make share repurchases including, among other things, our cash needs and the 
market price of the stock. At the end of fiscal 2004, $200 million of the $400 million originally authorized by the Company's Board of Directors 
was available for future share repurchases. There is no expiration date governing the period over which we can make our share repurchases. 
Cash provided by future operating activities, as well as available cash and cash equivalents, are the expected sources of funding for the share 
repurchase program.  

The following table presents the total number of shares repurchased during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the average price paid per share, the 
number of shares that were purchased as part of a publicly announced repurchase plan, and the approximate dollar value of shares that may yet 
be purchased pursuant to the $400 million share repurchase program:  

(1)  Pursuant to a $400 million share repurchase program announced on September 20, 1999. The program has no stated expiration date. 

 

Additional information regarding our share repurchase program is included in the "Outlook for Fiscal 2005" section of Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations , included as Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.  

The information set forth under the caption "11-Year Financial Highlights" on pages 16 and 17 of the Annual Report, for the fiscal years 2000 
through 2004, is incorporated herein by reference.  

 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) is designed to provide a reader of our 
financial statements with a narrative on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, critical accounting policies and the future impact 
of accounting standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. Our MD&A is presented in  
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Fiscal Period  
   

Total Number 
of Shares 

Purchased 
  

Average 
Price Paid 
per Share 

  

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 

as Part of 
Publicly 

Announced Plans 
or Programs (1) 

  

Approximate Dollar 
Value of Shares 

that May Yet Be 
Purchased Under 

the Plans or 
Programs (1) 

 
November 30, 2003, through 
January 3, 2004   735,995   $ 54.32   735,995   $ 200,000,000 
January 4, 2004, through  
January 31, 2004   —    —  —    200,000,000 
February 1, 2004, through 
February 28, 2004   —    —  —    200,000,000 
          
Total Fiscal 2004 Fourth Quarter   735,995   $ 54.32   735,995   $ 200,000,000 
          



 

nine sections: Overview, Strategic Initiatives, Results of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources, Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and 
Contractual Obligations, Critical Accounting Policies, New Accounting Standards, Quarterly Results and Seasonality, and Outlook for Fiscal 
2005. We believe it is useful to read our MD&A in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in Item 8, 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Overview  

Best Buy Co., Inc. is a specialty retailer of consumer electronics, home-office products, entertainment software, appliances and related services, 
with fiscal 2004 revenue of $24.5 billion. We operate two reportable segments: Domestic and International. The Domestic segment is comprised 
of the operations of U.S. Best Buy and Magnolia Audio Video. U.S. Best Buy stores offer a wide variety of consumer electronics, home-office 
products, entertainment software, appliances and related services, operating 608 stores in 48 states and the District of Columbia as of the end of 
fiscal 2004. Magnolia Audio Video stores offer high-end audio and video products from 22 stores located in California, Washington and Oregon 
as of the end of fiscal 2004. Magnolia Audio Video was acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001.  

The International segment was established in connection with our acquisition of Future Shop in the third quarter of fiscal 2002. At the end of 
fiscal 2004, the International segment consisted of 108 Future Shop stores operating throughout all Canadian provinces and 19 Canadian Best 
Buy stores operating in Ontario, Alberta and Manitoba. Future Shop and Canadian Best Buy stores offer products similar to those offered by 
U.S. Best Buy stores.  

In support of our retail store operations, we also operate Geek Squad, a provider of in-home computer repair and service, Web sites for each 
brand (BestBuy.com, BestBuyCanada.ca, FutureShop.ca, MagnoliaAV.com and GeekSquad.com), as well as an outlet store on eBay.  

Sale of Musicland Business  

On June 16, 2003, we sold our interest in Musicland to an affiliate of Sun Capital Partners Inc. The affiliate of Sun Capital Partners Inc. assumed 
all of Musicland's liabilities, including approximately $500 million in lease obligations, in exchange for all of the capital stock of Musicland, and 
paid no cash consideration. The transaction also resulted in the transfer of all of Musicland's assets, other than a distribution center in Franklin, 
Indiana, and selected nonoperating assets. The sale of our interest in Musicland resulted in an after-tax loss on the disposal of discontinued 
operations totaling $66 million. In connection with the sale, Musicland is purchasing transition support services from us for up to one year from 
the date of the sale, until Musicland is able to develop long-term providers for these services.  

We acquired the common stock of Musicland Stores Corporation in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. The original strategy behind our Musicland 
acquisition was to bring Best Buy's core competencies in retailing consumer electronics to new consumer segments, including segments typically 
underserved by our Best Buy stores. Musicland's mall-based stores and rural market locations gave us access to more young people and more 
rural communities. In addition, we believed integrating certain administrative and support functions within our existing infrastructure could 
increase the overall profitability of the Musicland business. However, for a number of reasons, the Musicland business did not meet our financial 
objectives. First, Musicland was not as successful as we hoped in selling digital products, even at Best Buy prices, because many consumers 
assumed that products sold in a mall-based environment were not price-competitive. Second, we did not anticipate such steep and protracted 
declines in sales of prerecorded music or significant declines in mall traffic. Third, Musicland reduced the assortment of CDs at its stores 
resulting in the loss of some core customers (a  
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similar move at our Best Buy stores resulted in increased inventory turns and profits). Fourth, Musicland was successful in introducing DVD 
movies and video gaming at Sam Goody stores; however, these products carry a lower gross profit rate than CDs and did not provide 
incremental profits sufficient to make the Musicland business viable.  

The sale of our interest in Musicland allows us to focus on our core business, which is our primary growth and profit driver.  

For additional information regarding discontinued operations, see the "Discontinued Operations" section included in this MD&A, and refer to 
Note 2, Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Unless otherwise noted, the remainder of this MD&A relates only to results from continuing operations. All periods presented reflect the 
classification of Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations.  

Strategic Initiatives  

Our vision is to make life fun and easy for consumers. Our business strategy is to bring technology and consumers together in a retail 
environment that focuses on educating consumers on the features and benefits of technology and entertainment, while maximizing our overall 
profitability. We believe our stores offer consumers meaningful advantages in store environment, product value, product selection and customer 
service, all of which advance our objectives of enhancing our business model, gaining market share and improving profitability. As of the end of 
fiscal 2004, we operated 757 retail stores, including Best Buy stores in the United States and Canada; Future Shop stores in Canada; and 
Magnolia Audio Video stores in the United States. We also operate Web sites for each brand and an outlet store on eBay.  

During fiscal 2004, we advanced four strategic initiatives that we believe will further enhance our business model over the next several years. 
The four strategic initiatives are:  

•  Customer Centricity  
 

•  Efficient Enterprise  
 

•  Win the Home with Service  
 

•  Win in Entertainment  

Customer Centricity  

Our customers are at the core of all of our business strategies, and our customer centricity initiative is the most important of our four strategic 
initiatives. In short, customer centricity means winning with the customer. The customer centricity initiative includes identifying profitable 
customer segments, tailoring our store experience to satisfy their needs, and training our employees to think and behave as owner/operators. We 
believe that we can extend our competitive advantage by engaging more fully with our customers, offering them broader and deeper assortments 
than our competitors, and supporting their shopping experiences with a full array of services. Our goal is to maximize every customer touch 
point, including store visits, phone calls, online visits and in-home visits.  

During fiscal 2004, we tested our customer centricity platform at 32 of our existing U.S. Best Buy stores by focusing on five specific customer 
segments. These stores collectively led the Company in terms of comparable store sales gains for fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, we plan to develop 
a strategy for scaling customer centricity, based on the customer segments with the highest return on invested capital, and then expand this 
initiative by converting up to 110 additional existing U.S. Best Buy stores. In addition, during fiscal 2004 we launched Reward Zone, a customer 
loyalty program through which customers earn award certificates based on purchases. The program attracted more than 2.5 million members in 
fiscal 2004, and we expect to gain valuable customer insights from this program in the future.  

Efficient Enterprise  

The purpose of our efficient enterprise initiative is to reduce our cost structure, increase our speed to  
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market and improve the returns we achieve on our capital investments. Ultimately, we have a goal of increasing our operating income rate to 7% 
of revenue by fiscal 2007, while continuing to deliver double-digit revenue growth.  

We improved our operating income rate by 0.5% of revenue for fiscal 2004 to 5.3% of revenue, reflecting leverage associated with a strong 
comparable store sales gain, the opening of new stores and efficient enterprise initiatives. For example, we increased productivity and lowered 
the cost of building new stores. In the coming year, we plan to implement changes to our corporate and field organizations in order to prepare for 
customer centricity and boost productivity. To support our customer centricity initiative, we are changing from a culture of Standard Operating 
Platforms to a culture of Adaptive Operating Platforms. This change requires us to increase the agility and flexibility of our internal processes. 
We also plan to explore the increased use of third-party vendors to improve our capabilities while reducing costs.  

Win the Home with Service  

Our customers' technology needs are becoming more complex with the rapid development of new products. In addition, consumers wish to 
manage their movies, music, photographs and games centrally and to access them through multiple devices throughout their home. Our win the 
home with service initiative focuses on creating a market-leadership position in delivering lifestyle-based solutions for our customers. We are 
committed to selling, installing and supporting technologies that create an integrated digital home. We believe this approach will differentiate us 
from many of our competitors who sell technology products, but do not provide installation and support services. Our goal is to create a life-long 
relationship with our customers and deliver to them a broad product selection, home integration capabilities, service and technology upgrades.  

We expanded the Geek Squad, our 24-hour rapid response computer support task force, to a total of seven markets during fiscal 2004. In fiscal 
2005, we plan to roll out this service to a majority of our U.S. Best Buy stores. Our goal is to make the Geek Squad North America's largest 
provider of in-home computer repair and installation services. We also plan to integrate this service with the existing computer support staff in 
our stores, who will be given additional training and re-branded with the Geek Squad logo. We also intend to expand our in-home integration 
services and to explore additional opportunities within the services industry.  

Win in Entertainment  

Our fourth strategic initiative is focused on gaining market share in the rapidly changing entertainment category. This category includes music, 
movies, video game hardware and software, computer software, subscriptions and other related products. The development and delivery of 
entertainment products have undergone significant changes in recent years. Our win in entertainment initiative includes supporting the 
development and delivery of new entertainment-related products through multiple distribution channels and increasing our market share. We 
want to be the consumer's preferred choice when purchasing entertainment products.  

In support of this initiative, we increased our CD in-stock levels in fiscal 2004 and modestly increased the amount of labor in our music 
departments. We also introduced new entertainment products, including online entertainment services and magazine subscriptions. Finally, we 
offered an exclusive DVD from the Rolling Stones. We believe we gained market share in entertainment as a result of these efforts. In fiscal 
2005, we anticipate continuing to enhance our entertainment assortments and to pursue exclusive arrangements.  

Results of Operations  

Fiscal 2004 Summary  

•  Earnings from continuing operations increased 29% to $800 million, or $2.44 per diluted share, compared with $622 million, or $1.91 per 
diluted share, for fiscal 2003. The increase in earnings from continuing operations was driven by an increase in revenue, including a 
comparable  
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store sales gain of 7.1%; an improved gross profit rate; and a decrease in our selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) rate.  

•  Revenue increased 17% to $24.5 billion, compared with $20.9 billion for the prior fiscal year. The increase reflected market share gains 
and was driven by the addition of 78 new stores in the past 12 months, a full of year of revenue from stores added in fiscal 2003, a 7.1% 
comparable store sales increase and the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  
 

•  Our gross profit rate increased 0.2% of revenue to 25.2% of revenue, up from 25.0% of revenue for fiscal 2003. The increase was 
primarily due to gross profit rate improvements within our product categories and a more effective use of promotions in the Domestic 
segment compared with the prior fiscal year. These factors were partially offset by costs associated with Reward Zone, our customer 
loyalty program introduced during the second quarter of fiscal 2004; the increase of the home office category in the revenue mix, as that 
product category carries a lower gross profit rate; and a more promotional environment in the International segment compared with the 
prior fiscal year.  
 

•  Our SG&A rate declined 0.3% of revenue to 19.9% of revenue, down from 20.2% of revenue for the prior fiscal year. The SG&A rate 
improvement was primarily due to expense leverage from the 7.1% comparable store sales gain and the addition of 78 new stores, and the 
realization of cost savings from our efficient enterprise initiative. Our fiscal 2004 SG&A rate also benefited from a one-time gain 
associated with the sale of stock received in connection with a vendor co-marketing agreement. These factors were partially offset by 
increased performance-based incentive compensation as a result of our improved year-over-year financial performance and restricted 
stock grants awarded pursuant to our new long-term incentive compensation program. Other offsetting factors included spending on our 
customer centricity initiative, reduced funding from vendor alliance programs and technology asset impairment charges.  
 

•  In October 2003, our Board of Directors declared the Company's first-ever cash dividends, including a special dividend of $0.30 per 
share of outstanding common stock, and the initiation of a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per share of outstanding common 
stock. During fiscal 2004, we made two dividend payments of approximately $130 million in the aggregate.  
 

•  Also in October 2003, we announced our intent to resume purchasing shares of our common stock pursuant to the $400 million share 
repurchase program authorized by the Company's Board of Directors in fiscal 2000. During fiscal 2004, we purchased and retired 
1.8 million shares at a cost of $100 million.  
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Consolidated Results  

The following table presents selected consolidated financial data for each of the past three fiscal years ($ in millions, except per share amounts):  

Note: All periods presented reflect the classification of Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations.  

(1)  As-adjusted data conforms the accounting for vendor allowances to the method adopted in fiscal 2003 and is reflected as if Future Shop had been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2002. 
As-adjusted data is unaudited.  

(2)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening. Acquired stores are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first 
anniversary of the date of acquisition. The calculation of the comparable store sales percentage change excludes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales changes for prior fiscal years have not been 
computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash 
flows.  

Continuing Operations  

Fiscal 2004 Results Compared With Fiscal 2003  

Earnings from continuing operations were $800 million for fiscal 2004, or $2.44 per diluted share, a 29% increase from $622 million, or $1.91 
per diluted share, for fiscal 2003. The increase in earnings from continuing operations was primarily driven by an increase in revenue, including 
a comparable store sales gain of 7.1%, and improvements in both our gross profit rate and our SG&A rate.  

Revenue for fiscal 2004 increased 17% to $24.5 billion, compared with $20.9 billion for fiscal 2003. The revenue increase resulted from the 
addition of 60 U.S. Best Buy, 11 Canadian Best Buy, four Future Shop and three Magnolia Audio Video stores in the past 12 months; a full year 
of revenue from new stores added in fiscal 2003; and a 7.1% comparable store sales gain. The addition of new stores during the past two fiscal 
years accounted for approximately half of the revenue increase for fiscal 2004; the comparable store sales gain accounted for approximately two-
fifths of the revenue increase for the current fiscal year; and the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates accounted for the remainder 
of the revenue increase. The fiscal 2004 comparable store sales gain was driven by an improved economic environment, including increased 
consumer  
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Consolidated Performance Summary  
   

2004 
  

2003 
  

As-Adjusted 
2002 (1) 

  
2002 

  
  

Revenue   $ 24,547   $ 20,946   $ 18,506   $ 17,711   
Revenue % change     17 %   13 %   NA     17 % 
Comparable stores sales % change (2)     7.1 %   2.4 %   NA     1.9 % 
Gross profit as a % of revenue     25.2 %   25.0 %   24.9 %   21.3 % 
SG&A as a % of revenue     19.9 %   20.2 %   20.0 %   16.2 % 
Operating income   $ 1,304   $ 1,010   $ 903   $ 908   
Operating income as a % of revenue     5.3 %   4.8 %   4.9 %   5.1 % 
Earnings from continuing operations   $ 800   $ 622   $ 564   $ 570   
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     (95 )   (441 )   —    —  
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax     —    (82 )   —    —  
Net earnings     705     99     564     570   
Diluted earnings per share — continuing operations   $ 2.44   $ 1.91   $ 1.75   $ 1.77   
Diluted earnings per share   $ 2.15   $ 0.30   $ 1.75   $ 1.77   



 

confidence, demand for digital products and effective advertising and promotional campaigns. These factors led to higher customer traffic in our 
stores and contributed to our market share gains during fiscal 2004. Products having the largest impact on our fiscal 2004 comparable store sales 
gain included computers, digital televisions, digital cameras and accessories, DVD movies, MP3 players, CDs and digital camcorders. The 
increase in computers reflects market share gains as well as customers' increased desire to upgrade their home computers for managing their 
music, movies, photos and games. The increase in digital products reflects the continued consumer migration to, and increased affordability of, 
digital products.  

Our gross profit rate improved to 25.2% of revenue for fiscal 2004, a 0.2% of revenue increase compared with 25.0% of revenue for fiscal 2003. 
The increase in the gross profit rate was primarily due to gross profit rate improvements within our product categories and a more effective use 
of promotions in the Domestic segment compared with the prior fiscal year. The improvements in the gross profit rates within our product 
categories resulted from specific initiatives, including reducing markdowns, improving product assortments and developing more effective 
promotions. These factors were partially offset by costs associated with Reward Zone, our new customer loyalty program, and the increase of the 
home office category in the revenue mix, as that product category carries a lower gross profit rate. We also experienced a more promotional 
environment in the International segment compared with fiscal 2003.  

During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, we launched Reward Zone, our new customer loyalty program. At the end of fiscal 2004, we had more 
than 2.5 million Reward Zone members. Under the terms of the program, members earn points for each qualifying purchase completed at U.S. 
Best Buy stores. After accumulating the required point total, members are awarded a certificate that may be redeemed on future purchases. 
Certificates awarded to Reward Zone members expire 90 days after issuance. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 
No. 00-22, Accounting for "Points" and Certain Other Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentive Offers, and Offers for Free Products or 
Services to Be Delivered in the Future , the value of points earned by Reward Zone members are recorded as a liability and a reduction of 
revenue. The value of points earned by our loyalty program members are included as a liability and a reduction of revenue at the time the points 
are earned based on the percentage of points that are projected to be redeemed. The value of points earned by Reward Zone members reduced 
fiscal 2004 gross profit and operating income by approximately 0.3% of revenue. Revenue, gross profit rates and earnings in future periods will 
continue to reflect points earned, adjusted for our actual redemption experience.  

Because we do not include all costs of our distribution facilities in cost of goods sold, our gross profit and gross profit rate may not be 
comparable to those of other retailers that include all costs related to their distribution facilities in cost of goods sold and in the calculation of 
gross profit.  

Our SG&A rate decreased 0.3% of revenue to 19.9% of revenue for fiscal 2004, compared with 20.2% of revenue for fiscal 2003. The decrease 
in the SG&A rate was primarily due to expense leverage (as revenue increased at a faster rate than operating expenses) from the 7.1% 
comparable store sales gain and the addition of 78 new stores, and the realization of cost savings from our efficient enterprise initiative. Our 
fiscal 2004 SG&A rate also benefited from a one-time gain of approximately $5 million, before tax, associated with the sale of stock received in 
connection with a vendor co-marketing agreement. In addition, our fiscal 2004 SG&A rate benefited from the absence of certain costs incurred 
during fiscal 2003, including lease termination and asset impairment charges associated with vacating our previous corporate facilities in 
connection with the relocation to our new corporate campus, as well as various expenses in our International segment to support  
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strategic initiatives, including the launch of Best Buy stores in Canada and outside consulting expenses intended to improve the future efficiency 
and profitability of our International segment. These factors were partially offset by increased performance-based incentive compensation as a 
result of our improved year-over-year financial performance and restricted stock grants awarded pursuant to our new long-term incentive 
compensation program, as well as spending on our customer centricity initiative. Other offsetting factors included reduced funding received from 
vendor alliance programs and technology asset impairment charges.  

In August 2003, we launched a new long-term incentive program for approximately 2,300 U.S. employees designed to help us attract and retain 
the best employees and to better align employee interests with those of our shareholders. The new program is expected to result in less 
shareholder dilution for existing shareholders. Under the terms of the new program, which began in November 2003, eligible employees 
received a mix of restricted stock and stock options. Shares of restricted stock vest at the end of a three-year incentive period based on our total 
return to shareholders compared with companies that comprise the S&P 500 over the same three-year period. In accordance with Accounting 
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , compensation expense under the new program is 
recognized each reporting period based on the number of shares expected to ultimately vest, our stock price and the vesting period. For fiscal 
2004, we recognized $5 million, before tax, in compensation expense associated with restricted stock awards granted pursuant to the new long-
term incentive program. Stock options issued pursuant to the long-term incentive program are also accounted for in accordance with APB 
Opinion No. 25, consistent with the accounting treatment for stock options previously granted pursuant to our stock option plans. Accordingly, 
no compensation expense is recognized for stock options as the exercise price equals the stock price on the date of grant.  

Fiscal 2003 Results Compared With Fiscal 2002 As-Adjusted  

The discussion and analysis of fiscal 2003 results compared with fiscal 2002 results as-adjusted conforms the accounting for vendor allowances 
to the method adopted in fiscal 2003 and reflects Future Shop as if it had been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2002. As-adjusted information 
is unaudited.  

Earnings from continuing operations for fiscal 2003 increased 10% to $622 million, or $1.91 per diluted share, compared with $564 million, or 
$1.75 per diluted share, for fiscal 2002 on an as-adjusted basis. The increase in earnings from continuing operations was primarily driven by a 
13% increase in revenue and a slight improvement in the gross profit rate, partially offset by a higher SG&A rate.  

Fiscal 2003 revenue increased to $20.9 billion, compared with fiscal 2002 as-adjusted revenue of $18.5 billion. Approximately four-fifths of the 
increase in revenue for fiscal 2003 was due to the opening of 67 U.S. Best Buy, eight Canadian Best Buy and nine Future Shop stores during 
fiscal 2003, and a full year of revenue from new stores opened in fiscal 2002. The remainder of the increase was due to the 2.4% comparable 
store sales gain.  

Our gross profit rate for fiscal 2003 increased slightly to 25.0% of revenue, versus 24.9% of revenue for the prior fiscal year on an as-adjusted 
basis. The improvement in the gross profit rate was primarily due to selling a more profitable revenue mix at U.S. Best Buy stores, including 
increased revenue from higher-margin digital products, partially offset by a more promotional environment in fiscal 2003 compared with 
fiscal 2002.  

Our SG&A rate was 20.2% of revenue for fiscal 2003, an increase of 0.2% of revenue over the prior fiscal year's as-adjusted rate of 20.0% of 
revenue. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to increased expenses in our International segment to support strategic initiatives, 
including the launch of Best Buy stores in Canada and outside consulting expenses  
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intended to improve the future efficiency and profitability of our International segment. The SG&A rate also increased due to the deleveraging 
effect of a modest comparable store sales increase, as operating expenses increased at a faster rate than comparable store sales. In addition, the 
SG&A rate was negatively impacted by higher consulting expenses, increased depreciation expenses related to technology investments, and 
lease termination and asset impairment charges associated with vacating existing corporate facilities in connection with the relocation to our new 
corporate campus in fiscal 2004. The increase in the SG&A rate was partially offset by expense-saving initiatives implemented in the second 
half of fiscal 2003, reduced performance-based incentive compensation and expense leverage from opening new stores in existing markets.  

Segment Performance  

Domestic  

The following table presents selected financial data for the Domestic segment for each of the past three fiscal years ($ in millions):  

Note: All periods presented reflect the classification of Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations.  

(1)  As-adjusted data conforms the accounting for vendor allowances to the method adopted in fiscal 2003. 

 

(2)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening. Acquired stores are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first 
anniversary of the date of acquisition.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales changes for prior fiscal years have not been 
computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash 
flows.  

Domestic operating income increased 27% to $1.3 billion, or 5.7% of revenue, for fiscal 2004, compared with $1.0 billion, or 5.2% of revenue, 
for fiscal 2003. The improvement in the Domestic segment operating income rate for fiscal 2004 was driven by revenue gains, including a 7.4% 
comparable store sales increase; an improvement in the gross profit rate of 0.3% of revenue; and a decrease in the SG&A rate of 0.2% of 
revenue.  

Domestic revenue increased to $22.2 billion for fiscal 2004, a 15% increase over fiscal 2003 revenue of $19.3 billion. Slightly more than half of 
the revenue increase for fiscal 2004 was due to new stores added in the past two fiscal years. The remainder of the revenue increase for fiscal 
2004 was attributable to the 7.4% comparable store sales gain.  

Our fiscal 2004 comparable store sales gain was driven by an improved economic environment, including increased consumer confidence; 
demand for, and increased affordability of, digital products; and effective advertising and promotional strategies, all of which led to higher 
customer traffic in our stores and on our Web sites. These factors also contributed to our market share gains during fiscal 2004. The home office, 
consumer  
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Segment Performance Summary (unaudited)  
   

2004 
  

2003 
  

As-Adjusted 
2002 (1) 

  
2002 

  
  

Revenue   $ 22,225   $ 19,303   $ 17,115   $ 17,115   
Comparable stores sales % change (2)     7.4 %   2.4 %   1.9 %   1.9 % 
Gross profit as a % of revenue     25.3 %   25.0 %   24.9 %   21.2 % 
SG&A as a % of revenue     19.6 %   19.8 %   19.8 %   16.0 % 
Operating income   $ 1,267   $ 1,002   $ 876   $ 886   
Operating income as a % of revenue     5.7 %   5.2 %   5.1 %   5.2 % 



 

electronics and entertainment software product categories experienced comparable store sales gains for fiscal 2004, while appliances posted a 
modest decline in comparable store sales. The home office category posted a low double-digit comparable store sales gain for the fiscal year 
primarily driven by sales of personal computers, MP3 players and computer networking products, partially offset by softer sales of PDAs, 
computer accessories and scanners. The increase in revenue from notebook computers and computer networking products reflects customers' 
growing preference for portability, while the increase in desktop computers reflects customers' increased desire to upgrade their home 
computers. A mid-single-digit comparable store sales gain in the consumer electronics category was primarily driven by sales of digital 
televisions, digital cameras and digital camcorders, reflecting continued consumer migration to, and increased affordability of, digital products, 
partially offset by declines in sales of analog televisions and camcorders, as well as VCRs. The entertainment software category also had a mid-
single-digit comparable store sales gain for fiscal 2004, fueled by new-releases and our improved assortments in both DVD movies and CDs, 
partially offset by a double-digit comparable store sales decline in video game hardware. Despite improving trends in appliances throughout 
fiscal 2004, the category posted a modest comparable store sales decline for the fiscal year. Increased assortments in higher-end laundry 
products, refrigerators and dishwashers, as well as effective promotions in the second half of fiscal 2004, were more than offset by softer sales 
during the first half of fiscal 2004.  

The Domestic gross profit rate increased to 25.3% of revenue for fiscal 2004, an improvement of 0.3% of revenue compared with 25.0% of 
revenue for the prior fiscal year. The increase in the gross profit rate was primarily due to gross profit rate improvements within our product 
categories and a more effective use of promotions compared with the prior fiscal year. The improvements in the gross profit rates within our 
product categories resulted from specific initiatives, including reducing markdowns, improving product assortments and developing more 
effective promotions. These factors were partially offset by costs associated with Reward Zone and the increase of the home office category in 
the revenue mix, as that product category carries a lower gross profit rate.  

The fiscal 2004 SG&A rate for the Domestic segment was 19.6% of revenue, a decrease of 0.2% of revenue from 19.8% of revenue for the prior 
fiscal year. The SG&A rate benefited from expense leverage resulting from the 7.4% comparable store sales gain, the addition of 60 U.S. Best 
Buy stores and three Magnolia Audio Video stores in the past 12 months, a full year of revenue from stores added in fiscal 2003, the realization 
of cost savings from our efficient enterprise initiative and a one-time gain of approximately $5 million, before tax, associated with the sale of 
stock received in connection with a vendor co-marketing agreement. In addition, the Domestic segment's SG&A rate for fiscal 2004 also 
benefited from the absence of certain costs incurred during fiscal 2003, including lease termination and asset impairment charges associated with 
vacating our previous corporate facilities in connection with the relocation to our new corporate campus. These factors were partially offset by 
increased performance-based incentive compensation as a result of our improved year-over-year financial performance and restricted stock 
grants awarded pursuant to our new long-term incentive compensation program, reduced funding received from vendor alliance programs, 
expenses associated with our customer centricity initiative and technology asset impairment charges.  
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The following table reconciles Domestic stores open at the beginning and end of fiscal 2004:  

The following table reconciles Domestic stores open at the beginning and end of fiscal 2003:  

During fiscal 2004, we opened 60 U.S. Best Buy stores, remodeled three U.S. Best Buy stores and relocated four other U.S. Best Buy stores. At 
the end of fiscal 2004, we operated 608 U.S. Best Buy stores in 48 states and the District of Columbia. Magnolia Audio Video opened three new 
stores during fiscal 2004 and operated 22 stores in California, Washington and Oregon at the end of fiscal 2004. During fiscal 2004, Magnolia 
Audio Video remodeled one store.  

International  

The following table presents selected financial data for the International segment for each of the past three fiscal years ($ in millions):  

(1)  As-adjusted data conforms the accounting for vendor allowances to the method adopted in fiscal 2003 and is reflected as if Future Shop had been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2002. 

 

(2)  Reflects results of operations of Future Shop subsequent to its acquisition in November of fiscal 2002. 

 

(3)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening. Acquired stores are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first 
anniversary of the date of acquisition. The calculation of the comparable store sales percentage change excludes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales changes for prior fiscal years have not been 
computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash 
flows.  
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Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2003 
  

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2004 

U.S. Best Buy stores   548   60   —  608 
Magnolia Audio Video stores   19   3   —  22 
          
Total   567   63   —  630 
          

     

Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2002 
  

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2003 

U.S. Best Buy stores   481   67   —  548 
Magnolia Audio Video stores   13   6   —  19 
          
Total   494   73   —  567 
          

Segment Performance Summary (unaudited)  
   

2004 
  

2003 
  

As-Adjusted 
2002 (1) 

  
2002 (2) 

  
  

Revenue   $ 2,322   $ 1,643   $ 1,391   $ 596   
Comparable stores sales % change (3)     4.7 %   4.3 %   NA     17.4 % 
Gross profit as a % of revenue     24.3 %   25.0 %   25.0 %   23.4 % 
SG&A as a % of revenue     22.7 %   24.5 %   23.1 %   19.7 % 
Operating income   $ 37   $ 8   $ 27   $ 22   
Operating income as a % of revenue     1.6 %   0.5 %   1.9 %   3.7 % 



The International segment generated operating income of $37 million for fiscal 2004, compared with $8 million for the prior fiscal year. 
Approximately one-quarter of the increase in operating income for fiscal 2004 was due to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates. The remainder of the increase in operating income was primarily due to revenue gains, including a 4.7% comparable store sales increase 
for the fiscal year, and an improved SG&A rate, and was partially offset by a decrease in the gross profit rate.  

International revenue increased 41% to $2.3 billion for fiscal 2004, compared with $1.6 billion last fiscal year. The effect of changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates accounted for approximately half of the revenue increase for the fiscal year. New store additions in the past two fiscal 
years accounted for approximately two-fifths of the revenue increase, and the 4.7% comparable store sales gain accounted for the remainder. The 
comparable store sales gain reflected market share gains and was driven by increased revenue from digital televisions, digital cameras, DVD 
movies and notebook computers.  

The International gross profit rate was 24.3% of revenue for fiscal 2004, a decrease from 25.0% of revenue for the prior fiscal year. The decline 
in the gross profit rate was primarily due to increased promotional activity compared with the prior fiscal year, including higher customer 
financing expenses. In response to the opening of Best Buy stores in Canada, our competitors in the International segment increased their 
promotional offerings, resulting in additional pressure on our gross profit rate.  

The SG&A rate for the International segment declined to 22.7% of revenue for fiscal 2004, compared with 24.5% of revenue for the prior fiscal 
year. The SG&A rate decrease for fiscal 2004 was primarily due to expense leverage resulting from new store openings and the 4.7% 
comparable store sales gain, as well as the absence of certain expenses incurred during fiscal 2003, including expenses associated with launching 
Canadian Best Buy stores and outside consulting expenses intended to improve the future efficiency and profitability of International operations. 
Also, the International SG&A rate was positively affected by favorable settlements related to previously established legal and location closing 
liabilities, which did not have a significant affect on fiscal 2004 earnings from continuing operations.  

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we completed our annual impairment testing of the goodwill and tradename recorded in our 
International segment. Based on expectations for the business and the prevailing retail environment, we determined that no impairment existed. 
However, if unanticipated events adversely impact this segment for an extended period of time, it could result in future impairment charges. In 
addition, the value recorded for the Future Shop tradename is based on the continuation of the Future Shop brand in Canada. If we ever were to 
abandon the Future Shop tradename, it would result in future impairment charges.  

The following table reconciles International stores open at the beginning and end of fiscal 2004:  
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Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 2003 

  

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2004 

Future Shop stores   104   4   —  108 
Canadian Best Buy stores   8   11   —  19 
          
Total   112   15   —  127 
          



The following table reconciles International stores open at the beginning and end of fiscal 2003:  

During fiscal 2004, we opened four and relocated five Future Shop stores. At the end of fiscal 2004, we operated 108 Future Shop stores 
throughout all Canadian provinces. We also opened 11 Canadian Best Buy stores during fiscal 2004, including our first such stores in Alberta 
and Manitoba. At the end of fiscal 2004, we operated 19 Canadian Best Buy stores in Ontario, Alberta and Manitoba.  

Discontinued Operations  

For fiscal 2004, the sale of our interest in Musicland resulted in an after-tax loss on the disposal of discontinued operations totaling $66 million. 
The results of discontinued operations for fiscal 2004 are included through the date of the sale, June 16, 2003. Fiscal 2003 results from 
discontinued operations are for the entire fiscal year. For additional information regarding discontinued operations, refer to Note 2, Discontinued 
Operations, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

The results from discontinued operations for the past three fiscal years are as follows ($ in millions):  

(1)  As-adjusted data conforms the accounting for vendor allowances to the method adopted in fiscal 2003. 

 

(2)  Fiscal 2003 included a $25 million tax benefit resulting from the differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes at acquisition, which 
were expected to be realized upon the disposition of Musicland.  

(3)  In fiscal 2004, based on the terms of the sale of our interest in Musicland, we determined that the nature of our future taxable income may not allow us to realize the $25 million deferred 
tax asset recorded in fiscal 2003 and have provided a full valuation allowance.  

(4)  In the first quarter of fiscal 2003, we recorded an after-tax, non-cash impairment charge of $308 million for the full write-off of goodwill related to our acquisition of Musicland, in 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets , which was adopted effective on March 3, 2002. In addition, we 
recorded an after-tax, non-cash charge of $8 million for the change in our method of accounting for vendor allowances in accordance with EITF No. 02-16, Accounting by a Reseller for Cash 
Consideration Received from a Vendor .  
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Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2002 
  

Stores 
Opened 

  

Stores 
Closed 

  

Total Stores at 
End of Fiscal 

2003 

Future Shop stores   95   9   —  104 
Canadian Best Buy stores   —  8   —  8 
          
Total   95   17   —  112 
          

Discontinued Operations Performance Summary (unaudited)  
   

2004 
  

2003 
  

As-Adjusted 
2002 (1) 

  
2002 

  
  

Revenue   $ 354   $ 1,727   $ 1,886   $ 1,886   
Operating (loss) income     (46 )   (238 )   31     29   
Interest expense     —    (6 )   (20 )   (19 ) 
            
(Loss) earnings before income tax (benefit) expense     (46 )   (244 )   11     10   
Income tax (benefit) expense (2)     (17 )   (119 )   11     10   
            
Loss before loss on disposal of discontinued operations and the 
cumulative effect of accounting changes     (29 )   (125 )   —    —  
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of $0 tax (3)     (66 )   —    —    —  
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, net of $5 tax (4)     —    (316 )   —    —  
            
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   $ (95 ) $ (441 ) $ —  $ —  
            



Additional Consolidated Results  

Net Interest (Expense) Income  

Net interest expense increased to $8 million for fiscal 2004, compared with net interest income of $4 million for fiscal 2003. The increase in net 
interest expense was primarily a result of the allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations for fiscal 2003. In addition, net interest 
expense increased approximately $4 million for fiscal 2004 as a result of interest expense related to the construction of our new corporate 
campus that was capitalized during fiscal 2003.  

Net interest income decreased to $4 million for fiscal 2003, compared with $18 million for fiscal 2002. The decrease in net interest income was 
primarily due to lower yields on short-term investments and a full year of interest expense associated with convertible debentures issued during 
fiscal 2002.  

For additional information regarding net interest (expense) income, refer to Note 6, Net Interest (Expense) Income, of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Effective Income Tax Rate  

Our effective income tax rate decreased to 38.3% for fiscal 2004, compared with 38.7% for fiscal 2003. The decrease in the effective income tax 
rate for fiscal 2004 was mainly due to our lower effective state income tax rate for the current fiscal year.  

Our effective income tax rate increased to 38.7% for fiscal 2003, up from 38.4% for fiscal 2002. The increase in the effective income tax rate for 
fiscal 2003 was primarily due to increased tax expense related to our International segment and a slight increase in the effective state income tax 
rate.  

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices  

The impact of inflation and changing prices has not been material to our revenue or earnings from continuing operations in any of the last three 
fiscal years. Highly competitive market conditions and the general economic environment minimized inflation's impact on the selling prices of 
our products.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Summary  

We ended fiscal 2004 with $2.6 billion of cash and cash equivalents, an increase from $1.9 billion at the end of fiscal 2003. Working capital, the 
excess of current assets over current liabilities, increased to $1.2 billion at the end of fiscal 2004, compared with $1.1 billion at the end of fiscal 
2003.  

Cash Flows  

Cash provided by operating activities was $1.4 billion for fiscal 2004, compared with $746 million for fiscal 2003 and $1.5 billion for fiscal 
2002. The improvement in operating cash flows for fiscal 2004, compared with the prior fiscal year, was primarily due to an increase in cash 
provided from changes in operating assets and liabilities, as well as increased earnings from continuing operations. Earnings from continuing 
operations increased to $800 million for fiscal 2004, compared with $622 million for fiscal 2003. The changes in operating assets and liabilities 
were substantially due to changes in accounts payable, other liabilities and accrued income taxes, partially offset by increased merchandise 
inventories. Merchandise inventories increased in fiscal 2004, primarily due to the addition of new stores and changes in product mix, including 
expanded assortments of digital televisions and notebook computers. In addition, the increased inventory levels reflected our efforts to improve 
in-stock positions in product categories that have been driving our revenue growth. The increase in accounts payable was primarily due to the 
increase in inventory, the timing of vendor payments and increased business volume. Other liabilities increased primarily due to growth in the 
business, higher performance-based incentive compensation as a result of our improved year-over-year operating performance and increased 
payroll withholdings associated with our new employee stock purchase plan. Accrued income taxes increased primarily due to higher income 
taxes resulting from the increase in  
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earnings from continuing operations, partially offset by tax benefits resulting from the sale of our interest in Musicland.  

Cash used in investing activities was $543 million for fiscal 2004, compared with $659 million and $924 million for fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, 
respectively. The decrease for fiscal 2004 was primarily a result of a decrease in additions to property and equipment. Refer to the "Capital 
Expenditures" section of this MD&A for additional information. In fiscal 2004, we used cash for the construction of new retail locations, 
information systems, distribution center improvements, and other additions to property and equipment, including the completion of our new 
corporate campus. The primary purposes of the cash investment activity were to support our expansion plans, to improve our operational 
efficiency and to enhance shareholder value.  

Cash used in financing activities was $133 million for fiscal 2004, compared with cash provided by financing activities of $45 million for fiscal 
2003 and $769 million for fiscal 2002. The change from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 was primarily due to the payment of cash dividends and 
repurchases of our common stock during fiscal 2004, partially offset by increased proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection 
with our equity-based compensation programs. We made two dividend payments totaling approximately $130 million during fiscal 2004. In 
addition, during fiscal 2004, we repurchased $100 million of our common stock pursuant to the stock purchase program authorized by our Board 
of Directors in fiscal 2000.  

Net cash used in discontinued operations was $53 million for fiscal 2004, compared with $79 million for fiscal 2003 and $270 million for fiscal 
2002. Net cash used in discontinued operations decreased for fiscal 2004, as compared with fiscal 2003, due to the sale of our interest in 
Musicland during the second quarter of fiscal 2004.  

Sources of Liquidity  

Funds generated by operating activities and available cash and cash equivalents continue to be our most significant sources of liquidity. We 
believe funds generated from the expected results of operations and available cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to finance anticipated 
expansion plans and strategic initiatives for the next fiscal year. In addition, our revolving credit facilities are available for additional working 
capital needs or investment opportunities. There can be no assurance, however, that we will continue to generate cash flows at or above current 
levels or that we will be able to maintain our ability to borrow under the revolving credit facilities.  

We have a $200 million unsecured revolving credit facility scheduled to expire in March 2005, of which $197 million was available at 
February 28, 2004. Outstanding letters of credit reduced the amount available under this facility. No borrowings were made under this facility 
during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002.  

We also have inventory financing lines totaling $210 million that allow us to extend the due dates of merchandise invoices beyond their normal 
terms. At February 28, 2004, $140 million was available for use under these facilities. Outstanding merchandise invoices reduced the amounts 
available under these facilities.  

In March 2004, we entered into a $19 million unsecured revolving demand facility related to our International operations, of which $4 million is 
only available on a seasonal basis from August through January of each year. This facility replaced a $41 million unsecured credit facility which 
was cancelled on March 1, 2004. There were no borrowings outstanding under the $41 million facility at February 28, 2004.  

We offer our customers extended financing through a third-party financial institution. The use of financing encourages consumers to purchase 
selected products and promotes our business. The third-party institution assumes the risk of collection from our customers and has no recourse 
against  
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us for any uncollectible amounts. Generally, these financing offers allow customers to purchase products with repayment terms ranging from 
90 days to 18 months without a finance charge. Our contract with the third-party financial institution extends through January 2009. If the 
contract were to be unexpectedly terminated or canceled, we believe we could contract with an alternative third-party financial institution or 
directly provide our customers with extended financing.  

Our credit ratings as of February 28, 2004, were as follows:  

(1)  Fitch Ratings affirmed its BBB rating and Stable outlook in September 2003. Fitch stated that its ratings reflected our strong customer acceptance and market share, solid operating margins 
and liquid balance sheet. These factors were balanced against the cyclical nature of the consumer electronics industry.  

(2)  Standard & Poor's Ratings Services revised its outlook to Stable from Negative in June 2003. The revised outlook issued by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services reflects our divestiture of 
Musicland, no expected significant acquisition activity and positive comparable store sales trends.  

Factors that can impact our credit ratings include changes in our operating performance, the economic environment, conditions in the retail and 
consumer electronics industries, our financial position and changes in our business strategy. We do not currently foresee any reasonable 
circumstances under which our credit ratings would be significantly downgraded. If a downgrade were to occur, it could adversely impact, 
among other things, our future borrowing costs, access to capital markets, vendor financing terms and future new store occupancy costs. In 
addition, the conversion rights of the holders of our convertible debentures could be accelerated if our credit ratings were to be downgraded.  

Capital Expenditures  

A component of our long-term strategy is our capital expenditure program. This program includes, among other things, investments in new 
stores, store remodeling, store relocations and expansions, new distribution facilities and information technology enhancements. During fiscal 
2004, we invested $545 million in property and equipment, including opening 78 new stores; remodeling, relocating and/or expanding 13 stores; 
and improving our distribution centers and information systems. We plan to invest approximately $700 million in property and equipment during 
fiscal 2005. We expect to open approximately 73 new stores in the United States and Canada; remodel, relocate and/or expand some of our older 
stores in key strategic markets; complete the construction of our new Ardmore, Oklahoma, distribution center; complete the expansion of our 
Brampton, Ontario, distribution center and make other infrastructure investments to support the business. Capital expenditures are funded 
through cash provided by operating activities, as well as available cash and cash equivalents.  

Refer to the "Outlook for Fiscal 2005" section of this MD&A for additional information on our capital expenditure plans for fiscal 2005.  

The following table presents our cash capital expenditures for each of the past three fiscal years ($ in millions):  

(1)  Includes store remodels, relocations and/or expansions, as well as various merchandising projects. 

 

(2)  Construction of our new corporate campus was completed during fiscal 2004. 

 

(3)  Excludes cash paid for acquisitions. 

 

Debt and Capital  

Rating Agency  
   

Rating 
  

Outlook 

Fitch (1)   BBB   Stable 
Moody's   Baa3   Stable 
Standard & Poor's (2)   BBB-   Stable 

Fiscal Year  
   

2004 
  

2003 
  

2002 

New stores   $ 215   $ 219   $ 194 
Store-related projects (1)     111     96     69 

Corporate campus (2)     29     131     107 
Information technology     112     185     153 
Other     78     94     58 
        
Total cash capital expenditures (3)   $ 545   $ 725   $ 581 
        



In fiscal 2002, we sold convertible debentures due June 27, 2021, and January 15, 2022, with an initial principal amount at maturity of 
$492 million and  
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a principal amount of $402 million, respectively. The proceeds from the offerings, net of offering expenses, were $726 million. We may redeem, 
and holders of the debentures may require us to purchase, all or part of the debentures on certain dates or upon the occurrence of certain events 
as specified in the respective indentures. In addition, in the event that certain conditions are satisfied, holders may surrender their debentures for 
conversion, which would increase the number of shares of our common stock outstanding and have a dilutive impact on our reported earnings 
per share. The shares related to the convertible debentures were not included in our diluted earnings-per-share computation for fiscal 2004 or 
2003, as the criteria for conversion of the debentures were not met. For additional information regarding the convertible debentures, refer to 
Note 4, Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Holders of our convertible debentures due in 2021 can require us to redeem the debentures for cash effective on June 27, 2004. As a result, 
convertible debentures with a carrying value of $353 million have been included in the current portion of long-term debt in the February 28, 
2004, consolidated balance sheet. At the end of fiscal 2004, the fair market value of the convertible debentures exceeded the redemption value. 
Therefore, we do not currently expect, subject to changes in market conditions, that holders of the convertible debentures will exercise their 
redemption option during fiscal 2005 and require us to purchase these debentures. However, if market conditions change and holders of our 
convertible debentures due in 2021 exercise their redemption option, we believe funds generated from the expected results of operations and 
available cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to finance the redemption. If holders of our convertible debentures do not exercise their 
redemption option on June 27, 2004, their next redemption opportunity will not be until June 27, 2009.  

Our ability to access our credit facilities is subject to our compliance with the terms and conditions of the credit facilities, including financial 
covenants. The financial covenants require us to maintain certain financial ratios and a minimum net worth. As of the end of fiscal 2004, we 
were in compliance with all such covenants. In the event we were to default on any of our other debt, it would constitute a default under our 
credit facilities as well.  

Our decision to own or lease real estate is based on an assessment of our financial liquidity, our capital structure, our desire to own or to lease the 
location and the alternative that results in the highest return to our shareholders. For those sites developed using working capital, we often sell 
and lease back those properties under long-term lease agreements.  

We also have a master lease program which was used for the purpose of constructing and leasing new retail locations. As of February 28, 2004, 
$58 million in leases related to new stores were outstanding under the master lease program. The master lease program is complete and there will 
be no further new-store development under this program. The program is set to expire on January 1, 2006, and is renewable for one year, subject 
to the lenders' consent.  

Share Repurchases and Dividends  

In October 2003, we announced our intent to resume purchasing shares of our common stock pursuant to a $400 million share repurchase 
program authorized by the Company's Board of Directors in fiscal 2000. During fiscal 2004, we purchased and retired 1.8 million shares at a cost 
of $100 million. No purchases were made under the stock repurchase program in either fiscal 2003 or fiscal 2002. We have purchased and retired 
4.6 million shares at a cost of $200 million since the inception of the share repurchase program in fiscal 2000. We consider several factors in 
determining when to make share repurchases, including among other things, our cash needs and the market price of our stock. At the end of 
fiscal 2004, $200 million of the $400 million originally authorized by the Company's Board of Directors  
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was available for future share repurchases. There is no expiration date governing the period over which we can make our share repurchases. We 
expect that cash provided by future operating activities, as well as available cash and cash equivalents, will be the sources of funding for the 
share repurchase program.  

Additional information on the share repurchase program is included in Item 5, Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder 
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

In October 2003, we also announced that our Board of Directors had declared the Company's first-ever cash dividends, including the initiation of 
a regular quarterly cash dividend. A special cash dividend payment of $0.30 per common share, or approximately $97 million based on 
324,804,000 common shares outstanding as of the record date, November 18, 2003, was paid on December 9, 2003. In addition, a regular 
quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per common share, or approximately $33 million based on 324,146,000 common shares outstanding as of the 
record date, January 7, 2004, was paid on January 28, 2004. These two dividend payments allowed the Company to begin its desired rhythm of 
paying $0.40 per common share each fiscal year, subject to legal and contractual restrictions. The second regular quarterly cash dividend of 
$0.10 per common share is payable on May 12, 2004, to shareholders of record as of the close of business on April 21, 2004. We plan to fund 
future dividend payments using cash provided by future operating activities and available cash and cash equivalents.  

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations  

Other than in connection with executing operating leases, we do not have any off-balance-sheet financing. We finance a portion of our new-store 
development program through sale-leaseback transactions, which involve selling stores to unrelated parties and then leasing the stores back 
under leases that are accounted for as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases. A summary of our operating 
lease obligations by fiscal year is included in the "Contractual Obligations" section below.  

Our debt-to-capitalization ratio, which represents the ratio of total debt, including the current portion of long-term debt, to total capitalization 
(total debt plus total shareholders' equity), improved to 20% at February 28, 2004, compared with 23% at March 1, 2003. We view our debt-to-
capitalization ratio as an important indicator of our creditworthiness. Our adjusted debt-to-capitalization ratio, including capitalized operating 
lease obligations (rental expense for all operating leases multiplied by eight), was 57% at the end of fiscal 2004, compared with 67% at the end 
of fiscal 2003. Total debt, including capitalized operating lease obligations (rental expense for all operating leases multiplied by eight), was 
$4.6 billion at February 28, 2004, compared with $5.5 billion at March 1, 2003.  

The information presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP, as well as 
measures that may be considered non-GAAP financial measures. Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a 
company's performance, financial position or cash flows that either excludes or includes amounts that are not normally excluded or included in 
the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP financial measures should be 
considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, the information prepared in accordance with GAAP.  

Our adjusted debt-to-capitalization ratio, including capitalized operating lease obligations (rental expense for all operating leases multiplied by 
eight), is not in accordance with, or preferable to, the ratio determined in accordance with GAAP. However, we have included this information 
as we believe that our adjusted debt-to-capitalization  
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ratio, including capitalized operating lease obligations (rental expense for all operating leases multiplied by eight), is important for understanding 
our operations and provides meaningful additional information about our ability to service our long-term debt and other fixed obligations, and to 
fund our future growth. In addition, we believe our adjusted debt-to-capitalization ratio, including capitalized operating lease obligations (rental 
expense for all operating leases multiplied by eight), is relevant because it enables investors to compare our indebtedness to retailers who own, 
rather than lease, their stores.  

In January 2003, as directed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the SEC amended Item 10 of Regulation S-K to provide additional guidance to 
registrants that include non-GAAP financial measures in SEC filings. The following table presents a reconciliation of the numerator and 
denominator used in the calculation of our adjusted debt-to-capitalization ratio, including capitalized operating lease obligations (rental expense 
for all operating leases multiplied by eight) ($ in millions):  

(1)  Fiscal 2003 includes $5 million of Musicland debt. 

 

(2)  Fiscal 2003 includes $1.2 billion of Musicland capitalized operating lease obligations. 

 

The most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to our adjusted debt-to-capitalization ratio, including capitalized operating lease 
obligations (rental expense for all operating leases multiplied by eight), is our debt-to-capitalization ratio. Our debt-to-capitalization ratio 
excludes capitalized operating lease obligations (rental expense for all operating leases multiplied by eight) in both the numerator and 
denominator of the above calculation.  
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Fiscal 
2004 

  

Fiscal 
2003 

  
  

Total debt (current and long-term portion) (1)   $ 850   $ 834   
Capitalized operating lease obligations (8 times rental expense) (2)     3,746     4,680   
        
Debt (including capitalized operating lease obligations)   $ 4,596   $ 5,514   
        

Total debt (current and long-term portion) (1)   $ 850   $ 834   
Capitalized operating lease obligations (8 times rental expense) (2)     3,746     4,680   
Total shareholders' equity     3,422     2,730   
        
Adjusted capitalization   $ 8,018   $ 8,244   
        
Debt-to-capitalization ratio     20 %   23 % 
Adjusted debt-to-capitalization ratio (including capitalized operating lease obligations)     57 %   67 % 



Contractual Obligations  

The following table presents information regarding our contractual obligations by fiscal year ($ in millions):  

Note:    For more information regarding long-term debt, operating leases and purchase obligations, refer to Notes 4, 7 and 11, respectively, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

(1)  Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable, legally binding and specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be 
purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase obligations exclude agreements that are cancelable without penalty. 
Additionally, we included open purchase orders in the table above which are not legally binding agreements. Our purchase orders are based on our current inventory needs and substantially all 
orders are fulfilled within 30 days.  

(2)  Included in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet at February 28, 2004, is a $58 million obligation for deferred compensation. As the specific payment dates for the 
deferred compensation is unknown, related balances have not been reflected in the above table.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In connection with the preparation of the financial statements, we 
are required to make assumptions and estimates about future events, and apply judgment that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenue, expenses and the related disclosures. We base our assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and 
other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. On a regular basis, 
management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensure that our financial statements are presented fairly 
and in accordance with GAAP. However, because future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could differ 
from our assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.  

Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Management believes that 
the following accounting policies are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results, and they require 
management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are 
inherently uncertain. Management has reviewed these critical accounting policies and related disclosures with our independent auditor and the 
Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.  
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Payments due by period  

Contractual Obligations  
   

Total 
  

Less than 1 
year 

  
1-3 years 

  
3-5 years 

  

More than 5 
years 

Long-term debt obligations   $ 776   $ 355   $ 406   $ 2   $ 13 
Capital lease obligations     16     13     3     —    —
Master lease obligation     58     —    58     —    —
Operating lease obligations     4,654     454     815     764     2,621 
Purchase obligations (1)     636     456     174     6     —

Deferred compensation (2)     —    —    —    —    —
            
Total   $ 6,140   $ 1,278   $ 1,456   $ 772   $ 2,634 
            

Description  

   

Judgments and Uncertainties  

   

Effect if Actual Results Differ from  
Assumptions  

 

 
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Inventory Reserves         
 
We value our inventory at the lower of the cost 
of the inventory or fair market value through the 
establishment of markdown and inventory loss 
reserves.  
 
We have not made any material changes in the 
accounting methodology used to establish our 

 
  

 
Our markdown reserve represents the excess of 
the carrying value, typically cost, over the 
amount we expect to realize from the ultimate 
sale or other disposal of the inventory based 
upon our assumptions regarding forecasted 
consumer demand, the promotional environment, 
inventory aging and technological obsolescence.  

 
  

 
If our estimates regarding consumer demand are 
inaccurate or changes in technology affect 
demand for certain products in an unforeseen 
manner, we may be exposed to losses or gains in 
excess of our established markdown reserve that 
could be material. A 10% difference in our 
actual markdown reserve at February 28, 2004, 
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markdown or inventory loss reserves during the 
past three fiscal years. 

 
Our inventory loss reserve represents anticipated 
physical inventory losses (e.g., theft) that 
occurred since the last physical inventory date. 
Independent physical inventory counts are taken 
on a regular basis to ensure that the merchandise 
inventory reported in our consolidated financial 
statements is properly stated. During the interim 
period between physical inventory counts, we 
accrue for anticipated physical inventory losses 
on a location-by-location basis, based on a 
number of factors, including historical results 
and current inventory loss trends. 

would have affected net earnings by 
approximately $3 million for the fiscal year 
ended February 28, 2004.  
 
If our estimates regarding physical inventory 
losses are inaccurate, we may be exposed to 
losses or gains that could be material. A 10% 
difference in actual physical inventory losses 
reserved for at February 28, 2004, would have 
affected net earnings by approximately 
$3 million for the fiscal year ended 
February 28, 2004. 

 
Long-Lived Assets 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
Long-lived assets such as property and 
equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value of the assets contained in our 
financial statements may not be recoverable.  
 
When evaluating long-lived assets for potential 
impairment, we first compare the carrying value 
of the asset to the asset's estimated future cash 
flows (undiscounted and without interest 
charges). If the estimated future cash flows are 
less than the carrying value of the asset, we 
calculate an impairment loss. The impairment 
loss calculation compares the carrying value of 
the asset to the asset's estimated fair value, 
which may be based on estimated future cash 
flows (discounted and with interest charges). We 
recognize an impairment loss if the amount of 
the asset's carrying value exceeds the asset's 
estimated fair value. If we recognize an 
impairment loss, the adjusted carrying amount of 
the asset will be its new cost basis. For a 
depreciable long-lived asset, the new cost basis 
will be depreciated (amortized) over the 
remaining useful life of that asset. Restoration of 
a previously recognized impairment loss is 
prohibited. 

 
  

 
Our impairment loss calculations require 
management to apply judgment in estimating 
future cash flows and asset fair values, including 
forecasting useful lives of the assets and 
selecting the discount rate that reflects the risk 
inherent in future cash flows. 

 
  

 
Using the impairment review methodology 
described herein, we recorded long-lived asset 
impairment charges of $22 million during the 
fiscal year ended February 28, 2004.  
 
If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and judgments used in estimating 
future cash flows and asset fair values, we may 
be exposed to additional impairment losses that 
could be material to our results of operations. 

          

Description  

   

Judgments and Uncertainties  

   

Effect if Actual Results Differ from  
Assumptions  

 

 
 
Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase 
price over the fair value of identifiable net assets 
acquired in business combinations. The only 
identifiable intangible asset, other than goodwill, 
included in our balance sheet is an indefinite-
lived tradename related to our Future Shop 
stores.  
 
We review goodwill and the Future Shop 
tradename for potential impairment annually and 
when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of the goodwill or the 
Future Shop tradename might exceed their 
current fair value. To assist in the process of 
reviewing goodwill and the Future Shop 
tradename for impairment, we obtain appraisals 
from an independent valuation firm. In addition 
to the use of an independent valuation firm, we 
perform internal valuation analyses and consider 
other publicly available market information. 

 
  

 
We determine fair value using widely accepted 
valuation techniques, including discounted cash 
flow and market multiple analyses. These types 
of analyses require us to make assumptions and 
estimates regarding industry economic factors 
and the profitability of future business strategies. 
It is our policy to conduct impairment testing 
based on our current business strategy in light of 
present industry and economic conditions, as 
well as future expectations. 

 
  

 
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we 
completed our annual impairment testing of 
goodwill and the Future Shop tradename using 
the methodology described herein, and 
determined there was no impairment.  
 
If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and estimates, we may be exposed 
to a goodwill impairment charge. The carrying 
value of goodwill as of February 28, 2004, was 
$477 million.  
 
If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and estimates, or if we ever were to 
discontinue the use of the Future Shop 
tradename as a result of abandoning our dual-
branding strategy in Canada or otherwise, we 
may be exposed to an impairment charge. The 
carrying value of the Future Shop tradename as 
of February 28, 2004, was $37 million. 

 
Extended Service Contract Liability 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
We assumed a liability for certain self-insured 
extended service contracts when we acquired 
Future Shop. The terms of these extended 
service contracts vary by product and extend 
through fiscal 2007.  

 
  

 
The accounting for self-insured extended service 
contracts requires us to make assumptions and 
apply judgment when estimating product failure 
rates and expected material and labor costs 
necessary to provide the services. Periodically, 

 
  

 
If actual results are not consistent with the 
assumptions and judgments used to calculate our 
extended service contract liability, we may be 
exposed to gains or losses that could be material. 
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The liability for the self-insured extended service 
contracts is based on a number of factors, 
including historical trends in product failure 
rates and the expected material and labor costs 
necessary to provide the services. We use 
independent actuaries to assist us in establishing 
our extended service contract liability. The 
frequency and severity of repair costs are the two 
primary factors affecting our extended service 
contract liability.  
 
See Notes 1 and 11 to the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, included in Item 8, 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further 
discussion regarding our accounting for 
extended service contracts. 

management reevaluates its estimates to assess 
the adequacy of our extended service contract 
liability and adjusts the amount as necessary. 

 
A 10% change in the extended service contract 
liability at February 28, 2004, would have 
affected net earnings by approximately $1 
million for the fiscal year ended February 28, 
2004. 
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Description  

   

Judgments and Uncertainties  

   

Effect if Actual Results Differ from  
Assumptions  

 

 
 
Costs Associated with Exit Activities 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
We occasionally vacate stores and other 
locations prior to the expiration of the related 
lease. For vacated locations that are under long-
term leases, we record an expense for the 
difference between our future lease payments 
and related costs (e.g., real estate taxes and 
common area maintenance) from the date of 
closure through the end of the remaining lease 
term, net of expected future sublease rental 
income.  
 
The net cash flows are discounted using a risk-
free interest rate that coincides with the 
remaining lease term. Our estimate of future 
cash flows is based on historical experience; our 
analysis of the specific real estate market, 
including input from independent real estate 
firms; and economic conditions that can be 
difficult to predict. 

 
  

 
The calculation of our location closing liability 
requires us to make assumptions and to apply 
judgment regarding the timing and duration of 
future vacancy periods, the amount and timing of 
future settlement payments, and the amount and 
timing of potential future sublease income. 
When making these assumptions, we consider a 
number of factors, including historical settlement 
experience, the owner of the property, the 
location and condition of the property, the terms 
of the underlying lease, the specific marketplace 
demand and general economic conditions. 

 
  

 
If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and judgments, we may be exposed 
to gains or losses that could be material.  
 
A 10% change in our location closing liability at 
February 28, 2004, would have resulted in an 
approximately $2 million change in net earnings 
for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2004. 

 
Self-Insured Liabilities 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
We are self-insured for certain losses related to 
health, workers' compensation and general 
liability insurance, although we obtain third-
party insurance coverage to limit our exposure to 
these claims.  
 
When estimating our self-insurance liabilities, 
we consider a number of factors, including 
historical claims experience, demographic 
factors, severity factors and valuations provided 
by independent third-party actuaries.  
 
Periodically, management reviews its 
assumptions and the valuations provided by 
independent third-party actuaries to determine 
the adequacy of our self-insured liabilities.  
 
We have not made any material changes in the 
accounting methodology used to establish our 
self-insured liabilities during the past three 
years. 

 
  

 
Our self-insured liabilities contain uncertainties 
because management must make assumptions 
and apply judgment to estimate the ultimate cost 
to settle reported claims and claims incurred but 
not reported as of the balance sheet date. 

 
  

 
If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and judgments, we may be exposed 
to gains or losses that could be material.  
 
A 10% change in our self-insurance liabilities at 
February 28, 2004, would have affected net 
earnings by approximately $5 million for the 
fiscal year ended February 28, 2004. 

          

Description  

   

Judgments and Uncertainties  

   

Effect if Actual Results Differ from  
Assumptions  

 

 
 
Tax Contingencies 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
Like most companies, domestic and foreign tax 
authorities periodically audit our income tax 
returns. These audits include questions regarding 
our tax filing positions, including the timing and 
amount of deductions and the allocation of 
income among various tax jurisdictions. In 
evaluating the exposures associated with our 
various tax filing positions, including state and 
local taxes, we record reserves for probable 
exposures. A number of years may elapse before 
a particular matter, for which we have 
established a reserve, is audited and fully 
resolved. As of the end of fiscal 2004, four open 
tax years were undergoing examination by the 
United States Internal Revenue Service, and 
three open years with Revenue Canada. 

 
  

 
The estimate of our tax contingencies reserve 
contains uncertainty because management must 
use judgment to estimate the exposures 
associated with our various filing positions. 

 
  

 
Although management believes that the 
estimates and judgments discussed herein are 
reasonable, actual results could differ, and we 
may be exposed to gains or losses that could be 
material.  
 
To the extent we prevail in matters for which 
reserves have been established, or are required to 
pay amounts in excess of our reserves, our 
effective tax rate in a given financial statement 
period could be materially affected. An 
unfavorable tax settlement would require use of 
our cash and result in an increase in our effective 
tax rate in the year of resolution. A favorable tax 
settlement would be recognized as a reduction in 
our effective tax rate in the year of resolution. 

 
Revenue Recognition 
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See Note 1 to the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, included in Item 8, 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for a 
complete discussion of our revenue recognition 
policies.  
 
During fiscal 2004, we launched Reward Zone, 
our customer loyalty program, which allows 
members to earn points for each purchase 
completed at U.S. Best Buy stores. After earning 
the required point total, members are awarded a 
certificate that may be redeemed on future 
purchases. The value of points earned by 
members are recorded as a liability and a 
reduction of revenue based on the percentage of 
points that are projected to be redeemed.  
 
From time to time, we offer customers mail-in 
rebates valid for a refund of a portion of the 
price paid for merchandise or services. Rebates 
are recorded as a reduction of revenue based on 
the percentage of rebates that are projected to be 
redeemed. 

  We apply judgment in estimating the number of 
certificates expected to be redeemed by members 
of our customer loyalty program and rebate 
offers that will be redeemed by customers. Our 
estimate of the number of certificates and rebates 
that will be redeemed is primarily based on 
historical transaction experience. 

  If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and judgments, we may be exposed 
to gains or losses that could be material.  
 
A 10% change in the Reward Zone and rebate 
liabilities at February 28, 2004, would have 
affected net earnings by approximately $2 
million and $8 million, respectively, for the 
fiscal year ended February 28, 2004. 

          



New Accounting Standards  

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities , which requires the consolidation of, 
and disclosures about, variable interest entities (VIEs). VIEs are entities for which control is achieved through means other than voting rights. In 
December 2003, the FASB revised FIN No. 46 to incorporate all decisions, including those in previously issued FASB Staff Positions, into one 
Interpretation. The revised Interpretation supersedes the original Interpretation. In most circumstances, the requirements were effective 
immediately for all VIEs in which an interest was acquired after January 31, 2003. For variable interests in special purpose entities in which an 
interest was acquired before February 1, 2003, the requirements were effective for us at the end of fiscal 2004. Requirements for non-special 
purpose entities acquired before February 1, 2003, are effective for us at the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2005. FIN No. 46 has not had, and is 
not expected to have, a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

During fiscal year 2004, we adopted EITF Issue No. 03-10, Application of Issue 02-16 by Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by 
Manufacturers , which amends EITF No. 02-16. According to the amended guidance, if certain criteria are met, consideration received by a 
reseller in the form of reimbursement from a vendor for honoring the vendor's sales incentives offered directly to consumers (e.g., manufacturers' 
coupons) should not be recorded as a reduction of the cost of the reseller's purchases from the vendor. The adoption of EITF No. 03-10 did not 
impact reported net earnings, financial position or cash flows.  

Quarterly Results and Seasonality  

Similar to many retailers, our business is seasonal. Historically, we have realized more of our revenue and earnings in the fiscal fourth quarter, 
which includes the majority of the holiday selling season, than in any other fiscal quarter. The timing of new store openings, costs associated 
with acquisitions and development of new businesses, and general economic conditions also may affect our future quarterly results.  

Selected quarterly financial data is included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Description  

   

Judgments and Uncertainties  

   

Effect if Actual Results Differ from  
Assumptions  

 

 
 
Long-Term Incentive Program 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
In fiscal 2004, we launched a new long-term 
incentive program for certain U.S. employees 
designed to help us attract and retain the best 
employees and to better align employee interests 
with those of our shareholders. Under the terms 
of the new program, which began in November 
2003, eligible employees may receive a mix of 
restricted stock and stock options issued 
pursuant to existing shareholder-approved plans. 
Shares of restricted stock vest at the end of a 
three-year incentive period based on our total 
return to shareholders compared with the 
Standard & Poor's (S&P) 500. 

 
  

 
At the end of each fiscal quarter, we are required 
to estimate the percentage of restricted stock that 
will vest at the end of the three-year incentive 
period in order to determine the amount of 
compensation expense to be recognized for the 
program.  
 
Our estimate for the percentage of restricted 
stock that will vest is based on the projected 
performance of our stock compared with the 
S&P 500 during the three-year incentive period. 

 
  

 
If actual results are not consistent with our 
assumptions and judgments, we may be exposed 
to changes in compensation expense that could 
be material.  
 
A 10% difference in the percentage of restricted 
stock that is projected to vest at the end of the 
three-year incentive period would have changed 
the liability recorded at February 28, 2004, and 
net earnings for the fiscal year ended February 
28, 2004, by less than a million dollars. 



 

Fourth-Quarter Summary  

•  Earnings from continuing operations increased 24% to $469 million, or $1.42 per diluted share, compared with $378 million, or $1.16 per 
diluted share, for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. The increase in earnings from continuing operations was driven by revenue gains, 
including a comparable store sales increase of 9.7%, and an improved gross profit rate, and was partially offset by a modest increase in 
our SG&A rate.  
 

•  Revenue increased 21% to $8.4 billion, compared with $7.0 billion for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, driven by a comparable store 
sales gain of 9.7%, the addition of 78 stores in the past 12 months and the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  
 

•  Our gross profit rate increased 0.3% of revenue to 25.4% of revenue, up from 25.1% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. The 
increase in the gross profit rate was primarily due to gross profit rate improvements within our product categories and a more effective 
use of promotions in the Domestic segment compared with the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year. These improvements were partially 
offset by costs associated with Reward Zone; the increase of the home office category in the revenue mix, as that product category carries 
a lower gross profit rate; and a more promotional environment in the International segment compared with the fourth quarter of fiscal 
2003.  
 

•  Our SG&A rate increased 0.1% of revenue to 16.4% of revenue, up from 16.3% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. The 
modest SG&A rate increase was primarily due to increased performance-based incentive compensation, expenses associated with our 
customer centricity initiative and reduced funding from vendor alliance programs. These factors were partially offset by expense leverage 
from a 21% increase in revenue and the realization of cost savings from our efficient enterprise initiative.  

Consolidated  

The following table presents unaudited selected consolidated financial data ($ in millions, except per share amounts):  

Note: All periods presented reflect the classification of Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations.  

(1)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening. Acquired stores are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first 
anniversary of the date of acquisition. The calculation of the comparable store sales percentage change excludes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales change for the prior fiscal year has not been 
computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash 
flows.  

Earnings from continuing operations were $469 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004,  
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Three Months Ended  

  

     

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Revenue   $ 8,449   $ 6,989   
Comparable store sales % change (1)     9.7 %   1.2 % 
Gross profit as a % of revenue     25.4 %   25.1 % 
SG&A as a % of revenue     16.4 %   16.3 % 
Operating income   $ 759   $ 612   
Operating income as a % of revenue     9.0 %   8.7 % 
Earnings from continuing operations   $ 469   $ 378   
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     —    (67 ) 
Net earnings   $ 469   $ 311   
Diluted earnings per share — continuing operations   $ 1.42   $ 1.16   
Diluted earnings per share   $ 1.42   $ 0.96   



 

or $1.42 per diluted share, a 24% increase from $378 million, or $1.16 per diluted share, for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. The increase in 
earnings from continuing operations was driven by a 21% increase in revenue, including a comparable store sales gain of 9.7%, and an improved 
gross profit rate, and was partially offset by a modest increase in our SG&A rate.  

Revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 increased 21% to $8.4 billion, compared with $7.0 billion for the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal 
year. Revenue from our Domestic and International segments increased 19% and 46%, respectively, for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 
compared with the same period of the prior year. Approximately two-fifths of the increase in revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 was 
due to the 9.7% comparable store sales gain. The addition of 78 stores in the past 12 months also accounted for approximately two-fifths of the 
revenue increase for the quarter. The remainder of the revenue increase for the fiscal fourth quarter was due to the effect of changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates. Revenue and comparable store sales for the fiscal fourth quarter also benefited from revenue gains at our Web sites.  

The fiscal fourth-quarter comparable store sales gain was driven by an improved economic environment, including an increase in consumer 
confidence which resulted in higher customer traffic in our stores. Also contributing to the comparable store sales gain were effective advertising 
and promotional campaigns, as well as the redemption of gift cards and Reward Zone certificates following the holiday selling season. Customer 
traffic accelerated in the second half of December and sustained that pace through the end of the quarter. Products having the largest impact on 
our fiscal fourth-quarter comparable store sales gain included notebook and desktop computers, digital televisions, digital cameras and 
accessories, DVD movies, CDs, MP3 players and digital camcorders.  

Our gross profit rate improved to 25.4% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, compared with 25.1% of revenue for the fourth quarter 
of the prior fiscal year. The increase in the gross profit rate for the fiscal fourth quarter was primarily due to gross profit rate improvements 
within our product categories and a more effective use of promotions in the Domestic segment compared with the prior fiscal year. The 
improvements in the gross profit rates within our product categories resulted from specific initiatives, including reducing markdowns, improving 
product assortments and developing more effective promotions. These factors were partially offset by costs associated with Reward Zone; the 
increase of home office products in the revenue mix, as that product category carries a lower gross profit rate; and a more promotional 
environment in the International segment compared with the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.  

The SG&A rate increased to 16.4% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, compared with 16.3% of revenue for the fourth quarter of the 
prior fiscal year. The modest SG&A rate increase was primarily due to increased performance-based incentive compensation as a result of 
improved year-over-year financial performance, expenses associated with our customer centricity initiative and reduced funding from vendor 
alliance programs. These factors were partially offset by expense leverage from the 21% increase in revenue and the realization of cost savings 
from our efficient enterprise initiative.  
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Segment Performance  

Domestic  

The following table presents unaudited selected financial data for the Domestic segment ($ in millions):  

Note: All periods presented reflect the classification of Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations.  

(1)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales change for the prior fiscal year has not been 
computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash 
flows.  

For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, Domestic operating income increased to $712 million, or 9.4% of revenue, compared with $591 million, or 
9.2% of revenue, for the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year. The improvement in our Domestic segment's operating income for the fiscal 
fourth quarter was driven by revenue gains, including a 9.9% comparable store sales increase, and a 0.4% of revenue improvement in the gross 
profit rate, and was partially offset by an increase in the SG&A rate.  

Domestic revenue was $7.6 billion for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, a 19% increase compared with fiscal 2003 fourth-quarter revenue of 
$6.4 billion. Slightly more than half of the revenue increase was due to the 9.9% comparable store sales gain. The remainder of the revenue 
increase resulted from the addition of 60 U.S. Best Buy stores and three Magnolia Audio Video stores in the past 12 months. Revenue and 
comparable store sales for the fiscal fourth quarter also benefited from revenue gains at our Domestic Web sites.  

All four product categories posted comparable store sales gains for the fiscal fourth quarter. The mid-teens comparable store sales gain in the 
home office category was primarily driven by sales of personal computers, MP3 players and computer networking products, partially offset by 
softer sales of PDAs. The high-single-digit comparable store sales gain in consumer electronics was primarily driven by sales of digital 
televisions, digital cameras and accessories, and digital camcorders, and was partially offset by declines in sales of analog televisions. For the 
fiscal fourth quarter, the entertainment software category had a high-single-digit comparable store sales gain, fueled by new releases and our 
improved assortments in both DVD movies and CDs, partially offset by a comparable store sales decline in video game hardware. The 
appliances category posted a comparable store sales gain in the high-single digits for the fiscal fourth quarter, primarily benefiting from an 
expanded assortment and strong new products in higher-end laundry products, refrigerators and dishwashers, as well as effective promotions.  

The Domestic gross profit rate increased to 25.5% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, an improvement of 0.4% of revenue compared 
with 25.1% of revenue for the same period of fiscal 2003. The increase in the gross profit rate for the fiscal fourth quarter was primarily due to 
gross profit rate improvements within our product categories and a more effective use of promotions compared with the prior fiscal year. The 
improvements in the gross profit rates within  
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Three Months Ended  

  

     

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Revenue   $ 7,605   $ 6,411   
Comparable stores sales % change (1)     9.9 %   1.2 % 
Gross profit as a % of revenue     25.5 %   25.1 % 
SG&A as a % of revenue     16.1 %   15.9 % 
Operating income   $ 712   $ 591   
Operating income as a % of revenue     9.4 %   9.2 % 



 

our product categories resulted from specific initiatives, including reducing markdowns, improving product assortments and developing more 
effective promotions. These factors were partially offset by costs associated with Reward Zone and the increase of the home office category in 
the revenue mix, as that product category carries a lower gross profit rate.  

The Domestic SG&A rate increased 0.2% of revenue to 16.1% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, up from 15.9% of revenue for the 
fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year. The modest SG&A rate increase was primarily due to increased performance-based incentive 
compensation as a result of improved year-over-year financial performance, expenses associated with our customer centricity initiative and 
reduced funding from vendor alliance programs. These factors were partially offset by expense leverage from the 9.9% comparable store sales 
gain, the addition of 60 U.S. Best Buy stores and three Magnolia Audio Video stores in the past 12 months, as well as the realization of cost 
savings from our efficient enterprise initiative.  

International  

The following table presents unaudited selected financial data for the International segment ($ in millions):  

(1)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening. Acquired stores are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first 
anniversary of the date of acquisition. The calculation of the comparable store sales percentage change excludes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales change for the prior fiscal year has not been 
computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash 
flows.  

The International segment's operating income increased to $47 million, or 5.5% of revenue, for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, compared with 
fourth-quarter operating income of $21 million, or 3.6% of revenue, for fiscal 2003. Approximately three-tenths of the increase in operating 
income for the fiscal fourth quarter was due to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The remainder of the improvement in 
operating income for the fiscal fourth quarter resulted from revenue gains, including a 7.9% comparable store sales increase, and a reduction in 
the SG&A rate, and was partially offset by a lower gross profit rate.  

International revenue increased 46% for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 to $844 million, compared with $578 million for the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2003. Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, International revenue would have increased 24% for the fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2004 compared with the same period of the prior fiscal year. The addition of four Future Shop stores and 11 Canadian Best Buy 
stores in the past 12 months accounted for approximately three-fifths of the revenue increase for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, excluding the 
effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The remainder of the fiscal fourth-quarter revenue increase, excluding the effect of changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates, was due to the 7.9% comparable store sales gain. Comparable store sales for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 
were primarily driven by strength in sales of digital televisions, DVD movies and digital  
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Three Months Ended  

  

     

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Revenue   $ 844   $ 578   
Comparable stores sales % change (1)     7.9 %   0.6 % 
Gross profit as a % of revenue     24.2 %   24.9 % 
SG&A as a % of revenue     18.7 %   21.3 % 
Operating income   $ 47   $ 21   
Operating income as a % of revenue     5.5 %   3.6 % 



 

cameras. Revenue and comparable store sales for the fiscal fourth quarter also benefited from revenue gains at our International Web site.  

The International gross profit rate was 24.2% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, down from 24.9% of revenue for the fourth quarter 
of fiscal 2003. The decline in the gross profit rate was primarily due to increased promotional activity compared with the same period of the 
prior fiscal year, including higher customer financing expenses. In response to the opening of Best Buy stores in Canada, our International 
segment competitors increased their promotional offerings, resulting in additional pressure on our gross profit rate.  

The International SG&A rate declined to 18.7% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, compared with 21.3% of revenue for the fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2003. The SG&A rate decline for the fiscal fourth quarter was primarily driven by expense leverage as a result of the higher 
revenue base, improved operating efficiencies and reduced use of outside consulting services. Also, the International SG&A rate was positively 
affected by favorable settlements related to previously established legal and location closing liabilities, which did not have a significant effect on 
our consolidated fiscal 2004 earnings from continuing operations.  

Discontinued Operations  

The following table presents unaudited selected financial data for Discontinued Operations ($ in millions):  

(1)  The fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 included a $25 million tax benefit resulting from the differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes 
at acquisition, which were expected to be realized upon the disposition of Musicland.  

See the "Overview" section of this MD&A for additional information regarding the sale of our interest in Musicland.  

Outlook for Fiscal 2005  

Our outlook for fiscal 2005 is based on information presently available and contains certain assumptions regarding future economic conditions. 
Differences in actual economic conditions compared with our assumptions could have a material impact on our fiscal 2005 results.  

Looking forward to fiscal 2005, we are projecting earnings from continuing operations in a range of $2.80 to $2.93 per diluted share, an increase 
of 15% to 20% compared with earnings from continuing operations of $2.44 per diluted share for fiscal 2004. We expect the earnings growth to 
be driven by an increase in revenue of 11% to 13% and an increase in our operating income rate to approximately 5.6% of revenue for fiscal 
2005, compared with 5.3% of revenue for fiscal 2004.  

We are projecting revenue of approximately $27.5 billion for fiscal 2005, compared with revenue of $24.5 billion for fiscal 2004. We expect 
strong comparable store sales gains in the first  
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Three Months Ended 

  

     

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Revenue   $ —  $ 585   
Operating loss     —    (147 ) 
Interest expense     —    (3 ) 
        
Loss before income tax benefit     —    (150 ) 
Income tax benefit (1)     —    83   
        
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   $ —  $ (67 ) 
        



 

half of fiscal 2005 and the opening of approximately 73 new stores during the fiscal year will drive the revenue growth. We believe that 
comparable store sales gains in the first half of the fiscal year will benefit from continued consumer demand for digital products, increased brand 
awareness and customer loyalty, income tax refunds and easier comparisons with the first half of fiscal 2004. We expect comparable store sales 
gains to moderate somewhat in the second half of fiscal 2005 due to more challenging comparisons to revenue in the second half of fiscal 2004, 
which benefited from last fall's tax rebates. For the fiscal year, we are projecting an increase of 4% to 6% in comparable store sales.  

Our fiscal 2005 outlook assumes an improvement in our operating income rate of approximately 0.3% of revenue, mainly due to a decrease in 
our SG&A rate. The improvement in our fiscal 2005 SG&A rate is expected to be primarily driven by efficiency initiatives and leverage from 
the comparable store sales gain and a larger base of stores, offset by additional expenses associated with our customer centricity initiative.  

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2005 are expected to be approximately $700 million. Of our total anticipated capital expenditures for fiscal 2005, 
approximately $350 million will support our planned new-store openings and various U.S. and Canadian store remodeling projects. Specifically, 
the capital expenditures are expected to support the opening of approximately 60 new U.S. Best Buy stores, 10 Best Buy stores in Canada and 
three Future Shop stores. We also expect to convert up to 110 additional existing U.S. Best Buy stores to our customer centricity platform, 
remodel some of our U.S. Best Buy stores in key strategic markets, and relocate four Future Shop stores. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2005 
also are expected to include approximately $165 million in technology investments intended to, among other things, improve our customer 
service capabilities and to increase operating efficiencies. We anticipate that our technology investments will remain relatively consistent over 
the next few fiscal years as we begin to leverage recently implemented systems. Finally, during fiscal 2005, we expect to complete the 
construction of our new Ardmore, Oklahoma, distribution center and the expansion of our Brampton, Ontario, distribution center.  

During fiscal 2005, we plan to continue with our quarterly dividend program and, given our strong cash position at the end of fiscal 2004 and our 
expected cash needs for fiscal 2005, we will consider increasing the size of our quarterly dividend. Our second regular quarterly cash dividend of 
$0.10 per common share is payable on May 12, 2004, to shareholders of record as of the close of business on April 21, 2004.  

We also expect to continue repurchasing our common stock during fiscal 2005 pursuant to a $400 million share repurchase program authorized 
by the Company's Board of Directors in fiscal 2000. At the end of fiscal 2004, $200 million of the $400 million originally authorized by the 
Company's Board of Directors was available for future share repurchases. From the end of fiscal 2004 through April 20, 2004, we had 
repurchased and retired an additional 875,000 shares of our common stock at a cost of $46 million. There is no expiration date governing the 
period over which we can make our share repurchases.  

 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.  

Our debt is not subject to material interest-rate volatility risk. The rates on a substantial portion of our debt may be reset, but may not be more 
than one percentage point higher than the current rates. If the rates on the debt were to be reset one percentage point higher, our annual interest 
expense would increase by approximately $8 million. We do not currently manage the risk through the use of derivative instruments.  

We have market risk arising from changes in foreign currency exchange rates as a result of our acquisition of Future Shop in Canada in 
November 2001. At this time, we do not manage the risk through the use of derivative instruments. A 10% adverse change in the foreign 
currency exchange rate would not have a significant impact on our results of operations or financial position.  
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  

$ in millions, except per share amounts  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Assets  
   

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

 
Current Assets             
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,600   $ 1,914 

  Receivables     343     312 

  Merchandise inventories     2,607     2,077 

  Other current assets     174     198 

  Current assets of discontinued operations     —    397 
      
    Total current assets     5,724     4,898 

 
Property and Equipment 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  Land and buildings     484     208 

  Leasehold improvements     861     719 

  Fixtures and equipment     2,151     2,108 

  Property under master and capital lease     78     54 
      
      3,574     3,089 
   

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 
 
  

 
  1,330 

 
  

 
  1,027 

      
    Net property and equipment     2,244     2,062 

 
Goodwill, Net 

 
  

 
  477 

 
  

 
  429 

Intangible Assets     37     33 
Other Assets     170     115 
Noncurrent Assets of Discontinued Operations     —    157 
      
Total Assets   $ 8,652   $ 7,694 
      



Consolidated Balance Sheets  

$ in millions, except per share amounts  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  
   

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

 
Current Liabilities             
  Accounts payable   $ 2,535   $ 2,195 
  Unredeemed gift card liabilities     300     222 
  Accrued compensation and related expenses     269     174 
  Accrued liabilities     649     538 
  Accrued income taxes     380     374 
  Current portion of long-term debt     368     1 
  Current liabilities of discontinued operations     —    320 
      
    Total current liabilities     4,501     3,824 
 
Long-Term Liabilities 

 
  

 
  247 

 
  

 
  287 

Long-Term Debt     482     828 
Noncurrent Liabilities of Discontinued Operations     —    25 
 
Shareholders' Equity 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value: Authorized — 400,000 shares; Issued and outstanding 
— none     —    —

  
Common stock, $.10 par value: Authorized — 1 billion shares; Issued and outstanding 
— 324,648,000 and 321,966,000 shares, respectively     32     32 

  Additional paid-in capital     836     778 
  Retained earnings     2,468     1,893 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income     86     27 
      
    Total shareholders' equity     3,422     2,730 
      
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity   $ 8,652   $ 7,694 
      



Consolidated Statements of Earnings  

$ in millions, except per share amounts  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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For the Fiscal Years Ended  
   

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  

March 2, 
2002 

Revenue   $ 24,547   $ 20,946   $ 17,711 
Cost of goods sold     18,350     15,710     13,941 
        
Gross profit     6,197     5,236     3,770 
Selling, general and administrative expenses     4,893     4,226     2,862 
        
Operating income     1,304     1,010     908 
Net interest (expense) income     (8 )   4     18 
        
Earnings from continuing operations before income tax expense     1,296     1,014     926 
Income tax expense     496     392     356 
        
Earnings from continuing operations     800     622     570 
Loss from discontinued operations (Note 2), net of $17 and $119 tax     (29 )   (441 )   —
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (Note 2), net of $0 tax     (66 )   —    —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for goodwill (Note 1), 
net of $24 tax     —    (40 )   —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for vendor allowances 
(Note 1), net of $26 tax     —    (42 )   —
        
Net earnings   $ 705   $ 99   $ 570 
        
Basic earnings (loss) per share:                   
  Continuing operations   $ 2.47   $ 1.93   $ 1.80 
  Discontinued operations     (0.09 )   (1.37 )   —
  Loss on disposal of discontinued operations     (0.20 )   —    —
  Cumulative effect of accounting changes     —    (0.25 )   —
        
  Basic earnings per share   $ 2.18   $ 0.31   $ 1.80 
        
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:                   
  Continuing operations   $ 2.44   $ 1.91   $ 1.77 
  Discontinued operations     (0.09 )   (1.36 )   —
  Loss on disposal of discontinued operations     (0.20 )   —    —
  Cumulative effect of accounting changes     —    (0.25 )   —
        
  Diluted earnings per share   $ 2.15   $ 0.30   $ 1.77 
        
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding (in millions)     323.3     321.1     316.0 
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding (in millions)     328.0     324.8     322.5 
Pro forma effect of change in accounting principle for vendor allowances 
(Note 1):                   
  Earnings from continuing operations               $ 564 
                
  Basic earnings per share                 1.78 
  Diluted earnings per share                 1.75 

  
 
Net earnings 

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
$ 564 

                
  Basic earnings per share                 1.78 
  Diluted earnings per share                 1.75 





Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

$ in millions  

For the Fiscal Years Ended  
   

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  

March 2, 
2002 

  

   
Operating Activities                     
  Net earnings   $ 705   $ 99   $ 570   
  Loss from and disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax     95     441     —  
  Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax     —    82     —  
          
  Earnings from continuing operations     800     622     570   

  
Adjustments to reconcile earnings from continuing operations to total 
cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations:                     

    Depreciation     385     310     242   
    Asset impairment charges     22     11     20   
    Deferred income taxes     (14 )   (37 )   15   
    Amortization of goodwill     —    —    3   
    Other     12     13     16   

  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquired assets and 
liabilities:                     

    Receivables     (27 )   (89 )   1   
    Merchandise inventories     (507 )   (256 )   (324 ) 
    Other assets     (22 )   (36 )   (24 ) 
    Accounts payable     318     (20 )   575   
    Other liabilities     250     117     196   
    Accrued income taxes     197     111     253   
          
  Total cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations     1,414     746     1,543   
          
Investing Activities                     
  Additions to property and equipment     (545 )   (725 )   (581 ) 
  Decrease in recoverable costs from developed properties     4     69     25   
  Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired     (3 )   (3 )   (368 ) 
  Other, net     1     —    —  
          
  Total cash used in investing activities from continuing operations     (543 )   (659 )   (924 ) 
          
Financing Activities                     
  Dividends paid     (130 )   —    —  
  Issuance of common stock     114     40     48   
  Repurchase of common stock     (100 )   —    —  
  Long-term debt payments     (17 )   (13 )   (5 ) 
  Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt     —    18     726   
          

  
Total cash (used in) provided by financing activities from continuing 
operations     (133 )   45     769   

          
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash     1     —    —  
Net Cash Used in Discontinued Operations     (53 )   (79 )   (270 ) 
          
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents     686     53     1,118   
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year     1,914     1,861     743   
          
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year   $ 2,600   $ 1,914   $ 1,861   
          
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information                     
  Income tax paid   $ 306   $ 283   $ 139   



See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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  Interest paid     22     24     25   
  Capital lease obligation incurred     26     —    —  



Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity  

$ and shares in millions  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Common 
Shares 

  

Common 
Stock 

  

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

  

Retained 
Earnings 

  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

  
Total 

  
  

Balances at March 3, 2001   312   $ 31   $ 567   $ 1,224   $ —  $ 1,822   
Net earnings   —    —    —    570     —    570   
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:                                     

  
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments   —    —    —    —    (5 )   (5 ) 

  Other   —    —    —    —    (1 )   (1 ) 
                                  
Total comprehensive income                                 564   
                                  
Stock options exercised   7     —    49     —    —    49   
Tax benefit from stock options exercised   —    —    86     —    —    86   
                
Balances at March 2, 2002   319     31     702     1,794     (6 )   2,521   
Net earnings   —    —    —    99     —    99   
Other comprehensive income (loss), net 
of tax:                                     

  
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments   —    —    —    —    34     34   

  Other   —    —    —    —    (1 )   (1 ) 
                                  
Total comprehensive income                                 132   
                                  
Stock options exercised   3     1     43     —    —    44   
Tax benefit from stock options exercised   —    —    33     —    —    33   
                
Balances at March 1, 2003   322     32     778     1,893     27     2,730   
Net earnings   —    —    —    705     —    705   
Foreign currency translation adjustments   —    —    —    —    59     59   
                                  
Total comprehensive income                                 764   
                                  
Stock options exercised   5     —    114     —    —    114   
Tax benefit from stock options exercised   —    —    41     —    —    41   
Vesting of restricted stock awards   —    —    3     —    —    3   
Common stock dividends, $0.40 per 
share   —    —    —    (130 )   —    (130 ) 
Repurchase of common stock   (2 )   —    (100 )   —    —    (100 ) 
                
Balances at February 28, 2004   325   $ 32   $ 836   $ 2,468   $ 86   $ 3,422   
                



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

$ in millions, except per share amounts  

1. Summary of Significant  
    Accounting Policies  

Description of Business  

Best Buy Co., Inc. is a specialty retailer of consumer electronics, home-office products, entertainment software, appliances and related services 
with fiscal 2004 revenue from continuing operations of $24.5 billion. We operate two reportable segments: Domestic and International. The 
Domestic segment is comprised of U.S. Best Buy and Magnolia Audio Video (formerly operating as Magnolia Hi-Fi) operations. U.S. Best Buy 
stores offer a wide variety of consumer electronics, home-office products, entertainment software, appliances and related services, and operated 
608 stores in 48 states and the District of Columbia at the end of fiscal 2004. Magnolia Audio Video stores offer high-end audio and video 
products with 22 stores in Washington, Oregon and California. Magnolia Audio Video was acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. The 
International segment is comprised of Future Shop and Best Buy operations in Canada. At the end of fiscal 2004 we operated 108 Future Shop 
and 19 Canadian Best Buy stores. Future Shop and Canadian Best Buy stores offer products similar to those offered by U.S. Best Buy stores. 
Future Shop stores operate in all Canadian provinces, while the Canadian Best Buy stores operate in Ontario, Alberta and Manitoba. Future Shop 
was acquired in the third quarter of fiscal 2002.  

On June 16, 2003, we sold our interest in Musicland to an affiliate of Sun Capital Partners Inc. As described in Note 2, Discontinued Operations, 
below, we have classified Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Prior to fiscal 2003, the Musicland 
business was included in our Domestic segment. These Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, except where otherwise indicated, relate to 
continuing operations only.  

Basis of Presentation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Best Buy Co., Inc. and its subsidiaries. We have eliminated significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions. All subsidiaries are wholly owned.  

Reclassifications  

Certain previous-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on net 
earnings, financial position or cash flows.  

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) requires us to 
make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts in the consolidated balance sheets and statements 
of earnings, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.  

Fiscal Year  

Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest the end of February. Fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 each included 52 weeks.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

We consider highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. We carry these 
investments at cost, which approximates market value.  

Merchandise Inventories  

Merchandise inventories are recorded at the lower of average cost or market.  
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$ in millions, except per share amounts  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Property under master and capital lease is comprised of retail locations under our master lease 
program and point-of-sale equipment used in our retail stores. The related depreciation for master and capital lease assets is included in 
depreciation expense. Accumulated depreciation for property under master and capital lease was $12 and $3 as of February 28, 2004, and 
March 1, 2003, respectively. We compute depreciation using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or, in the case 
of leasehold improvements, over the shorter of the estimated useful lives or lease terms. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged directly to 
expense as incurred. Major renewals or replacements that substantially extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated.  

Estimated useful lives by major asset category are as follows:  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Costs Associated with Exit Activities  

We account for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which requires long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, to 
be evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset plus net proceeds expected 
from disposition of the asset (if any) are less than the carrying value of the asset. When an impairment loss is recognized, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its estimated fair value.  

We recorded pre-tax asset impairment charges of $22, $11 and $20, in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The impairment charges in 
fiscal 2004 related to corporate technology assets that were taken out of service based on changes in our business. The asset impairment charges 
in fiscal 2003 related to charges associated with vacating existing corporate facilities in connection with the relocation to our new corporate 
campus in fiscal 2004. The impairment charges in fiscal 2002 related to corporate technology assets, certain fixed assets and an e-commerce 
investment. Asset impairment charges are included in selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A).  

We adopted SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, on January 1, 2003. Since adoption, the present 
value of costs associated with location closings, primarily future lease costs, are charged to earnings when a location is vacated. Prior to adoption 
of SFAS No. 146, we recognized a liability when we made the decision to relocate or close the location.  

Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in business combinations accounted for under 
the purchase method. Effective March 3, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which eliminated the 
systematic amortization of goodwill. The Statement also requires that we review goodwill for impairment at adoption and at least annually 
thereafter.  
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Asset  
   

Life 
(in years) 

Buildings   30-40 
Leasehold improvements   10-25 
Fixtures and equipment   3-15 
Property under master and capital lease   3-35 



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

A reconciliation of reported earnings adjusted to reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 142, as if it were effective for all fiscal years presented, is 
provided below.  

During the second quarter of fiscal 2003, we completed the transitional requirements for goodwill impairment testing. As a result of the 
transitional goodwill impairment testing, we determined that the carrying value of the assets of our Musicland and Magnolia Audio Video 
businesses, which were acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, exceeded their current fair values. We determine fair values utilizing widely 
accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. We based Musicland's fair value on the then-
current expectations for the business in light of the then-existing retail environment and the uncertainty associated with future trends in 
prerecorded music products. We based Magnolia Audio Video's fair value on the then-current expectations for the business in light of recent 
sales trends and the then-existing business environment, including an economic slowdown in  
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2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

Reported earnings from continuing operations   $ 800   $ 622   $ 570 
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax     —    —    2 
        
Adjusted earnings from continuing operations     800     622     572 
        
Reported loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     (29 )   (441 )   —
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax     —    —    16 
        
Adjusted (loss) earnings from discontinued operations     (29 )   (441 )   16 
        
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax     (66 )   —    —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax     —    (82 )   —
        
Adjusted net earnings   $ 705   $ 99   $ 588 
        
Reported basic earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 2.47   $ 1.93   $ 1.80 
Add back goodwill amortization     —    —    0.01 
        
Adjusted basic earnings per share from continuing operations     2.47     1.93     1.81 
        
Reported basic loss per share from discontinued operations     (0.09 )   (1.37 )   —
Add back goodwill amortization     —    —    0.05 
        
Adjusted basic (loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations     (0.09 )   (1.37 )   0.05 
        
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations     (0.20 )   —    —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles     —    (0.25 )   —
        
Adjusted basic earnings per share   $ 2.18   $ 0.31   $ 1.86 
        
Reported diluted earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 2.44   $ 1.91   $ 1.77 
Add back goodwill amortization     —    —    0.01 
        
Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations     2.44     1.91     1.78 
        
Reported diluted loss per share from discontinued operations     (0.09 )   (1.36 )   —
Add back goodwill amortization     —    —    0.05 
        
Adjusted diluted (loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations     (0.09 )   (1.36 )   0.05 
        
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations     (0.20 )   —    —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles     —    (0.25 )   —
        
Adjusted diluted earnings per share   $ 2.15   $ 0.30   $ 1.83 
        



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

the Pacific Northwest. The resulting after-tax, non-cash impairment charge was $348, of which $308 was associated with Musicland and $40 
was associated with Magnolia Audio Video. The charge represented a complete write-off of the goodwill associated with these businesses. As 
described in Note 2, Discontinued Operations, below, we have classified Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations, including the 
related goodwill impairment charge.  

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we completed our annual impairment testing of goodwill and tradename recorded in our International 
segment, using the same techniques as described above, and determined there was no impairment.  

Goodwill totaled $477 and $429 at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, respectively. The change in the International segment's goodwill 
balance from March 1, 2003, was the result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

Intangible assets totaled $37 and $33 at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, respectively. The only identifiable intangible asset included in 
our balance sheet is an indefinite-lived intangible tradename related to Future Shop, which is included in the International segment. The change 
in the intangible asset balance from March 1, 2003, was the result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for continuing operations were as follows:  

Insurance  

We are self-insured for certain costs related to health, workers' compensation and general liability insurance, although we obtain third-party 
insurance coverage to limit our exposure to these claims. We estimate our self-insured liabilities using historical experience and valuations 
provided by independent third-party actuaries.  

Income Taxes  

We account for income taxes under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in 
effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of 
a change in tax rates is recognized in our statement of earnings in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded 
to reduce the carrying  
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Domestic 

  
International 

  
Total 

  
  

Balances at March 3, 2001   $ 67   $ —  $ 67   
Goodwill resulting from acquisition     —    406     406   
Systematic amortization of goodwill     (3 )   —    (3 ) 
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates     —    (5 )   (5 ) 
          
Balances at March 2, 2002     64     401     465   
Goodwill resulting from acquisition     3     —    3   
Final purchase price allocation adjustment     —    (5 )   (5 ) 
Impairment charge     (64 )   —    (64 ) 
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates     —    30     30   
          
Balances at March 1, 2003     3     426     429   
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates     —    48     48   
          
Balances at February 28, 2004   $ 3   $ 474   $ 477   
          



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

amounts of deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized.  

Long-Term Liabilities  

The major components of long-term liabilities at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, included deferred compensation plan liabilities, long-
term rent-related liabilities, deferred income taxes and advances received under vendor alliance programs.  

Foreign Currency  

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. 
Results of operations and cash flows are translated using the average exchange rates throughout the period. The effect of exchange rate 
fluctuations on translation of assets and liabilities is included as a component of shareholders' equity in accumulated other comprehensive 
income. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions have not been significant.  

Revenue Recognition  

We recognize revenue from the sale of merchandise at the time the customer takes possession of the merchandise. We recognize service revenue 
at the time the service is provided, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Proceeds from the sales of gift 
cards are deferred until redeemed by the customer. Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling are included in revenue.  

We sell extended service contracts on behalf of an unrelated third party. In jurisdictions where we are not deemed to be the obligor on the 
contract, commissions are recognized in revenue at the time of sale. In jurisdictions where we are deemed to be the obligor on the contract, 
commissions are recognized in revenue ratably over the term of the service contract.  

Sales Incentives  

We frequently offer sales incentives that entitle our customers to receive a reduction in the price of a product or service. Sales incentives include 
discounts, coupons and any other offers that entitle a customer to receive a reduction in the price of a product or service by submitting a claim 
for a refund or rebate. For sales incentives in which we are the obligor, the reduction in revenue is recognized at the time the product is sold.  

During fiscal 2004, we initiated a customer loyalty program which allows members to earn points for each purchase completed at U.S. Best Buy 
stores. Points earned enable members to receive a certificate that may be redeemed on future purchases at U.S. Best Buy stores. We account for 
our customer loyalty program in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-22, Accounting for "Points" and Certain 
Other Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentive Offers, and Offers for Free Products or Services to Be Delivered in the Future. The value of 
points earned by our loyalty program members is included as a liability and a reduction of revenue at the time the points are earned based on the 
percentage of points that are projected to be redeemed.  

Cost of Goods Sold  

Cost of goods sold includes the total cost of products sold, costs of services provided, certain vendor allowances, customer shipping and 
handling charges, in-bound freight expenses, physical inventory losses, and handling and delivery costs associated with our online and direct-to-
consumer businesses.  

Vendor Allowances  

We receive allowances from vendors as a result of purchasing and promoting their products. Vendor allowances provided as a reimbursement of 
specific, incremental and identifiable costs incurred to promote a vendor's products are included as an expense reduction when the cost is 
incurred. Subsequent to fiscal 2002, all other  
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vendor allowances, including vendor allowances received in excess of our cost to promote a vendor's product, are initially deferred and recorded 
as a reduction of merchandise inventories. The deferred amounts are then included as a reduction of cost of goods sold when the related product 
is sold. Vendor allowances included in SG&A were approximately $92 and $118, in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively.  

Prior to fiscal 2003, the majority of vendor allowances were included as a reduction of advertising expenses in SG&A (see Change in 
Accounting Principles — Goodwill and Vendor Allowances, below).  

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses  

SG&A includes payroll and benefit costs; occupancy costs; depreciation; advertising; vendor allowances that are a reimbursement of specific, 
incremental and identifiable costs to promote a vendor's products; outside service fees; costs associated with operating our distribution network 
that primarily relate to moving merchandise from distribution centers to stores; and long-lived asset impairment charges.  

Advertising Costs  

Advertising costs, which are included in SG&A, are expensed the first time the advertisement runs. Gross advertising expenses, before expense 
reimbursement from vendor allowances, for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $675, $567 and $493, respectively.  

Pre-Opening Costs  

Non-capital expenditures associated with opening new stores are expensed as incurred.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — 
Transition and Disclosure . SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of 
transition for a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 
No. 148 requires expanded and more prominent disclosure in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for 
stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method on reported results.  

We have stock-based compensation plans including fixed stock option plans, restricted stock and an employee stock purchase plan. We have not 
adopted a method under SFAS No. 148 to expense stock options, but continue to apply Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, 
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations in accounting for these plans. Accordingly, no compensation expense has 
been recognized for stock option grants, as the exercise price equals the stock price on the date of grant. In addition, compensation expense has 
not been recognized for our employee stock purchase plan as it is intended to be a plan that qualifies under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended. Restricted stock awards result in compensation expense as discussed in Note 5, Shareholders' Equity, below.  

The table below illustrates the effect on net earnings and earnings per share as if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 
No. 123 to stock-based compensation for each of the last three fiscal years.  
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(1)  Amounts represent the after-tax compensation costs for restricted stock awards. 

 

The fair value of each stock option was estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
assumptions:  

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 used in computing pro forma compensation expense 
was $30.93, $23.91 and $18.60 per share, respectively.  

Derivative Financial Instruments  

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, requires that all derivatives be included on the balance sheet at 
fair value. Our only derivative financial instrument was an interest rate swap with a fair value of $4 and $5 as of February 28, 2004, and 
March 1, 2003, respectively. Our interest rate swap is included in long-term debt.  

Change in Accounting Principles — Goodwill and Vendor Allowances  

The adoption of SFAS No. 142 related to goodwill described above has been accounted for as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle and applied cumulatively as if the change had occurred at March 3, 2002, the beginning of fiscal 2003.  

In September 2002, the EITF released Issue No. 02-16, Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration Received from a Vendor, with final 
consensus reached in March 2003. EITF No. 02-16 establishes the accounting standards for recording vendor allowances in a retailer's income 
statement.  

During fiscal 2003, we changed our method of accounting for vendor allowances in accordance with EITF No. 02-16. Based on the new 
standard, vendor allowances are considered a reduction in the price of a vendor's products or services and included as a component of cost of 
goods sold when the related product or service is sold, unless the allowance represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and 
identifiable cost incurred to sell a vendor's products or services. We continue to record vendor allowances that represent a reimbursement of a 
specific, incremental and identifiable cost incurred to sell a  
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2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

  
  

Net earnings, as reported   $ 705   $ 99   $ 570   
  Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net earnings, net of tax (1)     5     1     1   

  
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method for all 
awards, net of tax     (101 )   (85 )   (59 ) 

          
Net earnings, pro forma   $ 609   $ 15   $ 512   
          
Earnings per share:                     
  Basic — as reported   $ 2.18   $ 0.31   $ 1.80   
          

  Basic — pro forma   $ 1.88   $ 0.05   $ 1.62   
          

  Diluted — as reported   $ 2.15   $ 0.30   $ 1.77   
          

  Diluted — pro forma   $ 1.88   $ 0.05   $ 1.61   
          

     
2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

  
  

Risk-free interest rate   3.3 % 4.2 % 4.9 % 
Expected dividend yield   0.8 % —  —  
Expected stock price volatility   60 % 60 % 55 % 
Expected life of stock options   5.5 years   5.0 years   4.5 years   



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

vendor's products or services as a reduction of the related cost in SG&A. Previously, and in accordance with GAAP, we had recognized and 
classified a majority of vendor allowances as a reduction of advertising costs in SG&A. The cumulative effect of the change in our method of 
accounting for vendor allowances resulted in an after-tax, non-cash charge to net earnings of $50, of which $8 was associated with Musicland. 
The effect of the change on the fiscal year ended March 1, 2003, was a decrease in net earnings from continuing operations of $1. As described 
in Note 2, Discontinued Operations, below, we have classified Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations, including the 
related cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle.  

New Accounting Standards  

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities , which requires the consolidation of, 
and disclosures about, variable interest entities (VIEs). VIEs are entities for which control is achieved through means other than voting rights. In 
December 2003, the FASB revised FIN No. 46 to incorporate all decisions, including those in previously issued FASB Staff Positions, into one 
Interpretation. The revised Interpretation supersedes the original Interpretation. In most circumstances, the requirements were effective 
immediately for all VIEs in which an interest was acquired after January 31, 2003. For variable interests in special purpose entities in which an 
interest was acquired before February 1, 2003, the requirements were effective for us at the end of fiscal 2004. Requirements for non-special 
purpose entities acquired before February 1, 2003, are effective for us at the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2005. FIN No. 46 has not had, and is 
not expected to have, a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

During fiscal year 2004, we adopted EITF Issue No. 03-10, Application of Issue No. 02-16 by Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers 
by Manufacturers , which amends EITF No. 02-16. According to the amended guidance, if certain criteria are met, consideration received by a 
reseller in the form of reimbursement from a vendor for honoring the vendor's sales incentives offered directly to consumers (e.g., manufacturers' 
coupons) should not be recorded as a reduction of the cost of the reseller's purchases from the vendor. The adoption of EITF No. 03-10 did not 
impact reported net earnings, financial position or cash flows.  

2. Discontinued Operations  

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, we committed to a plan to sell our interest in Musicland. On June 16, 2003, we sold our interest in 
Musicland to an affiliate of Sun Capital Partners Inc. The affiliate of Sun Capital Partners Inc. assumed all of Musicland's liabilities, including 
approximately $500 in lease obligations, in exchange for all of the capital stock of Musicland and paid no cash consideration. The transaction 
also resulted in the transfer of all of Musicland's assets, other than a distribution center in Franklin, Indiana, and selected nonoperating assets. 
The loss from discontinued operations for fiscal 2004 includes a loss on the disposal of discontinued operations (which was primarily non-cash) 
of $66, net of tax, related to the sale of Musicland. In connection with the sale, Musicland is purchasing transition support services from us for 
up to one year from the date of the sale, until Musicland is able to develop long-term service providers for these services. In accordance with 
SFAS No. 144, Musicland's financial results are reported separately as discontinued operations for all periods presented.  

During fiscal 2003, we recorded an after-tax, non-cash impairment charge of $308 for the full write-off of goodwill related to our acquisition of 
Musicland. In addition, we recorded an after-tax, non-cash charge of $8 for the change in our method of accounting for Musicland vendor 
allowances. The charges are classified as cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles in discontinued operations (see 
Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, above).  
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Also during fiscal 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, we recorded an impairment charge of $166 before tax in "(Loss) earnings before 
income taxes" related to a reassessment of the carrying value of Musicland's long-lived assets. We determined fair values utilizing widely 
accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows. We based fair values on the then-current expectations for the business in light of 
the then-existing retail environment and the uncertainty associated with future trends in prerecorded music products.  

The financial results of Musicland, included in discontinued operations, were as follows:  

(1)  Fiscal 2004 includes operating results from March 2, 2003, through June 16, 2003, the date we sold our interest in Musicland. 

 

In fiscal 2003, we recorded a deferred tax asset of $25 in conjunction with the classification of Musicland as discontinued operations. This tax 
benefit resulted from differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes at acquisition, which 
were expected to be realized upon the disposition of Musicland.  

In fiscal 2004, based on the terms of the sale of our interest in Musicland, we determined that the nature of our future taxable income may not 
allow us to realize the tax benefits of the deferred tax assets associated with our discontinued operations and provided a full valuation allowance 
against the $25 deferred tax asset referred to above which is included in the loss on disposal of discontinued operations.  

There were no assets or liabilities of Musicland included in our balance sheet at February 28, 2004. The current and noncurrent assets and 
liabilities of Musicland as of March 1, 2003, were as follows:  

         64  

For the Fiscal Years Ended  
   

Feb. 28, 
2004 (1) 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  

March 2, 
2002 

Revenue   $ 354   $ 1,727   $ 1,886 
(Loss) earnings before income taxes     (46 )   (244 )   10 
Loss before the disposal and the cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of 
$17, $119 and $10 tax, respectively     (29 )   (125 )   —
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of $0 tax     (66 )   —    —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of $5 tax     —    (316 )   —
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     (95 )   (441 )   —

     

March 1, 
2003 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2 
Receivables     3 
Merchandise inventories     316 
Other current assets     76 
    
Current assets of discontinued operations   $ 397 
    
Net property and equipment   $ 69 
Other assets     88 
    
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations   $ 157 
    
Accounts payable   $ 208 
Accrued compensation and related expenses     14 
Accrued liabilities     98 
    
Current liabilities of discontinued operations   $ 320 
    
Long-term liabilities   $ 20 
Long-term debt     5 
    
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations   $ 25 
    





$ in millions, except per share amounts  

3. Acquisitions  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2002, we acquired all of the common stock of Future Shop for $377, or $368 net of cash acquired, including 
transaction costs. We acquired Future Shop to further our expansion plans and to increase shareholder value. The acquisition was accounted for 
using the purchase method in accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations . Accordingly, we recorded the net assets at their 
estimated fair values, and included operating results in our financial statements from the date of acquisition. We allocated the purchase price on a 
preliminary basis using information then available. The allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired was finalized in the 
third quarter of fiscal 2003. The primary adjustments to the preliminary allocation were to assign value to the Future Shop tradename as a result 
of our decisions to operate stores in Canada under both the Best Buy and Future Shop tradenames, and to adjust the extended service contract 
liability assumed as of the date of acquisition based on additional information. The final purchase price allocation is shown below and resulted in 
a $5 decrease to goodwill from our preliminary allocation. All goodwill is nondeductible for tax purposes. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is not 
amortized, but is reviewed for impairment at least annually.  

The final purchase price allocation was as follows:  

The following unaudited pro forma data sets forth the consolidated results of continuing operations as though Future Shop had been acquired as 
of the beginning of fiscal 2002:  

The pro forma results include adjustments, principally the loss of interest income on cash used to finance the acquisition. The pro forma results 
exclude costs expected to be incurred in connection with the integration of Future Shop's business. The pro forma results are not necessarily 
indicative of what actually would have occurred had the acquisition been completed as of the beginning of fiscal 2002, nor are they necessarily 
indicative of future consolidated results.  
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Merchandise inventories   $ 169   
Property and equipment     103   
Goodwill     401   
Intangible asset     32   
Other assets     43   
Current liabilities     (341 ) 
Debt, including current portion     (13 ) 
Other liabilities     (26 ) 
      
Total   $ 368   
      

     
2002 

Revenue   $ 18,506 
Net earnings     570 
Basic earnings per share     1.80 
Diluted earnings per share     1.77 



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

4. Debt  

The mortgage and other debt are secured by certain property and equipment with a net book value of $97 and $30 at February 28, 2004, and 
March 1, 2003, respectively.  

Convertible Debentures  

In January 2002, we sold convertible subordinated debentures having an aggregate principal amount of $402. The proceeds from the offering, net 
of $6 in offering expenses, were $396. The debentures mature in 2022 and are callable at our option on or after January 15, 2007. Holders may 
require us to purchase all or a portion of their debentures on January 15, 2007; January 15, 2012; and January 15, 2017, at a purchase price equal 
to 100% of the principal amount of the debentures plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but not including the date of purchase. The debentures 
will be convertible into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate of 14.4927 shares per $0.001 principal amount of debentures, equivalent 
to an initial conversion price of $69.00 per share, if the closing price of our common stock exceeds a specified price for a specified period of 
time, if our credit rating falls below specified levels, if the debentures are called for redemption or if certain specified corporate transactions 
occur. None of the criteria for conversion have been met. The debentures have an initial interest rate of 2.25% per annum. The interest rate may 
be reset, but not below 2.25% or above 3.25%, on July 15, 2006; July 15, 2011; and July 15, 2016.  

In June 2001, we sold convertible debentures having an aggregate initial principal amount at maturity of $492. The proceeds from the offering, 
net of $7 in offering expenses, were $330. The debentures mature in 2021 and are callable at our option on or after June 27, 2004. Holders may 
require us to purchase all or a portion of their debentures on June 27, 2004; June 27, 2009; and June 27, 2014, at a purchase price equal to the 
accreted value of the debentures plus accrued and unpaid cash interest up to but not including the date of purchase. The debentures will be 
convertible into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate of 11.8071 shares per $0.001 initial principal amount at maturity of the 
debentures, equivalent to an initial conversion price of $57.91 per share, if the closing price of our common stock exceeds a specified price for a 
specified period of time, if our credit rating falls below specified levels, if the debentures are called for redemption or if certain specified 
corporate transactions occur. None of the criteria for conversion have been met. The debentures have an initial yield to maturity of 2.75% per 
annum, and a portion of the yield to maturity is paid as cash interest at the rate of 1.0% per annum. The  
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February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Convertible debentures, unsecured, due 2021, interest rate 2.75%   $ 353   $ 347   
Convertible subordinated debentures, unsecured, due 2022, initial interest rate 2.25%     402     402   
Senior subordinated notes, unsecured, due 2008, interest rate 9.9%     —    5   
Master lease obligations, due 2006, interest rate 5.9%     58     59   
Capital lease obligations, due 2005, interest rate 8.0%     16     —  
Mortgage and other debt, interest rates ranging from 8.4% to 9.2%     21     21   
        
Total debt     850     834   
  Less: current portion     (368 )   (1 ) 
        
Total long-term debt     482     833   
        
  Less: long-term debt included in discontinued operations     —    (5 ) 
        
Long-term debt included in continuing operations   $ 482   $ 828   
        



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

yield to maturity may be reset, but not below 2.75% or above 3.75%, on December 27, 2008, and December 27, 2013.  

Certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries have guaranteed the debentures.  

Credit Facilities  

We have a $200 bank revolving credit facility which is guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries. The facility expires on March 21, 2005. 
Borrowings under this facility are unsecured and bear interest at rates specified in the credit agreement for this facility. We also pay certain 
facility and agent fees. The agreement contains covenants that require us to maintain certain financial ratios and a minimum net worth. The 
agreement also requires that we have no outstanding principal balance for a period not less than 30 consecutive days between December 1 of 
each year and March 31 of the following year. As of February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, respectively, $197 and $197 were available under 
this facility. There were no borrowings outstanding under this facility for any period presented. However, outstanding letters of credit reduce 
amounts available under this facility.  

In March 2004, we entered into an agreement for a $19 revolving demand facility related to our International operations, of which $4 is only 
available on a seasonal basis from August through January of each year. Outstanding letters of credit and letters of guarantee reduce amounts 
available under this facility. All borrowings under this facility are made available at the sole discretion of the lender and are payable on demand. 
Borrowings under this facility are unsecured and bear interest at rates specified in the agreement. The agreement for this facility contains certain 
reporting and operating covenants. This facility replaced a $41 unsecured credit facility, which was canceled on March 1, 2004. There were no 
borrowings outstanding under this facility at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003. As of March 1, 2003, the interest rate on borrowings 
outstanding under this facility was 4.75% and $15 was available for use.  

Inventory Financing  

We have inventory financing facilities totaling $210 that allow us to extend the due dates of merchandise invoices beyond their normal terms. 
Borrowings under one of the facilities are collateralized by a security interest in certain merchandise inventories. The amounts extended bear 
interest at rates ranging from 1.0% below prime rate to 2.0% above prime rate. The prime rate was 4.00% and 4.25% as of February 28, 2004, 
and March 1, 2003, respectively. The inventory financing facilities have provisions that entitle the lenders to a portion of the cash discounts 
provided by the vendors.  

As of February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, $140 and $174 was available for use under these inventory financing facilities, respectively.  

Other  

The fair value of long-term debt approximated $902 and $791 as of February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, respectively, based on quotes from 
external sources, compared with carrying values of $850 and $834, respectively.  

We have a master lease program which was used to construct and lease new retail locations. At the end of fiscal 2004, $58 in leases for new 
stores were outstanding under the master lease program. The master lease program is fully utilized and there will be no further new store 
development under this program. The program is set to expire on January 1, 2006, and is renewable for one year, subject to the lenders' consent.  
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The future maturities of long-term debt, including master and capitalized leases, consist of the following:  

(1)  Holders of our debentures due in 2021 and 2022 may require us to purchase all or a portion of their debentures on June 27, 2004, and January 15, 2007, respectively. The table above 
assumes that all holders of our debentures exercise their redemption options.  

5. Shareholders' Equity  

Stock Options  

We sponsor three non-qualified stock option plans for our employees and our Board of Directors. These plans provide for the issuance of up to 
73.2 million shares of common stock in the aggregate. Options may be granted only to employees or directors at exercise prices not less than the 
fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. All of the options have a 10-year term. Options issued pursuant to our employee 
plans vest over a four-year period. Options issued pursuant to our directors' plan vest immediately upon grant. At February 28, 2004, a total of 
21.3 million shares were available for future grants under all plans.  

Option activity for the last three fiscal years was as follows:  
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Fiscal Year  
      

2005 (1)   $ 368 
2006     62 
2007 (1)     405 
2008     1 
2009     1 
Thereafter     13 
    
    $ 850 
    

     
Shares 

  

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

per Share 

Outstanding on March 3, 2001   26,368,000   $ 22.13 
  Granted   9,382,000     37.01 

  Exercised   (6,846,000 )   6.88 

  Canceled   (1,417,000 )   35.98 
      
Outstanding on March 2, 2002   27,487,000     30.29 
  Granted   14,253,000     44.06 

  Exercised   (2,850,000 )   14.01 

  Canceled   (3,336,000 )   43.65 
      
Outstanding on March 1, 2003   35,554,000     35.89 
  Granted   3,799,000     58.50 

  Exercised   (4,462,000 )   25.55 

  Canceled   (3,207,000 )   41.72 
      
Outstanding on February 28, 2004   31,684,000   $ 39.45 
      



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

Exercisable options at the end of fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 were 15.4 million, 13.4 million and 9.9 million, respectively. The following table 
summarizes information concerning options outstanding and exercisable as of February 28, 2004:  

Restricted Stock Plan  

We adopted a restricted stock award plan in fiscal 2001. The plan authorizes us to issue up to 1.5 million shares of our common stock to our 
eligible employees, consultants and independent contractors, as well as to our Board of Directors, of which 0.2 million was available for grant as 
of February 28, 2004. Shares of restricted stock have the same rights as other shares of common stock, except they are not transferable until fully 
vested. Restricted stock vests based on continued employment with the Company (time-based) or upon achievement of personal or Company 
performance goals (performance-based). Time-based restricted stock vests over a period of at least three years, during which no more than 25% 
may vest at the time of award, and no more than 25% may vest on each anniversary date thereafter. Performance-based restricted stock vests at 
the end of a three-year incentive period based on our total return to shareholders compared with companies that comprise the S&P 500 or upon 
the achievement of company or personal performance goals. Time-based restricted stock compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. Performance-based restricted stock compensation expense is 
recognized each reporting period based on the number of shares expected to ultimately vest, our stock price and the vesting period. If a plan 
participant's relationship with us were to be terminated all shares still subject to restrictions are forfeited and returned to the plan. We awarded 
1.1 million, 0.1 million and 0.1 million shares of restricted stock in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The weighted average fair value per 
share for time-based restricted stock awarded in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $57.65, $51.27 and $36.97, respectively. For fiscal 2004, 2003 
and 2002, we recognized a total of $7.9, $2.4 and $1.6, respectively, on a pre-tax basis, in compensation expense related to the restricted stock 
issued pursuant to this plan.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

Our shareholders approved the Best Buy Co., Inc. 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP) at our 2003 Regular Meeting of Shareholders. 
Five million shares have been reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The ESPP is intended to qualify as an employee stock purchase plan under 
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The ESPP permits employees to purchase shares of our common stock during 
semi-annual purchase periods beginning on the first Friday of April and October of each year. The shares are purchased at a price equal to the 
lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the common stock, as measured by the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange, at the beginning 
or at the end of the purchase period. No shares of  
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Range of 
Exercise 

Prices 
  

Number 
Outstanding 

  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 
Life (Years) 

  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
  

Number 
Exercisable 

  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

$0 to $10   1,274,000   3.15   $ 2.24   1,274,000   $ 2.24 
$10 to $20   2,975,000   4.20     11.60   2,961,000     11.57 
$20 to $30   3,804,000   8.82     28.46   937,000     28.44 
$30 to $40   7,436,000   6.57     36.28   4,638,000     35.83 
$40 to $50   5,313,000   6.28     46.60   3,796,000     46.63 
$50 to $60   10,882,000   8.64     53.94   1,832,000     51.28 

          
$0 to $60   31,684,000   7.14   $ 39.45   15,438,000   $ 32.45 



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

common stock were issued under the ESPP in fiscal 2004 since the initial purchase period ended on April 1, 2004. As of February 28, 2004, 
ESPP participants have accumulated approximately $18 to purchase our common stock.  

Earnings per Share  

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is 
computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted by the number of additional shares that would have 
been outstanding had the potentially dilutive common shares been issued. Potentially dilutive shares of common stock include stock options, 
unvested restricted stock awards, shares issuable under our ESPP and convertible debentures — assuming certain criteria are met (see Note 4, 
Debt).  

The computation of dilutive shares outstanding excluded options to purchase 15.9 million, 24.6 million and 7.2 million shares as of February 28, 
2004; March 1, 2003; and March 2, 2002, respectively, because such options' exercise prices were greater than the average market price of our 
common shares and, therefore, the effect would be antidilutive (i.e., higher earnings per share). Diluted earnings per share for the fiscal year 
ended February 28, 2004, also did not include 1.4 million shares of unvested restricted stock and shares to be issued under our ESPP because 
they would be antidilutive. Finally, the shares related to the convertible debentures were not included in our diluted earnings per share 
computation, as the criteria for conversion of the debentures were not met.  

The following table presents a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of basic and diluted earnings per common share from 
continuing operations for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002:  

Repurchase of Common Stock  

In fiscal 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $400 of our common stock from time to time through open market 
purchases. This share repurchase program has no stated expiration date. In October 2003, we announced our intention to resume buying back 
shares under this program. In fiscal 2004, 1.8 million shares were purchased and retired at a cost of $100. Through February 28, 2004, we had 
purchased and retired 4.6 million shares at a cost of $200 since the inception of the program in fiscal 2000.  

Comprehensive Income  

Comprehensive income is computed as net earnings plus certain other items that are recorded directly to shareholders' equity. The only 
significant other item included in comprehensive income is foreign currency translation adjustments. Comprehensive income was $764, $132 
and $564 for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  
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2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

Numerator:                   
  Earnings from continuing operations   $ 800   $ 622   $ 570 
        
Denominator (in millions):                   
  Weighted average common shares outstanding     323.3     321.1     316.0 
  Effect of dilutive securities:                   
    Stock options and other     4.7     3.7     6.5 
        
  Weighted average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution     328.0     324.8     322.5 
        
Basic earnings per share — continuing operations   $ 2.47   $ 1.93   $ 1.80 
Diluted earnings per share — continuing operations   $ 2.44   $ 1.91   $ 1.77 



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

6. Net Interest (Expense) Income  

Net interest (expense) income for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was comprised of the following:  

We allocated interest expense to discontinued operations based upon debt that was attributable to Musicland's operations, including an $8 loss on 
the early retirement of debt in fiscal 2002.  

7. Lease Commitments  

We lease portions of our corporate facilities and conduct the majority of our retail and distribution operations from leased locations. The leases 
require payment of real estate taxes, insurance and common area maintenance, in addition to rent. Most of the leases contain renewal options and 
escalation clauses, and certain store leases require contingent rents based on specified percentages of revenue. Other leases contain covenants 
related to the maintenance of financial ratios. Transaction costs associated with the sale and lease back of properties and any related gain or loss 
are recognized over the period of the lease agreements. Proceeds from the sale and lease back of properties are included in other current assets. 
Also, we lease certain equipment under noncancelable operating and capital leases. The terms of our lease agreements generally range up 
to 20 years.  

During fiscal 2004, we entered into a capital lease agreement totaling $26 for point-of-sale equipment used in our retail stores. This lease was a 
non-cash transaction and has been eliminated from our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.  

The composition of rental expenses for all operating leases, net of sublease rental income, during the past three fiscal years, including leases of 
property and equipment, was as follows:  

The future minimum lease payments under our capital and operating leases, net of sublease rental income, by fiscal year (not including 
contingent rentals) as of February 28, 2004, are as follows:  

     
2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

  
  

Interest expense   $ (32 ) $ (30 ) $ (21 ) 
Loss on early retirement of debt     —    —    (8 ) 
Capitalized interest     1     5     1   
Interest income     23     23     27   
          
Net interest expense     (8 )   (2 )   (1 ) 
Interest expense allocated to discontinued operations     —    (6 )   (19 ) 
          
Net interest (expense) income from continuing operations   $ (8 ) $ 4   $ 18   
          

     
2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

Minimum rentals   $ 467   $ 439   $ 366 
Contingent rentals     1     1     1 
        
Total rent expense for continuing operations   $ 468   $ 440   $ 367 
        

Fiscal Year  
   

Capital 
Leases 

  

Operating 
Leases 

2005   $ 14   $ 454 
2006     3     424 
2007     —    391 
2008     —    385 
2009     —    379 
Thereafter     —    2,621 

        
Subtotal     17       



8. Benefit Plans  

We sponsor retirement savings plans for employees meeting certain age and service  
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Less: imputed interest     (1 )     
        

Present value of capital lease obligations   $ 16       
          



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

requirements. The plans provide for company-matching contributions, which are subject to annual approval by our Board of Directors. The total 
matching contributions were $13, $13 and $10 in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  

We have a non-qualified, unfunded deferred compensation plan for certain management employees and our Board of Directors whose 
contributions are limited under qualified defined contribution plans. Amounts deferred and contributed under the deferred compensation plan are 
credited or charged with the performance of investment options offered under the plan and elected by the participants. The liability for 
compensation deferred under this plan was $58 and $42 at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, respectively, and is included in long-term 
liabilities. We manage the risk of changes in the fair value of the liability for deferred compensation by electing to match our liability under the 
plan with investment vehicles that offset a substantial portion of our exposure. The cash value of the investment vehicles, which includes funding 
for future deferrals, was $70 and $51 at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, respectively, and is included in other assets. Both the asset and 
the liability are carried at fair value.  

9. Income Taxes  

The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense to the federal statutory tax rate for continuing operations for the past three fiscal years:  

Income tax expense was comprised of the following for the past three fiscal years:  

We have not provided for U.S. income taxes on certain unremitted earnings of international affiliates which we consider to be permanent 
investments.  

Deferred taxes are the result of differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes.  
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2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

  
  

Federal income tax at the statutory rate   $ 454   $ 355   $ 324   
State income taxes, net of federal benefit     27     35     34   
Distributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries     13     —    —  
Non-taxable interest income     (19 )   (10 )   (3 ) 
Other     21     12     1   
          
Income tax expense   $ 496   $ 392   $ 356   
          
Effective tax rate     38.3 %   38.7 %   38.4 % 

     
2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

Current:                   
  Federal   $ 456   $ 375   $ 301 

  State     49     51     39 

  Foreign     5     3     1 
        
      510     429     341 
        
Deferred:                   
  Federal     (9 )   (22 )   8 

  State     (1 )   (3 )   1 

  Foreign     (4 )   (12 )   6 
        
      (14 )   (37 )   15 
        
Income tax expense   $ 496   $ 392   $ 356 
        



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the dates indicated were comprised of the following:  

(1)  Deferred taxes at February 28, 2004, include an $85 deferred tax asset associated with the disposition of Musicland. We provided a full valuation reserve against this $85 deferred tax asset 
because of the uncertainty regarding realization of the benefit.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities were included in our balance sheets as follows:  

Management believes that the realization of the remaining deferred tax assets is more likely than not, based on the expectation that we will 
generate the necessary taxable income in future periods and, accordingly, no additional valuation reserve has been provided. As of February 28, 
2004, we had net operating loss carryforwards from our International operations of $81, which expire through 2011. No valuation allowances 
have been recorded since we expect to utilize the carryforwards fully.  

10. Segments  

We operate two reportable segments: Domestic and International. The Domestic segment includes U.S. Best Buy and Magnolia Audio Video 
stores. The International segment is comprised of Future Shop and Canadian Best Buy stores. Our segments are evaluated on an operating 
income basis, and a stand-alone tax provision is not calculated for each segment. The other accounting policies of the segments are the same as 
those described in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, above.  
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February 28, 
2004 (1) 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Accrued expenses   $ 95   $ 72   
Deferred revenue     32     25   
Compensation and benefits     45     47   
Inventory     31     26   
Net operating loss carryforwards     30     21   
Goodwill     21     23   
Other     31     35   
        
  Total deferred tax assets     285     249   
        
Property and equipment     (158 )   (154 ) 
Convertible debt     (32 )   (18 ) 
Other     (6 )   (6 ) 
        
  Total deferred tax liabilities     (196 )   (178 ) 
        
Net deferred tax assets   $ 89   $ 71   
        

     

February 28, 
2004 

  

March 1, 
2003 

  
  

Other current assets   $ 95   $ 127   
Long-term liabilities     (6 )   (56 ) 
        
Net deferred tax assets   $ 89   $ 71   
        



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

The following tables present our business segment information for continuing operations for each of the past three fiscal years:  

11. Commitments and Contingencies  

We have been served with four purported class action lawsuits on behalf of persons who purchased the securities of Best Buy Co., Inc. between 
January 9, 2002, and August 7, 2002. The lawsuits, instituted in U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota on November 20, December 12, 
December 16 and December 23, 2003, name Best Buy Co., Inc., its Chairman and its Chief Executive Officer as defendants. The plaintiffs allege 
that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making material 
misrepresentations between January 9, 2002, and August 7, 2002, which resulted in artificially inflated prices of the Company's common stock. 
The plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, costs and expenses. We believe the allegations are without merit and intend to defend these actions 
vigorously.  

We also have been served with a shareholder derivative action venued in Hennepin County, State of Minnesota District Court. This case raises 
many factual matters similar to those raised in the federal securities law cases, described above. The state court action alleges violations of state 
law  
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2004 

  
2003 

  
2002 

Revenue                   
Domestic   $ 22,225   $ 19,303   $ 17,115 
International     2,322     1,643     596 
        
Total revenue   $ 24,547   $ 20,946   $ 17,711 
        
Operating Income                   
Domestic   $ 1,267   $ 1,002   $ 886 
International     37     8     22 
        
Total operating income     1,304     1,010     908 
Net interest (expense) income     (8 )   4     18 
        
Earnings from continuing operations before income tax expense   $ 1,296   $ 1,014   $ 926 
        

 
   

 
  

2004  
  

2003  
  

2002 

Assets                   
Domestic   $ 7,547   $ 6,282   $ 5,672 
International     1,105     858     686 
        
Total assets   $ 8,652   $ 7,140   $ 6,358 
        
Capital Expenditures                   
Domestic   $ 452   $ 667   $ 563 
International     93     58     18 
        
Total capital expenditures   $ 545   $ 725   $ 581 
        
Depreciation and Amortization                   
Domestic   $ 345   $ 284   $ 237 
International     40     26     8 
        
Total depreciation and amortization   $ 385   $ 310   $ 245 
        



$ in millions, except per share amounts  

relative to fiduciary responsibilities, control and management of the Company and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs seek judgment in favor of 
the Company against certain named officer and director defendants for damages, equitable relief and attorneys' fees, costs and expenses. By 
agreement between the parties, and with Court approval, this case was put on inactive status. Based on the Company's information and belief, the 
claims against the named officer and director defendants are without merit and will be vigorously defended.  

We are involved in various other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of conducting business. The resolution of those proceedings is 
not expected to have a material impact on our results of operation or financial condition.  

At the end of fiscal 2004, we had commitments for the purchase and construction of facilities valued at approximately $5.  

We adopted FIN No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness 
of Others, in fiscal 2003. FIN No. 45 provides guidance on the recognition and disclosure of certain types of guarantees, including product 
warranties. We assumed a liability for certain extended service contracts when we acquired Future Shop in the third quarter of fiscal 2002. We 
established an accrued liability for the acquired extended service contracts based on historical trends in product failure rates and the expected 
material and labor costs necessary to provide the services. The remaining terms of these acquired extended service contracts vary by product and 
extend through fiscal 2007. The estimated remaining liability for acquired extended service contracts at February 28, 2004, was $18. Subsequent 
to the acquisition, all new extended service contracts were sold on behalf of an unrelated third party, without recourse.  

The following table reconciles the changes in our liability for our acquired extended service contracts for the years ended February 28, 2004, and 
March 1, 2003:  
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Balance at March 2, 2002   $ 17   
Final purchase price allocation adjustment     37   
Service charges     (28 ) 
Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation     2   
      
Balance at March 1, 2003     28   
Service charges     (13 ) 
Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation     3   
      
Balance February 28, 2004   $ 18   
      



Report of Best Buy Management  

To Our Shareholders:  

Our management is responsible for the preparation, integrity and objectivity of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the 
related financial information. The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States and necessarily include certain amounts that are based on estimates and informed judgments. Our management also prepared the 
related financial information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the financial 
statements.  

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditor, who were given unrestricted access to all 
financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board of 
Directors. We believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during its audit were valid and appropriate. The independent 
auditor's role is to form an opinion as to the fairness with which such financial statements present our financial position and results of operations 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The report of Ernst & Young LLP is presented on the 
following page.  

We maintain a system of internal control over financial reporting that is designed to provide reasonable assurance to management, the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors as to the reliability of our financial records and the protection of our shareholders' interests. The system 
includes a documented organizational structure and division of responsibility; established policies and procedures, including a code of conduct to 
foster a strong ethical climate, which are communicated throughout Best Buy; and the careful selection, training and development of employees. 
Internal auditors monitor the operation of the internal control system and report findings and recommendations to management and the Audit 
Committee, and corrective actions are taken to address control deficiencies and other opportunities for improving the system as they are 
identified. The Audit Committee, which is comprised completely of independent directors, further augments our system of internal control. The 
Audit Committee oversees our system of internal control, accounting practices, financial reporting and audits, and assesses whether their quality, 
integrity and objectivity are sufficient to protect shareholders' investments.  

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control, including the possibility of circumvention or overriding of 
controls. Furthermore, the effectiveness of an internal control system can change with circumstances. Accordingly, even an effective internal 
control system can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation. The concept of reasonable assurance is 
based on the recognition that the cost of a system of internal control should not exceed the related benefits. We believe our system provides the 
appropriate balance.  

As of February 28, 2004, we believe our system of internal control over financial reporting was effective for providing reliable financial 
statements. We further believe the information contained in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related financial 
information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of our Company.  
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/s/ Bradbury H. Anderson 

Bradbury H. Anderson  
Vice Chairman  
and Chief Executive Officer 

  /s/ Darren R. Jackson 

Darren R. Jackson  
Executive Vice President — Finance  
and Chief Financial Officer 



Report of Independent Auditors  

Shareholders and Board of Directors  
Best Buy Co., Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Best Buy Co., Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of February 28, 2004, 
and March 1, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, changes in shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended February 28, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a). These financial 
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements and schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Best Buy 
Co., Inc. and subsidiaries at February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended February 28, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, 
in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents 
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

As discussed in Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill to conform 
to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 and its method of accounting for cash consideration received from a vendor to conform 
to Emerging Issues Task Force No. 02-16 effective March 3, 2002.  
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    /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
Minneapolis, Minnesota     
March 29, 2004     



Supplementary Financial Information  

The following tables show selected unaudited quarterly operating results for each quarter of fiscal 2004 and 2003.  

($ in millions, except per share amounts)  

Note: Certain totals may not add due to rounding.  

(1)  All quarters presented reflect the classification of Musicland's financial results as discontinued operations. Refer to Note 2, Discontinued Operations, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. First-quarter fiscal 2003 results include an after-tax, non-cash impairment 
charge of $308 for the full write-off of the goodwill related to our acquisition of Musicland. Fourth-quarter fiscal 2003 includes an after-tax, non-cash impairment charge of $102 related to a 
reassessment of the carrying value of Musicland's long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144.  

(2)  Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable 
store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening.  
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Quarter  
   

1st 
  

2nd 
  

3rd 
  

4th 
  

Fiscal Year 
  
  

Fiscal 2004 (1)                                 
Revenue   $ 4,668   $ 5,396   $ 6,034   $ 8,449   $ 24,547   
Comparable store sales % change (2)     2.2 %   7.5 %   8.6 %   9.7 %   7.1 % 
Gross profit   $ 1,185   $ 1,372   $ 1,498   $ 2,142   $ 6,197   
Operating income     114     229     202     759     1,304   
Earnings from continuing operations     69     140     122     469     800   
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     (24 )   (5 )   —    —    (29 ) 
(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued operations,  
net of tax     (70 )   4     —    —    (66 ) 
Net (loss) earnings     (25 )   139     122     469     705   
Diluted (loss) earnings per share:                                 
  Continuing operations     0.21     0.42     0.37     1.42     2.44   
  Discontinued operations     (0.29 )   —    —    —    (0.29 ) 
Diluted (loss) earnings per share     (0.08 )   0.42     0.37     1.42     2.15   
 
Quarter  
 

 
  

1st  
  

2nd  
  

3rd  
  

4th  
  

Fiscal Year  
  
  

Fiscal 2003 (1)(3)                                 
Revenue   $ 4,202   $ 4,624   $ 5,131   $ 6,989   $ 20,946   
Comparable store sales % change (2)     6.5 %   2.6 %   0.7 %   1.2 %   2.4 % 
Gross profit   $ 1,080   $ 1,153   $ 1,250   $ 1,753   $ 5,236   
Operating income     129     129     140     612     1,010   
Earnings from continuing operations     79     79     86     378     622   
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     (330 )   (17 )   (27 )   (67 )   (441 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,  
net of tax     (82 )   —    —    —    (82 ) 
Net (loss) earnings     (333 )   62     59     311     99   
Diluted (loss) earnings per share:                                 
  Continuing operations     0.24     0.24     0.27     1.16     1.91   
  Discontinued operations     (1.01 )   (0.05 )   (0.08 )   (0.21 )   (1.36 ) 
  Cumulative effect of accounting changes     (0.25 )   —    —    —    (0.25 ) 
Diluted (loss) earnings per share     (1.02 )   0.19     0.18     0.96     0.30   



 
Acquired stores are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first anniversary of the date of acquisition. The calculation of the 
comparable store sales percentage change excludes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue 
transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation methodology in light of changes in our business. Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS 
revenue. The comparable store sales changes for periods prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2004 have not been computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for 
calculating our comparable store sales percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash flows.  

(3)  Effective on March 3, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142. During the second quarter of fiscal 2003, we completed the required goodwill impairment testing and recognized an after-tax, non-
cash impairment charge of $40 that is reflected in our fiscal 2003 first-quarter financial results as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. Also effective on March 3, 2002, we 
changed our method of accounting for vendor allowances to reflect the newly adopted accounting principle established in EITF Issue No. 02-16 . The related after-tax, non-cash charge of $42 
also is reflected in our fiscal 2003 first quarter financial results as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. Refer to Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Condensed Consolidating Financial Information  

Our convertible debentures are guaranteed by certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. The aggregate principal amount at maturity of these 
convertible debentures is $894 million. The carrying value of the convertible debentures at February 28, 2004, was approximately $755 million.  

Additional information regarding the convertible debentures is included in Note 4, Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of 
the Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

On June 16, 2003, we sold our interest in Musicland. The statement of earnings for the year ended February 28, 2004, includes a loss on disposal 
of discontinued operations (which was primarily non-cash) of $66 million, net of tax, related to the sale of Musicland. In addition, approximately 
$198 million of Musicland's intercompany indebtedness to Best Buy Co., Inc. was eliminated in fiscal 2004. This resulted in a loss of 
$198 million that was recorded in Best Buy Co., Inc. with an offsetting $198 million gain recorded in the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, which 
included Musicland. The elimination of intercompany indebtedness had no impact on our consolidated net earnings, financial position or cash 
flows. Additional information regarding Musicland is included in Note 2, Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Effective March 2, 2003, we revised our legal entity structure. This change resulted in including certain assets and liabilities, operating results 
and cash flows in the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries column that in prior periods had been recorded in the Best Buy Co., Inc. or Guarantor 
Subsidiaries columns. The change had no impact on our consolidated net earnings, financial position or cash flows. The Condensed 
Consolidating Financial Statements for periods prior to March 2, 2003, have not been revised to reflect this change.  

We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. Beginning with fiscal 2004, income taxes are allocated in accordance with our tax 
allocation agreement. U.S. affiliates receive no tax benefit for taxable losses, but are allocated taxes at the required effective tax rate if they have 
taxable income.  
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The following tables present condensed consolidating balance sheets for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2004, and March 1, 2003, and 
condensed consolidating statements of earnings and cash flows for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2004; March 1, 2003; and March 2, 2002:  

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets  
As of February 28, 2004  

$ in millions  

     

Best Buy 
Co., Inc. 

  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-
Guarantor 

Subsidiaries 
  

Eliminations 
  

Consolidated 

Assets                               
Current Assets                               
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,402   $ 33   $ 165   $ —  $ 2,600 
  Receivables     5     318     19     1     343 
  Merchandise inventories     —    2,811     289     (493 )   2,607 
  Other current assets     1     96     77     —    174 
  Intercompany receivable     —    —    2,548     (2,548 )   —
  Intercompany note receivable     500     —    —    (500 )   —
            
    Total current assets     2,908     3,258     3,098     (3,540 )   5,724 
 
Net Property and Equipment 

 
  

 
  244 

 
  

 
  1,437 

 
  

 
  566 

 
  

 
  (3 

 
) 

 
  2,244 

 
Goodwill, Net 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  3 

 
  

 
  474 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  477 

 
Intangible Assets 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  37 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  37 

 
Other Assets 

 
  

 
  115 

 
  

 
  105 

 
  

 
  106 

 
  

 
  (156 

 
) 

 
  170 

 
Investments in Subsidiaries 

 
  

 
  2,547 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  (2,547 

 
) 

 
  —

            
 
Total Assets 

 
  

 
$ 5,814 

 
  

 
$ 4,803 

 
  

 
$ 4,281 

 
  

 
$ (6,246 

 
) 

 
$ 8,652 

            

 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Current Liabilities                               
  Accounts payable   $ —  $ —  $ 2,535   $ —  $ 2,535 
  Unredeemed gift card liabilities     —    300     —    —    300 
  Accrued compensation and related expenses     3     156     110     —    269 
  Accrued liabilities     10     438     201     —    649 
  Accrued income taxes     305     23     52     —    380 
  Current portion of long-term debt     354     13     1     —    368 
  Intercompany payable     597     1,955     —    (2,552 )   —
  Intercompany note payable     —    500     —    (500 )   —
            
    Total current liabilities     1,269     3,385     2,899     (3,052 )   4,501 
 
Long-Term Liabilities 

 
  

 
  222 

 
  

 
  160 

 
  

 
  21 

 
  

 
  (156 

 
) 

 
  247 

 
Long-Term Debt 

 
  

 
  410 

 
  

 
  60 

 
  

 
  12 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  482 

 
Shareholders' Equity 

 
  

 
  3,913 

 
  

 
  1,198 

 
  

 
  1,349 

 
  

 
  (3,038 

 
) 

 
  3,422 

            
 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

 
  

 
$ 5,814 

 
  

 
$ 4,803 

 
  

 
$ 4,281 

 
  

 
$ (6,246 

 
) 

 
$ 8,652 
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets  
As of March 1, 2003  

$ in millions  

     

Best Buy 
Co., Inc. 

  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-
Guarantor 

Subsidiaries 
  

Eliminations 
  

Consolidated 

Assets                               
Current Assets                               
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,863   $ 37   $ 14   $ —  $ 1,914 
  Receivables     216     50     46     —    312 
  Merchandise inventories     —    1,859     221     (3 )   2,077 
  Other current assets     192     48     39     (81 )   198 

  
Current assets of discontinued 
operations     —    —    397     —    397 

  Intercompany receivable     1,617     —    —    (1,617 )   —
  Intercompany note receivable     500     —    —    (500 )   —
            
    Total current assets     4,388     1,994     717     (2,201 )   4,898 
 
Net Property and Equipment 

 
  

 
  498 

 
  

 
  1,390 

 
  

 
  174 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  2,062 

 
Goodwill, Net 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  3 

 
  

 
  426 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  429 

 
Intangible Assets 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  33 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  33 

 
Other Assets 

 
  

 
  71 

 
  

 
  78 

 
  

 
  48 

 
  

 
  (82 

 
) 

 
  115 

 
Noncurrent Assets of Discontinued 
Operations 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  157 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  157 

 
Investments in Subsidiaries 

 
  

 
  1,055 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  (1,055 

 
) 

 
  —

            
Total Assets   $ 6,012   $ 3,465   $ 1,555   $ (3,338 ) $ 7,694 
            
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity                               
Current Liabilities                               
  Accounts payable   $ 1,997   $ —  $ 198   $ —  $ 2,195 
  Unredeemed gift card liabilities     —    222     —    —    222 

  
Accrued compensation and related 
expenses     80     75     19     —    174 

  Accrued liabilities     180     278     80     —    538 
  Accrued income taxes     —    274     181     (81 )   374 
  Current portion of long-term debt     —    —    1     —    1 

  
Current liabilities of discontinued 
operations     —    —    320     —    320 

  Intercompany payable     —    780     837     (1,617 )   —
  Intercompany note payable     —    500     —    (500 )   —
            
    Total current liabilities     2,257     2,129     1,636     (2,198 )   3,824 
 
Long-Term Liabilities 

 
  

 
  264 

 
  

 
  79 

 
  

 
  26 

 
  

 
  (82 

 
) 

 
  287 

 
Long-Term Debt 

 
  

 
  758 

 
  

 
  59 

 
  

 
  11 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  828 

 
Noncurrent Liabilities of 
Discontinued Operations 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  25 

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  25 

 
Shareholders' Equity (Deficit) 

 
  

 
  2,733 

 
  

 
  1,198 

 
  

 
  (143 

 
) 

 
  (1,058 

 
) 

 
  2,730 
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Total Liabilities and Shareholders' 
Equity   $ 6,012   $ 3,465   $ 1,555   $ (3,338 ) $ 7,694 
            



Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings  
For the Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 2004  

$ in millions  

         82  

     

Best Buy 
Co., Inc. 

  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  
Eliminations 

  
Consolidated 

  
  

Revenue   $ 16   $ 22,084   $ 23,774   $ (21,327 ) $ 24,547   
Cost of goods sold     —    17,967     20,817     (20,434 )   18,350   
              
Gross profit     16     4,117     2,957     (893 )   6,197   
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses     22     3,953     1,320     (402 )   4,893   
Elimination of intercompany 
indebtedness     198     —    (198 )   —    —  
              
Operating (loss) income     (204 )   164     1,835     (491 )   1,304   
Net interest (expense) income     (1 )   (43 )   36     —    (8 ) 
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     1,108     —    —    (1,108 )   —  
              
Earnings from continuing operations 
before income tax expense     903     121     1,871     (1,599 )   1,296   
Income tax (benefit) expense     (304 )   80     720     —    496   
              
Earnings from continuing operations     1,207     41     1,151     (1,599 )   800   
Loss from discontinued operations, net of 
tax     —    —    (29 )   —    (29 ) 
Loss on disposal of discontinued 
operations, net of tax     (11 )   —    (55 )   —    (66 ) 
              
Net earnings   $ 1,196   $ 41   $ 1,067   $ (1,599 ) $ 705   
              



Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings  
For the Fiscal Year Ended March 1, 2003  

$ in millions  

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings  
For the Fiscal Year Ended March 2, 2002  

$ in millions  

     

Best Buy 

Co., Inc. 

  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  
Eliminations 

  
Consolidated 

  
  

Revenue   $ 1   $ 19,735   $ 2,349   $ (1,139 ) $ 20,946   
Cost of goods sold     1     14,935     1,529     (755 )   15,710   
              
Gross profit     —    4,800     820     (384 )   5,236   
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses     32     4,087     491     (384 )   4,226   
              
Operating (loss) income     (32 )   713     329     —    1,010   
Net interest income (expense)     50     (41 )   (5 )   —    4   
Equity in loss of subsidiaries     (36 )   —    —    36     —  
              
(Loss) earnings from continuing 
operations before income tax expense     (18 )   672     324     36     1,014   
Income tax expense     8     260     124     —    392   
              
(Loss) earnings from continuing 
operations     (26 )   412     200     36     622   
Earnings (loss) from discontinued 
operations, net of tax     125     —    (566 )   —    (441 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle for goodwill, net of 
tax     —    —    (40 )   —    (40 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle for vendor 
allowances, net of tax     —    (40 )   (2 )   —    (42 ) 
              
Net earnings (loss)   $ 99   $ 372   $ (408 ) $ 36   $ 99   
              

     

Best Buy 

Co., Inc. 

  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  
Eliminations 

  
Consolidated 

Revenue   $ 3   $ 17,410   $ 1,231   $ (933 ) $ 17,711 
Cost of goods sold     1     13,834     693     (587 )   13,941 
            
Gross profit     2     3,576     538     (346 )   3,770 
Selling, general and administrative expenses     87     2,827     294     (346 )   2,862 
            
Operating (loss) income     (85 )   749     244     —    908 
Net interest income (expense)     79     (63 )   2     —    18 
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     574     —    —    (574 )   —
            
Earnings from continuing operations before 
income tax expense     568     686     246     (574 )   926 
Income tax (benefit) expense     (2 )   263     95     —    356 
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Earnings from continuing operations     570     423     151     (574 )   570 
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of 
tax     —    —    —    —    —
            
Net earnings   $ 570   $ 423   $ 151   $ (574 ) $ 570 
            



Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows  
For the Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 2004  

$ in millions  
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Best Buy 

Co., Inc. 
  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  
Eliminations 

  
Consolidated 

  
  

Total cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities from 
continuing operations   $ 482   $ (543 ) $ 1,475   $ —  $ 1,414   
              
Investing activities                                 

  
Additions to property and 
equipment     (45 )   (299 )   (201 )   —    (545 ) 

  
Decrease in recoverable costs 
from developed properties     —    4     —    —    4   

  
Acquisition of business, net of 
cash acquired     —    —    (3 )   —    (3 ) 

  Other, net     1     —    —    —    1   
              

    

Total cash used in investing 
activities from continuing 
operations     (44 )   (295 )   (204 )   —    (543 ) 

              
Financing activities                                 
  Dividends paid     (130 )   —    —    —    (130 ) 
  Issuance of common stock     114     —    —    —    114   
  Repurchase of common stock     (100 )   —    —    —    (100 ) 
  Long-term debt payments     —    (17 )   —    —    (17 ) 

  
Change in intercompany 
receivable/payable     217     851     (1,068 )   —    —  

              

    

Total cash provided by (used 
in) financing activities from 
continuing operations     101     834     (1,068 )   —    (133 ) 

              
Effect of exchange rate changes on 
cash     —    —    1     —    1   
Net cash used in discontinued 
operations     —    —    (53 )   —    (53 ) 
              
Increase (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents     539     (4 )   151     —    686   
Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year     1,863     37     14     —    1,914   
              
Cash and cash equivalents at end 
of year   $ 2,402   $ 33   $ 165   $ —  $ 2,600   
              



Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows  
For the Fiscal Year Ended March 1, 2003  

$ in millions  
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Best Buy 

Co., Inc. 
  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  
Eliminations 

  
Consolidated 

  
  

Total cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities from 
continuing operations   $ 256   $ 511   $ (21 ) $ —  $ 746   
              
Investing activities                                 

  
Additions to property and 
equipment     (23 )   (636 )   (66 )   —    (725 ) 

  
Decrease in recoverable costs 
from developed properties     69     —    —    —    69   

  
Acquisition of business, net of 
cash acquired     —    (3 )   —    —    (3 ) 

              

    

Total cash provided by (used 
in) investing activities from 
continuing operations     46     (639 )   (66 )   —    (659 ) 

              
Financing activities                                 
  Issuance of common stock     40     —    —    —    40   
  Long-term debt payments     (11 )   —    (2 )   —    (13 ) 

  
Net proceeds from issuance of 
long-term debt     —    18     —    —    18   

  
Change in intercompany 
receivable/payable     (291 )   118     173     —    —  

              

    

Total cash (used in) provided 
by financing activities from 
continuing operations     (262 )   136     171     —    45   

              
Net cash used in discontinued 
operations     —    —    (79 )   —    (79 ) 
              
Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents     40     8     5     —    53   
Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year     1,823     29     9     —    1,861   
              
Cash and cash equivalents at end 
of year   $ 1,863   $ 37   $ 14   $ —  $ 1,914   
              



Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows  
For the Fiscal Year Ended March 2, 2002  

$ in millions  
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Best Buy 

Co., Inc. 
  

Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  

Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries 

  
Eliminations 

  
Consolidated 

  
  

Total cash provided by operating 
activities from continuing 
operations   $ 665   $ 652   $ 226   $ —  $ 1,543   
              
Investing activities                                 

  
Additions to property and 
equipment     (284 )   (257 )   (40 )   —    (581 ) 

  
Decrease in recoverable costs 
from developed properties     25     —    —    —    25   

  
Acquisition of business, net of 
cash acquired     —    —    (368 )   —    (368 ) 

              

    

Total cash used in investing 
activities from continuing 
operations     (259 )   (257 )   (408 )   —    (924 ) 

              
Financing activities                                 
  Issuance of common stock     48     —    —    —    48   
  Long-term debt payments     (2 )   (3 )   —    —    (5 ) 

  
Net proceeds from issuance of 
long-term debt     726     —    —    —    726   

  
Change in intercompany 
receivable/payable     (71 )   (390 )   461     —    —  

              

    

Total cash provided by (used 
in) financing activities from 
continuing operations     701     (393 )   461     —    769   

              
Net cash used in discontinued 
operations     —    —    (270 )   —    (270 ) 
              
Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents     1,107     2     9     —    1,118   
Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year     716     27     —    —    743   
              
Cash and cash equivalents at end 
of year   $ 1,823   $ 29   $ 9   $ —  $ 1,861   
              



 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.  

None.  

 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.  

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that 
our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit 
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.  

There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
our internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this report.  

 

Part III  

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.  

Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons  

The information provided under the captions "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management," "Nominees and Directors" 
and "General Information" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

Audit Committee Financial Expert and Identification of the Audit Committee  

The information provided under the captions "Election of Directors" and "Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors" in the Proxy 
Statement, regarding the audit committee financial expert and the identification of the audit committee members, is incorporated herein 
by reference.  

Additional information regarding our Executive Officers is included in Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings , under the heading "Executive Officers 
of the Registrant," of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act  

The information provided under the caption "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 
herein by reference.  

Code of Ethics  

In February 2004, our Board of Directors adopted the Best Buy Code of Business Ethics that applies to our directors and all of our employees, 
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer. The Best Buy Code of Business Ethics is available on our corporate Web 
site, www.BestBuy.com — under "Company Information," select the "For Our Investors" link and then the "Corporate Governance" link. 
References to our corporate Web site address do not constitute incorporation by reference of the information contained on the corporate Web 
site, and the information contained on the corporate Web site is not part of this document.  

A copy of the Best Buy Code of Business Ethics may also be obtained upon request, without charge, by contacting our Investor Relations  
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department by calling (612) 291-6111 or writing to us at:  

Best Buy Co., Inc.  
Investor Relations Department  
7601 Penn Avenue South  
Richfield, MN 55423-3645  

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement of Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of the Best 
Buy Code of Business Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer by posting such information within two 
business days of any such amendment or waiver on our corporate Web site, www.BestBuy.com — under "Company Information," select the "For 
Our Investors" link and then the "Corporate Governance" link.  

 

Item 11. Executive Compensation.  

The information set forth under the caption "Executive Compensation" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters.  

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  

The information set forth under the caption "Equity Compensation Plan Information" in the Proxy Statement regarding securities authorized for 
issuance under equity compensation plans, is incorporated herein by reference.  

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  

The information provided under the caption "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" in the Proxy Statement is 
incorporated herein by reference.  

 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.  

The information provided under the captions "Nominees and Directors" and "Certain Transactions" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein 
by reference.  

 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.  

The information provided under the caption "Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditor — Audit and Non-Audit Fees" in the Proxy 
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

 

Part IV  

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.  

(a)  The following documents are filed as part of this report:  
 
1.  Financial Statements:  

All financial statements as set forth under Item 8 of this report.  
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2.  Supplementary Financial Statement Schedules:  

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

Other schedules have not been included because they are not applicable or because the information is included elsewhere in this report.  

3.  Exhibits:  

 

(1)  Document is filed herewith. 
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Number    Description    Method of Filing 

 
3.1   Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended   2,3,10,18 
3.2   Amended and Restated By-Laws, as amended   1,2,4,5,6,14,16 
4.1   Credit Agreement with U.S. Bank National Association dated March 21, 2002, as amended   1,16,18 
4.2   Offer Letter Agreement between HSBC Bank Canada and Best Buy Canada Ltd. Magasins Best Buy 

Ltee, dated February 26, 2004 
  1,18 

4.3   Offer Letter Agreement between Royal Bank of Canada and Best Buy Canada Ltd. Magasins Best Buy 
Ltee dated March 9, 2004 

  1 

4.4   Indenture by and among Best Buy Co., Inc., the subsidiary guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo 
Bank Minnesota, National Association, dated June 27, 2001, as amended 

  15,18 

4.5   Indenture by and among Best Buy Co., Inc., Best Buy Stores, L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, 
National Association, dated January 15, 2002, as amended and supplemented 

  8 

10.1   1994 Full-Time Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, as amended   11,17 
10.2   1997 Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, as amended   9,17,18 
10.3   1997 Directors' Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, as amended   12,17 
10.4   Best Buy Fourth Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of April 1, 2004, as 

amended 
  1 

10.5   Resolutions of the Board of Directors adopting the EVA® Incentive Program for senior officers   7 
10.6   Resolutions of the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors adopting 

the Best Buy Short-term Incentive Plan for certain senior officers 
  18 

10.7   2000 Restricted Stock Award Plan, as amended   18 
10.8   The Assumed Musicland 1992 Stock Option Plan   13 
10.9   The Assumed Musicland 1994 Stock Option Plan   13 

10.10   The Assumed Musicland 1998 Stock Incentive Plan   13 
12.1   Statements re: Computation of Ratios   1 
13.1   Portion of 2004 Annual Report to Shareholders   1 
21.1   Subsidiaries of the Registrant   1 
23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP   1 
31.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
  1 

31.2   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

  1 

32.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

  1 

32.2   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

  1 



(2)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on May 24, 1995, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by 
reference and made a part hereof.  

(3)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on May 20, 1994, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(4)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on Nov. 12, 1991, as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-43065) of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated 
herein by reference and made a part hereof.  

(5)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on Jan. 13, 1992, as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(6)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on May 28, 1997, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(7)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on April 29, 1999, as an exhibit to the preliminary Proxy Statement of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part 
hereof.  

(8)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on February 28, 2002, as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-83562) of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.  

(9)  Exhibit so marked was filed on August 20, 1998, as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-61897) of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by 
reference and made a part hereof.  

(10)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on October 10, 2000, as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(11)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on May 27, 1999, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(12)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on January 11, 2000, as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(13)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on February 23, 2001, as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-56146) of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.  

(14)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on June 1, 2001, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(15)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on September 24, 2001, as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-70060) of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.  

(16)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on May 30, 2002, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(17)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on July 12, 1999, as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

(18)  Exhibit so marked was filed with the SEC on May 30, 2003, as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc., and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has not filed as exhibits to the 
Form 10-K certain instruments with respect to long-term debt under which the amount of securities authorized does not exceed 10% of 
the total assets of the Registrant. The Registrant hereby agrees to furnish copies of all such instruments to the SEC upon request.  

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K:  
 
(1)  Announcement of: (i) the registrant's revenue for the third fiscal quarter and nine-month period ended November 29, 2003, and 

(ii) the registrant's updated earnings outlook for the third fiscal quarter ended November 29, 2003, filed on December 8, 2003.  
 

(2)  Announcement of the registrant's results of operations for the third fiscal quarter and nine-month period ended November 29, 
2003, filed on December 23, 2003.  
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(3)  Announcement of: (i) the registrant's revenue for the fiscal month ended January 3, 2004, and (ii) the registrant's updated earnings 
outlook for the fourth fiscal quarter and fiscal year ending February 28, 2004, filed on January 8, 2004.  
 

(4)  Announcement that the registrant had received notice of and was served on January 27, 2004, with a shareholder derivative action 
venued in Hennepin County, State of Minnesota District Court, alleging violations of state law relative to fiduciary 
responsibilities, control and management of the company, and unjust enrichment, filed on January 30, 2004.  
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Signatures  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

Dated: April 28, 2004  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on April 28, 2004.  

    Best Buy Co., Inc.  
(Registrant) 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
/s/ Bradbury H. Anderson 

Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ Bradbury H. Anderson 

Bradbury H. Anderson 

  
Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  
(principal executive officer) 

 
/s/ Darren R. Jackson 

Darren R. Jackson 

 
   

Executive Vice President — Finance and Chief Financial Officer  
(principal financial and accounting officer) 

 
/s/ Richard M. Schulze 

Richard M. Schulze 

 
   

Chairman and Director 

 
/s/ Robert T. Blanchard 

Robert T. Blanchard 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Kathy J. Higgins Victor 

Kathy J. Higgins Victor 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Elliot S. Kaplan 

Elliot S. Kaplan 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Allen U. Lenzmeier 

Allen U. Lenzmeier 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Matthew H. Paull 

Matthew H. Paull 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Mark C. Thompson 

Mark C. Thompson 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Frank D. Trestman 

Frank D. Trestman 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ Hatim A. Tyabji 

Hatim A. Tyabji 

 
   

Director 

 
/s/ James C. Wetherbe 

James C. Wetherbe 

 
   

Director 
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Schedule II  
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  
($ in millions)  

(1)  Includes bad debt write-offs and recoveries, as well as reserves associated with acquired companies. 

 

(2)  Includes Musicland balances of $1 and $1 at March 1, 2003, and March 2, 2002, respectively. 
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Balance at 
Beginning 
of Period 

  

Charged to 
Expenses or 

Other Accounts 
  

Other (1) 

  

Balance at 
End of Period (2) 

Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 2004                         
 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 

 
  

 
$ 10 

 
  

 
$ 8 

 
  

 
$ (14 

 
) 

 
$ 

 
Fiscal Year Ended March 1, 2003 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 

 
  

 
$ 3 

 
  

 
$ 10 

 
  

 
$ (3 

 
) 

 
$ 10 

 
Fiscal Year Ended March 2, 2002 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
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Exhibit 3.2 
  

AMENDMENT  
TO THE BY-LAWS  

OF BEST BUY CO., INC.  
   
   
                Pursuant to a resolution unanimously adopted by the Board of Directors of Best Buy Co., Inc. at a meeting held on April 20, 2004, 
Section 1 of Article III of the Amended and Restated By-Laws of this corporation, as amended, has been further amended, effective May 1, 
2004, to read as follows:  
   
   

   
Section 1  
ELECTION OF  
DIRECTORS.  

   
                The business and affairs of this corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of its Board of Directors which shall 
be comprised of up to thirteen (13) directors, six (6) of whom shall be Class 1 Directors, and seven (7) of whom shall be Class 2 
Directors.  Each Director shall be elected to serve for a term of two (2) years and until his/her successor shall have been duly elected 
and qualified.  Class 1 Directors shall be elected in even numbered years and Class 2 Directors shall be elected in odd numbered years.  
Except as to the year in which elected, the powers, privileges, duties and responsibilities of each Class 1 and Class 2 Director shall be 
alike in every respect  
   

   
   

   
 

   

/s/ Elliot S. Kaplan  
 

   

Elliot S. Kaplan, Secretary  



 
Exhibit 4.1 

   
SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT  

   
This SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), made and entered into as of March 5, 

2004 is by and between Best Buy Co., Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Company”), the banks which are signatories hereto (individually, each 
a “Bank” and collectively, the “Banks”) and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, as agent for the banks party to the 
Credit Agreement (in such capacity, the “Agent”).  
   

RECITALS  
   

1.                                        The banks party thereto, Company, and the Agent entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 
21, 2002, as amended by a First Amendment to Credit agreement dated as of October 7, 2002 (as so amended, the “Credit Agreement”); and  
   

2.                                        The Company desires to amend certain provisions of the Credit Agreement, and the Banks and the Agent have agreed to make 
such amendments, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Amendment.  

   
AGREEMENT  

   
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the 

parties hereto hereby covenant and agree to be bound as follows:  
   

Section 1.                                             Capitalized Terms .  Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings 
assigned to them in the Credit Agreement, unless the context shall otherwise require.  

   
Section 2.                                             Amendments .  The Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  
   

2.1                                  Liens .  Section 5.12 of the Credit Agreement is amended  by deleting the clause “, and;” at the end of subsection (g) 
thereof and by inserting in lieu thereof a period.  
   

2.2                                  Negative Pledges .  Section 5.24 of the Credit Agreement is deleted in its entirety and the following is substituted in 
lieu thereof.  

   
   

Section 5.24   Negative Pledges .  Not, and not permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any agreement, bond, note or 
other instrument for the benefit of any Person other than the Agent and the Banks that would (a) prohibit the Company or such 
Subsidiary from granting, or otherwise limit the ability of the Company or such Subsidiary to grant, any Lien on any of its 
property to the Agent, for the benefit of the Banks, or to lenders providing credit facilities to replace the Commitments or 
refinance the Obligations, except (i) limitations created in agreements creating Liens on, and applicable only to, property on 
which a Lien is granted by the Company as permitted in Sections 5.12(e), (f) or (g) or (ii)  

   

 



   
limitations in agreements creating the Indebtedness permitted by Section 5.13(k), or (b) require the Company or such 
Subsidiary to grant a Lien to any other Person if the Company or such Subsidiary grants Liens to the Agent, for the benefit of 
the Banks, or to lenders providing credit facilities to replace the Commitments or refinance the Obligations.  
   
2.3                                  Schedule of Permitted Canadian Debt .  Schedule 5.13(k) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated 

to read as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, which Exhibit A is hereby made a part of the Credit Agreement as Schedule 5.13(k) thereto.  
   

Section 3.                                             Effectiveness of Amendments .  The amendments contained in this Amendment shall become effective upon 
delivery by the Company of, and compliance by the Company with, the following:  

   
3.1                                  This Amendment duly executed by the Company, the Agent, and the Majority Banks.  
   
3.2                                  A consent of each Guarantor in the form of Exhibit B attached to this Amendment, duly executed by such Guarantor. 
   
3.3                                  The Company shall have satisfied such other conditions as specified by the Banks, including payment of all unpaid 

legal fees and expenses incurred by the Agent through the date of this Amendment in connection with the Credit Agreement and this 
Amendment.  

   
Section 4.                                             Representations, Warranties, Authority, No Adverse Claim .  
   

4.1                                  Reassertion of Representations and Warranties, No Default .  The Company hereby represents that on and as of 
the date hereof and after giving effect to this Amendment (a) all of the representations and warranties contained in the Credit 
Agreement are true, correct and complete in all respects as of the date hereof as though made on and as of such date, except for changes 
permitted by the terms of the Credit Agreement, and (b) there will exist no Default or Event of Default under the Credit Agreement as 
amended by this Amendment on such date which has not been waived by the Banks.  

   
4.2                                  Authority, Validity, No Conflict, No Consent Required . The Company represents and warrants that the Company 

has the power and legal right and authority to enter into this Amendment and has duly authorized as appropriate the execution and 
delivery of this Amendment and other agreements and documents executed and delivered by the Company in connection herewith or 
therewith by proper corporate authority, and neither this Amendment nor the agreements contained herein contravenes or constitutes a 
default under any agreement, instrument or indenture to which the Company is a party or a signatory or a provision of the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or any other agreement or requirement of law, or result in the imposition of any Lien on any of its 
property under any agreement binding on or applicable to the Company or any of its property except, if any, in favor of the Banks.  The 
Company represents and warrants that this Amendment constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligations of the Company,  
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enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to limitations as to enforceability which might result from 
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, and other similar laws affecting Creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity.  The 
Company represents and warrants that no consent, approval or authorization of or registration or declaration with any person, including 
but not limited to any governmental authority, is required in connection with the execution and delivery by the Company of this 
Amendment or other agreements and documents executed and delivered by the Company in connection therewith or the performance of 
obligations of the Company therein described, except for those which the Company has obtained or provided and as to which the 
Company has delivered certified copies of documents evidencing each such action to the Agent.  

   
4.3                                  No Adverse Claim . The Company warrants, acknowledges and agrees that no events have been taken place and no 

circumstances exist at the date hereof which would give the Company a basis to assert a defense, offset or counterclaim to any claim of 
the Banks with respect to the Obligations.  
   

4.4                                  Affirmation of Credit Agreement, Further References .  The Banks and the Company each acknowledge and 
affirm that the Credit Agreement, as hereby amended, is hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects and all terms, conditions and 
provisions of the Credit Agreement, except as amended by this Amendment, shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect.  All 
references in any document or instrument to the Credit Agreement are hereby amended and shall refer to the Credit Agreement as 
amended by this Amendment.   The Company confirms to the Banks that all of the terms, conditions, provisions, agreements, 
requirements, promises, obligations, duties, covenants and representations of the Company under any and all other documents and 
agreements entered into with respect to the obligations under the Credit Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and are hereby 
ratified and affirmed in all respects by the Company.  
   

4.5                                  Canadian Credit Documents .  The Company represents and warrants to the Banks that (i) a true and accurate copy 
of the Canadian Credit Agreement (as defined in Exhibit A hereto) is attached to this Amendment as Exhibit C and (b) true and accurate 
copies of the Canadian Guaranties (as defined in Exhibit A hereto) are attached to this Amendment as Exhibit D.  
   

4.6                                  Resolution and Incumbency Certificate .  Within 30 days of the date of this Amendment, the Company will 
furnish to the Agent a copy of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company ratifying the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Amendment certified as true and accurate by its Secretary or Assistant Secretary, along with a certification by such 
Secretary or Assistant Secretary (i) certifying that there has been no amendment to the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of the 
Company since true and accurate copies of the same were delivered to the Agent with a certificate of the Secretary of the Company 
dated March 21, 2002, and (ii) identifying each officer of the Company authorized to execute this Amendment and any other instrument 
or agreement executed by the Company in connection with this Amendment, and certifying as to  
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specimens of such officer’s signature and such  officer’s incumbency in such offices as such officer holds.  
   
Section 5.                                             Merger and Integration, Superseding Effect .  This Amendment, from and after the date hereof, embodies the 

entire agreement and understanding between the parties hereto and supersedes and has merged into this Amendment all prior oral and written 
agreements on the same subjects by and between the parties hereto with the effect that this Amendment, shall control with respect to the specific 
subjects hereof and thereof.  

   
Section 6.                                             Severability .  Whenever possible, each provision of this Amendment and any other statement, instrument or 

transaction contemplated hereby or thereby or relating hereto or thereto shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective, valid and 
enforceable under the applicable law of any jurisdiction, but, if any provision of this Amendment or any other statement, instrument or 
transaction contemplated hereby or thereby or relating hereto or thereto shall be held to be prohibited, invalid or unenforceable under the 
applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective in such jurisdiction only to the extent of such prohibition, invalidity or unenforceability, 
without invalidating or rendering unenforceable the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Amendment or any other 
statement, instrument or transaction contemplated hereby or thereby or relating hereto or thereto in such jurisdiction, or affecting the 
effectiveness, validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.  

   
Section 7.                                             Successors .  This Amendment shall be binding upon the Company and the Banks and their respective successors 

and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the Company and the Banks and the successors and assigns of the Banks.  
   
Section 8.                                             Legal Expenses .  As provided in Section 8.3 of the Credit Agreement, the Company agrees to reimburse the Agent, 

upon execution of this Amendment, for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including attorney’ fees and legal expenses of Dorsey & Whitney 
LLP, counsel for the Agent) incurred in connection with the Credit Agreement, including in connection with the negotiation, preparation and 
execution of this Amendment and all other documents negotiated, prepared and executed in connection with this Amendment and in enforcing 
the obligations of the Company under this Amendment and to pay and save the Agent harmless from all liability for, any stamp or other taxes 
which may be payable with respect to the execution or delivery of this Amendment, which obligations of the Company shall survive any 
termination of the Credit Agreement.  

   
Section 9.                                             Headings .  The headings of various sections of this Amendment have been inserted for reference only and shall not 

be deemed to be a part of this Amendment.  
   
Section 10.                                       Counterparts .  This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts as deemed necessary or convenient, each 

of which, when so executed, shall be deemed an original, provided that all such counterparts shall be regarded as one and the same document.  
   
Section 11.                                       Governing Law .  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE 

OF MINNESOTA, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF, BUT GIVING EFFECT TO FEDERAL 
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LAWS APPLICABLE TO NATIONAL BANKS, THEIR HOLDING COMPANIES AND THEIR AFFILIATES.  
   

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the day and year first above 

written.  
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BEST BUY CO., INC.  
      
      
   

By  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  
   

      

Its V.P.  
      
      
   

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as  
Agent and as a Bank  

      
      
   

By  Karen Weathers  
   

      

Its  Vice President  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL  
ASSOCIATION, f/k/a First Union National Bank  

      
      
   

By  /s/ Michael R. Jordan  
   

      

Its  Managing Director  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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BANK ONE, NA (MAIN CHICAGO OFFICE)  
      
      
   

By  /s/ Vincent R. Henchek  
   

      

Its  Director  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL  
ASSOCIATION  

      
      
   

By  /s/  Scott D. Bjelde  
   

      

Its Vice President and Senior Banker  
      
      
   

By  /s/  Allison S. Gelfman  
   

      

Its  Vice President  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI, LTD.,  
CHICAGO BRANCH  

      
      
   

By  /s/  Patrick McCue  
   

      

Its  Vice President & Manager  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON,  
CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH  

      
      
   

By  /s/  William O’Daly  
   

      

Its  Director  
      
      
   

By  /s/  Cassandra Droogan  
   

      

Its  Associate  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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FLEET NATIONAL BANK  
      
      
   

By  /s/ Suzanne Chomiczewski  
   

      

Its  Vice President  



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  

   
S-8  

 

   

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA  
      
      
   

By  
      

      

Its  
      



   

   
[Signature page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement]  
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MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL CORPORATION  
      
      
   

By  /s/ Stephanie Vallillo  
   

      

Its  Vice President  



   
EXHIBIT A 

TO SECOND AMENDMENT 
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 

   
Schedule 5.13(k)  

   
CDN INDEBTEDNESS  

   
Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee (“Best Buy Canada”) has a Cdn $25,000,000 unsecured revolving operating loan facility from 
Royal Bank of Canada pursuant to an offer letter (the “Cdn Credit Agreement”), in the form attached to the Second Amendment to this 
Agreement as Exhibit C.  Best Buy Canada’s obligations under the Cdn Credit Agreement are guarantied by the Company and by its subsidiary, 
Best Buy Stores, L.P., pursuant to the terms of separate guaranties, each in the form attached to the Second Amendment to this Agreement as 
Exhibit D (the “Canadian Guaranties”).  

   
A-1  

 



   
EXHIBIT B 

TO SECOND AMENDMENT 
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 

   
CONSENT OF GUARANTORS  

   
Each of the undersigned have guaranteed payment and performance of the obligations of BEST BUY CO., INC., a Minnesota 

corporation (the “Company”), to U.S. Bank National Association, as agent (the “Agent”) and as a Bank, and certain other Banks (the “Banks”) 
under that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 21, 2002, as amended by a First Amendment to Credit Agreement 
dated as of October 7, 2002, between the Company and the Banks (the “Credit Agreement”), pursuant to the terms of separate Guaranties 
executed by the undersigned in favor of the Banks and dated as of March 21, 2002 (as amended, collectively, the “Guaranties” and each 
individually, a “Guaranty”).  

   
Each of the undersigned acknowledges receipt of a copy of the proposed Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated concurrently 

herewith (the “Second Amendment”).  
   
Each of the undersigned confirms, agrees and acknowledges that the Amendment shall in no way impair or limit the rights of the Agent 

and the Banks under its Guaranty and that obligations of the Company under the Credit Agreement, as amended by the Second Amendment, 
constitute “Obligations” as defined in its Guaranty.  

   
Each of the undersigned confirms that, by its Guaranty, and subject to the terms and conditions of its Guaranty, the undersigned 

continues to guaranty payment and performance of the obligations of the Company to the Banks under the Credit Agreement, as amended by the 
Second Amendment.  The undersigned hereby confirms that its Guaranty remains in full force and effect, enforceable against the undersigned by 
the Banks, in accordance with its terms.  
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Dated as of March 5, 2004  BBC PROPERTY CO.  
         
      

By  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  
   

      

Its Vice President  
         
      

BEST BUY STORES, L.P.  
      

By:  BBC Property Co.  
      

Its General Partner  
         
      

By  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  
   

      

Its Vice President  
         
      

BEST BUY INVESTMENT CO.  
         
         
      

By  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  
   

      

Its Vice President  



   
EXHIBIT C 

TO SECOND AMENDMENT 
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 

   
[Copy of Canadian Offer Letter]  
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K. (Keith) Richmond  
Senior Account Manager  
Tel: (604) 665-8409  
Fax: (604) 665-6368  
Email: keith.richmond@rbc.com  
   
March 9, 2004  
   
Private and Confidential  
   
Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee  
8800 Glenlyon Parkway  
Burnaby, British Columbia V5J 5K3  
   
Attention:  Lana Bevilacqua  
   
Dear Sirs:  
   
We are pleased to offer the credit facilities described below (the “Credit Facilities” ), subject to the following terms and conditions.  This 
agreement supersedes and cancels any and all previous agreements with the Borrower or its predecessors (the “Cancelled Credit Facility”). In 
addition, any amount owing by the Borrower to the Bank under the Cancelled Credit Facility is deemed to be a Borrowing hereunder.  
   
DEFINITIONS AND SCHEDULES  
The attached schedules are incorporated into this agreement by reference. Schedule “A” contains definitions of capitalized terms used and not 
otherwise defined in this agreement.  Unless otherwise provided, all dollar amounts are in Canadian currency and accounting terms are to be 
interpreted in accordance with GAAP.  
   
BORROWER  

   
LENDER  

   
CREDIT FACILITIES  
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Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee  
   

(the “ Borrower”  )  

Royal Bank of Canada  
   

(the “ Bank”  )  

Facility  (1):  $20,000,000 revolving demand facility, by way of:  
         
   

(a)  RBP based loans ( “ RBP Loans”  );  
         
   

(b)  RBUSBR based loans in US currency (“ RBUSBR Loans”  );  
         
   

(c)  Bankers’  Acceptances ( “ BAs”  );  
         
   

(d)  Letters of Credit in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “ LCs”  );  
         
   

(e)  Letters of Guarantee in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “ LGs”  ).  



   

   
Each use of the Credit Facilities is a “Borrowing” and all such usages outstanding at any time are “Borrowings” . Schedule “B” contains notice 
provisions applicable to Borrowings that must be complied with.   Schedule “C” contains terms and conditions applicable to Borrowings made 
otherwise than by way of RBP Loans or RBUSBR Loans which must be complied with.  
   
FEF CONTRACTS  
At the Borrower’s request the Bank may enter into Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts ( “FEF Contracts” ) with the Borrower from time to 
time.  The Bank makes no commitment to enter into any FEF Contract and may at any time in its sole discretion decline to enter into any FEF 
Contract. FEF Contracts will be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in the FEF Contracts Schedule attached hereto.  
   
TERMS OF OTHER FACILITIES  
The Credit Facilities are in addition to the following:  
   

(a)                                   an assigned lease obligation from GATX  
   
In the event of conflict between this agreement and any separate agreement delivered in connection with any such other facilities, the terms of 
such separate agreement shall govern.  
   
PURPOSE  
   
Facilities (1) & (2)  
Finance general operating requirements.  
   
AVAILABILITY  
Facilities (1) & (2)  
The Borrower may borrow, convert, repay and reborrow up to the amount of these revolving facilities, provided:  
   

(a)                                   these facilities are made available at the sole discretion of the Bank and the Bank may cancel or restrict availability of any 
unutilized portion of these facilities at any time and from time to time without notice or demand.  

   
REPAYMENT  
   
Facilities (1) & (2)  
Borrowings under these facilities are expected to revolve with operating requirements.  
   
Notwithstanding compliance with the covenants and all other terms and conditions of this agreement, and regardless of the maturities of any 
outstanding instruments or contracts, Borrowings under these facilities are repayable on demand and the Bank may terminate these facilities at 
any time, without notice or demand.  
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Facility  (2):  $5,000,000 revolving demand facility available only from August 1 st to and including January 31 st annually , by way of: 
         
   

(a)  RBP based loans ( “ RBP Loans”  );  
         
   

(b)  RBUSBR based loans in US currency (“ RBUSBR Loans”  );  
         
   

(c)  Bankers’  Acceptances ( “ BAs”  );  
         
   

(d)  Letters of Credit in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “ LCs”  );  
         
   

(e)  Letters of Guarantee in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “ LGs”  ).  



   
Upon demand the Borrower shall pay to the Bank all Borrowings outstanding under these facilities including, without limitation, an amount 
equal to the aggregate of the face amounts of all BAs, LCs and LGs which are unmatured or unexpired, which amount shall be held by the Bank 
as security for the Borrower’s obligations to the Bank in respect of such instruments or contracts.  The Bank may enforce its rights to realize 
upon its security and retain an amount sufficient to secure the Bank for the Borrower’s obligations to the Bank in respect of such instruments or 
contracts.  
   
INTEREST RATES AND FEES  
   
Facilities (1) & (2)  

   
The Bank agrees to reimburse the Borrower for up to the first $10,000 (Canadian) in legal fees associated with the establishment of these 
Facilities.  
   
CALCULATION AND PAYMENT OF INTEREST AND FEES  
   
RBP Loans and RBUSBR Loans  
The Borrower shall pay interest on each RBP Loan and RBUSBR Loan, monthly in arrears, on the 21 st day of each month.  Such interest will be 
calculated monthly and will accrue daily on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 365 days.  Interest on RBUSBR Loans 
shall be paid in US currency.  
   
LC Fees  
The Borrower shall pay an LC fee on the date of any payment made by the Bank pursuant to a drawing under any LC calculated on the amount 
drawn, based upon the number of days the LC was outstanding and a year of 365 days.  If the total amount available under any LC has not been 
drawn prior to the expiry of such LC, the Borrower shall pay an LC fee calculated on the undrawn portion of such LC on the expiry date thereof, 
based upon the number of days the LC was outstanding and a year of 365 days.  
   
LG Fees  
The Borrower shall pay an LG fee on the date of issuance of any LG calculated on the face amount of the LG issued and based on the number of 
days in the term thereof and a year of 365 days.  
   
BAs  
The Borrower shall pay an acceptance fee in advance on the date of issue of each BA at the applicable rate provided for in this agreement.  
Acceptance fees shall be calculated on the face amount of the BA issued and based upon the number of days in the term thereof and a year of 
365 days.  
   
Limit on Interest  
The Borrower shall not be obligated to pay any interest, fees or costs under or in connection with this agreement in excess of what is permitted 
by law.  
   
Overdue Payments  
Any amount that is not paid when due hereunder shall, unless interest is otherwise payable in respect thereof in accordance with the terms of this 
agreement or the instrument or contract governing same, bear interest until paid at the rate of RBP plus 5% per annum or, in the case of an 
amount in US currency, RBUSBR plus 5% per annum.  
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RBP Loans:  RBP plus 0% per annum.  
RBUSBR Loans:  RBUSBR plus 0% per annum.  
BAs:  acceptance fee 1.00% per annum.  
LCs:  fee to be quoted by the Bank at the time of issue of each LC.  
LGs:  fee to be quoted by the Bank at the time of issue of each LG, subject to a minimum fee of $100 in the currency of issue 

(where in Canadian currency or US currency) and $100 in Canadian currency where issued in any other approved 
currency.  



   
Equivalent Yearly Rates  
The annual rates of interest or fees to which the rates calculated in accordance with this agreement are equivalent, are the rates so calculated 
multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year in which such calculation is made and divided by 365.  
   
Time and Place of Payment  
Amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder shall be paid at the Branch of Account in the applicable currency. Amounts due on a day other than 
a Business Day shall be deemed to be due on the Business Day next following such day.  Interest and fees payable under this agreement are 
payable both before and after any or all of default, maturity date, demand and judgement.  
   
EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS  
If, for any reason, the amount of Borrowings outstanding under any facility, when converted to the Equivalent Amount in Canadian currency, 
exceeds the amount available under such facility, the Borrower shall immediately repay such excess or shall secure such excess to the 
satisfaction of the Bank.  
   
INCREASED COSTS  
The Borrower shall reimburse the Bank for any additional cost or reduction in income arising as a result of (i) the imposition of, or increase in, 
taxes on payments due to the Bank hereunder (other than taxes on the overall net income of the Bank), (ii) the imposition of, or increase in, any 
reserve or other similar requirement, (iii) the imposition of, or change in, any other condition affecting the Credit Facilities imposed by any 
applicable law or the interpretation thereof.  
   
EVIDENCE OF INDEBTEDNESS  
The Bank shall open and maintain at the Branch of Account accounts and records evidencing the Borrowings made available to the Borrower by 
the Bank under this agreement. The Bank shall record the principal amount of each Borrowing, the payment of principal and interest and all 
other amounts becoming due to the Bank under this agreement.  
   
The Bank’s accounts and records constitute, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the indebtedness of the Borrower to the 
Bank pursuant to this agreement.  
   
The Borrower authorizes and directs the Bank to automatically debit, by mechanical, electronic or manual means, any bank account of the 
Borrower for all amounts payable by the Borrower to the Bank pursuant to this agreement.  
   
GENERAL ACCOUNT  
The Borrower shall establish a current account with the Bank (the “General Account”) for the conduct of the Borrower’s day-to-day banking 
business.  If the balance in the General Account:  
   

(a)                                   is a credit, the Bank may apply, at any time in its discretion, the amount of such credit or part thereof, rounded to the nearest 
$10,000 in Canadian currency or US currency, as applicable, as a repayment of Borrowings outstanding by way of RBP Loans 
or RBUSBR Loans, as applicable, under Facilities (1) & (2), or  

   
(b)                                  is a debit, the Bank may, subject to availability, make available a Borrowing by way of an RBP Loan or RBUSBR Loans, as 

applicable, under Facilities (1) & (2) in an amount, rounded to the nearest $10,000 in Canadian currency or US currency, as 
applicable, as is required to place the General Account at not less than a zero balance.  

   
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT  
The availability of any Borrowing is conditional upon:  
   

(a)                                   the receipt of a duly executed copy of this agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and reviewed by its 
solicitors, Bull Housser and Tupper;  

   
(b)                                  the receipt of  the security provided for herein, in form and substance satisfactory to the  
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Bank, registered as required to perfect and maintain the security created thereby and such certificates, authorizations, 
resolutions and legal opinions as the Bank may reasonably require;  
   

(c)                                   the receipt and review, to the satisfaction of the Bank, of  the US Credit Agreement;  
   
(d)                                  there being no material adverse change in financial condition;  
   
(e)                                   the representations and warranties being true and correct;  
   
(f)                                     the satisfactory execution, registration and receipt of documentation, including all legal opinions, copies of all necessary 

corporate authorizations, documents etc. as required;  
   
(g)                                  no event of default by the Borrower or Guarantors under any credit agreement will have occurred or be continuing at the time 

of, or after giving effect to, any Borrowing hereunder; and  
   
(h)                                  the receipt and approval of such financial and other information or documents relating to the Borrower and Guarantors as the 

Bank may reasonably require, in its sole discretion.  
   

SECURITY  
Security for the Borrowings and all other obligations of the Borrower to the Bank shall include:  
   

(a)                                   Guaranty and Subordination Agreement for $25,000,000 provided by Best Buy Co., Inc. (a “Guarantor”);  
   
(b)                                  Guaranty and Subordination Agreement for $25,000,000 provided by Best Buy Stores, L.P. (a “Guarantor”).  
   

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  
The Borrower represents and warrants to the Bank which representations and warranties are deemed to be repeated as at the time of each 
Borrowing hereunder that :  
   

(a)                                   it is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and duly registered or qualified to carry on business in all jurisdictions 
where it carries on business, including in the Province of British Columbia;  

   
(b)                                  the execution, delivery and performance by it of this agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary actions and do not 

violate its constating documents or any Applicable Laws or agreements to which it is subject or by which it is bound;  
   
(c)                                   no event has occurred which constitutes, or which, with notice, lapse of time, or both, would constitute, a breach of any 

covenant or other term or condition of this agreement or any security agreement given in connection therewith.  
   
(d)                                  its most recent consolidated financial statements provided to the Bank fairly present its financial position as of the date thereof 

and its results of operations and cash flows for the fiscal period covered thereby, and since the date of such financial 
statements, there has occurred no material adverse change in its business or financial condition;  

   
(e)                                   there is no claim, action, prosecution or other proceeding of any kind pending or threatened against it or any of its assets or 

properties before any court or administrative agency which relates to any non-compliance with any Environmental Law or any 
Release from its lands of a Contaminant into the natural environment or which, if adversely determined, might have a material 
adverse effect upon its financial condition or operations or its ability to perform its obligations under this agreement or any of 
the  
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Bank’s security, and there are no circumstances of which it is aware which might give rise to any such proceeding which it has 
not fully disclosed to the Bank;  
   

(f)                                     it has good and marketable title to all of its properties and assets, free and clear of any encumbrances, other than as may be 
provided for herein;  

   
(g)                                  it is in compliance in all material respects with all Applicable Laws including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws;  
   
(h)                                  it possesses all licenses, patents, trade marks, service marks and copyrights, free from material restrictions, that are necessary 

for the ownership, maintenance and operation of its assets and businesses and it is not in violation of any rights of others with 
respect to any of the foregoing;  

   
(i)                                      it has filed all material tax returns which were required to be filed by it, paid or made provision for payment of all taxes and 

Potential Prior-Ranking Claims (including interest and penalties) which are due and payable, and provided adequate reserves 
for payment of any tax, the payment of which is being contested.  

   
REPORTING COVENANTS  
The Borrower and Guarantors covenant and agree with the Bank, while this agreement is in effect, to provide the Bank with:  
   

(a)                                   Quarterly:  unaudited consolidated financial statements for the Borrower within 60 days of each of the first three fiscal 
quarters of each fiscal year;  

   
(b)                                  Quarterly:  unaudited consolidated financial statements for Best Buy Co., Inc. within 60 days of each of the first three fiscal 

quarters of each fiscal year;  
   
(c)                                   Quarterly: within 60 days after the close of each of the first three fiscal quarters of the fiscal year of each Guarantor, an 

officer’s compliance certificate, to include financial covenant calculations pertaining to the US Credit Agreement, stating that 
as of the close of such fiscal quarter no default or event of default had occurred and was continuing;  

   
(d)                                  Annually:  within 120 days after the close of each of the Guarantor’s fiscal years, an officer’s compliance certificate, to 

include financial covenant calculations pertaining to the US Credit Agreement, stating that as of the close of such fiscal quarter 
no default or event of default had occurred and was continuing;  

   
(e)                                   Annually:  unaudited consolidated financial statements for the Borrower, within 120 days of each fiscal year end;  
   
(f)                                     Annually:  audited consolidated financial statements for Best Buy Co., Inc., within 120 days of each fiscal year end; and  
   
(g)                                  Such other financial and operating statements and reports as and when the Bank may reasonably require.  
   

GENERAL COVENANTS  
The Borrower covenants and agrees with the Bank, while this agreement is in effect:  
   

(a)                                   to pay all sums of money when due by it under this agreement;  
   
(b)                                  to provide the Bank with prompt written notice of any event which constitutes, or which, with notice, lapse of time, or both, 

would constitute a breach of any covenant or other term or condition of this agreement or any security agreement given in 
connection  
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therewith;  
   

(c)                                   to keep its assets fully insured against such perils and in such manner as would be customarily insured by companies carrying 
on a similar business or owning similar assets;  

   
(d)                                  if the Borrower owns any commercial buildings located in Metropolitan Vancouver, the Lower Fraser Valley, Metropolitan 

Victoria or Saanich Peninsula, then, in addition to (c) above, the Borrower shall insure and keep fully insured such commercial 
buildings against risk of earthquake;  

   
(e)                                   to file all material tax returns which are to be filed by it from time to time, to pay or make provision for payment of all taxes 

(including interest and penalties) and Potential Prior-Ranking Claims when due, and to provide adequate reserves for the 
payment of any tax, the payment of which is being contested;  

   
(f)                                     to comply in all material respects with all Applicable Laws including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws;  
   
(g)                                  not to, without the prior written consent of the Bank, grant, create, assume or suffer to exist any mortgage, charge, lien, 

pledge, security interest or other encumbrance affecting any of its properties, assets or other rights;  
   
(h)                                  not to, without the prior written consent of the Bank, sell, transfer, convey, lease or otherwise dispose of any of its properties 

or assets other than in the ordinary course of business and on commercially reasonable terms;  
   
(i)                                      except as required under section 5.25 of the US Credit Agreement, not to, without the prior written consent of the Bank, 

guarantee or otherwise provide for, on a direct, indirect or contingent basis, the payment of any monies or performance of any 
obligations by any other Person, except as may be provided for herein;  

   
(j)                                      to provide the Bank with a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of any intention to merge, amalgamate, or otherwise 

enter into any other form of business combination with any other Person;  
   
(k)                                   to provide the Bank with prompt written notice of any non-compliance by the Borrower with any Environmental Laws or any 

Release from the land of the Borrower of a Contaminant into the natural environment and to indemnify and save harmless the 
Bank from all liability of loss as a result of an Environmental Activity or any non-compliance with any Environmental Law;  

   
(l)                                      to permit the Bank or its representatives, from time to time, to visit and inspect the Borrower’s premises, properties and assets 

and examine and obtain copies of the Borrower’s records or other information and discuss the Borrower’s affairs with the 
auditors, counsel and other professional advisers of the Borrower;  

   
(m)                                to remain a wholly owned subsidiary, either directly or indirectly, of Best Buy Co., Inc. at all times; and  
   
(n)                                  to notify the Bank within 5 days after receipt of any demand for a guarantee from the Borrower under the US Credit 

Agreement.  
   

Nothing contained in the foregoing Covenants sections shall limit any right of the Bank under this agreement to terminate or demand payment 
of, or cancel or restrict availability of any unutilized portion of, any demand or other discretionary facility made available under this agreement.  
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The Borrower and Best Buy Co., Inc. covenant and agree with the Bank, while this agreement is in effect:  
   

(a)           to notify the Bank within 5 days after any acceleration of indebtedness owing by Best Buy Co., Inc. under the US Credit 
Agreement;  

   
(b)          to notify the Bank of any demand for security against the assets of Best Buy Co., Inc. and/or Best Buy Stores, L.P. by the lenders 

under the US Credit Agreement within 5 days of the making of such demand; and  
   
(c)           to provide to the Bank a copy of all future amendments to the US Credit Agreement within 15 days of execution thereof by the 

Guarantors.  
   

Nothing contained in the foregoing Covenants sections shall limit any right of the Bank under this agreement to terminate or demand payment 
of, or cancel or restrict availability of any unutilized portion of, any demand or other discretionary facility made available under this agreement.  
   
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS  
This agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  
   
The Bank may assign all or part of its rights and obligations under this agreement to any Person.  The rights and obligations of the Borrower 
under this agreement may not be assigned without the prior written consent of the Bank.  
   
The Bank may disclose to potential or actual assignees confidential information regarding the Borrower (including, any such information 
provided by the Borrower to the Bank) and shall not be liable for any such disclosure.  
   
GENERAL  
   
Expenses  
The Borrower agrees to pay all fees (including legal fees), costs and expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the preparation, 
negotiation and documentation of this agreement and the security provided for herein and the operation or enforcement of this agreement and the 
security provided for herein.  
   
Review  
The Bank may conduct periodic reviews of the affairs of the Borrower, as and when determined by the Bank, for the purpose of evaluating the 
financial condition of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall make available to the Bank such financial statements and other information and 
documentation as the Bank may reasonably require and shall do all things reasonably necessary to facilitate such review by the Bank.  
   
Potential Prior-Ranking Claims  
The Borrower hereby grants its consent (such grant to remain in force as long as this agreement is in effect or any Borrowings are outstanding) to 
any Person having information relating to any Potential Prior-Ranking Claim arising by any law, statute, regulation or otherwise and including, 
without limitation, claims by or on behalf of government to release such information to the Bank at any time upon its written request for the 
purpose of assisting the Bank to evaluate the financial condition of the Borrower.  
   
Set Off  
The Bank is authorized, but not obligated, at any time, to apply any credit balance, whether or not then due, to which the Borrower is entitled on 
any account in any currency at any branch or office of the Bank  
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in or towards satisfaction of the obligations of the Borrower due to the Bank under this agreement.  The Bank is authorized to use any such credit 
balance to buy such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application.  
   
Non-Merger  
The provisions of this agreement shall not merge with any security provided to the Bank, but shall continue in full force for the benefit of the 
parties hereto.  
   
Amendments and Waivers  
No amendment or waiver of any provision of this agreement will be effective unless it is in writing signed by the Borrower and the Bank.  No 
failure or delay, on the part of the Bank, in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any security document shall operate as a waiver 
thereof.  
   
Severability  
If any provision of this agreement is or becomes prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such prohibition or unenforceability shall not 
invalidate or render unenforceable the provision concerned in any other jurisdiction nor invalidate, affect or impair any of the remaining 
provisions of this agreement.  
   
Life Insurance Options  
The Borrower acknowledges that Borrowings are not insured under the Bank’s Business Loan Insurance Program.  
   
Judgement Currency  
If for the purpose of obtaining judgement in any court in any jurisdiction with respect to this agreement, it is necessary to convert into the 
currency of such jurisdiction (the “Judgement Currency”) any amount due hereunder in any currency other than the Judgement Currency, then 
conversion shall be made at the rate of exchange prevailing on the Business Day before the day on which judgement is given.  For this purpose 
“rate of exchange” means the rate at which the Bank would, on the relevant date, be prepared to sell a similar amount of such currency in the 
Toronto foreign exchange market, against the Judgement Currency, in accordance with normal banking procedures.  
   
In the event that there is a change in the rate of exchange prevailing between the Business Day before the day on which judgement is given and 
the date of payment of the amount due, the Borrower will, on the date of payment, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary to ensure 
that the amount paid on such date is the amount in the Judgement Currency which, when converted at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date 
of payment, is the amount then due under this agreement in such other currency together with interest at RBP and expenses (including legal fees 
on a solicitor and client basis).  Any additional amount due from the Borrower under this section will be due as a separate debt and shall not be 
affected by judgement being obtained for any other sums due under or in respect of this agreement.  
   
Governing Law  
This agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia and of Canada applicable 
therein.  
   
Whole Agreement  
This agreement, the security and any other written agreement delivered pursuant to or referred to in this agreement constitute the whole and 
entire agreement between the parties in respect of the Credit Facilities.  There are no verbal agreements, undertakings or representations in 
connection with the Credit Facilities.  
   
Joint and Several  
Where more than one Person is liable as Borrower [or Guarantor] for any obligation under this agreement, then the liability of each such Person 
for such obligation is joint and several with each other such Person.  
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Counterparts and Facsimile Signatures  
This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and all such counterparts shall for all purposes constitute one and the same 
agreement binding on all the parties hereto notwithstanding that all parties are not signatories to the same counterpart, provided that each party 
has signed at least one counterpart.  This agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile transmission and the parties hereto may rely 
upon all such facsimile signatures as though such facsimile signatures were original signatures.  
   
Time  
Time shall be of the essence in all provisions of this agreement.  
   
Acceptance  
This offer is open for acceptance until March 19, 2004, after which date it will be null and void, unless extended in writing by the Bank.  
   
Please confirm your acceptance of this agreement by signing the attached copy of this letter in the space provided below and returning it to the 
undersigned.  
   

   
   
We acknowledge and accept the foregoing terms and conditions as of March 9, 2004.  
   
Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee  
   
   

   
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.  
   
We acknowledge and confirm our agreement with the foregoing terms and conditions, as Guarantor, as of March 9, 2004.  
   
Best Buy Co., Inc.  
   
   

   
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.  
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Yours truly,  
   
/s/ Keith Richmond  

   

By:  /s/ Kevin Layden  
   

Name:  
Title:  
   
By:  

      

Name:  
Title:  

By:  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  
   

Name: Ryan D. Robinson  
Title: V.P.  
   
By:  

      

Name:  
Title:  



   
We acknowledge and confirm our agreement with the foregoing terms and conditions, as Guarantor, as of March 9, 2004.  
   
Best Buy Stores, L.P.  
By its General Partner BBC Property Co.  
   

   
I/We have authority to bind partnership.  
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By:  /s/  Ryan D. Robinson  
   

Name:  Ryan D. Robinson  
Title:  V.P.  
   
By:  

      

Name:  
Title:  



   
Schedule “A” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

D EFINITIONS  
   
For the purpose of this agreement, the following terms and phrases shall have the following meanings:  
   
“Applicable Laws” means, with respect to any Person, property, transaction or event, all present or future Applicable Laws, statutes, 
regulations, rules, orders, codes, treaties, conventions, judgements, awards, determinations and decrees of any governmental, regulatory, fiscal or 
monetary body or court of competent jurisdiction in any applicable jurisdiction;  
   
“Bankers’ Acceptance” or “BA” mean a bill of exchange, including a depository bill issued in accordance with the Depository Bills and Notes 
Act (Canada), drawn on the Bank by, and payable to the order of, the Borrower which have been accepted by the Bank;  
   
“Branch of Account” means the branch of the Bank at which the Borrower’s accounts are maintained.  As at the date of this agreement, the 
“Branch of Account” is the Bank’s branch at 1025 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, B.C.;  
   
“Business Day” means a day, excluding Saturday, Sunday and any other day which shall be a legal holiday or a day on which banking 
institutions are closed in the province of the Branch of Account;  
   
“Contaminant” includes, without limitation, any pollutant, dangerous substance, liquid waste, industrial waste, hazardous material, hazardous 
substance or contaminant including any of the foregoing as defined in any Environmental Law;  
   
“Environmental Activity” means any activity, event or circumstance in respect of a Contaminant, including, without limitation, its storage, use, 
holding, collection, purchase, accumulation, assessment, generation, manufacture, construction, processing, treatment, stabilization, disposition, 
handling or transportation, or its Release into the natural environment, including movement through or in the air, soil, surface water or 
groundwater;  
   
“Environmental Laws” means all Applicable Laws relating to the environment or occupational health and safety, or any Environmental 
Activity;  
   
“Equivalent Amount” means, with respect to an amount of any currency, the amount of any other currency required to purchase that amount of 
the first mentioned currency through the Bank in Toronto, in accordance with normal banking procedures;  
   
“GAAP” means, generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time in Canada applied in a consistent manner from period to 
period;  
   
“Letter of Credit” or “LC” means a documentary credit issued by the Bank on behalf of the Borrower for the purpose of paying suppliers of 
goods;  
   
“Letter of Guarantee” or “LG” means a documentary credits issued by the Bank on behalf of the Borrower for the purpose of providing 
security to a third party that the Borrower or a person designated by the Borrower will perform a contractual obligation owed to such third party.  
   
“Person” includes an individual, a partnership, a joint venture, a trust, an unincorporated organization, a company, a corporation, an association, 
a government or any department or agency thereof, and any other incorporated or unincorporated entity;  
   
“Potential Prior-Ranking Claims” means all amounts owing or required to be paid, where the failure to  
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pay any such amount could give rise to a claim pursuant to any law, statute, regulation or otherwise, which ranks or is capable of ranking in 
priority to the Bank’s security or otherwise in priority to any claim by the Bank for repayment of any amounts owing under this agreement;  
   
“RBP” and “Royal Bank Prime” each means the annual rate of interest announced by the Bank from time to time as being a reference rate then 
in effect for determining interest rates on commercial loans made in Canadian currency in Canada;  
   
“RBUSBR” and “Royal Bank US Base Rate” each means the annual rate of interest announced by the Bank from time to time as a reference 
rate then in effect for determining interest rates on commercial loans made in US currency in Canada;  
   
“Royal Bank Prime Acceptance Fee” or “RBPAF” means the annual rate announced by the Bank from time to time as a reference rate then in 
effect for determining fees on BAs.  
   
“Release” includes discharge, spray, inject, inoculate, abandon, deposit, spill, leak, seep, pour, emit, empty, throw, dump, place and exhaust, and 
when used as a noun has a similar meaning;  
   
“US” means United States of America;  
   
“US Credit Agreement” defined as the amended and restated credit agreement dated as of March 21, 2002 by and between Best Buy Co., Inc., 
the lenders from time to time party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association, as agent for the lenders party thereto, as amended from time to 
time.  
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Schedule “B” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

N OTICE R EQUIREMENTS  
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Amount  
   

Prior Notice  
         
Under $10,000,000, Canadian or US currency  

   

By 10:00 a.m. on the day of Borrowing  
         
$10,000,000 up to but not including $25,000,000, Canadian or US 
currency  

   

By 10:00 a.m. 1 Business Day prior to the day of Borrowing  



   
Schedule “C” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

B ORROWING C ONDITIONS  
   
Borrowings made otherwise than by way of RBP Loans or RBUSBR Loans will be subject to the following terms and conditions:  
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BAs:  
   

   

         
(a)  

   

BAs shall be issued and mature on a Business Day and shall be issued in minimum face amounts of $500,000 or such 
larger amount as is a whole multiple of $100,000 for terms of not less than 30 and not more than 180 days;  

         
(b)  

   

the Bank may, in its sole discretion, refuse to accept the Borrower’s drafts or limit the amount of any BA issue at any time; 
         
(c)  

   

notwithstanding any other provision of this agreement, the Borrower shall indemnify the Bank against any loss, cost or 
expense incurred by the Bank if any BA is repaid, prepaid, converted or cancelled other than on the maturity date of such 
BA;  

         
(d)  

   

any BA issued under a term facility must have a maturity on or before the maturity date of the term facility, unless 
otherwise agreed by the Bank; and  

         
(e)  

   

prior to the issue of any BA the Borrower shall execute the Bank’s standard form of undertaking and agreement in respect 
of BAs.  If there is any inconsistency at any time between the terms of this agreement and the terms of the Bank’s standard 
form of undertaking and agreement, the terms of this agreement shall govern.  

         
LCs or LGs:  
         
(a)  

   

each LC and LG shall expire on a Business Day and shall have a term of not more than 365 days;  
         
(b)  

   

at least 2 Business Days prior to the issue of an LC or LG, the Borrower shall execute a duly authorized application with 
respect to such LC or LG and each LC and LG shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the relevant application 
for such contract;  

         
(c)  

   

an LC or LG may not be revoked prior to its expiry date unless the consent of the beneficiary of the LC or LG has been 
obtained; and  

         
(d)  

   

if there is any inconsistency at any time between the terms of this agreement and the terms of the application for LC or 
LG, the terms of the application for LC or LG shall govern.  



   
Schedule “D” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

FEF C ONTRACTS S CHEDULE  
   
FEF Contract Definitions  
   
“Foreign Exchange Forward Contract” or “FEF Contract” means a currency exchange transaction or agreement or any option with respect 
to any such transaction now existing or hereafter entered into between the Borrower and the Bank;  
   
Conditions Applicable to FEF Contracts  
   
At the Borrower’s request, the Bank may agree to enter into FEF Contracts with the Borrower from time to time.  The Borrower acknowledges 
that the Bank makes no formal commitment herein to enter into any FEF Contract and the Bank may, at any time and at all times, in its sole and 
absolute discretion, accept or reject any request by the Borrower to enter into a FEF Contract. If the Bank does enter into a FEF Contract with 
the Borrower, it will do so subject to the following:  
   

   
C-17  

 

(a)  
   

the Borrower shall promptly issue or countersign and return a confirmation or acknowledgement of the terms of each such 
FEF Contract as required by the Bank;  

         
(b)  

   

the Borrower shall, if required by the Bank,  promptly enter into a Foreign Exchange and Options Master Agreement or such 
other agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank to govern the FEF Contract(s);  

         
(c)  

   

in the event of demand for payment under the agreement of which this schedule forms a part, the Bank may terminate all or 
any FEF Contracts. If the agreement governing any FEF Contract does not contain provisions governing termination, any 
such termination shall be effected in accordance with customary market practice.  The Bank’s determination of amounts 
owing under any terminated FEF Contract shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.  The Bank shall apply any 
amount owing by the Bank to the Borrower on termination of any FEF Contract against the Borrower’s obligations to the 
Bank under the agreement and any amount owing to the Bank by the Borrower on such termination shall be added to the 
Borrower’s obligations to the Bank under the agreement and secured by the Bank’s security;  

         
(d)  

   

the Borrower shall pay all required fees in connection with any FEF Contracts and indemnify and hold the Bank harmless 
against any loss, cost or expense incurred by the Bank in relation to any FEF Contract;  

         
(e)  

   

any rights of the Bank herein in respect of any FEF Contract are in addition to and not in limitation of or substitution for any 
rights of the Bank under any agreement governing such FEF Contract.  In the event that there is any inconsistency at any 
time between the terms hereof and any agreement governing such FEF Contract, the terms of such agreement shall prevail.  



   
EXHIBIT D  

TO SECOND AMENDMENT 
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 

   
[Copy of Canadian Guaranties]  
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GUARANTY AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT  

(General Guaranty)  
   

To:                               ROYAL BANK OF CANADA:  
   
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, and in order to induce Royal Bank of Canada (the “Bank”) to grant, extend or continue credit or other financial 
accommodations to  
   
Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee (the “Customer”),  
   
the undersigned (the “Guarantor”) unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Bank and its successors and assigns, the complete and 
punctual payment when due (whether at the stated maturity or earlier by acceleration or otherwise) of all Liabilities (as defined in the next 
sentence) at any time owing by the Customer to the Bank.  “Liabilities” as used in this Guaranty means all indebtedness, obligations, liabilities 
and other amounts due, of whatever nature, of the Customer to the Bank arising under or in connection with the credit facilities described in and 
to be provided pursuant to the terms of the offer letter dated March 9, 2004 (as the same may be amended, extended, renewed, restated, 
superseded or replaced from time to time, the “Cdn Credit Agreement”) given by the Bank to the Customer, as such credit facilities may from 
time to time be amended, extended, renewed, restated, superseded or replaced with the acknowledgement, confirmation or consent of the 
Guarantor (collectively the “Credit Facilities”),whether now existing or hereafter incurred, whether matured or unmatured, whether absolute or 
contingent, whether characterized as principal, premium, interest, additional interest, fees, expenses or otherwise and whether the Customer is 
bound alone or with any others or as principal or as surety.  
   
PROVIDED, however, that, regardless of the amount of the Liabilities of the Customer to the Bank, the liability of the Guarantor hereunder is 
limited to the greater of (a) the maximum liability that the Guarantor can incur hereunder without rendering itself insolvent and (b) the amount in 
United States Dollars of the value received by the Guarantor as a result of the financial accommodations made available by the Bank to the 
Customer.  The terms “value” and “insolvent”, as used in this proviso shall have the same meanings as in 11 U.S.C. §§ 548(a)(2)(A) and (B), 
respectively.  If for any reason this Guaranty would be otherwise avoidable as a fraudulent transfer (whether under state law or the United States 
Bankruptcy Code), then the terms “value” and “insolvent” as used herein shall be defined and the limitation on the liability of the Guarantor 
shall be deemed to operate in such a manner as to prevent this Guaranty from being avoided as a fraudulent transfer while preserving the liability 
of the Guarantor to the fullest extent legally permissible.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the maximum liability of 
Guarantor under this Guaranty shall be limited to Cdn. $25,000,000 plus interest thereon from the date of demand for payment at a rate equal to 
“Royal Bank Prime” plus 5% per annum, both before and after default and judgment.   The term “Royal Bank Prime” means the annual rate of 
interest  announced by the Bank from time to time as being a reference rate then in effect for determining interest rates on commercial loans 
made in Canadian currency in Canada, and “Cdn. $” means dollars of lawful currency of Canada.  
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This Guaranty may be terminated only upon written notice to the Bank and only with respect to Liabilities thereafter incurred or arising.  Any 
such termination shall not affect the liability of the Guarantor under this Guaranty with respect to Liabilities created or incurred prior to the 
effective date of such termination.  Without limiting the foregoing, any such termination shall not relate to any approval given, commitment 
made or liability incurred by the Bank to or for the benefit of the Customer prior to the effective date of such termination even though not then 
matured, and upon any such termination, the Guarantor shall nevertheless remain liable with respect to all Liabilities, and the performance of all 
duties, created or arising theretofore or based on a commitment theretofore entered into or any approval, commitment or liability theretofore 
given, made or incurred to or for the benefit of the Customer to the full extent of the Guarantor’s liability therefor as provided herein.  
   
THE GUARANTOR FURTHER AGREES WITH THE BANK AS FOLLOWS:  
   
1.                                        Certain Rights of Bank .  At any time and from time to time (and whether once or more than once), without the necessity of any 
reservation of rights against the Guarantor and without notice to, demand on or further assent by the Guarantor or any other person:  
   

   
All of these actions may be taken without in any way limiting, diminishing or affecting the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty and without 
imposing any obligation of trust on the Bank, and no loss of or in respect of any collateral security, whether caused by the fault of the  
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(a)  

   

any collateral security (which term as used in this Guaranty includes other guaranties) held by or available to the Bank in 
respect of the Liabilities or in respect of any guaranty of the Liabilities may be sold, exchanged, waived, subordinated, 
surrendered or released, in whole or in part and in any order;  

         
(b)  

   

any of the Liabilities or the obligations of any other guarantor of the Liabilities may be changed, renewed, extended, 
continued, accelerated, surrendered, compromised, subordinated, waived or released, in whole or in part, or any default with 
respect thereto waived or any demand for payment with respect thereto rescinded;  

         
(c)  

   

the Bank may set off, refrain from setting off or release, in whole or in part, any balance of any and all deposits (general or 
special) or credits on its books in favour of the Customer or of any such guarantor, may take or refrain from taking or 
perfecting any security interest in any collateral security and may exercise or refrain from exercising any right against the 
Customer or any other person;  

         
(d)  

   

the Bank may extend or refrain from extending further credit or financial accommodations in any manner whatsoever to, may 
accept compositions from and may otherwise generally deal with the Customer and any other person and with any collateral 
security as the Bank may see fit; and  

         
(e)  

   

the Bank may apply all moneys at any time received from the Customer or any other person or from any collateral security in 
such manner, in such amounts and against such part of the Liabilities as the Bank considers best and change any such 
application in whole or in part as the Bank may see fit.  



   
Bank or otherwise, shall in any way limit, diminish or affect the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty.  
   
2.                                        Liability of Guarantor Unconditional .  This Guaranty is a guaranty of payment and not merely of collection.  The Guarantor’s liability 
under this Guaranty is absolute and unconditional and shall not be limited, diminished or affected by the happening from time to time of any 
event, including (but not limited to) any event described in paragraph 1 of this Guaranty and any of the following events, whether or not any 
such event occurs with notice to or with the consent of the Guarantor or once or more than once:  
   

   
3.                                        Waiver of Notice .  The Guarantor waives all notices of the creation, renewal, extension or accrual of any of the Liabilities and notice 
or proof of reliance by the Bank on this Guaranty or  
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(a)  
   

the waiver, surrender, compromise, settlement, discharge, release or termination of any or all of the Liabilities;  
         
(b)  

   

the failure to give any notice to the Customer;  
         
(c)  

   

the extension of the time for payment or performance of any of the Liabilities;  
         
(d)  

   

the change (whether or not material) of the terms of any document relating to the Liabilities (a “Document” );  
         
(e)  

   

the taking of or failure to take any action referred to in any Document;  
         
(f)  

   

the illegality, invalidity, unenforceability (including, but not limited to, by reason of any statute of limitations or automatic 
stay) or irregularity of any of the Liabilities or any Document;  

         
(g)  

   

any failure, omission, delay or lack of diligence on the part of the Bank in the enforcement, assertion or exercise of any right, 
power or remedy conferred on the Bank under any Document, or the inability of the Bank to enforce any provision of any 
Document for any reason, or any other act or omission on the part of the Bank, including (but not limited to) failure by the 
Bank to perfect or protect any lien or security interest granted to the Bank, to commence and prosecute any action to collect 
the Liabilities or to enforce or collect any judgment obtained by the Bank;  

         
(h)  

   

the dissolution or liquidation of the Customer, the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
Customer, the marshalling of assets and liabilities of the Customer or the existence of receivership, insolvency, assignment 
for the benefit of creditors, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, composition or other similar proceedings 
affecting the Customer; and  

         
(i)  

   

any other event, action or circumstance that would, in the absence of this subparagraph (i), result in the release or discharge 
of the Guarantor from the performance or observance of any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Guaranty.  



   
acceptance of this Guaranty.  The Liabilities shall conclusively be considered to have been created, contracted or incurred in reliance on this 
Guaranty, and all dealings between the Customer and the Bank shall likewise be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in 
reliance on this Guaranty.  The Guarantor also waives (to the extent permitted by applicable law) all requirements of notice, presentment, protest 
or demand on it, the Customer or any other person, all other notices and demands whatsoever relating to the Liabilities and any requirement that 
the Bank file a claim with a court in any bankruptcy or similar proceedings of the Customer or first proceed against the Customer or any other 
person or first realize on any collateral security held by it or otherwise exhaust any right, power or remedy under any Document or against the 
Customer or any other person before proceeding against the Guarantor under this Guaranty.  The Bank shall have no responsibility to notify the 
Guarantor of the Customer’s financial condition or the Customer’s incurrence or performance of the Liabilities.  
   
4.                                        Continuing Guaranty .  This Guaranty is a continuing guaranty, shall not be discharged until performance and payment in full of all of 
the Liabilities, payment of all amounts payable by the Guarantor under this Guaranty and cancellation of this Guaranty provided by the Bank to 
the Customer and shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any interruption in the business relations between the Customer and the 
Bank or any increase or decrease (including a decrease to zero) from time to time in the amount of the Liabilities.  If demand for, or acceleration 
of the time for, payment by the Customer to the Bank of any of the Liabilities is stayed upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or 
proposed compromise or arrangement with creditors of the Customer, all Liabilities of which payment or performance is stayed that would 
otherwise be subject to demand for payment or acceleration shall nonetheless be payable by the Guarantor immediately on demand by the Bank.  
   
5.                                        Reinstatement .  This Guaranty shall continue to be effective, or shall be reinstated, if at any time payment, or any part thereof, of any 
of the Liabilities is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by the Bank for any reason whatsoever (including, but not limited to, the bankruptcy, 
insolvency, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of the Customer or any other person), all as though such payment had not been received by 
the Bank.  
   
6.                                        Subordination .  All indebtedness, obligations, liabilities and other amounts due, of whatever nature, of the Customer to the Guarantor 
(the “Subordinated Debt”), whether now existing or hereafter incurred, whether created directly or acquired by the Guarantor by assignment or 
otherwise, whether matured or unmatured, whether absolute or contingent, whether characterized as principal, premium, interest, additional 
interest, fees, expenses or otherwise and whether the Customer is bound alone or with any others or as principal or as surety, shall be subject and 
subordinate to the Liabilities, and no payment shall be made or received on account of the Subordinated Debt until all of the Liabilities have 
been paid and satisfied.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, indebtedness, obligations, liabilities and other amounts due from the Customer to the 
Guarantor with respect to royalty and licensing fees, expense reimbursements, capital purchases and inventory purchases (collectively, “Trade 
Debt”) shall not be considered Subordinated Debt.  All moneys received by the Guarantor in respect of the Subordinated Debt contrary to the 
foregoing shall be received in trust for the Bank and paid over to the Bank.  This subordination is independent of the guaranty provided in this 
Guaranty and shall remain in full force and effect for so long as the Guarantor has any liability under this  
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Guaranty.  Assets of the Customer held by the Guarantor, whether in the form of deposits, collateral security or otherwise, except for assets held 
for the purpose of paying Trade Debt then owing, shall not at any time be set off against the Subordinated Debt but shall be held in trust for the 
Bank.  The Guarantor hereby undertakes to execute such additional documents and to do such additional acts as may be necessary or desirable 
(in the reasonable opinion of the Bank) in order to carry out, complete or perfect this subordination.  
   
7.                                        Limits on Subrogation .  No payment by the Guarantor pursuant to any provision of this Guaranty or other satisfaction of the 
Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall entitle the Guarantor, by subrogation or otherwise, to any right or remedy against the Customer 
until after the indefeasible payment in full of the Liabilities.  
   
8.                                        Costs, Expenses, Etc .  The Guarantor agrees to pay on demand all losses, costs, expenses (including, but not limited to, the actual 
amount of attorneys’ fees) and damages incurred by the Bank in connection with the preparation of this Guaranty or any amendment, waiver or 
consent with respect to this Guaranty, in connection with any rescission or return referred to in paragraph 5 of this Guaranty, in enforcing or 
attempting to enforce this Guaranty or any other guaranty of the Liabilities or in protecting the Bank’s rights under this Guaranty or any other 
guaranty of the Liabilities following any default by the Guarantor under this Guaranty, whether the Bank’s rights are enforced by suit or 
otherwise.  
   
9.                                        Obligations Additional .  This Guaranty and the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty are in addition to and not in substitution for:  
   

   
whether the Guarantor or such other obligor is bound with or apart from the Customer.  
   
10.                                  Payments .  All payments under this Guaranty shall be made to the Bank at such branch, agency or affiliate of the Bank as the Bank 
may require, in immediately available funds and without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind, and shall be made in the lawful currency 
in which the Liabilities are payable (“Primary Currency”).  Without in any manner limiting the Guarantor’s obligations contained in the 
preceding sentence, if any sum is paid to and received by the Bank under this Guaranty in a currency other than the Primary Currency (such 
other currency is called the “Alternative Currency”), whether by judgment (and notwithstanding the rate of exchange actually applied in such 
judgment) or otherwise, the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall nevertheless be discharged only to the extent of the net amount of 
Primary Currency that the Bank is able in accordance with its normal banking procedures to purchase with such amount of Alternative 
Currency.  If the Bank is not able to purchase with such amount of Alternative Currency sufficient Primary Currency to discharge the 
Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty in full, the Guarantor’s obligations to the Bank with respect to such difference shall be due as a separate 
debt and shall not be affected by payment of or judgment being obtained for any other sums due under this Guaranty.  
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(a)  
   

any other collateral security, by whomsoever given, at any time held by the Bank and  
         
(b)  

   

any present or future obligation of the Guarantor or any other obligor to the Bank incurred otherwise than under this 
Guaranty,  



   
11.                                  Successors and Assigns .  This Guaranty shall inure to the benefit of the Bank and its successors, transferees and assigns and shall bind 
the Guarantor and the Guarantor’s heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns; provided, however, that the 
Guarantor may not assign its rights or obligations under this Guaranty without the Bank’s prior written consent.  If the Guarantor is a 
partnership, the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any change in the parties 
comprising the partnership and the term “Guarantor” shall include any altered or successive partnerships, but the predecessor partnerships and 
their partners shall continue to be bound under this Guaranty.  
   
12.                                  Joint and Several Obligations .  If this Guaranty is executed by more than one party, each party’s liability under this Guaranty shall be 
joint and several; provided, however, that this Guaranty shall be construed for all purposes as if a separate, identical agreement (including the 
amount of any limitation on the Guarantor’s liability) had been executed by each party.  The Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall not 
in any way be changed, reduced or terminated as a result of:  
   

(a)                                   any change or reduction in or termination of the obligations of any other guarantor of the Liabilities,  
   
(b)                                  the death or loss or diminution of capacity of any other guarantor of the Liabilities or  
   
(c)                                   the failure of any other person to execute this or any other guaranty of the Liabilities.  
   

13.                                  Waivers and Amendments, Cumulative Remedies .  The Bank shall not be obligated to exercise any right, power or privilege under this 
Guaranty, and no failure to exercise and no delay in exercising, on the part of the Bank, any such right, power or privilege under this Guaranty 
shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of 
any other right, power or privilege.  No notice to or demand on the Guarantor shall be deemed to be a waiver of the Bank’s right to take further 
action without notice or demand as provided herein.  No waiver shall be applicable except in the specific instance for which given or shall in any 
way impair the Bank’s rights or the Guarantor’s liability in any other respect or at any other time, nor in any event shall any modification or 
waiver of any provision of this Guaranty be effective unless in writing and signed on behalf of the Bank.  The rights and remedies provided in 
this Guaranty are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other right or remedy provided by law, in equity or under any other agreement or 
instrument.  
   
14.                                  Representations and Warranties .  The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Bank that:  
   

(a)                                    it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization;  
   
(b)                                  the Guarantor has full capacity and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Guaranty, and the execution, delivery and 

performance of this Guaranty will not:  
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(i)                                      violate any law or regulation,  
   
(ii)                                   violate any provision of the Guarantor’s organizational documents,  
   
(iii)                                violate or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any indenture, agreement, license or 

other instrument to which the Guarantor is a party or by which the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s properties may 
be bound,  

   
(iv)                               violate any order of any court, tribunal or governmental agency binding on the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s 

properties or  
   
(v)                                  result in the creation or imposition of any lien of any nature whatsoever on any of the Guarantor’s properties or 

assets;  
   

(c)                                   no approval or consent of, or filing or registration with, any federal, state or local regulatory authority is required in 
connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Guaranty; and  

   
(d)                                  this Guaranty constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Guarantor, enforceable against the Guarantor in 

accordance with its terms.  
   

These representations and warranties shall survive the execution of this Guaranty.  
   
15.                                  Financial Information .  The Guarantor agrees to furnish promptly to the Bank copies of the Guarantor’s annual and quarterly financial 
statements and such other information relating to the Guarantor’s business and financial condition as the Bank may from time to time reasonably 
request.  
   
16.                                  Stamp Taxes, Etc . The Guarantor agrees to indemnify the Bank against any claim or liability for any stamp, excise or other similar 
taxes and any penalties or interest with respect thereto that may be imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by any jurisdiction in 
connection with the execution and delivery of this Guaranty, any document related to this Guaranty or any modification of this Guaranty or any 
such document.  This covenant shall survive the termination of this Guaranty.  
   
17.                                  Withholding Tax .  Any and all payments by the Guarantor hereunder shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any 
and all present and or future taxes.  If the Guarantor is required by law to deduct any taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder to 
the Bank, (a) the sum payable shall be increased by the amount necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions 
applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 16) the Bank will receive an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no 
such deductions been made; (b) the Guarantor shall make such deductions; and (c) the Guarantor shall pay the full amount deducted to the 
relevant taxing authority or other governmental authority in accordance with applicable law and promptly forward to the Bank an official receipt 
or other documentation acceptable to the Bank evidencing such payment.  

   
D-8  

 



   
18.                                  Governing Law, Submission to Jurisdiction .  This Guaranty and the rights and obligations of the Bank and of the Guarantor under this 
Guaranty shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Minnesota.  For purposes of any suit, action or 
proceeding involving this Guaranty or any judgment entered by any court in respect of such suit, action or proceeding, the Guarantor expressly 
submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any Minnesota court of competent jurisdiction sitting in Minneapolis or St. Paul, Minnesota, and 
agrees that any order, process or other paper may be served upon the Guarantor within or without such court’s jurisdiction by mailing a copy to 
the Guarantor at the Guarantor’s address for notices provided in this Guaranty, provided that a reasonable time for appearance is allowed.  The 
Guarantor irrevocably waives any objection the Guarantor may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Guaranty brought in any such court and further irrevocably waives any claim that any such suit, action or 
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.  Nothing contained in this Guaranty shall affect the Bank’s 
right to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by law or to bring any action or proceeding against the Guarantor or the Guarantor’s 
property in the courts of other jurisdictions.  
   
19.                                  Severability .  Any provision of this Guaranty that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be 
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Guaranty, and any such 
prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision or render it unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.  
   
20.                                  Notices .  Notices and other communications with respect to this Guaranty shall be in writing (including telecommunications) and 
made or delivered to the party to which such notice or other communication is required or permitted to be given or made at the address(es) 
shown on the signature page of this Guaranty or at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other party 
given in accordance with this paragraph and shall be considered delivered on receipt if telecommunicated or delivered by messenger or courier 
service or five days after mailing, postage prepaid.  All mailed notices shall be by certified or registered mail.  
   
21.                                  Headings .  The headings used in this Guaranty are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Guaranty.  
   
22.                                  Waiver of Jury Trial .  EACH PARTY TO THIS GUARANTY, AND BY ITS ACCEPTANCE OF THIS GUARANTY THE 
BANK, KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIV ES ANY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY DISPUTE  
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RELATING TO THIS GUARANTY AND AGREES THAT ANY SUCH DISPUTE SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A JUDGE SITTING 
WITHOUT A JURY  
   
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has executed this Guaranty, or has caused this Guaranty to be executed by its duly authorized officer 
or partner, as of the 9th day of March, 2004.  
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Address for Notices:  
   

BEST BUY STORES, L.P.  
   

   

By: BBC PROPERTY CO.  
   

   

Its General Partner  
         
7601 Penn Avenue South  

   

By:  /s/  Ryan D. Robinson  
   

Richfield, Minnesota 55423  
   

Name: Ryan D. Robinson  
Attention:  General Counsel  

   

Title: V.P.  
Telephone:612-291-7445  

   

   

Telefax:  612-292-2323  
   

   

         
         
Bank’s Address for Notices:  

   

   

         
Royal Bank of Canada  

   

   

Commercial Markets, Greater Vancouver  
   

   

36 th Floor, 1055 West Georgia Street  
   

   

Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 3S5  
   

   

Telephone:  604-665-8409  
   

   

Telefax:  604-665-6368  
   

   



 
   

Exhibit 4.2 
   
February 26, 2004  
   
   
Best Buy Canada Ltd.  
8800 Glenlyon Parkway  
Burnaby, British Columbia  
V5J 5K3  
   

   
Dear Sirs:  
   
We refer to the offer letters (the “Existing Offer Letters” ) from HSBC Bank Canada (the “Bank” ) to Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best 
Buy Ltée (the “Borrower” ) dated September 13, 2002, September 16, 2003 and January 20, 2004.  On the basis of information provided by you 
in connection with your request for the Bank’s consent to the proposed internal reorganization of the Borrower scheduled to occur on or before 
February 29, 2004, pursuant to which:  
   
(i)                                    the Borrower and its sole parent corporation, Future Shop Acquisition, Inc. ( “Acquisitionco” ) shall amalgamate under the name Best 

Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltée ( “BYCA-Amalco” ) (the “Amalgamation” ); and  
   
(ii)                                 the indebtedness in the aggregate principal amount of $610,000,000, together with interest accrued thereon, owed by the Borrower to 

Acquisitionco (the “Subordinated Debt” ) shall either be extinguished as a result of the Amalgamation by operation of law or repaid, 
wholly or in part, prior to the Amalgamation,  

   
we are pleased to advise that the Bank consents to the transactions contemplated by such internal reorganization as set out above (the 
“Consent” ) and has authorized the continued availability of the credit facilities set out in the Existing Offer Letters (the “Loans” ), subject to 
the following amendments:  
   
1.                          Borrower :  
   

1.1.                            The Borrower agrees that BBYCA-Amalco shall execute and accept this third supplemental offer letter.  
   
Upon Amalgamation:  
   
1.2.                            BBYCA-Amalco shall be bound by all the indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations of the Borrower to the Bank prior to the 

Amalgamation arising from and in connection with the Existing Offer Letters, this third supplemental offer letter, the Loan 
Documents to which the Borrower is a party, and the Loans; and  

   
   
   
HSBC Bank Canada  
Vancouver Main Branch  
Suite 200 — 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3G1  
Tel: (604) 685-1000                    Fax: (604) 641-1808  
Telex: 04-507750  

   
   

 

Attention :  
   

Mr. Kevin Layden  
   

   

President and Chief Operating Officer  
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1.3.                            Any reference to the “Borrower” in the Existing Offer Letters shall be deemed to be amended and substituted by BBYCA-

Amalco.  
   
2.                          Credit Facilities :  

   
2.1.                            Subject to section 2.2 below, on March 1, 2004 all Indebtedness owed by the Borrower to the Bank in connection with the 

Loans shall be repaid in full and the Loans cancelled immediately thereafter.  
   
2.2.                            All letters of credit and bank guarantees issued and outstanding at the date of this third supplemental offer letter under the 

Documentary Credit Sub-Facility (the “Existing Documentary Credits” ) shall become the obligations of BBYCA-Amalco 
upon Amalgamation and shall survive the cancellation of the Loans; for great clarification, the Documentary Credit Sub-
Facility shall be amended in that no further letters of credit or bank guarantees shall be issued by the Bank after the date of this 
third supplemental offer letter.  For greater certainty, the face amount of the outstanding letters of credit and bank guarantees 
amount to approximately CDN$2,440,824 (this figure includes conversion to Canadian Dollars of outstanding US Dollar letters 
of credit).  

   
3.                                     Conditions Precedent :  
   

It shall be a condition precedent to the Consent and the continued availability of the Loans that the Bank shall have received this third 
supplemental offer letter signed by all the parties hereto other than BBYCA-Amalco (who shall sign the letter promptly after the 
Amalgamation occurs).  
   

4.                                     Repayment of Subordinated Debt :  
   

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Existing Offer Letters or the Loan Documents, the Subordinated Debt may be 
repaid to Acquisitionco provided the Subordinated Debt is not repaid from any proceeds of the Loans or extinguished by operation of 
the Amalgamation.  
   

5.                                     Counterparts :  
   

This third supplemental offer letter may be executed in one or more counterparts, by telecopier or otherwise, all of which taken together 
shall constitute one and the same original second supplemental offer letter.  
   

6.                                     Guarantors :  
   

By executing this third supplemental offer letter, each of the Guarantors hereby acknowledges and affirms to the Bank:  
   
6.1.                               its continuing obligations under the Loan Documents to which it’s a party and, in particular, but without limitation of the 

foregoing, that the Loan Documents  
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previously executed by it shall be and remain valid and continuing Loan Documents enforceable in accordance with their terms 
notwithstanding the Amalgamation or the repayment of the Subordinated Debt:  
   

6.2.                               that, without limitation of the foregoing or any term or provision of the guarantee provided it, such guarantee is and shall 
continue to be a good, valid and continuing guarantee of and security for, as the case may be, all of the present and future 
indebtedness, liabilities, obligations of BBYCA-Amalco, being the Borrower for the purposes of the Existing Offer Letters on 
and after the Amalgamation.  

   
Unless otherwise defined herein, all the words capitalized in this third supplemental offer letter shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in 
the Existing Offer Letters.  
   
The Existing Offer Letters shall henceforth be read and construed in conjunction with this third supplemental offer letter and shall be deemed to 
be amended and supplemented hereby, but only to such extent as may be necessary to give full force and effect to the provisions hereof.  Nothing 
contained in this third supplemental offer letter shall in any way prejudice or derogate from any provision contained in the Existing Offer Letters, 
except to the extent that any provision of this second supplemental offer letter may be inconsistent or conflict with any provision of the Existing 
Offer Letters, in which case the provisions hereof shall prevail, but save as aforesaid the Existing Offer Letters and all the terms, covenants and 
conditions thereof, shall be and continue to be in full force and effect as extended, supplemented and amended hereby.  
   
Without limiting any of the foregoing, the Borrower and the Guarantors acknowledge and agree that there shall not, by virtue of any 
amendments to the Existing Offer Letters or the Loans effected hereby, be deemed to have been any refinancing, repayment, extinguishment or 
novation of any indebtedness, obligation or liability of the Borrower and Guarantors, or any of them, existing at the date of the issuance of this 
third supplemental offer letter.  
   

   

 



   
Page 4  
   
   
Kindly acknowledge and confirm your agreement to and acceptance of the foregoing terms and conditions by returning the enclosed duplicate 
copy of this letter executed by the Borrower and Guarantors by not later than February 29, 2004.  
   
Yours truly,  
   
HSBC BANK CANADA  
   
   
   

   
• • • • • • • •  
   
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED THIS 26 TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2004.  
   
   
THE BORROWER :  
   
BEST BUY CANADA LTD. MAGASINS BEST BUY LTÉE.  
   
   
   
   
Per:         /s/ Kevin Layden  
   
   
   
   
Per:         ____________________________  
   
   
THE GUARANTORS :  
   

   
   

 

By:  
   

/s/ Bruce Clarke  
   

By:  /s/ John Davis  
               
   

   

Bruce Clarke  
   

John Davis  
   

   

Vice President  
   

Assistant Vice President  
   

   

Commercial Financial Services  
   

Commercial Financial Services  

BEST BUY CO., INC.  
   

BEST BUY STORES, L.P. by its general partner  
                  
   

      

BBC PROPERTY CO.  
                  
Per:  /s/ Joseph M. Joyce  

   

Per:  
   

/s/ Joseph M. Joyce  
                  
Per:  /s/ David P. Berg  

   

Per:  
   

/s/ David P. Berg  
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ACQUISITIONCO :  
   
FUTURE SHOP ACQUISITION, INC.  
   
   
   
   
Per:         /s/ Kevin Layden  
   
   
   
   
Per:         ____________________________  
   
   
BBYCA-AMALCO :  
   
BESTBUY CANADA LTD./MAGASINS BEST BUY LTÉE.  
   
   
   
   
Per:         /s/ Kevin Layden  
   
   
   
   
Per:         ____________________________  
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K. (Keith) Richmond  
Senior Account Manager  
Tel: (604) 665-8409  
Fax: (604) 665-6368  
Email: keith.richmond@rbc.com  
   
March 9, 2004  
   
Private and Confidential  
   
Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee  
8800 Glenlyon Parkway  
Burnaby, British Columbia V5J 5K3  
   
   
Attention: Lana Bevilacqua  
   
Dear Sirs:  
   
We are pleased to offer the credit facilities described below (the “Credit Facilities ”), subject to the following terms and conditions. This 
agreement supersedes and cancels any and all previous agreements with the Borrower or its predecessors (the “Cancelled Credit Facility”). In 
addition, any amount owing by the Borrower to the Bank under the Cancelled Credit Facility is deemed to be a Borrowing hereunder.  
   
DEFINITIONS AND SCHEDULES  
The attached schedules are incorporated into this agreement by reference. Schedule “A” contains definitions of capitalized terms used and not 
otherwise defined in this agreement. Unless otherwise provided, all dollar amounts are in Canadian currency and accounting terms are to be 
interpreted in accordance with GAAP.   
   

   
CREDIT FACILITIES  
Facility  (1):                               $20,000,000 revolving demand facility, by way of:  
   

(a)                                   RBP based loans ( “RBP Loans” );  
   

(b)                                  RBUSBR based loans in US currency ( “RBUSBR Loans” );  
   

(c)                                   Bankers’ Acceptances ( “BAs” );  
   

(d)                                  Letters of Credit in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “LCs” );  
   

(e)                                   Letters of Guarantee in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “LGs” ).  
   

 

BORROWER  
   

   

Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee  
   

(the “ Borrower”  )  
         
LENDER  

   

   

Royal Bank of Canada  
   

(the “ Bank”  )  



   
Facility  (2):                             $5,000,000 revolving demand facility available only from August 1 st to and including January 31 st annually , by way of:  
   

(a)                               RBP based loans ( “RBP Loans” );  
   

(b)                              RBUSBR based loans in US currency ( “RBUSBR Loans” );  
   

(c)                               Bankers’ Acceptances ( “BAs” );  
   

(d)                              Letters of Credit in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “LCs” );  
   

(e)                               Letters of Guarantee in Canadian currency, US currency or other approved currency ( “LGs” ).  
   

Each use of the Credit Facilities is a “Borrowing” and all such usages outstanding at any time are “Borrowings ”. Schedule “B” contains notice 
provisions applicable to Borrowings that must be complied with. Schedule “C” contains terms and conditions applicable to Borrowings made 
otherwise than by way of RBP Loans or RBUSBR Loans which must be complied with.  
   
FEF CONTRACTS  
At the Borrower’s request the Bank may enter into Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts (“FEF Contracts ”) with the Borrower from time to 
time. The Bank makes no commitment to enter into any FEF Contract and may at any time in its sole discretion decline to enter into any FEF 
Contract. FEF Contracts will be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in the FEF Contracts Schedule attached hereto.  
   
TERMS OF OTHER FACILITIES  
The Credit Facilities are in addition to the following:  
   

(a)                               an assigned lease obligation from GATX  
   
In the event of conflict between this agreement and any separate agreement delivered in connection with any such other facilities, the terms of 
such separate agreement shall govern.  
   
PURPOSE  
   
Facilities (1) & (2)  
Finance general operating requirements.  
   
AVAILABILITY  
Facilities (1) & (2)  
The Borrower may borrow, convert, repay and reborrow up to the amount of these revolving facilities, provided:  
   

(a)                               these facilities are made available at the sole discretion of the Bank and the Bank may cancel or restrict availability of any 
unutilized portion of these facilities at any time and from time to time without notice or demand.  

   
REPAYMENT  
   
Facilities (1) & (2)  
Borrowings under these facilities are expected to revolve with operating requirements.  
   
Notwithstanding compliance with the covenants and all other terms and conditions of this agreement, and regardless of the maturities of any 
outstanding instruments or contracts, Borrowings under these facilities are repayable on demand and the Bank may terminate these facilities at 
any time, without notice or demand.  
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Upon demand the Borrower shall pay to the Bank all Borrowings outstanding under these facilities including, without limitation, an amount 
equal to the aggregate of the face amounts of all BAs, LCs and LGs which are unmatured or unexpired, which amount shall be held by the Bank 
as security for the Borrower’s obligations to the Bank in respect of such instruments or contracts. The Bank may enforce its rights to realize upon 
its security and retain an amount sufficient to secure the Bank for the Borrower’s obligations to the Bank in respect of such instruments or 
contracts.  
   
INTEREST RATES AND FEES  
   
Facilities (1) & (2)  

   
The Bank agrees to reimburse the Borrower for up to the first $10,000 (Canadian) in legal fees associated with the establishment of these 
Facilities.  
   
CALCULATION AND PAYMENT OF INTEREST AND FEES  
   
RBP Loans and RBUSBR Loans  
The Borrower shall pay interest on each RBP Loan and RBUSBR Loan, monthly in arrears, on the 21 st day of each month. Such interest will be 
calculated monthly and will accrue daily on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 365 days. Interest on RBUSBR Loans 
shall be paid in US currency.  
   
LC Fees  
The Borrower shall pay an LC fee on the date of any payment made by the Bank pursuant to a drawing under any LC calculated on the amount 
drawn, based upon the number of days the LC was outstanding and a year of 365 days. If the total amount available under any LC has not been 
drawn prior to the expiry of such LC, the Borrower shall pay an LC fee calculated on the undrawn portion of such LC on the expiry date thereof, 
based upon the number of days the LC was outstanding and a year of 365 days.  
   
LG Fees  
The Borrower shall pay an LG fee on the date of issuance of any LG calculated on the face amount of the LG issued and based on the number of 
days in the term thereof and a year of 365 days.  
   
BAs  
The Borrower shall pay an acceptance fee in advance on the date of issue of each BA at the applicable rate provided for in this agreement. 
Acceptance fees shall be calculated on the face amount of the BA issued and based upon the number of days in the term thereof and a year of 
365 days.  
   
Limit on Interest  
The Borrower shall not be obligated to pay any interest, fees or costs under or in connection with this agreement in excess of what is permitted 
by law.  
   
Overdue Payments  
Any amount that is not paid when due hereunder shall, unless interest is otherwise payable in respect thereof in accordance with the terms of this 
agreement or the instrument or contract governing same, bear interest until paid at the rate of RBP plus 5% per annum or, in the case of an 
amount in US currency, RBUSBR plus 5% per annum.  
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RBP Loans:  
   

RBP plus 0% per annum.  
RBUSBR Loans:  

   

RBUSBR plus 0% per annum.  
BAs:  

   

acceptance fee 1.00% per annum.  
LCs:  

   

fee to be quoted by the Bank at the time of issue of each LC.  
LGs:  

   

fee to be quoted by the Bank at the time of issue of each LG, subject to a minimum fee of $100 in the currency of 
issue (where in Canadian currency or US currency) and $100 in Canadian currency where issued in any other 
approved currency.  



   
Equivalent Yearly Rates  
The annual rates of interest or fees to which the rates calculated in accordance with this agreement are equivalent, are the rates so calculated 
multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year in which such calculation is made and divided by 365.  
   
Time and Place of Payment  
Amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder shall be paid at the Branch of Account in the applicable currency. Amounts due on a day other than 
a Business Day shall be deemed to be due on the Business Day next following such day. Interest and fees payable under this agreement are 
payable both before and after any or all of default, maturity date, demand and judgement.  
   
EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS  
If, for any reason, the amount of Borrowings outstanding under any facility, when converted to the Equivalent Amount in Canadian currency, 
exceeds the amount available under such facility, the Borrower shall immediately repay such excess or shall secure such excess to the 
satisfaction of the Bank.  
   
INCREASED COSTS  
The Borrower shall reimburse the Bank for any additional cost or reduction in income arising as a result of (i) the imposition of, or increase in, 
taxes on payments due to the Bank hereunder (other than taxes on the overall net income of the Bank), (ii) the imposition of, or increase in, any 
reserve or other similar requirement, (iii) the imposition of, or change in, any other condition affecting the Credit Facilities imposed by any 
applicable law or the interpretation thereof.  
   
EVIDENCE OF INDEBTEDNESS  
The Bank shall open and maintain at the Branch of Account accounts and records evidencing the Borrowings made available to the Borrower by 
the Bank under this agreement. The Bank shall record the principal amount of each Borrowing, the payment of principal and interest and all 
other amounts becoming due to the Bank under this agreement.  
   
The Bank’s accounts and records constitute, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the indebtedness of the Borrower to the 
Bank pursuant to this agreement.  
   
The Borrower authorizes and directs the Bank to automatically debit, by mechanical, electronic or manual means, any bank account of the 
Borrower for all amounts payable by the Borrower to the Bank pursuant to this agreement.  
   
GENERAL ACCOUNT  
The Borrower shall establish a current account with the Bank (the “General Account”) for the conduct of the Borrower’s day-to-day banking 
business. If the balance in the General Account:  
   

(a)                                   is a credit, the Bank may apply, at any time in its discretion, the amount of such credit or part thereof, rounded to the nearest 
$10,000 in Canadian currency or US currency, as applicable, as a repayment of Borrowings outstanding by way of RBP Loans 
or RBUSBR Loans, as applicable, under Facilities (1) & (2), or  

   
(b)                                  is a debit, the Bank may, subject to availability, make available a Borrowing by way of an RBP Loan or RBUSBR Loans, as 

applicable, under Facilities (1) & (2) in an amount, rounded to the nearest $10,000 in Canadian currency or US currency, as 
applicable, as is required to place the General Account at not less than a zero balance.  

   
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT  
The availability of any Borrowing is conditional upon:  
   

(a)                                   the receipt of a duly executed copy of this agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and reviewed by its 
solicitors, Bull Housser and Tupper;  

   
(b)                                  the receipt of the security provided for herein, in form and substance satisfactory to the  
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Bank, registered as required to perfect and maintain the security created thereby and such certificates, authorizations, 
resolutions and legal opinions as the Bank may reasonably require;  

   
(c)                                   the receipt and review, to the satisfaction of the Bank, of the US Credit Agreement;  

   
(d)                                  there being no material adverse change in financial condition;  

   
(e)                                   the representations and warranties being true and correct;  

   
(f)                                     the satisfactory execution, registration and receipt of documentation, including all legal opinions, copies of all necessary 

corporate authorizations, documents etc. as required;  
   

(g)                                  no event of default by the Borrower or Guarantors under any credit agreement will have occurred or be continuing at the time 
of, or after giving effect to, any Borrowing hereunder; and  

   
(h)                                  the receipt and approval of such financial and other information or documents relating to the Borrower and Guarantors as the 

Bank may reasonably require, in its sole discretion.  
   
SECURITY  
Security for the Borrowings and all other obligations of the Borrower to the Bank shall include:  
   

(a)                                   Guaranty and Subordination Agreement for $25,000,000 provided by Best Buy Co., Inc. (a “Guarantor”);  
   

(b)                                  Guaranty and Subordination Agreement for $25,000,000 provided by Best Buy Stores, L.P. (a “Guarantor”).  
   
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  
The Borrower represents and warrants to the Bank which representations and warranties are deemed to be repeated as at the time of each 
Borrowing hereunder that:  
   

(a)                                   it is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and duly registered or qualified to carry on business in all jurisdictions 
where it carries on business, including in the Province of British Columbia;  

   
(b)                                  the execution, delivery and performance by it of this agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary actions and do not 

violate its constating documents or any Applicable Laws or agreements to which it is subject or by which it is bound;  
   

(c)                                   no event has occurred which constitutes, or which, with notice, lapse of time, or both, would constitute, a breach of any 
covenant or other term or condition of this agreement or any security agreement given in connection therewith.  

   
(d)                                  its most recent consolidated financial statements provided to the Bank fairly present its financial position as of the date thereof 

and its results of operations and cash flows for the fiscal period covered thereby, and since the date of such financial 
statements, there has occurred no material adverse change in its business or financial condition;  

   
(e)                                   there is no claim, action, prosecution or other proceeding of any kind pending or threatened against it or any of its assets or 

properties before any court or administrative agency which relates to any non-compliance with any Environmental Law or any 
Release from its lands of a Contaminant into the natural environment or which, if adversely determined, might have a material 
adverse effect upon its financial condition or operations or its ability to perform its obligations under this agreement or any of 
the  
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Bank’s security, and there are no circumstances of which it is aware which might give rise to any such proceeding which it has 
not fully disclosed to the Bank;  

   
(f)                                     it has good and marketable title to all of its properties and assets, free and clear of any encumbrances, other than as may be 

provided for herein;  
   

(g)                                  it is in compliance in all material respects with all Applicable Laws including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws;  
   

(h)                                  it possesses all licenses, patents, trade marks, service marks and copyrights, free from material restrictions, that are necessary 
for the ownership, maintenance and operation of its assets and businesses and it is not in violation of any rights of others with 
respect to any of the foregoing;  

   
(i)                                      it has filed all material tax returns which were required to be filed by it, paid or made provision for payment of all taxes and 

Potential Prior-Ranking Claims (including interest and penalties) which are due and payable, and provided adequate reserves 
for payment of any tax, the payment of which is being contested.  

   
REPORTING COVENANTS  
The Borrower and Guarantors covenant and agree with the Bank, while this agreement is in effect, to provide the Bank with:  
   

(a)                                   Quarterly: unaudited consolidated financial statements for the Borrower within 60 days of each of the first three fiscal quarters 
of each fiscal year;  

   
(b)                                  Quarterly: unaudited consolidated financial statements for Best Buy Co., Inc. within 60 days of each of the first three fiscal 

quarters of each fiscal year;  
   

(c)                                   Quarterly: within 60 days after the close of each of the first three fiscal quarters of the fiscal year of each Guarantor, an 
officer’s compliance certificate, to include financial covenant calculations pertaining to the US Credit Agreement, stating that 
as of the close of such fiscal quarter no default or event of default had occurred and was continuing;  

   
(d)                                  Annually: within 120 days after the close of each of the Guarantor’s fiscal years, an officer’s compliance certificate, to include 

financial covenant calculations pertaining to the US Credit Agreement, stating that as of the close of such fiscal quarter no 
default or event of default had occurred and was continuing;  

   
(e)                                   Annually: unaudited consolidated financial statements for the Borrower, within 120 days of each fiscal year end;  

   
(f)                                     Annually: audited consolidated financial statements for Best Buy Co., Inc., within 120 days of each fiscal year end; and  

   
(g)                                  Such other financial and operating statements and reports as and when the Bank may reasonably require.  

   
GENERAL COVENANTS  
The Borrower covenants and agrees with the Bank, while this agreement is in effect:  
   

(a)                                   to pay all sums of money when due by it under this agreement;  
   

(b)                                  to provide the Bank with prompt written notice of any event which constitutes, or which, with notice, lapse of time, or both, 
would constitute a breach of any covenant or other term or condition of this agreement or any security agreement given in 
connection  
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therewith;  

   
(c)                                   to keep its assets fully insured against such perils and in such manner as would be customarily insured by companies carrying 

on a similar business or owning similar assets;  
   

(d)                                  if the Borrower owns any commercial buildings located in Metropolitan Vancouver, the Lower Fraser Valley, Metropolitan 
Victoria or Saanich Peninsula, then, in addition to (c) above, the Borrower shall insure and keep fully insured such commercial 
buildings against risk of earthquake;  

   
(e)                                   to file all material tax returns which are to be filed by it from time to time, to pay or make provision for payment of all taxes 

(including interest and penalties) and Potential Prior-Ranking Claims when due, and to provide adequate reserves for the 
payment of any tax, the payment of which is being contested;  

   
(f)                                     to comply in all material respects with all Applicable Laws including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws;  

   
(g)                                  not to, without the prior written consent of the Bank, grant, create, assume or suffer to exist any mortgage, charge, lien, 

pledge, security interest or other encumbrance affecting any of its properties, assets or other rights;  
   

(h)                                  not to, without the prior written consent of the Bank, sell, transfer, convey, lease or otherwise dispose of any of its properties 
or assets other than in the ordinary course of business and on commercially reasonable terms;  

   
(i)                                      except as required under section 5.25 of the US Credit Agreement, not to, without the prior written consent of the Bank, 

guarantee or otherwise provide for, on a direct, indirect or contingent basis, the payment of any monies or performance of any 
obligations by any other Person, except as may be provided for herein;  

   
(j)                                      to provide the Bank with a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of any intention to merge, amalgamate, or otherwise 

enter into any other form of business combination with any other Person;  
   

(k)                                   to provide the Bank with prompt written notice of any non-compliance by the Borrower with any Environmental Laws or any 
Release from the land of the Borrower of a Contaminant into the natural environment and to indemnify and save harmless the 
Bank from all liability of loss as a result of an Environmental Activity or any non-compliance with any Environmental Law;  

   
(l)                                      to permit the Bank or its representatives, from time to time, to visit and inspect the Borrower’s premises, properties and assets 

and examine and obtain copies of the Borrower’s records or other information and discuss the Borrower’s affairs with the 
auditors, counsel and other professional advisers of the Borrower;  

   
(m)                                to remain a wholly owned subsidiary, either directly or indirectly, of Best Buy Co., Inc. at all times; and  

   
(n)                                  to notify the Bank within 5 days after receipt of any demand for a guarantee from the Borrower under the US Credit 

Agreement.  
   

Nothing contained in the foregoing Covenants sections shall limit any right of the Bank under this agreement to terminate or demand payment 
of, or cancel or restrict availability of any unutilized portion of, any demand or other discretionary facility made available under this agreement.  
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The Borrower and Best Buy Co., Inc. covenant and agree with the Bank, while this agreement is in effect:  
   

(a)           to notify the Bank within 5 days after any acceleration of indebtedness owing by Best Buy Co., Inc. under the US Credit 
Agreement;  

   
(b)          to notify the Bank of any demand for security against the assets of Best Buy Co., Inc. and/or Best Buy Stores, L.P. by the lenders 

under the US Credit Agreement within 5 days of the making of such demand; and  
   

(c)           to provide to the Bank a copy of all future amendments to the US Credit Agreement within 15 days of execution thereof by the 
Guarantors.  

   
Nothing contained in the foregoing Covenants sections shall limit any right of the Bank under this agreement to terminate or demand payment 
of, or cancel or restrict availability of any unutilized portion of, any demand or other discretionary facility made available under this agreement.  
   
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS  
This agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  
   
The Bank may assign all or part of its rights and obligations under this agreement to any Person. The rights and obligations of the Borrower 
under this agreement may not be assigned without the prior written consent of the Bank.  
   
The Bank may disclose to potential or actual assignees confidential information regarding the Borrower (including, any such information 
provided by the Borrower to the Bank) and shall not be liable for any such disclosure.  
   
GENERAL  
   
Expenses  
The Borrower agrees to pay all fees (including legal fees), costs and expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the preparation, 
negotiation and documentation of this agreement and the security provided for herein and the operation or enforcement of this agreement and the 
security provided for herein.  
   
Review  
The Bank may conduct periodic reviews of the affairs of the Borrower, as and when determined by the Bank, for the purpose of evaluating the 
financial condition of the Borrower. The Borrower shall make available to the Bank such financial statements and other information and 
documentation as the Bank may reasonably require and shall do all things reasonably necessary to facilitate such review by the Bank.  
   
Potential Prior-Ranking Claims  
The Borrower hereby grants its consent (such grant to remain in force as long as this agreement is in effect or any Borrowings are outstanding) to 
any Person having information relating to any Potential Prior-Ranking Claim arising by any law, statute, regulation or otherwise and including, 
without limitation, claims by or on behalf of government to release such information to the Bank at any time upon its written request for the 
purpose of assisting the Bank to evaluate the financial condition of the Borrower.  
   
Set Off  
The Bank is authorized, but not obligated, at any time, to apply any credit balance, whether or not then due, to which the Borrower is entitled on 
any account in any currency at any branch or office of the Bank  
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in or towards satisfaction of the obligations of the Borrower due to the Bank under this agreement. The Bank is authorized to use any such credit 
balance to buy such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application.  
   
Non-Merger  
The provisions of this agreement shall not merge with any security provided to the Bank, but shall continue in full force for the benefit of the 
parties hereto.  
   
Amendments and Waivers  
No amendment or waiver of any provision of this agreement will be effective unless it is in writing signed by the Borrower and the Bank. No 
failure or delay, on the part of the Bank, in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any security document shall operate as a waiver 
thereof.  
   
Severability  
If any provision of this agreement is or becomes prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such prohibition or unenforceability shall not 
invalidate or render unenforceable the provision concerned in any other jurisdiction nor invalidate, affect or impair any of the remaining 
provisions of this agreement.  
   
Life Insurance Options  
The Borrower acknowledges that Borrowings are not insured under the Bank’s Business Loan Insurance Program.  
   
Judgement Currency  
If for the purpose of obtaining judgement in any court in any jurisdiction with respect to this agreement, it is necessary to convert into the 
currency of such jurisdiction (the “Judgement Currency”) any amount due hereunder in any currency other than the Judgement Currency, then 
conversion shall be made at the rate of exchange prevailing on the Business Day before the day on which judgement is given. For this purpose 
“rate of exchange” means the rate at which the Bank would, on the relevant date, be prepared to sell a similar amount of such currency in the 
Toronto foreign exchange market, against the Judgement Currency, in accordance with normal banking procedures.  
   
In the event that there is a change in the rate of exchange prevailing between the Business Day before the day on which judgement is given and 
the date of payment of the amount due, the Borrower will, on the date of payment, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary to ensure 
that the amount paid on such date is the amount in the Judgement Currency which, when converted at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date 
of payment, is the amount then due under this agreement in such other currency together with interest at RBP and expenses (including legal fees 
on a solicitor and client basis). Any additional amount due from the Borrower under this section will be due as a separate debt and shall not be 
affected by judgement being obtained for any other sums due under or in respect of this agreement.  
   
Governing Law  
This agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia and of Canada applicable 
therein.  
   
Whole Agreement  
This agreement, the security and any other written agreement delivered pursuant to or referred to in this agreement constitute the whole and 
entire agreement between the parties in respect of the Credit Facilities. There are no verbal agreements, undertakings or representations in 
connection with the Credit Facilities.  
   
Joint and Several  
Where more than one Person is liable as Borrower [or Guarantor] for any obligation under this agreement, then the liability of each such Person 
for such obligation is joint and several with each other such Person.  
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Counterparts and Facsimile Signatures  
This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and all such counterparts shall for all purposes constitute one and the same 
agreement binding on all the parties hereto notwithstanding that all parties are not signatories to the same counterpart, provided that each party 
has signed at least one counterpart. This agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile transmission and the parties hereto may rely 
upon all such facsimile signatures as though such facsimile signatures were original signatures.  
   
Time  
Time shall be of the essence in all provisions of this agreement.  
   
Acceptance  
This offer is open for acceptance until March 19, 2004, after which date it will be null and void, unless extended in writing by the Bank.  
   
Please confirm your acceptance of this agreement by signing the attached copy of this letter in the space provided below and returning it to the 
undersigned.  
   

   
We acknowledge and accept the foregoing terms and conditions as of March 9, 2004.  
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Yours truly,  
   
/s/ Keith Richmond  

   

Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee  
   
   
By:  /s/ Kevin Layden  

      

Name:  
   

Title:  
   

   
By:  

         

Name:  
Title:  
   
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.  
   
We acknowledge and confirm our agreement with the foregoing terms and conditions, as Guarantor, as of March 9, 2004.  
   
Best Buy Co., Inc.  
   
   
By:  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  

      

Name: Ryan D. Robinson  
Title: V.P.  
   
By:  

         

Name:  
Title:  
   
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.  
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We acknowledge and confirm our agreement with the foregoing terms and conditions, as Guarantor, as of March 9, 2004.  
   
Best Buy Stores, L.P.  
By its General Partner BBC Property Co.  
   
By:  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  

   

Name: Ryan D. Robinson  
Title: V.P.  
   
By: 

      

Name:  
Title:  
   
I/We have authority to bind partnership.  



   
Schedule “A” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

DEFINITIONS  
   
For the purpose of this agreement, the following terms and phrases shall have the following meanings:  
   
“Applicable Laws” means, with respect to any Person, property, transaction or event, all present or future Applicable Laws, statutes, 
regulations, rules, orders, codes, treaties, conventions, judgements, awards, determinations and decrees of any governmental, regulatory, fiscal or 
monetary body or court of competent jurisdiction in any applicable jurisdiction;  
   
“Bankers’ Acceptance” or “BA” mean a bill of exchange, including a depository bill issued in accordance with the Depository Bills and Notes 
Act (Canada), drawn on the Bank by, and payable to the order of, the Borrower which have been accepted by the Bank;  
   
“Branch of Account” means the branch of the Bank at which the Borrower’s accounts are maintained. As at the date of this agreement, the 
“Branch of Account” is the Bank’s branch at 1025 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, B.C.;  
   
“Business Day” means a day, excluding Saturday, Sunday and any other day which shall be a legal holiday or a day on which banking 
institutions are closed in the province of the Branch of Account;  
   
“Contaminant” includes, without limitation, any pollutant, dangerous substance, liquid waste, industrial waste, hazardous material, hazardous 
substance or contaminant including any of the foregoing as defined in any Environmental Law;  
   
“Environmental Activity” means any activity, event or circumstance in respect of a Contaminant, including, without limitation, its storage, use, 
holding, collection, purchase, accumulation, assessment, generation, manufacture, construction, processing, treatment, stabilization, disposition, 
handling or transportation, or its Release into the natural environment, including movement through or in the air, soil, surface water or 
groundwater;  
   
“Environmental Laws” means all Applicable Laws relating to the environment or occupational health and safety, or any Environmental 
Activity;  
   
“Equivalent Amount” means, with respect to an amount of any currency, the amount of any other currency required to purchase that amount of 
the first mentioned currency through the Bank in Toronto, in accordance with normal banking procedures;  
   
“GAAP” means, generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time in Canada applied in a consistent manner from period to 
period;  
   
“Letter of Credit” or “LC” means a documentary credit issued by the Bank on behalf of the Borrower for the purpose of paying suppliers of 
goods;  
   
“Letter of Guarantee” or “LG” means a documentary credits issued by the Bank on behalf of the Borrower for the purpose of providing 
security to a third party that the Borrower or a person designated by the Borrower will perform a contractual obligation owed to such third party.  
   
“Person” includes an individual, a partnership, a joint venture, a trust, an unincorporated organization, a company, a corporation, an association, 
a government or any department or agency thereof, and any other incorporated or unincorporated entity;  
   
“Potential Prior-Ranking Claims” means all amounts owing or required to be paid, where the failure to  

   

 



   
pay any such amount could give rise to a claim pursuant to any law, statute, regulation or otherwise, which ranks or is capable of ranking in 
priority to the Bank’s security or otherwise in priority to any claim by the Bank for repayment of any amounts owing under this agreement;  
   
“RBP” and “Royal Bank Prime” each means the annual rate of interest announced by the Bank from time to time as being a reference rate then 
in effect for determining interest rates on commercial loans made in Canadian currency in Canada;  
   
“RBUSBR” and “Royal Bank US Base Rate” each means the annual rate of interest announced by the Bank from time to time as a reference 
rate then in effect for determining interest rates on commercial loans made in US currency in Canada;  
   
“Royal Bank Prime Acceptance Fee” or “RBPAF” means the annual rate announced by the Bank from time to time as a reference rate then in 
effect for determining fees on BAs.  
   
“Release” includes discharge, spray, inject, inoculate, abandon, deposit, spill, leak, seep, pour, emit, empty, throw, dump, place and exhaust, and 
when used as a noun has a similar meaning;  
   
“US” means United States of America;  
   
“US Credit Agreement” defined as the amended and restated credit agreement dated as of March 21, 2002 by and between Best Buy Co., Inc., 
the lenders from time to time party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association, as agent for the lenders party thereto, as amended from time to 
time.  
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Schedule “B” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

NOTICE REQUIREMENTS  
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Amount  
   

Prior Notice  
         
Under $10,000,000, Canadian or US currency  

   

By 10:00 a.m. on the day of Borrowing  
         
$ 10,000,000 up to but not including $25,000,000, Canadian or 
US currency  

   

By 10:00 a.m. 1 Business Day prior to the day of  
Borrowing  



   
Schedule “C” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

BORROWING CONDITIONS  
   
Borrowings made otherwise than by way of RBP Loans or RBUSBR Loans will be subject to the following terms and conditions:  
   

BAs:  
   

(a)                                   BAs shall be issued and mature on a Business Day and shall be issued in minimum face amounts of $500,000 or such larger 
amount as is a whole multiple of $100,000 for terms of not less than 30 and not more than 180 days;  

   
(b)                                  the Bank may, in its sole discretion, refuse to accept the Borrower’s drafts or limit the amount of any BA issue at any time;  

   
(c)                                   notwithstanding any other provision of this agreement, the Borrower shall indemnify the Bank against any loss, cost or 

expense incurred by the Bank if any BA is repaid, prepaid, converted or cancelled other than on the maturity date of such BA;  
   

(d)                                  any BA issued under a term facility must have a maturity on or before the maturity date of the term facility, unless otherwise 
agreed by the Bank; and  

   
(e)                                   prior to the issue of any BA the Borrower shall execute the Bank’s standard form of undertaking and agreement in respect of 

BAs. If there is any inconsistency at any time between the terms of this agreement and the terms of the Bank’s standard form 
of undertaking and agreement, the terms of this agreement shall govern.  

   
LCs or LGs:  

   
(a)                                   each LC and LG shall expire on a Business Day and shall have a term of not more than 365 days;  

   
(b)                                  at least 2 Business Days prior to the issue of an LC or LG, the Borrower shall execute a duly authorized application with 

respect to such LC or LG and each LC and LG shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the relevant application for 
such contract;  

   
(c)                                   an LC or LG may not be revoked prior to its expiry date unless the consent of the beneficiary of the LC or LG has been 

obtained; and  
   

(d)                                   if there is any inconsistency at any time between the terms of this agreement and the terms of the application for LC or LG, 
the terms of the application for LC or LG shall govern.  

   

 



   
Schedule “D” to the agreement dated March 9, 2004 between Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee, as Borrower, and Royal Bank of 
Canada, as the Bank.  
   

FEF CONTRACTS SCHEDULE  
   
FEF Contract Definitions  
   
“Foreign Exchange Forward Contract” or “FEF Contract” means a currency exchange transaction or agreement or any option with respect 
to any such transaction now existing or hereafter entered into between the Borrower and the Bank;  
   
Conditions Applicable to FEF Contracts  
   
At the Borrower’s request, the Bank may agree to enter into FEF Contracts with the Borrower from time to time. The Borrower acknowledges 
that the Bank makes no formal commitment herein to enter into any FEF Contract and the Bank may, at any time and at all times, in its sole and 
absolute discretion, accept or reject any request by the Borrower to enter into a FEF Contract. If the Bank does enter into a FEF Contract with 
the Borrower, it will do so subject to the following:  
   

(a)                                   the Borrower shall promptly issue or countersign and return a confirmation or acknowledgement of the terms of each such 
FEF Contract as required by the Bank;  

   
(b)                                  the Borrower shall, if required by the Bank, promptly enter into a Foreign Exchange and Options Master Agreement or such 

other agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank to govern the FEF Contract(s);  
   

(c)                                   in the event of demand for payment under the agreement of which this schedule forms a part, the Bank may terminate all or 
any FEF Contracts. If the agreement governing any FEF Contract does not contain provisions governing termination, any such 
termination shall be effected in accordance with customary market practice. The Bank’s determination of amounts owing 
under any terminated FEF Contract shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. The Bank shall apply any amount 
owing by the Bank to the Borrower on termination of any FEF Contract against the Borrower’s obligations to the Bank under 
the agreement and any amount owing to the Bank by the Borrower on such termination shall be added to the Borrower’s 
obligations to the Bank under the agreement and secured by the Bank’s security;  

   
(d)                                  the Borrower shall pay all required fees in connection with any FEF Contracts and indemnify and hold the Bank harmless 

against any loss, cost or expense incurred by the Bank in relation to any FEF Contract;  
   
(e)           any rights of the Bank herein in respect of any FEF Contract are in addition to and not in limitation of or substitution for any 

rights of the Bank under any agreement governing such FEF Contract. In the event that there is any inconsistency at any time 
between the terms hereof and any agreement governing such FEF Contract, the terms of such agreement shall prevail.  

   

 



   
GUARANTY AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT  

(General Guaranty)  
   
To:                               ROYAL BANK OF CANADA:  
   
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, and in order to induce Royal Bank of Canada (the “Bank”) to grant, extend or continue credit or other financial 
accommodations to  
   
Best Buy Canada Ltd./Magasins Best Buy Ltee (the “Customer”),  
   
the undersigned (the “Guarantor”) unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Bank and its successors and assigns, the complete and 
punctual payment when due (whether at the stated maturity or earlier by acceleration or otherwise) of all Liabilities (as defined in the next 
sentence) at any time owing by the Customer to the Bank. “Liabilities” as used in this Guaranty means all indebtedness, obligations, liabilities 
and other amounts due, of whatever nature, of the Customer to the Bank arising under or in connection with the credit facilities described in and 
to be provided pursuant to the terms of the offer letter dated March 9, 2004 (as the same may be amended, extended, renewed, restated, 
superseded or replaced from time to time, the “Cdn Credit Agreement”) given by the Bank to the Customer, as such credit facilities may from 
time to time be amended, extended, renewed, restated, superseded or replaced with the acknowledgement, confirmation or consent of the 
Guarantor (collectively the “Credit Facilities”),whether now existing or hereafter incurred, whether matured or unmatured, whether absolute or 
contingent, whether characterized as principal, premium, interest, additional interest, fees, expenses or otherwise and whether the Customer is 
bound alone or with any others or as principal or as surety.  
   
PROVIDED, however, that, regardless of the amount of the Liabilities of the Customer to the Bank, the liability of the Guarantor hereunder is 
limited to the greater of (a) the maximum liability that the Guarantor can incur hereunder without rendering itself insolvent and (b) the amount in 
United States Dollars of the value received by the Guarantor as a result of the financial accommodations made available by the Bank to the 
Customer. The terms “value” and “insolvent”, as used in this proviso shall have the same meanings as in 11 U.S.C. §§ 548(a)(2)(A) and (B), 
respectively. If for any reason this Guaranty would be otherwise avoidable as a fraudulent transfer (whether under state law or the United States 
Bankruptcy Code), then the terms “value” and “insolvent” as used herein shall be defined and the limitation on the liability of the Guarantor 
shall be deemed to operate in such a manner as to prevent this Guaranty from being avoided as a fraudulent transfer while preserving the liability 
of the Guarantor to the fullest extent legally permissible. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the maximum liability of 
Guarantor under this Guaranty shall be limited to Cdn. $25,000,000 plus interest thereon from the date of demand for payment at a rate equal to 
“Royal Bank Prime” plus 5% per annum, both before and after default and judgment. The term “Royal Bank Prime” means the annual rate of 
interest announced by the Bank from time to time as being a reference rate then in effect for determining interest rates on commercial loans 
made in Canadian currency in Canada, and “Cdn. $” means dollars of lawful currency of Canada.  

   

 



   
This Guaranty may be terminated only upon written notice to the Bank and only with respect to Liabilities thereafter incurred or arising. Any 
such termination shall not affect the liability of the Guarantor under this Guaranty with respect to Liabilities created or incurred prior to the 
effective date of such termination. Without limiting the foregoing, any such termination shall not relate to any approval given, commitment made 
or liability incurred by the Bank to or for the benefit of the Customer prior to the effective date of such termination even though not then 
matured, and upon any such termination, the Guarantor shall nevertheless remain liable with respect to all Liabilities, and the performance of all 
duties, created or arising theretofore or based on a commitment theretofore entered into or any approval, commitment or liability theretofore 
given, made or incurred to or for the benefit of the Customer to the full extent of the Guarantor’s liability therefor as provided herein.  
   
THE GUARANTOR FURTHER AGREES WITH THE BANK AS FOLLOWS:  
   
1.                                        Certain Rights of Bank .  At any time and from time to time (and whether once or more than once), without the necessity of any 
reservation of rights against the Guarantor and without notice to, demand on or further assent by the Guarantor or any other person:  
   

(a)                                   any collateral security (which term as used in this Guaranty includes other guaranties) held by or available to the Bank in 
respect of the Liabilities or in respect of any guaranty of the Liabilities may be sold, exchanged, waived, subordinated, 
surrendered or released, in whole or in part and in any order;  

   
(b)                                  any of the Liabilities or the obligations of any other guarantor of the Liabilities may be changed, renewed, extended, 

continued, accelerated, surrendered, compromised, subordinated, waived or released, in whole or in part, or any default with 
respect thereto waived or any demand for payment with respect thereto rescinded;  

   
(c)                                   the Bank may set off, refrain from setting off or release, in whole or in part, any balance of any and all deposits (general or 

special) or credits on its books in favour of the Customer or of any such guarantor, may take or refrain from taking or 
perfecting any security interest in any collateral security and may exercise or refrain from exercising any right against the 
Customer or any other person;  

   
(d)                                  the Bank may extend or refrain from extending further credit or financial accommodations in any manner whatsoever to, may 

accept compositions from and may otherwise generally deal with the Customer and any other person and with any collateral 
security as the Bank may see fit; and  

   
(e)                                   the Bank may apply all moneys at any time received from the Customer or any other person or from any collateral security in 

such manner, in such amounts and against such part of the Liabilities as the Bank considers best and change any such 
application in whole or in part as the Bank may see fit.  

   
All of these actions may be taken without in any way limiting, diminishing or affecting the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty and without 
imposing any obligation of trust on the Bank, and no loss of or in respect of any collateral security, whether caused by the fault of the  
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Bank or otherwise, shall in any way limit, diminish or affect the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty.  
   
2.                                        Liability of Guarantor Unconditional .  This Guaranty is a guaranty of payment and not merely of collection. The Guarantor’s liability 
under this Guaranty is absolute and unconditional and shall not be limited, diminished or affected by the happening from time to time of any 
event, including (but not limited to) any event described in paragraph 1 of this Guaranty and any of the following events, whether or not any 
such event occurs with notice to or with the consent of the Guarantor or once or more than once:  
   

(a)                                   the waiver, surrender, compromise, settlement, discharge, release or termination of any or all of the Liabilities;  
   

(b)                                  the failure to give any notice to the Customer;  
   

(c)                                   the extension of the time for payment or performance of any of the Liabilities;  
   
(d)                                  the change (whether or not material) of the terms of any document relating to the Liabilities (a “Document”);  

   
(e)                                   the taking of or failure to take any action referred to in any Document;  

   
(f)                                     the illegality, invalidity, unenforceability (including, but not limited to, by reason of any statute of limitations or automatic 

stay) or irregularity of any of the Liabilities or any Document;  
   

(g)                                  any failure, omission, delay or lack of diligence on the part of the Bank in the enforcement, assertion or exercise of any right, 
power or remedy conferred on the Bank under any Document, or the inability of the Bank to enforce any provision of any 
Document for any reason, or any other act or omission on the part of the Bank, including (but not limited to) failure by the 
Bank to perfect or protect any lien or security interest granted to the Bank, to commence and prosecute any action to collect the 
Liabilities or to enforce or collect any judgment obtained by the Bank;  

   
(h)                                  the dissolution or liquidation of the Customer, the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the 

Customer, the marshalling of assets and liabilities of the Customer or the existence of receivership, insolvency, assignment for 
the benefit of creditors, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, composition or other similar proceedings 
affecting the Customer; and  

   
(i)                                      any other event, action or circumstance that would, in the absence of this subparagraph (i), result in the release or discharge of 

the Guarantor from the performance or observance of any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Guaranty.  
   
3.                                        Waiver of Notice .  The Guarantor waives all notices of the creation, renewal, extension or accrual of any of the Liabilities and notice 
or proof of reliance by the Bank on this Guaranty or  
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acceptance of this Guaranty. The Liabilities shall conclusively be considered to have been created, contracted or incurred in reliance on this 
Guaranty, and all dealings between the Customer and the Bank shall likewise be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in 
reliance on this Guaranty. The Guarantor also waives (to the extent permitted by applicable law) all requirements of notice, presentment, protest 
or demand on it, the Customer or any other person, all other notices and demands whatsoever relating to the Liabilities and any requirement that 
the Bank file a claim with a court in any bankruptcy or similar proceedings of the Customer or first proceed against the Customer or any other 
person or first realize on any collateral security held by it or otherwise exhaust any right, power or remedy under any Document or against the 
Customer or any other person before proceeding against the Guarantor under this Guaranty. The Bank shall have no responsibility to notify the 
Guarantor of the Customer’s financial condition or the Customer’s incurrence or performance of the Liabilities.  
   
4.                                        Continuing Guaranty .  This Guaranty is a continuing guaranty, shall not be discharged until performance and payment in full of all of 
the Liabilities, payment of all amounts payable by the Guarantor under this Guaranty and cancellation of this Guaranty provided by the Bank to 
the Customer and shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any interruption in the business relations between the Customer and the 
Bank or any increase or decrease (including a decrease to zero) from time to time in the amount of the Liabilities. If demand for, or acceleration 
of the time for, payment by the Customer to the Bank of any of the Liabilities is stayed upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or 
proposed compromise or arrangement with creditors of the Customer, all Liabilities of which payment or performance is stayed that would 
otherwise be subject to demand for payment or acceleration shall nonetheless be payable by the Guarantor immediately on demand by the Bank.  
   
5.                                        Reinstatement .  This Guaranty shall continue to be effective, or shall be reinstated, if at any time payment, or any part thereof, of any 
of the Liabilities is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by the Bank for any reason whatsoever (including, but not limited to, the bankruptcy, 
insolvency, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of the Customer or any other person), all as though such payment had not been received by 
the Bank.  
   
6.                                        Subordination .  All indebtedness, obligations, liabilities and other amounts due, of whatever nature, of the Customer to the Guarantor 
(the “Subordinated Debt”), whether now existing or hereafter incurred, whether created directly or acquired by the Guarantor by assignment or 
otherwise, whether matured or unmatured, whether absolute or contingent, whether characterized as principal, premium, interest, additional 
interest, fees, expenses or otherwise and whether the Customer is bound alone or with any others or as principal or as surety, shall be subject and 
subordinate to the Liabilities, and no payment shall be made or received on account of the Subordinated Debt until all of the Liabilities have 
been paid and satisfied. Notwithstanding the foregoing, indebtedness, obligations, liabilities and other amounts due from the Customer to the 
Guarantor with respect to royalty and licensing fees, expense reimbursements, capital purchases and inventory purchases (collectively, “Trade 
Debt”) shall not be considered Subordinated Debt. All moneys received by the Guarantor in respect of the Subordinated Debt contrary to the 
foregoing shall be received in trust for the Bank and paid over to the Bank. This subordination is independent of the guaranty provided in this 
Guaranty and shall remain in full force and effect for so long as the Guarantor has any liability under this  
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Guaranty. Assets of the Customer held by the Guarantor, whether in the form of deposits, collateral security or otherwise, except for assets held 
for the purpose of paying Trade Debt then owing, shall not at any time be set off against the Subordinated Debt but shall be held in trust for the 
Bank. The Guarantor hereby undertakes to execute such additional documents and to do such additional acts as may be necessary or desirable (in 
the reasonable opinion of the Bank) in order to carry out, complete or perfect this subordination.  
   
7.                                        Limits on Subrogation .  No payment by the Guarantor pursuant to any provision of this Guaranty or other satisfaction of the 
Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall entitle the Guarantor, by subrogation or otherwise, to any right or remedy against the Customer 
until after the indefeasible payment in full of the Liabilities.  
   
8.                                        Costs, Expenses, Etc .  The Guarantor agrees to pay on demand all losses, costs, expenses (including, but not limited to, the actual 
amount of attorneys’ fees) and damages incurred by the Bank in connection with the preparation of this Guaranty or any amendment, waiver or 
consent with respect to this Guaranty, in connection with any rescission or return referred to in paragraph 5 of this Guaranty, in enforcing or 
attempting to enforce this Guaranty or any other guaranty of the Liabilities or in protecting the Bank’s rights under this Guaranty or any other 
guaranty of the Liabilities following any default by the Guarantor under this Guaranty, whether the Bank’s rights are enforced by suit or 
otherwise.  
   
9.                                        Obligations Additional .  This Guaranty and the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty are in addition to and not in substitution for:  
   

(a)           any other collateral security, by whomsoever given, at any time held by the Bank and  
   
(b)          any present or future obligation of the Guarantor or any other obligor to the Bank incurred otherwise than under this Guaranty, 

   
whether the Guarantor or such other obligor is bound with or apart from the Customer.  
   
10.                                  Payments .  All payments under this Guaranty shall be made to the Bank at such branch, agency or affiliate of the Bank as the Bank 
may require, in immediately available funds and without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind, and shall be made in the lawful currency 
in which the Liabilities are payable (“Primary Currency”). Without in any manner limiting the Guarantor’s obligations contained in the 
preceding sentence, if any sum is paid to and received by the Bank under this Guaranty in a currency other than the Primary Currency (such 
other currency is called the “Alternative Currency”), whether by judgment (and notwithstanding the rate of exchange actually applied in such 
judgment) or otherwise, the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall nevertheless be discharged only to the extent of the net amount of 
Primary Currency that the Bank is able in accordance with its normal banking procedures to purchase with such amount of Alternative Currency. 
If the Bank is not able to purchase with such amount of Alternative Currency sufficient Primary Currency to discharge the Guarantor’s liability 
under this Guaranty in full, the Guarantor’s obligations to the Bank with respect to such difference shall be due as a separate debt and shall not 
be affected by payment of or judgment being obtained for any other sums due under this Guaranty.  
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11.                                  Successors and Assigns .  This Guaranty shall inure to the benefit of the Bank and its successors, transferees and assigns and shall bind 
the Guarantor and the Guarantor’s heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns; provided, however, that the 
Guarantor may not assign its rights or obligations under this Guaranty without the Bank’s prior written consent. If the Guarantor is a partnership, 
the Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any change in the parties comprising the 
partnership and the term “Guarantor” shall include any altered or successive partnerships, but the predecessor partnerships and their partners 
shall continue to be bound under this Guaranty.  
   
12.                                  Joint and Several Obligations .  If this Guaranty is executed by more than one party, each party’s liability under this Guaranty shall be 
joint and several; provided, however, that this Guaranty shall be construed for all purposes as if a separate, identical agreement (including the 
amount of any limitation on the Guarantor’s liability) had been executed by each party. The Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall not in 
any way be changed, reduced or terminated as a result of:  
   

(a)                                   any change or reduction in or termination of the obligations of any other guarantor of the Liabilities,  
   

(b)                                  the death or loss or diminution of capacity of any other guarantor of the Liabilities or  
   

(c)                                   the failure of any other person to execute this or any other guaranty of the Liabilities.  
   
13.                                  Waivers and Amendments, Cumulative Remedies .  The Bank shall not be obligated to exercise any right, power or privilege under this 
Guaranty, and no failure to exercise and no delay in exercising, on the part of the Bank, any such right, power or privilege under this Guaranty 
shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of 
any other right, power or privilege. No notice to or demand on the Guarantor shall be deemed to be a waiver of the Bank’s right to take further 
action without notice or demand as provided herein. No waiver shall be applicable except in the specific instance for which given or shall in any 
way impair the Bank’s rights or the Guarantor’s liability in any other respect or at any other time, nor in any event shall any modification or 
waiver of any provision of this Guaranty be effective unless in writing and signed on behalf of the Bank. The rights and remedies provided in 
this Guaranty are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other right or remedy provided by law, in equity or under any other agreement or 
instrument.  
   
14.                                  Representations and Warranties .  The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Bank that:  
   

(a)                                   it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization;  
   

(b)                                  the Guarantor has full capacity and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Guaranty, and the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Guaranty will not:  
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(i)                                    violate any law or regulation,  

   
(ii)                                 violate any provision of the Guarantor’s organizational documents,  

   
(iii)                              violate or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any indenture, agreement, license or 

other instrument to which the Guarantor is a party or by which the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s properties may 
be bound,  

   
(iv)                             violate any order of any court, tribunal or governmental agency binding on the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s 

properties or  
   

(v)                                result in the creation or imposition of any lien of any nature whatsoever on any of the Guarantor’s properties or 
assets;  

   
(c)                                   no approval or consent of, or filing or registration with, any federal, state or local regulatory authority is required in 

connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Guaranty; and  
   

(d)                                  this Guaranty constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Guarantor, enforceable against the Guarantor in 
accordance with its terms.  

   
These representations and warranties shall survive the execution of this Guaranty.  
   
15.                                  Financial Information .  The Guarantor agrees to furnish promptly to the Bank copies of the Guarantor’s annual and quarterly financial 
statements and such other information relating to the Guarantor’s business and financial condition as the Bank may from time to time reasonably 
request.  
   
16.                                  Stamp Taxes, Etc .  The Guarantor agrees to indemnify the Bank against any claim or liability for any stamp, excise or other similar 
taxes and any penalties or interest with respect thereto that may be imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by any jurisdiction in 
connection with the execution and delivery of this Guaranty, any document related to this Guaranty or any modification of this Guaranty or any 
such document. This covenant shall survive the termination of this Guaranty.  
   
17.                                  Withholding Tax .  Any and all payments by the Guarantor hereunder shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any 
and all present and or future taxes. If the Guarantor is required by law to deduct any taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder to the 
Bank, (a) the sum payable shall be increased by the amount necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions 
applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 16) the Bank will receive an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no 
such deductions been made; (b) the Guarantor shall make such deductions; and (c) the Guarantor shall pay the full amount deducted to the 
relevant taxing authority or other governmental authority in accordance with applicable law and promptly forward to the Bank an official receipt 
or other documentation acceptable to the Bank evidencing such payment.  
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18.                                  Governing Law, Submission to Jurisdiction .  This Guaranty and the rights and obligations of the Bank and of the Guarantor under this 
Guaranty shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Minnesota. For purposes of any suit, action or 
proceeding involving this Guaranty or any judgment entered by any court in respect of such suit, action or proceeding, the Guarantor expressly 
submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any Minnesota court of competent jurisdiction sitting in Minneapolis or St. Paul, Minnesota, and 
agrees that any order, process or other paper may be served upon the Guarantor within or without such court’s jurisdiction by mailing a copy to 
the Guarantor at the Guarantor’s address for notices provided in this Guaranty, provided that a reasonable time for appearance is allowed. The 
Guarantor irrevocably waives any objection the Guarantor may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Guaranty brought in any such court and further irrevocably waives any claim that any such suit, action or 
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Nothing contained in this Guaranty shall affect the Bank’s 
right to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by law or to bring any action or proceeding against the Guarantor or the Guarantor’s 
property in the courts of other jurisdictions.  
   
19.                                  Severability .  Any provision of this Guaranty that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be 
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Guaranty, and any such 
prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision or render it unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.  
   
20.                                  Notices .  Notices and other communications with respect to this Guaranty shall be in writing (including telecommunications) and 
made or delivered to the party to which such notice or other communication is required or permitted to be given or made at the address(es) 
shown on the signature page of this Guaranty or at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other party 
given in accordance with this paragraph and shall be considered delivered on receipt if telecommunicated or delivered by messenger or courier 
service or five days after mailing, postage prepaid. All mailed notices shall be by certified or registered mail.  
   
21.                                  Headings .  The headings used in this Guaranty are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Guaranty.  
   
22.                                  Waiver of Jury Trial .  EACH PARTY TO THIS GUARANTY, AND BY ITS ACCEPTANCE OF THIS GUARANTY THE 
BANK, KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIV ES ANY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY DISPUTE  
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RELATING TO THIS GUARANTY AND AGREES THAT ANY SUCH DISPUTE SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A JUDGE SITTING 
WITHOUT A JURY  
   
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has executed this Guaranty, or has caused this Guaranty to be executed by its duly authorized officer 
or partner, as of the 9th day of March, 2004.  
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Address for Notices:  

   

BEST BUY STORES, L.P.  
   

   

By: BBC PROPERTY CO.  
   

   

Its General Partner  
         
7601 Penn Avenue South  

   

By:  /s/ Ryan D. Robinson  
   

Richfield, Minnesota 55423  
   

Name: Ryan D. Robinson  
Attention: General Counsel  

   

Title: V.P.  
Telephone:612-291-7445  

   

   

Telefax: 612-292-2323  
   

   

         
Bank’s Address for Notices:  

   

   

         
Royal Bank of Canada  
Commercial Markets, Greater Vancouver  
36 th Floor, 1055 West Georgia Street  
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 3S5  
Telephone: 604-665-8409  
Telefax: 604-665-6368  
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BEST BUY  

FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED  
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

   
Effective April 1, 2004  

   
Purpose  

   
The purpose of this Plan is to provide specified benefits to a select group of management and highly compensated Employees and 

Directors who contribute materially to the continued growth, development and future business success of Best Buy Co., Inc., a Minnesota 
corporation, and its subsidiaries.  This Plan shall be unfunded for tax purposes and for purposes of Title I of ERISA.  
   

The Plan was initially adopted effective as of April 1, 1998.  The Plan was amended and restated effective each of October 1, 1998, 
July 1, 1999 and January 1, 2001, and was amended effective January 1, 2003.  The Plan is being amended and restated effective April 1, 2004 
(i) to change the name of the Plan, (ii) to change the date for commencement of participation in the Plan for new Participants, and (iii) to make 
certain other clarifying modifications.  

   
ARTICLE 1  
Definitions  

   
For purposes of this Plan, unless otherwise clearly apparent from the context, the following phrases or terms shall have the following 

indicated meanings:  
   
1.1                                  “Account Balance” shall mean, with respect to a Participant, a credit on the records of the Company equal to the sum of (i) the Deferral 

Account balance, (ii) the vested Company Contribution Account balance and (iii) the vested Company Matching Account balance.  The 
Account Balance, and each other specified account balance, shall be a bookkeeping entry only and shall be utilized solely as a device 
for the measurement and determination of the amounts to be paid to a Participant, or his or her designated Beneficiary, pursuant to this 
Plan.  

   
1.2                                  “Accounting Firm” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8.  
   
1.3                                  “Annual Deferral Amount” shall mean that portion of a Participant’s Base Annual Salary, Bonus and Directors Fees that a Participant 

elects to have, and is deferred, in accordance with Article 3, for any one Plan Year.  In the event of a Participant’s Retirement, 
Disability (if deferrals cease in accordance with Section 8.1), death or a Termination of Employment prior to the end of a Plan Year, 
such year’s Annual Deferral Amount shall be the actual amount withheld prior to such event.  
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1.4                                  “Base Annual Salary” shall mean the annual cash compensation relating to services performed during any calendar year, whether or 

not paid in such calendar year or included on the Federal Income Tax Form W-2 for such calendar year, excluding bonuses, 
commissions, overtime, fringe benefits, stock options, relocation expenses, incentive payments, non-monetary awards, directors fees 
and other fees, automobile and other allowances paid to a Participant for employment services rendered (whether or not such 
allowances are included in the Employee’s gross income).  Base Annual Salary shall be calculated before reduction for compensation 
voluntarily deferred or contributed by the Participant pursuant to all qualified or non-qualified plans of any Employer and shall be 
calculated to include amounts not otherwise included in the Participant’s gross income under Code Sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h), or 
403(b) pursuant to plans established by any Employer; provided, however, that all such amounts will be included in compensation only 
to the extent that, had there been no such plan, the amount would have been payable in cash to the Employee.  

   
1.5                                  “Beneficiary” shall mean one or more persons, trusts, estates or other entities, designated in accordance with Article 9, that are entitled 

to receive benefits under this Plan upon the death of a Participant.  
   
1.6                                  “Beneficiary Designation Form” shall mean the form established from time to time by the Committee that a Participant completes, 

signs and returns to the Committee to designate one or more Beneficiaries.  
   
1.7                                  “Board” shall mean the board of directors of the Company.  
   
1.8                                  “Bonus” shall mean any compensation, in addition to Base Annual Salary relating to services performed during any calendar year, 

whether or not paid in such calendar year or included on the Federal Income Tax Form W-2 for such calendar year, payable to a 
Participant as an Employee under any Employer’s bonus and cash incentive plans, excluding stock options.  

   
1.9                                  “Business Day” shall mean any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any legal holiday observed by the New York Stock Exchange.  
   
1.10                            “Change in Control” shall mean the first to occur of any of the following events:  
   

(a)                                   Any “person” (as that term is used in Section 13 and 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”)) 
becomes the beneficial owner (as that term is used in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of fifty percent 
(50%) or more of the Company’s capital stock entitled to vote in the election of directors;  

   
(b)                                  During any period of not more than two consecutive years, not including any period prior to the adoption of this Plan, 

individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the board of directors of the Company, and any new director (other 
than a  
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director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction described in 
clause (a), (c), (d) or (e) of this Section) whose election by the board of directors or nomination for election by the Company’s 
stockholders was approved by a vote of at least three-fourths (¾ths) of the directors then still in office who either were 
directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any 
reason to constitute at least a majority thereof;  

   
(c)                                   The shareholders of the Company approve any consolidation or merger of the Company, other than a consolidation or merger 

of the Company in which the holders of the common stock of the Company immediately prior to the consolidation or merger 
hold more than fifty percent (50%) of the common stock of the surviving corporation immediately after the consolidation or 
merger;  

   
(d)                                  The shareholders of the Company approve any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Company; or  
   
(e)                                   The shareholders of the Company approve the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to parties 

that are not within a “controlled group of corporations” (as defined in Code Section 1563) in which the Company is a member.  
   

1.11                            “Claimant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.1.  
   
1.12                            “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time.  
   
1.13                            “Committee” shall mean the committee described in Article 12.  
   
1.14                            “Company” shall mean Best Buy Co., Inc., a Minnesota corporation, and any successor to all or substantially all of the Company’s 

assets or business.  
   
1.15                            “Company Contribution Account” shall mean (i) the sum of the Participant’s Company Contribution Amounts, plus or minus (ii) 

amounts credited or debited in accordance with all the applicable crediting and debiting provisions of this Plan that relate to the 
Participant’s Company Contribution Account, less (iii) all distributions made to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary pursuant to this 
Plan that relate to the Participant’s Company Contribution Account.  

   
1.16                            “Company Contribution Amount” shall mean, for any one Plan Year, the amount determined in accordance with Section 3.5.  
   
1.17                            “Company Matching Account” shall mean (i) the sum of all of a Participant’s Company Matching Amounts,  plus or minus (ii) 

amounts credited or debited in accordance with all the  
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applicable crediting and debiting provisions of this Plan that relate to the Participant’s Company Matching Account, less (iii) all 
distributions made to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary pursuant to this Plan that relate to the Participant’s Company Matching 
Account.  

   
1.18                            “Company Matching Amount” for any one Plan Year shall be the amount determined in accordance with Section 3.6.  
   
1.19                            “Deduction Limitation” shall mean the following described limitation on a benefit that may otherwise be distributable pursuant to the 

provisions of this Plan.  Except as otherwise provided, this limitation shall be applied to all distributions that are “subject to the 
Deduction Limitation” under this Plan.  If the Company determines in good faith prior to a Change in Control that there is a reasonable 
likelihood that any compensation paid to a Participant for a taxable year of the Employer would not be deductible by the Employer 
solely by reason of the limitation under Code Section 162(m), then to the extent deemed necessary by the Company to ensure that the 
entire amount of any distribution to the Participant pursuant to this Plan prior to the Change in Control is deductible, the Company may 
defer all or any portion of a distribution under this Plan.  Any amounts deferred pursuant to this limitation shall continue to be 
credited/debited with additional amounts in accordance with Section 3.9 below, even if such amount is being paid out in installments.  
The amounts so deferred and amounts credited thereon shall be distributed to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary (in the event of 
the Participant’s death) at the earliest possible date, as determined by the Company in good faith, on which the deductibility of 
compensation paid or payable to the Participant for the taxable year of the Employer during which the distribution is made will not be 
limited by Code Section 162(m), or if earlier, the effective date of a Change in Control.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
this Plan, the Deduction Limitation shall not apply to any distributions made after a Change in Control.  

   
1.20                            “Deferral Account” shall mean (i) the sum of all of a Participant’s Annual Deferral Amounts, plus or minus (ii) amounts credited or 

debited in accordance with all the applicable crediting and debiting provisions of this Plan that relate to the Participant’s Deferral 
Account, less (iii) all distributions made to the Participant or his or her Beneficiary pursuant to this Plan that relate to his or her Deferral 
Account.  

   
1.21                            “Director” shall mean any member of the board of directors of any Employer.  
   
1.22                            “Directors Fees” shall mean the annual fees paid by any Employer, including retainer fees and meetings fees, as compensation for 

serving on the board of directors.  
   
1.23                            “Disability” shall mean a period of disability during which a Participant qualifies for permanent disability benefits under the 

Participant’s Employer’s long-term disability plan, or, if a Participant does not participate in such a plan, a period of disability during 
which the Participant would have qualified for permanent disability benefits under such a plan had the Participant been a participant in a 
plan, as determined in the sole discretion of the  
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Committee.  If the Participant’s Employer does not sponsor such a plan, or discontinues to sponsor such a plan, Disability shall be 
determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.  

   
1.24                            “Disability Benefit” shall mean the benefit set forth in Article 8.  
   
1.25                            “Election Form and Plan Agreement” shall mean the form(s) established from time to time by the Committee that a Participant 

completes, signs and returns (or completes and submits online) to the Committee to indicate participation in the Plan and/or to make an 
election under the Plan. The terms of any Election Form and Plan Agreement may be different for any Participant, and any Election 
Form and Plan Agreement may provide additional benefits not set forth in the Plan or limit the benefits otherwise provided under the 
Plan; provided, however, that any such additional benefits or benefit limitations must be agreed to by the Company, the Employer and 
the Participant.  

   
1.26                            “Employee” shall mean a person who is an employee of any Employer.   The term “Employee” does not include any person 

performing services purportedly as an independent contractor, consultant, or “leased” worker, even if such person alleges or is found to 
be a “common-law employee” of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries, and such persons are not eligible to participate in the Plan. 

   
1.27                            “Employer(s)” shall mean the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries (now in existence or hereafter formed or acquired) whose 

Employees and/or Directors have been selected by the Board to participate in the Plan.  
   
1.28                            “ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as it may be amended from time to time.  
   
1.29                            “401(k) Plan” shall be that certain Best Buy Retirement Savings Plan dated October 1, 1990 and adopted by the Company, as it may be 

amended from time to time.  
   
1.30                            “In-Service Distribution” shall mean the payout set forth in Section 4.1.  
   
1.31                            “Participant” shall mean any Employee or Director (i) who is selected to participate in the Plan, (ii) who elects to participate in the 

Plan, (iii) who properly completes and submits an Election Form and Plan Agreement and a Beneficiary Designation Form, (iv) whose 
Election Form and Plan Agreement and Beneficiary Designation Form are accepted by the Committee, (v) who commences 
participation in the Plan, and (vi) whose Election Form and Plan Agreement has not terminated.  A spouse or former spouse of a 
Participant shall not be treated as a Participant in the Plan or have an Account Balance under the Plan, even if he or she has an interest 
in the Participant’s benefits under the Plan as a result of applicable law or property settlements resulting from legal separation or 
divorce.  
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1.32                            “Plan” shall mean the Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan, which shall be evidenced by this instrument, as it may be amended 

from time to time.  
   
1.33                            “Plan Year” shall mean a period beginning on January 1 of each calendar year and continuing through December 31 of such calendar 

year.  
   
1.34                            “Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit” shall mean the benefit set forth in Article 6.  
   
1.35                            “Quarterly Installment Method” shall be a quarterly installment payment over the number of quarters selected by the Participant in 

accordance with this Plan, calculated as follows: The Account Balance of the Participant shall be calculated as of the close of business 
on the last business day of the quarter.  The quarterly installment shall be calculated by multiplying this balance by a fraction, the 
numerator of which is one, and the denominator of which is the remaining number of quarterly payments due the Participant.  By way 
of example, if the Participant elects a forty (40) quarter Annual Installment Method, the first payment shall be one-fortieth (1/40th) of 
the Account Balance, calculated as described in this definition.  The following quarter, the payment shall be one-thirty-ninth (1/39th) of 
the Account Balance, calculated as described in this definition.  Each quarterly installment shall be paid on or as soon as practicable 
after the last business day of the applicable quarter.  Unless the Committee determines otherwise, quarterly installment payments shall 
be drawn on a pro-rata basis from each of the applicable Measurement Funds used to determine amounts to be credited or debited to the 
Participant’s Account Balance pursuant to Section 3.9 below.  

   
1.36                            “Retirement”, “Retire(s)” or “Retired” shall mean, with respect to an Employee, severance from employment from all Employers for 

any reason other than a leave of absence, death or Disability on or after the attainment of age sixty (60); and shall mean with respect to 
a Director who is not an Employee, severance of his or her directorships with all Employers on or after the attainment of age seventy 
(70).  If a Participant is both an Employee and a Director, Retirement shall not occur until he or she Retires as both an Employee and a 
Director, which Retirement shall be deemed to be a Retirement as a Director; provided, however, that such a Participant may elect, at 
least five years prior to Retirement and in accordance with the policies and procedures established by the Committee, to Retire for 
purposes of this Plan at the time he or she Retires as an Employee, which Retirement shall be deemed to be a Retirement as an 
Employee.  

   
1.37                            “Retirement Benefit” shall mean the benefit set forth in Article 5.  
   
1.38                            “Termination Benefit” shall mean the benefit set forth in Article 7.  
   
1.39                            “Termination of Employment” shall mean the severing of employment with all Employers, or service as a Director of all Employers, 

voluntarily or involuntarily, for any reason other than Retirement, Disability, death or an authorized leave of absence.  If a Participant is 
both an Employee and a Director, a Termination of Employment shall occur only upon the  
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termination of the last position held; provided, however, that such a Participant may elect, at least five years before cessation of 
employment with all Employers and in accordance with the policies and procedures established by the Committee, to be treated for 
purposes of this Plan as having experienced a Termination of Employment at the time he or she ceases employment with all Employers 
as an Employee.  

   
1.40                            “Trust” shall mean one or more trusts established pursuant to that certain Master Trust Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1998 between 

the Company and the trustee named therein, as amended from time to time.  
   
1.41                            “Unforeseeable Financial Emergency” shall mean an unanticipated emergency that is caused by an event beyond the control of the 

Participant that would result in severe financial hardship to the Participant resulting from (i) a sudden and unexpected illness or accident 
of the Participant or a dependent of the Participant, (ii) a loss of the Participant’s property due to casualty, or (iii) such other 
extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the control of the Participant, all as determined in 
the sole discretion of the Committee.  

   
1.42                            “Withdrawal Amount” shall mean the payout set forth in Section 4.4.  
   
1.43                            “Years of Service” shall mean the total number of years in which a Participant has been employed by one or more Employers, as 

defined in Article IV of the 401(k) Plan.  
   

ARTICLE 2  
Selection, Enrollment, Commencement of Participation  

   
2.1                                  Selection by Committee .   Participation in the Plan shall be limited to a select group of management and highly compensated 

Employees and Directors of the Employers, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.  From that group, the Committee 
shall select, in its sole discretion, Employees and Directors to participate in the Plan.  

   
2.2                                  Enrollment Requirements .   As a condition to participation, each selected Employee or Director shall complete, sign and return (or 

complete and submit online, to the extent available) to the Committee an Election Form and Plan Agreement and a Beneficiary 
Designation Form, all within thirty (30) days after he or she is selected to participate in the Plan.  In addition, the Committee shall 
establish from time to time such other enrollment requirements as it determines in its sole discretion are necessary.  

   
2.3                                  Commencement of Participation .   Provided an Employee or Director selected to participate in the Plan has met all enrollment 

requirements set forth in this Plan and required by the Committee, including returning all required documents to the Committee within 
the specified time period, such Employee or Director shall commence participation in the Plan as soon as  

   
7  

 



   
administratively practicable after the date on which such Employee or Director completes all enrollment requirements; provided, that no 
Employee may commence participation in the Plan prior to the first day of the calendar month coincident with or immediately following 
sixty (60) days of continuous employment with any Employer.  If an Employee or a Director fails to meet all such requirements within 
the period required, in accordance with Section 2.2, that Employee or Director shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan until the 
first day of the pay period commencing in the Plan Year following the delivery to and acceptance by the Committee of the required 
documents.  

   
2.4                                  Termination of Participation and/or Deferrals .   If the Committee determines in good faith that a Participant no longer qualifies as 

a member of a select group of management or highly compensated employees, as membership in such group is determined in 
accordance with Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1) of ERISA, the Committee shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to (i) 
terminate any deferral election the Participant has made for the remainder of the Plan Year in which the Participant’s membership status 
changes, (ii) prevent the Participant from making future deferral elections and/or (iii) immediately distribute the Participant’s then 
Account Balance as a Termination Benefit subject to Article 7 and terminate the Participant’s participation in the Plan.  

   
ARTICLE 3  

Deferral Commitments/Company Matching/Crediting/Taxes  
   

3.1                                  Minimum Deferral .   There is no minimum amount for deferral of Base Annual Salary, Bonus or Director’s Fees under the Plan. If 
no election is made, the amount deferred shall be zero.  

   
3.2                                  Maximum Deferral .  
   

(a)                                   Base Annual Salary, Bonus and Directors Fees . For each Plan Year, a Participant may elect to defer, as his or her Annual 
Deferral Amount, Base Annual Salary, Bonus and/or Directors Fees up to the following maximum percentages for each 
deferral elected:  

   

   
(b)                                  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant first becomes a Participant after the first day of a Plan Year, the maximum 

Annual Deferral Amount, with respect to Base Annual Salary, Bonus and Directors Fees shall be limited to the amount of  
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Deferral  
   

Maximum Amount  
Base Annual Salary  

   

75%  
Bonus  

   

100%  
Directors Fees  

   

100%  



   
compensation not yet earned by the Participant as of the date the Participant submits an Election Form and Plan Agreement to 
the Committee for acceptance.  

   
3.3                                  Election to Defer; Effect of Election Form and Plan Agreement .  
   

(a)                                   First Plan Year .   In connection with a Participant’s commencement of participation in the Plan, the Participant shall make 
an irrevocable deferral election for the Plan Year in which the Participant commences participation in the Plan, along with such 
other elections as the Committee deems necessary or desirable under the Plan. For these elections to be valid, the Election 
Form and Plan Agreement must be completed by the Participant and timely delivered to the Committee (in accordance with 
Section 2.2 above) and accepted by the Committee.  

   
(b)                                  Subsequent Plan Years .  For each succeeding Plan Year, the Participant shall make an irrevocable deferral election for that 

Plan Year, and such other elections as the Committee deems necessary or desirable under the Plan.  For these elections to be 
valid, the Election Form and Plan Agreement must be completed by the Participant and timely delivered to the Committee, in 
accordance with its rules and procedures, before the end of the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year for which the election is 
made.  If no such Election Form and Plan Agreement is timely delivered for a Plan Year, the Annual Deferral Amount shall be 
zero for that Plan Year.  

   
(c)                                   Effect of Termination on Pending Election .   Upon the occurrence of a Termination of Employment, any pending election 

shall be automatically terminated.  
   

3.4                                  Withholding of Annual Deferral Amounts .   For each Plan Year, the Base Annual Salary portion of the Annual Deferral Amount 
shall be withheld from each regularly scheduled Base Annual Salary payroll in equal amounts, as may be adjusted from time to time for 
increases and decreases in Base Annual Salary.  The Bonus and/or Directors Fees portion of the Annual Deferral Amount shall be 
withheld at the time the Bonus or Directors Fees are or otherwise would be paid to the Participant, whether or not this occurs during the 
Plan Year itself.  

   
3.5                                  Company Contribution Amount .   For each Plan Year, the Company, in its sole discretion, may, but is not required to, credit any 

amount it desires to any Participant’s Company Contribution Account under this Plan, which amount shall be for that Participant the 
Company Contribution Amount for that Plan Year.  The amount so credited to a Participant may be smaller or larger than the amount 
credited to any other Participant, and the amount credited to any Participant for a Plan Year may be zero, even though one or more other 
Participants receive a Company Contribution Amount for that Plan Year.  The Company Contribution Amount, if any, shall be credited 
as of the date(s) selected by the Company.  
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3.6                                  Company Matching Amount .   For each Plan Year, the Company, in its sole discretion, may, but is not required to, credit to any 

Participant’s Company Matching Account a Company Matching Amount for any Plan Year equal to a percentage of all or a portion of 
the Participant’s Annual Deferral Amount for such Plan Year.  Such Company Matching Amount may, but need not be, coordinated 
with any matching contribution made to the 401(k) Plan on the Participant’s behalf for the plan year of the 401(k) Plan that corresponds 
to the Plan Year. The Company Matching Amount, if any, shall be credited as of the date(s) selected by the Company, which may, but 
need not be, the same date(s) that matching contributions are credited under the 401(k) Plan.  

   
3.7                                  Investment of Trust Assets .   The trustees of the Trust shall be authorized, upon written instructions received from the Committee or 

investment manager appointed by the Committee, to invest and reinvest the assets of the Trust in accordance with the applicable trust 
agreements, including the disposition of Company stock and reinvestment of the proceeds in one or more investment vehicles 
designated by the Committee.  

   
3.8                                  Vesting .  
   

(a)                                   A Participant shall at all times be one hundred percent (100%) vested in his or her Deferral Account.  
   
(b)                                  A Participant shall be vested in his or her Company Contribution Account, if any, and any earnings credited thereon pursuant 

to Section 3.9 below, in accordance with the vesting schedule established by the Company in its sole discretion.  
   
(c)                                   A Participant shall be vested in his or her Company Matching Account, and any earnings credited thereon pursuant to 

Section 3.9 below, as follows: (i) with respect to all benefits under this Plan other than the Termination Benefit, a Participant’s 
vested Company Matching Account shall equal one hundred percent (100%) of such Participant’s Company Matching 
Account; and (ii) with respect to the Termination Benefit, a Participant’s Company Matching Account shall vest on the basis of 
the Participant’s Years of Service at the time the Participant experiences a Termination of Employment, in accordance with the 
following schedule:  
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Years of Service at Date of  
Termination of Employment  

   

Vested Percentage of  
Company Matching Account  

Less than 2 years  
   

0%  
2 years or more, but less than 3  

   

20%  
3 years or more, but less than 4  

   

40%  
4 years or more, but less than 5  

   

60%  
5 years or more  

   

100%  



   
(d)                                  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 3.8 except subsection (e), in the event of either (i) a 

Change in Control, or (ii) a termination of the Plan as described in Section 11.1 below, a Participant’s Company Contribution 
Account and Company Matching Account shall immediately become one hundred percent (100%) vested (if it is not already 
vested in accordance with the above vesting schedules).  

   
(e)                                   Notwithstanding subsection (d), the vesting schedule for a Participant’s Company Contribution Account and Company 

Matching Account shall not be accelerated upon a Change in Control to the extent that the Committee determines that such 
acceleration would cause the deduction limitations of Section 280G of the Code to become effective.  In the event that all of a 
Participant’s Company Contribution Account and/or Company Matching Account is not vested pursuant to such a 
determination, the Participant may request independent verification of the Committee’s calculations with respect to the 
application of Section 280G.  In such case, the Committee must provide to the Participant within fifteen (15) business days of 
such a request an opinion from a nationally recognized accounting firm selected by the Participant (the “Accounting Firm”).  
The opinion shall state the Accounting Firm’s opinion that any limitation in the vested percentage hereunder is necessary to 
avoid the limits of Code Section 280G and contain supporting calculations.  The cost of such opinion shall be paid for by the 
Company.  

   
3.9                                  Crediting/Debiting of Account Balances .   In accordance with, and subject to, the rules and procedures that are established from 

time to time by the Committee, in its sole discretion, amounts shall be credited or debited to a Participant’s Account Balance, which 
solely for purposes of this Section 3.9 shall include the Participant’s Company Contribution Account and Company Matching Account 
regardless of vesting status,  in accordance with the following rules:  

   
(a)                                   Election of Measurement Funds .   A Participant, in connection with his or her initial deferral election in accordance with 

Section 3.3(a) above, shall elect, on the Election Form and Plan Agreement, one or more Measurement Fund(s) (as described 
in Section 3.9(c) below) to be used to determine the additional amounts to be credited or debited to his or her Account Balance 
for the first day in which the Participant commences participation in the Plan and continuing thereafter for each subsequent day 
in which the Participant participates in the Plan, unless changed in accordance with the next sentence. Commencing with the 
first day that follows the Participant’s commencement of participation in the Plan and continuing thereafter for each 
subsequent day in which the Participant participates in the Plan, the Participant may (but is not required to) elect, by submitting 
an Election Form and Plan Agreement to the Committee that is accepted by the Committee, to add or delete one or more 
Measurement Fund(s) to be used to determine the additional amounts to be credited or debited to his or her Account Balance, 
or to change the portion of his or her  
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Account Balance allocated to each previously or newly elected Measurement Fund. The Participant may change the percentage 
of future contributions to be invested in each Measurement Fund and/or elect to have all or part the Participant’s previously 
invested Account Balance transferred among the Measurement Funds at any time. If an election is made in accordance with 
this Subsection (a), it shall be effective as soon as administratively practicable after the election is made.  Generally, an 
election shall become effective on the day such election is made if such election is received before 3:00 PM CT on any 
Business Day, and any election received after 3:00 PM CT on a Business Day, or any election received on a day other than a 
Business Day, shall be effective as of the next Business Day.  Any election shall continue thereafter for each subsequent day in 
which the Participant participates in the Plan, unless changed in accordance with this Subsection (a).  

   
(b)                                  Proportionate Allocation .   In making any election described in Section 3.9(a) above, the Participant shall specify on the 

Election Form and Plan Agreement, in increments of one percentage point (1%), the percentage of his or her Account Balance 
to be allocated to a Measurement Fund (as if the Participant was making an investment in that Measurement Fund with that 
portion of his or her Account Balance).  

   
(c)                                   Measurement Funds . The Participant may elect one or more measurement funds described in the Election Form and Plan 

Agreement and/or accompanying Plan enrollment materials, based on certain mutual funds (the “Measurement Funds”), for the 
purpose of crediting or debiting additional amounts to his or her Account Balance. As necessary, the Committee may, in its 
sole discretion, discontinue, substitute or add a Measurement Fund.  Each such action will take effect as of the first day of the 
calendar month that follows by thirty (30) days the day on which the Committee gives Participants advance written notice of 
such change.  

   
(d)                                  Crediting or Debiting Method .   The performance of each elected Measurement Fund (either positive or negative) will be 

determined by the Committee, in its reasonable discretion, based on the performance of the Measurement Funds themselves.  
A Participant’s Account Balance shall be credited or debited on a daily basis based on the performance of each Measurement 
Fund selected by the Participant, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, as though (i) a Participant’s Account 
Balance were invested in the Measurement Fund(s) selected by the Participant, in the percentages applicable to such day, at the 
closing price on such date; (ii) the portion of the Annual Deferral Amount that was actually deferred during any day were 
invested in the Measurement Fund(s) selected by the Participant, in the percentages applicable to such day, on the day on 
which such amounts are actually deferred from the Participant’s Base Annual Salary through reductions in his or her payroll, at 
the closing price on such date; and (iii) any distribution made to a Participant that decreases such Participant’s Account 
Balance  
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ceased being invested in the Measurement Fund(s), in the percentages applicable to such day, on the Business Day prior to the 
distribution, at the closing price on such prior Business Day. The Participant’s Company Matching Amount shall be credited to 
his or her Company Matching Account for purposes of this Section 3.9(d) as of the close of business on the date(s) that 
matching contributions are credited under the 401(k) Plan.  The Participant’s Company Contribution Amount shall be credited 
to his or her Company Contribution Account on any date(s) selected by the Company.  

   
(e)                                   No Actual Investment .   Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan that may be interpreted to the contrary, the 

Measurement Funds are to be used for measurement purposes only, and a Participant’s election of any such Measurement 
Fund, the allocation to his or her Account Balance thereto, the calculation of additional amounts and the crediting or debiting 
of such amounts to a Participant’s Account Balance shall not be considered or construed in any manner as an actual investment 
of his or her Account Balance in any such Measurement Fund.  In the event that the Company or the trustees of the Trust, in 
their own discretion, decide to invest funds in any or all of the Measurement Funds, no Participant shall have any rights in or to 
such investments themselves.  Without limiting the foregoing, a Participant’s Account Balance shall at all times be a 
bookkeeping entry only and shall not represent any investment made on his or her behalf by the Company or the Trust; the 
Participant shall at all times remain an unsecured creditor of the Company, and where applicable, the Participant’s Employer.  

   
3.10                            FICA and Other Taxes .  
   

(a)                                   Annual Deferral Amounts .   For each Plan Year in which an Annual Deferral Amount is being withheld from a Participant, 
the Participant’s Employer(s) shall withhold from that portion of the Participant’s Base Annual Salary and Bonus that is not 
being deferred, in a manner determined by the Employer(s), the Participant’s share of FICA and other employment taxes on 
such Annual Deferral Amount.  If necessary, the Committee may reduce the Annual Deferral Amount in order to comply with 
this Section 3.10.  

   
(b)                                  Company Matching and Contribution Amounts .   When a Participant becomes vested in a portion of his or her Company 

Matching Account or Company Contribution Account, the Participant’s Employer(s) shall withhold from the Participant’s 
Base Annual Salary and/or Bonus that is not deferred, in a manner determined by the Employer(s), the Participant’s share of 
FICA and other employment taxes.  If necessary, the Committee may reduce the vested portion of the Participant’s Company 
Matching Account in order to comply with this Section 3.10.  

   
3.11                            Distributions .   The Company, or the trustees of the Trust, shall withhold from any payments made to a Participant under this Plan all 

federal, state and local income, employment and  
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other taxes required to be withheld in connection with such payments, in amounts and in a manner to be determined in the sole 
discretion of the Company and the trustees of the Trust.  

   
ARTICLE 4  

In -Service Distribution; Unforeseeable Financial Emergencies; Withdrawal  
   

4.1                                  In -Service Distribution .   In connection with each election to defer an Annual Deferral Amount, a Participant may irrevocably elect 
to receive a future “In-Service Distribution” from the Plan with respect to all or a portion of such Annual Deferral Amount.  Subject to 
the Deduction Limitation, the In-Service Distribution shall be a lump sum payment in an amount that is equal to the portion of the 
Annual Deferral Amount for which the Participant has elected to receive an In-Service Distribution plus or minus amounts credited or 
debited in the manner provided in Section 3.9 above on that amount, determined at the time that the In-Service Distribution  becomes 
payable (rather than the date of a Termination of Employment).  Subject to the Deduction Limitation and the other terms and conditions 
of this Plan, each In-Service Distribution elected shall be paid out during a sixty (60) day period commencing immediately after the last 
day of any Plan Year designated by the Participant that is at least five Plan Years after the Plan Year in which the Annual Deferral 
Amount is actually deferred.  By way of example, if a five year In-Service Distribution is elected for Annual Deferral Amounts that are 
deferred in the Plan Year commencing January 1, 2004, the five year In-Service Distribution would become payable during a sixty (60) 
day period commencing no earlier than January 1, 2010.  

   
4.2                                  Other Benefits Take Precedence Over In-Service Distribution .  Should an event occur that triggers a benefit under Article 5, 6, 7 

or 8, any Annual Deferral Amount, plus amounts credited or debited thereon, that is subject to an In-Service Distribution election under 
Section 4.1 shall not be paid in accordance with Section 4.1 but shall be paid in accordance with the other applicable Article.  

   
4.3                                  Withdrawal Payout/Suspensions for Unforeseeable Financial Emergencies .   If the Participant experiences an Unforeseeable 

Financial Emergency, the Participant may petition the Committee to (i) suspend any deferrals required to be made by a Participant 
and/or (ii) receive a partial or full payout from the Plan.  The payout shall not exceed the lesser of the Participant’s Account Balance, 
calculated as if such Participant were receiving a Termination Benefit, or the amount reasonably needed to satisfy the Unforeseeable 
Financial Emergency.  If, subject to the sole discretion of the Committee, the petition for a suspension and/or payout is approved, 
suspension shall take effect upon the date of approval and any payout shall be made within sixty (60) days of the date of approval.  The 
payment of any amount under this Section 4.3 shall not be subject to the Deduction Limitation.  

   
4.4                                  Withdrawal Election .   A Participant (or, after a Participant’s death, his or her Beneficiary) may elect, at any time, to withdraw all of 

his or her Account Balance, calculated as if there  
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had occurred a Termination of Employment as of the day of the election, less a withdrawal penalty equal to ten percent (10%) of such 
amount (the net amount shall be referred to as the “Withdrawal Amount”). This election can be made at any time, before or after 
Retirement, Disability, death or Termination of Employment, and whether or not the Participant (or Beneficiary) is in the process of 
being paid pursuant to an installment payment schedule. If made before Retirement, Disability or death, a Participant’s Withdrawal 
Amount shall be calculated as if there had occurred a Termination of Employment as of the day of the election. No partial withdrawals 
of the Withdrawal Amount shall be allowed. The Participant (or his or her Beneficiary) shall make this election by giving the 
Committee advance written notice of the election in a form determined from time to time by the Committee. The Participant (or his or 
her Beneficiary) shall be paid the Withdrawal Amount within sixty (60) days of his or her election. Once the Withdrawal Amount is 
paid, the Participant’s participation in the Plan shall terminate and the Participant shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan until the 
first Plan Year following the one (1) year anniversary of the payment of the Withdrawal Amount. The payment of any such Withdrawal 
Amount shall not be subject to the Deduction Limitation.  

   
ARTICLE 5  

Retirement Benefit  
   

5.1                                  Retirement Benefit .   Subject to the Deduction Limitation, a Participant who Retires shall receive, as a Retirement Benefit, his or her 
Account Balance.  

   
5.2                                  Payment of Retirement Benefit .   A Participant, in connection with his or her commencement of participation in the Plan, shall elect 

on an Election Form and Plan Agreement to receive the Retirement Benefit in a lump sum or pursuant to a Quarterly Installment 
Method of twenty (20), forty (40) or sixty (60) quarters.  If the Participant’s Account Balance at the time of Retirement is less than 
$10,000, the Committee, at its discretion, may allow the Retirement Benefit to be paid in a lump sum.  The Participant may annually 
change his or her election to an allowable alternative payout period by submitting a new Election Form and Plan Agreement to the 
Committee, provided that any such Election Form and Plan Agreement is submitted at least 3 years prior to the Participant’s Retirement 
and is accepted by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Election Form and Plan Agreement most recently accepted by the 
Committee shall govern the payout of the Retirement Benefit.  If a Participant does not make any election with respect to the payment 
of the Retirement Benefit, then such benefit shall be payable in a lump sum.  The lump sum payment shall be made, or installment 
payments shall commence, no later than sixty (60) days after the last day of the Plan Year in which the Participant Retires.  Any 
payment made shall be subject to the Deduction Limitation.  

   
5.3                                  Death Prior to Completion of Retirement Benefit .   If a Participant dies after Retirement but before the Retirement Benefit is paid 

in full, the Participant’s unpaid Retirement Benefit  
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payments shall continue and shall be paid to the Participant’s Beneficiary (i) over the remaining number of quarters and in the same 
amounts as that benefit would have been paid to the Participant had the Participant survived, or (ii) in a lump sum, if requested by the 
Beneficiary and allowed in the sole discretion of the Committee, that is equal to the Participant’s unpaid remaining Account Balance.  

   
ARTICLE 6  

Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit  
   

6.1                                  Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit .   Subject to the Deduction Limitation, the Participant’s Beneficiary shall receive a Pre-Retirement 
Survivor Benefit equal to the Participant’s Account Balance if the Participant dies before he or she Retires, experiences a Termination 
of Employment or suffers a Disability.  

   
6.2                                  Payment of Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit .   A Participant, in connection with his or her commencement of participation in the 

Plan, shall elect on an Election Form and Plan Agreement whether the Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit shall be received by his or her 
Beneficiary in a lump sum or pursuant to a Quarterly Installment Method of twenty (20) or forty (40) quarters.  The Participant may 
annually change this election to an allowable alternative payout period by submitting a new Election Form and Plan Agreement to the 
Committee, which form must be accepted by the Committee in its sole discretion.  The Election Form and Plan Agreement most 
recently accepted by the Committee prior to the Participant’s death shall govern the payout of the Participant’s Pre-Retirement Survivor 
Benefit.  If a Participant does not make any election with respect to the payment of the Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit, then such 
benefit shall be paid in a lump sum.  Despite the foregoing, if the Participant’s Account Balance at the time of his or her death is less 
than $25,000, payment of the Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefit may be made, in the sole discretion of the Committee, in a lump sum or 
pursuant to a Quarterly Installment Method of not more than twenty (20) quarters.  The lump sum payment shall be made, or 
installment payments shall commence, no later than sixty (60) days after the last day of the Plan Year in which the Committee is 
provided with proof that is satisfactory to the Committee of the Participant’s death.  Any payment made shall be subject to the 
Deduction Limitation.  

   
ARTICLE 7  

Termination Benefit  
   

7.1                                  Termination Benefit .   Subject to the Deduction Limitation, the Participant shall receive a Termination Benefit, which shall be equal 
to the Participant’s vested Account Balance (with vesting determined as of the date of the Participant’s Termination of Employment), if 
a Participant experiences a Termination of Employment prior to his or her Retirement, death or Disability.  

   
16  

 



   
7.2                                  Payment of Termination Benefit .   If the Participant’s Account Balance at the time of his or her Termination of Employment is less 

than $25,000, payment of his or her Termination Benefit shall be paid in a lump sum.  If his or her Account Balance at such time is 
equal to or greater than that amount, the Participant may request and the Committee, in its sole discretion, may allow the Termination 
Benefit to be paid in a lump sum or pursuant to a Quarterly Installment Method of twenty (20) quarters.  The lump sum payment shall 
be made, or installment payments shall commence, no later than sixty (60) days after the last day of the Plan Year in which the 
Participant experiences the Termination of Employment.  Any payment made shall be subject to the Deduction Limitation.  

   
ARTICLE 8  

Disability Waiver and Benefit  
   

8.1                                  Disability Waiver .  
   

(a)                                   Waiver of Deferral .   A Participant who is determined by the Committee to be suffering from a Disability shall be excused 
from fulfilling that portion of the Annual Deferral Amount commitment that would otherwise have been withheld from a 
Participant’s Base Annual Salary, Bonus and/or Directors Fees for the Plan Year during which the Participant first suffers a 
Disability.  During the period of Disability, the Participant shall not be allowed to make any additional deferral elections, but 
will continue to be considered a Participant for all other purposes of this Plan.  

   
(b)                                  Return to Work .   If a Participant returns to employment, or service as a Director, with an Employer, after a Disability 

ceases, the Participant may elect to defer an Annual Deferral Amount for the Plan Year following his or her return to 
employment or service and for every Plan Year thereafter while a Participant in the Plan; provided such deferral elections are 
otherwise allowed and an Election Form and Plan Agreement is delivered to and accepted by the Committee for each such 
election in accordance with Section 3.3 above.  

   
8.2                                  Continued Eligibility; Disability Benefit .   A Participant suffering a Disability shall, for benefit purposes under this Plan, continue to 

be considered to be employed, or in the service of an Employer as a Director, and shall be eligible for the benefits provided for in 
Articles 4, 5, 6 or 7 in accordance with the provisions of those Articles.  Notwithstanding the above, the Committee shall have the right 
to, in its sole and absolute discretion and for purposes of this Plan only, and must in the case of a Participant who is otherwise eligible 
to Retire, deem the Participant to have experienced a Termination of Employment, or in the case of a Participant who is eligible to 
Retire, to have Retired, at any time (or in the case of a Participant who is eligible to Retire, as soon as practicable) after such Participant 
is determined to be suffering  
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a Disability, in which case the Participant shall receive a Disability Benefit equal to his or her Account Balance at the time of the 
Committee’s determination; provided, however, that should the Participant otherwise have been eligible to Retire, he or she shall be 
paid in accordance with Article 5.  The Disability Benefit shall be paid in a lump sum within sixty (60) days of the Committee’s 
exercise of such right.  Any payment made shall be subject to the Deduction Limitation.  

   
8.3                                  Short-Term Disability Waiver .   If a Participant qualifies for and receives short-term disability benefits under any short-term 

disability plan maintained by Participant’s Employer, the Participant shall continue to be considered employed by the Employer for 
purposes of this Plan and the Participant shall be excused from making deferrals under the Plan until the earlier of the date the short-
term disability benefits expire or the Participant returns to a paid employment status.  Upon such expiration or return, deferrals shall 
resume for the remaining portion of the Plan Year in which the expiration or return occurs, based on the deferral election, if any, made 
for that Plan Year.  If no election was made for that Plan Year, no deferral shall be withheld.  

ARTICLE 9  
Beneficiary Designation  

   
9.1                                  Beneficiary .   Each Participant shall have the right, at any time, to designate his or her Beneficiary(ies) (both primary as well as 

contingent) to receive any benefits payable under the Plan to a beneficiary upon the death of a Participant.  The Beneficiary designated 
under this Plan may be the same as or different from the Beneficiary designation under any other plan of an Employer in which the 
Participant participates.  

   
9.2                                  Beneficiary Designation; Change; Spousal Consent .   A Participant shall designate his or her Beneficiary by completing and 

signing the Beneficiary Designation Form, and returning it to the Committee or its designated agent.  A Participant shall have the right 
to change a Beneficiary by completing, signing and otherwise complying with the terms of the Beneficiary Designation Form and the 
Committee’s rules and procedures, as in effect from time to time.  If the Participant names someone other than his or her spouse as a 
Beneficiary of at least fifty percent (50%) of the Participant’s benefits,  a spousal consent, in the form designated by the Committee, 
must be signed by that Participant’s spouse and returned to the Committee.  Upon the acceptance by the Committee of a new 
Beneficiary Designation Form, all Beneficiary designations previously filed shall be canceled.  The Committee shall be entitled to rely 
on the last Beneficiary Designation Form filed by the Participant and accepted by the Committee prior to his or her death.  

   
9.3                                  Acknowledgment .   No designation or change in designation of a Beneficiary shall be effective until received and acknowledged in 

writing by the Committee or its designated agent.  
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9.4                                  No Beneficiary Designation .   If a Participant fails to designate a Beneficiary as provided in Sections 9.1, 9.2 and 9.3 above or, if all 

designated Beneficiaries predecease the Participant or die prior to complete distribution of the Participant’s benefits, then the 
Participant’s designated Beneficiary shall be deemed to be his or her surviving spouse.  If the Participant has no surviving spouse, the 
benefits remaining under the Plan to be paid to a Beneficiary shall be payable to the executor or personal representative of the 
Participant’s estate.  

   
9.5                                  Doubt as to Beneficiary .   If the Committee has any doubt as to the proper Beneficiary to receive payments pursuant to this Plan, the 

Committee shall have the right, exercisable in its discretion, to cause the Company to withhold such payments until this matter is 
resolved to the Committee’s satisfaction.  

   
9.6                                  Discharge of Obligations .   The payment of benefits under the Plan to a Beneficiary shall fully and completely discharge all 

Employers and the Committee from all further obligations under this Plan with respect to the Participant.  
   

ARTICLE 10  
Leave of Absence  

   
10.1                            Paid Leave of Absence .  If a Participant is authorized by the Participant’s Employer for any reason to take a paid leave of absence 

from the employment of the Employer, the Participant shall continue to be considered employed by the Employer and the Annual 
Deferral Amount shall continue to be withheld during such paid leave of absence in accordance with Section 3.4.  

   
10.2                            Unpaid Leave of Absence .   If a Participant is authorized by the Participant’s Employer for any reason to take an unpaid leave of 

absence from the employment of the Employer, the Participant shall continue to be considered employed by the Employer and the 
Participant shall be excused from making deferrals until the earlier of the date the leave of absence expires or the Participant returns to a 
paid employment status.  Upon such expiration or return, deferrals shall resume for the remaining portion of the Plan Year in which the 
expiration or return occurs, based on the deferral election, if any, made for that Plan Year.  If no election was made for that Plan Year, 
no deferral shall be withheld.  

   
ARTICLE 11  

Termination, Amendment or Modification  
   

11.1                            Termination .   Although the Company anticipates that it will continue the Plan for an indefinite period of time, there is no guarantee 
that the Company will continue the Plan or will not terminate the Plan at any time in the future.  Accordingly, the Company reserves the 
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right to discontinue its sponsorship of the Plan and/or to terminate the Plan at any time with respect to any or all of the participating 
Employees and Directors, by action of its Board.  Upon the termination of the Plan with respect to the Employees and/or Directors of 
any Employer, the Election Form and Plan Agreements of the affected Participants who are employed by that Employer, or in the 
service of that Employer as Directors, shall terminate, and such affected Participants (i) shall immediately become one hundred percent 
(100%) vested in their Company Contribution Accounts and Company Matching Accounts as provided in Section 3.8(d) above (subject 
to Section 3.8(e)), and (ii) shall have their Account Balances (determined as if they had experienced a Termination of Employment on 
the date of Plan termination or, if Plan termination occurs after the date upon which a Participant was eligible to Retire, then with 
respect to that Participant as if he or she had Retired on the date of Plan termination) paid to them as follows:  Prior to a Change in 
Control, if the Plan is terminated with respect to all of the Employees and/or Directors of an Employer, the Company shall have the 
right, in its sole discretion, and notwithstanding any elections made by the Participant, to pay such benefits in a lump sum or pursuant to 
a Quarterly Installment Method of up to sixty (60) quarters, with amounts credited and debited during the installment period as provided 
herein.  If the Plan is terminated with respect to less than all of the Employees and/or Directors of an Employer, the Company shall be 
required to pay such benefits in a lump sum.  After a Change in Control, the Company shall be required to pay such benefits in a lump 
sum.  The termination of the Plan shall not adversely affect any benefits to which a Participant or Beneficiary has become entitled under 
the Plan as of the date of termination; provided however, that the Company shall have the right to accelerate installment payments 
without a premium or prepayment penalty by paying the Account Balance in a lump sum or pursuant to a Quarterly Installment Method 
using fewer quarters (provided that the present value of all payments that will have been received by a Participant at any given point of 
time under the different payment schedule shall equal or exceed the present value of all payments that would have been received at that 
point in time under the original payment schedule).  

   
11.2                            Amendment .   The Company may, at any time, amend or modify the Plan in whole or in part by the action of its Board; provided, 

however, that: (i) no amendment or modification shall be effective to decrease or restrict the value of a Participant’s Account Balance in 
existence at the time the amendment or modification is made, calculated as if the Participant had experienced a Termination of 
Employment as of the effective date of the amendment or modification or, if the amendment or modification occurs after the date upon 
which the Participant was eligible to Retire, the Participant had Retired as of the effective date of the amendment or modification, and 
(ii) no amendment or modification of this Section 11.2 or Section 12.2 of the Plan shall be effective.  The amendment or modification 
of the Plan shall not adversely affect any benefits to which a Participant or Beneficiary has become entitled under the Plan as of the date 
of the amendment or modification; provided, however, that the Company shall have the right to accelerate installment payments by 
paying the Account Balance in a lump sum or pursuant to a Quarterly Installment Method using fewer quarters (provided that the 
present value of all payments that will have been received by a Participant  
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at any given point of time under the different payment schedule shall equal or exceed the present value of all payments that would have 
been received at that point in time under the original payment schedule).  

   
11.3                            Election Form and Plan Agreement .   Despite the provisions of Sections 11.1 and 11.2 above, if a Participant’s Election Form and 

Plan Agreement contains benefits or limitations that are not in this Plan document, the Company may only amend or terminate such 
provisions with the consent of the Participant.  

   
11.4                            Effect of Payment .   The full payment of the applicable benefit under Articles 4, 5, 6, 7 or 8 of the Plan shall completely discharge all 

obligations to a Participant and his or her designated Beneficiaries under this Plan and the Participant’s Election Form and Plan 
Agreement shall terminate.  

   
ARTICLE 12  

Administration  
   

12.1                            Committee Duties .   Except as otherwise provided in this Article 12, this Plan shall be administered by a Committee which shall 
consist of the Board, or such committee as the Board shall appoint.  Members of the Committee may be Participants under this Plan.  
The Committee shall also have the discretion and authority to (i) make, amend, interpret, and enforce all appropriate rules and 
regulations for the administration of this Plan and (ii) decide or resolve any and all questions including interpretations of this Plan, as 
may arise in connection with the Plan.  Any individual serving on the Committee who is a Participant shall not vote or act on any matter 
relating solely to himself or herself. When making a determination or calculation, the Committee shall be entitled to rely on information 
furnished by a Participant or the Company.  

   
12.2                            Administration Upon Change In Control .   For purposes of this Plan, the Company shall be the “Administrator” at all times prior to 

the occurrence of a Change in Control.  Upon and after the occurrence of a Change in Control, the “Administrator” shall be an 
independent third party selected by the trustee of the Master Trust and approved by the individual who, immediately prior to such event, 
was the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or, if not so identified, the Company’s highest ranking officer (the “Ex-CEO”).  The 
Administrator shall have the discretionary power to determine all questions arising in connection with the administration of the Plan and 
the interpretation of the Plan and Trust including, but not limited to benefit entitlement determinations; provided, however, upon and 
after the occurrence of a Change in Control, the Administrator shall have no power to direct the investment of Plan assets or assets of 
the Trust or select any investment manager or custodial firm for the Plan or Trust.  Upon and after the occurrence of a Change in 
Control, the Company must: (i) pay all reasonable administrative expenses and fees of the Administrator; and (ii) supply full and timely 
information to the Administrator or all matters relating to the  

   
21  

 



   
Plan, the Trust, the Participants and their Beneficiaries, the Account Balances of the Participants, the date of circumstances of the 
Retirement, Disability, death or Termination of Employment of the Participants, and such other pertinent information as the 
Administrator may reasonably require.  Upon and after a Change in Control, the Administrator may be terminated (and a replacement 
appointed) by the trustee of the Master Trust only with the approval of the Ex-CEO.  Upon and after a Change in Control, the 
Administrator may not be terminated by the Company.  

   
12.3                            Agents .   In the administration of this Plan, the Committee may, from time to time, employ agents and delegate to them such 

administrative duties as it sees fit (including acting through a duly appointed representative) and may from time to time consult with 
counsel who may be counsel to any Employer.  

   
12.4                            Binding Effect of Decisions .   The decision or action of the Administrator with respect to any question arising out of or in connection 

with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan and the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder shall be final and 
conclusive and binding upon all persons having any interest in the Plan.  

   
12.5                            Indemnity of Committee .   The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the members of the Committee, and any Employee or 

agent to whom the duties of the Committee may be delegated, and the Administrator against any and all claims, losses, damages, 
expenses or liabilities arising from any action or failure to act with respect to this Plan, except in the case of gross negligence or willful 
misconduct by the Committee, any of its members, any such Employee or the Administrator.  

   
12.6                            Employer Information .   To enable the Committee and/or Administrator to perform its functions, the Company and each Employer 

shall supply full and timely information to the Committee and/or Administrator, as the case may be, on all matters relating to the 
compensation of its Participants, the date and circumstances of the Retirement, Disability, death or Termination of Employment of its 
Participants, and such other pertinent information as the Committee or Administrator may reasonably require.  

   
ARTICLE 13  

Other Benefits and Agreements  
   

13.1                            Coordination with Other Benefits .   The benefits provided for a Participant and Participant’s Beneficiary under the Plan are in 
addition to any other benefits available to such Participant under any other plan or program for employees of the Participant’s 
Employer.  The Plan shall supplement and shall not supersede, modify or amend any other such plan or program except as may 
otherwise be expressly provided.  
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ARTICLE 14  

Claims Procedures  
   

14.1                            Presentation of Claim .   Any Participant or Beneficiary of a deceased Participant (such Participant or Beneficiary being referred to 
below as a “Claimant”) may deliver to the Committee a written claim for a determination with respect to the amounts distributable to 
such Claimant from the Plan.  If such a claim relates to the contents of a notice received by the Claimant, the claim must be made within 
sixty (60) days after such notice was received by the Claimant.  All other claims must be made within one hundred eighty (180) days of 
the date on which the event that caused the claim to arise occurred.  The claim must state with particularity the determination desired by 
the Claimant.  

   
14.2                            Notification of Decision .   The Committee shall consider a Claimant’s claim within a reasonable time, and shall notify the Claimant 

in writing:  
   

(a)                                   that the Claimant’s requested determination has been made, and that the claim has been allowed in full; or  
   
(b)                                  that the Committee has reached a conclusion contrary, in whole or in part, to the Claimant’s requested determination, and such 

notice must set forth in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant:  
   

(i)                                      the specific reason(s) for the denial of the claim, or any part of it;  
   

(ii)                                   specific reference(s) to pertinent provisions of the Plan upon which such denial was based;  
   
(iii)                                a description of any additional material or information necessary for the Claimant to perfect the claim, and an 

explanation of why such material or information is necessary; and  
   

(iv)                               an explanation of the claim review procedure set forth in Section 14.3 below.  
   
14.3                            Review of a Denied Claim .   Within sixty (60) days after receiving a notice from the Committee that a claim has been denied, in 

whole or in part, a Claimant (or the Claimant’s duly authorized representative) may file with the Committee a written request for a 
review of the denial of the claim.  Thereafter, but not later than thirty (30) days after the review procedure began, the Claimant (or the 
Claimant’s duly authorized representative):  

   
(a)                                   may review pertinent documents;  
   
(b)                                  may submit written comments or other documents; and/or  
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(c)                                   may request a hearing, which the Committee, in its sole discretion, may grant.  
   

14.4                            Decision on Review .   The Committee shall render its decision on review promptly, and not later than sixty (60) days after the filing 
of a written request for review of the denial, unless a hearing is held or other special circumstances require additional time, in which 
case the Committee’s decision must be rendered within one hundred twenty (120) days after such date.  Such decision must be written 
in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant, and it must contain:  

   
(a)                                   specific reasons for the decision;  
   
(b)                                  specific reference(s) to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the decision was based; and  
   
(c)                                   such other matters as the Committee deems relevant.  
   

14.5                            Subsequent Action; Mandatory Arbitration .  
   

(a)                                   Subsequent Action .   A Claimant’s compliance with the foregoing provisions of this Article 14 is a mandatory prerequisite 
to a Claimant’s right to commence any subsequent action with respect to any claim for benefits under this Plan.  

   
(b)                                  Mandatory Arbitration .   Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Plan shall be resolved by arbitration in 

accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  Arbitration shall be by a single 
arbitrator experienced in the matters at issue and selected by the parties in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules 
of the American Arbitration Association.  The arbitration shall be held in such place in Minneapolis, Minnesota, as may be 
specified by the arbitrator (or any place agreed to by the parties and the arbitrator).  The decision of the arbitrator shall be final 
and binding as to any matters submitted under this Article 14; provided, however, if necessary, such decision may be enforced 
in any court having jurisdiction over the subject matter or over any of the parties to this Plan.  All costs and expenses incurred 
in connection with any such arbitration proceeding (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) shall be borne by the party against 
which the decision is rendered.  If the arbitrator’s decision is a compromise, the determination of which party or parties bears 
the costs and expenses incurred in connection with such arbitration proceeding shall be made by the arbitrator on the basis of 
the arbitrator’s assessment of the relative merits of the parties’ positions.  
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ARTICLE 15  

Establishment of The Trust  
   

15.1                            Establishment and Funding of the Trust . The Company shall establish the Trust. The Company shall at least annually transfer over 
to the Trust such assets as the Company determines, in its sole discretion, are necessary to provide, on a present value basis, for its 
respective future liabilities created with respect to the Annual Deferral Amounts, Company Contribution Amounts, and Company 
Matching Amounts for the Participants for all periods prior to the transfer, as well as any debits and credits to the Participants’ Account 
Balances for all periods prior to the transfer, taking into consideration the value of the assets in such Trust at the time of the transfer.  

   
15.2                            Interrelationship of the Plan and the Trust .   The provisions of the Plan shall govern the rights of a Participant to receive 

distributions pursuant to the Plan.  The provisions of the Trust shall govern the rights of the Company, the Participants, and the creditors 
of the Company and, where applicable, creditors of Employers other than the Company, to the assets transferred to the Trust.  The 
Company shall at all times remain liable to carry out its obligations under the Plan.  

   
15.3                            Distributions From the Trust .   The Company’s obligations under the Plan may be satisfied with assets of the Trust distributed 

pursuant to the terms of the Trust, and any such distribution shall reduce the Company’s obligations under this Plan.  
   

ARTICLE 16  
Miscellaneous  

   
16.1                            Status of Plan .  The Plan is intended to be a plan that is not qualified within the meaning of Code Section 401(a) and that “is 

unfunded and is maintained by an employer primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a select group of 
management or highly compensated employees” within the meaning of ERISA Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1).  The Plan 
shall be administered and interpreted to the extent possible in a manner consistent with that intent.  

   
16.2                            Unsecured General Creditor .   Participants and their Beneficiaries, heirs, successors and assigns shall have no legal or equitable 

rights, interests or claims in any property or assets of an Employer.  For purposes of the payment of benefits under this Plan, any and all 
of the Company’s assets shall be, and remain, the general, unpledged unrestricted assets of the Company.  The Company’s obligation 
under the Plan shall be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise to pay money in the future.  

   
16.3                            Employer Liability .  The Company’s liability for the payment of benefits, and the obligation of any Employer, shall be defined only 

by the Plan and the Election Form and  
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Plan Agreements, as entered into between the Company, the Employer (if different from the Company) and a Participant.  Neither the 
Company nor an Employer shall have any obligation to a Participant under the Plan except as expressly provided in the Plan and his or 
her Election Form and Plan Agreement.  

   
16.4                            Nonassignability .   Neither a Participant nor any other person shall have any right to commute, sell, assign, transfer, pledge, 

anticipate, mortgage or otherwise encumber, transfer, hypothecate, alienate or convey in advance of actual receipt, the amounts, if any, 
payable hereunder, or any part thereof, which are, and all rights to which are expressly declared to be, unassignable and non-
transferable.  No part of the amounts payable shall, prior to actual payment, be subject to seizure, attachment, garnishment or 
sequestration for the payment of any debts, judgments, alimony or separate maintenance owed by a Participant or any other person, be 
transferable by operation of law in the event of a Participant’s or any other person’s bankruptcy or insolvency or be transferable to a 
spouse as a result of a property settlement or otherwise.  

   
16.5                            Not a Contract of Employment .   The terms and conditions of this Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract of employment 

between any Employer and the Participant.  Such employment is hereby acknowledged to be an “at will” employment relationship that 
can be terminated at any time for any reason, or no reason, with or without cause, and with or without notice, unless expressly provided 
in a written employment agreement.  Nothing in this Plan shall be deemed to give a Participant the right to be retained in the service of 
any Employer, either as an Employee or a Director, or to interfere with the right of any Employer to discipline or discharge the 
Participant at any time.  

   
16.6                            Furnishing Information .   A Participant or his or her Beneficiary will cooperate with the Committee by furnishing any and all 

information requested by the Committee and take such other actions as may be requested in order to facilitate the administration of the 
Plan and the payments of benefits hereunder, including but not limited to taking such physical examinations as the Committee may 
deem necessary.  

   
16.7                            Terms .   Whenever any words are used herein in the masculine, they shall be construed as though they were in the feminine in all 

cases where they would so apply; and whenever any words are used herein in the singular or in the plural, they shall be construed as 
though they were used in the plural or the singular, as the case may be, in all cases where they would so apply.  

   
16.8                            Captions .   The captions of the articles, sections and paragraphs of this Plan are for convenience only and shall not control or affect 

the meaning or construction of any of its provisions.  
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16.9                            Governing Law .   Subject to ERISA, the provisions of this Plan shall be construed and interpreted according to the internal laws of 

the State of Minnesota without regard to its conflicts of laws principles.  
   
16.10                      Notice .   Any notice or filing required or permitted to be given to the Committee under this Plan shall be sufficient if in writing and 

hand-delivered, or sent by registered or certified mail, to the address below:  
   

   
Such notice shall be deemed given as of the date of delivery or, if delivery is made by mail, as of the date shown on the postmark on the 
receipt for registration or certification.  

   
Any notice or filing required or permitted to be given to a Participant under this Plan shall be sufficient if in writing and hand-delivered, 
or sent by mail, to the last known address of the Participant.  

   
16.11                      Successors .   The provisions of this Plan shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Company and, where applicable, the Participant’s 

Employer, their respective successors and assigns, and the Participant and the Participant’s designated Beneficiaries.  
   
16.12                      Spouse’s Interest .   The interest in the benefits hereunder of a spouse of a Participant who has predeceased the Participant shall 

automatically pass to the Participant and shall not be transferable by such spouse in any manner, including but not limited to such 
spouse’s will, nor shall such interest pass under the laws of intestate succession.  

   
16.13                      Validity .   In case any provision of this Plan shall be illegal or invalid for any reason, said illegality or invalidity shall not affect the 

remaining parts hereof, but this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision had never been inserted 
herein.  

   
16.14                      Incompetence .  If the Committee determines in its discretion that a benefit under this Plan is to be paid to a minor, a person declared 

incompetent or to a person incapable of handling the disposition of that person’s property, the Committee may direct payment of such 
benefit to the guardian, legal representative or person having the care and custody of such minor,  
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Best Buy Co., Inc.  
      

Office of the General Counsel  
      

7601 Penn Avenue South  
      

Richfield, MN 55423  
   

with a copy to:  
   

      

Elliot S. Kaplan, Esq.  
      

Robins, Kaplan, Miller & Ciresi L.L.P.  
      

2800 LaSalle Plaza  
      

800 LaSalle Avenue  
      

Minneapolis, MN 55402  



   
incompetent or incapable person.  The Committee may require proof of minority, incompetence, incapacity or guardianship, as it may 
deem appropriate prior to distribution of the benefit.  Any payment of a benefit shall be a payment for the account of the Participant and 
the Participant’s Beneficiary, as the case may be, and shall be a complete discharge of any liability under the Plan for such payment 
amount.  

   
16.15                      Court Order .   The Committee is authorized to make any payments directed by court order in any action in which the Plan or the 

Committee has been named as a party.  In addition, if a court determines that a spouse or former spouse of a Participant has an interest 
in the Participant’s benefits under the Plan in connection with a property settlement or otherwise, the Committee, in its sole discretion, 
shall have the right, notwithstanding any election made by a Participant, to immediately distribute the spouse’s or former spouse’s 
interest in the Participant’s benefits under the Plan to that spouse or former spouse.  

   
16.16                      Distribution in the Event of Taxation .  
   

(a)                                   In General .   If, for any reason, all or any portion of a Participant’s benefits under this Plan becomes taxable to the 
Participant prior to receipt, a Participant may petition the Committee before a Change in Control, or the Administrator of the 
Trust after a Change in Control, for a distribution of that portion of his or her benefit that has become taxable.  Upon the grant 
of such a petition, which grant shall not be unreasonably withheld (and, after a Change in Control, shall be granted), the  
Company shall distribute to the Participant immediately available funds in an amount equal to the taxable portion of his or her 
benefit (which amount shall not exceed a Participant’s unpaid Account Balance under the Plan).  If the petition is granted, the 
tax liability distribution shall be made within ninety (90) days of the date when the Participant’s petition is granted.  Such a 
distribution shall affect and reduce the benefits to be paid under this Plan.  

   
(b)                                  Trust .   If the Trust terminates in accordance with Section 3.6(e) of such Trust and benefits are distributed from such Trust to 

a Participant in accordance with that Section, the Participant’s benefits under this Plan shall be reduced to the extent of such 
distributions.  

   
16.17                      Insurance .   The Company, on its own behalf or on behalf of the trustees of  the Trust, and, in its sole discretion, may apply for and 

procure insurance on the life of the Participant, in such amounts and in such forms as the trustees may choose.  The Company or the 
trustees of any of the Trust, as the case may be, shall be the sole owner and beneficiary of any such insurance.  The Participant shall 
have no interest whatsoever in any such policy or policies, and at the request of the Company shall submit to medical examinations and 
supply such information and execute such documents as may be required by the insurance company or companies to whom the 
Company has applied for insurance.  
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16.18                      Legal Fees To Enforce Rights After Change in Control .   The Company is aware that upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, 

the Board or the board of directors of a Participant’s Employer (which might then be composed of new members) or a shareholder of 
the Company or the Participant’s Employer, or of any successor corporation might then cause or attempt to cause the Company, the 
Participant’s Employer or such successor to refuse to comply with its obligations under the Plan and might cause or attempt to cause the 
Company or the Participant’s Employer to institute, or may institute, litigation seeking to deny Participants the benefits intended under 
the Plan.  In these circumstances, the purpose of the Plan could be frustrated.  Accordingly, if, following a Change in Control, it should 
appear to any Participant that the Company, the Participant’s Employer or any successor corporation has failed to comply with any of 
its obligations under the Plan or any agreement thereunder or, if the Company, such Employer or any other person takes any action to 
declare the Plan void or unenforceable or institutes any litigation or other legal action designed to deny, diminish or to recover from any 
Participant the benefits intended to be provided, then the Company irrevocably authorizes such Participant to retain counsel of his or her 
choice at the expense of the Company to represent such Participant in connection with the initiation or defense of any litigation or other 
legal action, whether by or against the Company, the Participant’s Employer or any director, officer, shareholder or other person 
affiliated with the Company, the Participant’s Employer or any successor thereto in any jurisdiction.  

   
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has signed this Fourth Amended and Restated Plan document effective as of April 1, 2004.  
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Best Buy Co., Inc., a Minnesota corporation  
      
      
   

By:  /s/ John C. Walden  
   

      

John C. Walden  
      

Executive Vice President  
      

Human Capital and Leadership  
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Exhibit 12.1 

  
Statements re: Computation of Ratios  

($ in millions)  
   

   

Note:  Computation is based on continuing operations  
   

 

      

Feb. 28,  
2004  

   

Mar. 1,  
2003  

   

Mar. 2,  
2002  

   

Mar. 3,  
2001  

   

Feb. 26,  
2000  

   

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges:  
                            

Earnings:  
                            

Net earnings  
   

$ 705 
   $ 99 

   $ 570 
   $ 396 

   $ 347 
   

Discontinued operations, net of tax  
   

95 
   441 

   —
   5 

   —
   

Change in accounting principles, net of tax  
   

—
   82 

   —
   —

   —
   

Income tax expense  
   

496 
   392 

   356 
   248 

   216 
   

                               
Earnings from continuing operations before 

income tax expense  
   

1,296 
   1,014 

   926 
   649 

   563 
   

                               
Fixed Charges:  

                            
Interest portion of rental expense  

   

140 
   132 

   110 
   86 

   68 
   

Interest expense  
   

32 
   24 

   10 
   6 

   5 
   

                               
Total fixed charges  

   

172 
   156 

   120 
   92 

   73 
   

                               
Less:  

                            
Capitalized interest  

   

(1 )  (5 )  (1 )  —
   —

   
                               
Fixed charges in earnings  

   

171 
   151 

   119 
   92 

   73 
   

                               
Earnings available for fixed charges  

   

$ 1,467 
   $ 1,165 

   $ 1,045 
   $ 741 

   $ 636 
   

                               
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges  

   

8.55 
   7.68 

   8.83 
   8.05 

   8.62 
   



 
Exhibit 13.1 

11-Year Financial Highlights  
   
$ in millions, except per share amounts  
   

   

 

Fiscal Year (1)  
   

2004  
   

2003 (2)  
   

2002 (3)  
   

2001 (3)  
   

2000  
   

1999  
   

                                   
Consolidated Statements of Earnings Data  

                                       

Revenue  
   

$ 24,547 
   

$ 20,946 
   

$ 17,711 
   

$ 15,189 
   

$ 12,494 
   

$ 10,065 
   

Gross profit  
   

6,197 
   

5,236 
   

3,770 
   

3,012 
   

2,393 
   

1,815 
   

Selling, general and administrative expenses  
   

4,893 
   

4,226 
   

2,862 
   

2,401 
   

1,854 
   

1,464 
   

Operating income  
   

1,304 
   

1,010 
   

908 
   

611 
   

539 
   

351 
   

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations  
   

800 
   

622 
   

570 
   

401 
   

347 
   

216 
   

Loss from discontinued operations, net  of tax  
   

(29 )  (441 )  — 
   

(5 )  — 
   

— 
   

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax  
   

(66 )  — 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of 
tax (2)  

   

— 
   

(82 )  — 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Net earnings (loss)  
   

705 
   

99 
   

570 
   

396 
   

347 
   

216 
   

                                   
Per Share Data (4)  

                                       

Continuing operations  
   

$ 2.44 
   

$ 1.91 
   

$ 1.77 
   

$ 1.26 
   

$ 1.09 
   

$ 0.69 
   

Discontinued operations  
   

(0.09 )  (1.36 )  — 
   

(0.02 )  — 
   

— 
   

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations  
   

(0.20 )  — 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Cumulative effect of accounting changes  
   

— 
   

(0.25 )  — 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Net earnings (loss)  
   

2.15 
   

0.30 
   

1.77 
   

1.24 
   

1.09 
   

0.69 
   

Cash dividends declared and paid  
   

0.40 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Common stock price:  
                                       

High  
   

62.70 
   

53.75 
   

51.47 
   

59.25 
   

53.67 
   

32.67 
   

Low  
   

25.55 
   

16.99 
   

22.42 
   

14.00 
   

27.00 
   

9.83 
   

                                   
Operating Statistics  

                                       

Comparable store sales change (5)  
   

7.1 % 2.4 % 1.9 % 4.9 % 11.1 % 13.5 % 
Gross profit rate  

   

25.2 % 25.0 % 21.3 % 19.8 % 19.2 % 18.0 % 
Selling, general and administrative expense rate  

   

19.9 % 20.2 % 16.2 % 15.8 % 14.8 % 14.5 % 
Operating income rate  

   

5.3 % 4.8 % 5.1 % 4.0 % 4.3 % 3.5 % 
                                   
Year-End Data  

                                       

Working capital (6)  
   

$ 1,223 
   

$ 1,074 
   

$ 895 
   

$ 214 
   

$ 453 
   

$ 662 
   

Total assets (6)  
   

8,652 
   

7,694 
   

7,367 
   

4,840 
   

2,995 
   

2,532 
   

Long-term debt, including current portion (6)  
   

850 
   

834 
   

820 
   

296 
   

31 
   

61 
   

Convertible preferred securities  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Total shareholders’  equity  
   

3,422 
   

2,730 
   

2,521 
   

1,822 
   

1,096 
   

1,034 
   

Number of stores  
                                       

U.S. Best Buy stores  
   

608 
   

548 
   

481 
   

419 
   

357 
   

311 
   

Magnolia Audio Video stores  
   

22 
   

19 
   

13 
   

13 
   

— 
   

— 
   

International stores  
   

127 
   

112 
   

95 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Musicland stores  
   

— 
   

1,195 
   

1,321 
   

1,309 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Total retail square footage (000s)  
                                       

U.S. Best Buy stores  
   

26,421 
   

24,243 
   

21,599 
   

19,010 
   

16,205 
   

14,017 
   

Magnolia Audio Video stores  
   

218 
   

189 
   

133 
   

133 
   

— 
   

— 
   

International stores  
   

2,800 
   

2,375 
   

1,923 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Musicland stores  
   

— 
   

8,305 
   

8,806 
   

8,772 
   

— 
   

— 
   



   
$ in millions, except per share amounts  
   

Please read this table in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, as well as 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes, included in Item 7 and Item 8, respectively, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain 
prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year presentation. Results for fiscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 reflect the 
classification of Musicland’s financial results as discontinued operations.  
   
(1) 

                                      Both fiscal 2001 and 1996 included 53 weeks. All other periods presented included 52 weeks.  
   
(2) 

                                      Effective on March 3, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets. During fiscal 2003, we completed the required goodwill impairment testing and recognized an after-tax,  

   

 

Fiscal Year (1)  
   

1998  
   

1997  
   

1996  
   

1995  
   

1994 (2)  
   

                              
Consolidated Statements of Earnings Data  

                                 

Revenue  
   

$ 8,338 
   

$ 7,758 
   

$ 7,215 
   

$ 5,080 
   

$ 3,007 
   

Gross profit  
   

1,312 
   

1,046 
   

934 
   

690 
   

457 
   

Selling, general and administrative expenses  
   

1,146 
   

1,006 
   

814 
   

568 
   

380 
   

Operating income  
   

166 
   

40 
   

120 
   

122 
   

77 
   

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations  
   

82 
   

(6 )  46 
   

58 
   

42 
   

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax (2)  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

(1 )  
Net earnings (loss)  

   

82 
   

(6 )  46 
   

58 
   

41 
   

                              
Per Share Data (4)  

                                 

Continuing operations  
   

$ 0.30 
   

$ (0.02 )  $ 0.18 
   

$ 0.21 
   

$ 0.17 
   

Discontinued operations  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Cumulative effect of accounting changes  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Net earnings (loss)  
   

0.30 
   

(0.02 )  0.18 
   

0.21 
   

0.17 
   

Cash dividends declared and paid  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Common stock price:  
                                 

High  
   

10.20 
   

4.37 
   

4.94 
   

7.54 
   

5.24 
   

Low  
   

1.44 
   

1.31 
   

2.13 
   

3.69 
   

1.81 
   

                              
Operating Statistics  

                                 

Comparable store sales change (5)  
   

2.0 % (4.7 %) 5.5 % 19.9 % 26.9 % 
Gross profit rate  

   

15.7 % 13.5 %  12.9 % 13.6 % 15.2 % 
Selling, general and administrative expense rate  

   

13.7 % 13.0 %  11.3 % 11.2 % 12.6 % 
Operating income rate  

   

2.0 % 0.5 %  1.7 % 2.4 % 2.6 % 
                              
Year-End Data  

                                 

Working capital (6)  
   

$ 666 
   

$ 563 
   

$ 585 
   

$ 609 
   

$ 363 
   

Total assets (6)  
   

2,070 
   

1,740 
   

1,892 
   

1,507 
   

952 
   

Long-term debt, including current portion (6)  
   

225 
   

238 
   

230 
   

241 
   

220 
   

Convertible preferred securities  
   

230 
   

230 
   

230 
   

230 
   

— 
   

Total shareholders’  equity  
   

536 
   

429 
   

430 
   

376 
   

311 
   

Number of stores  
                                 

U.S. Best Buy stores  
   

284 
   

272 
   

251 
   

204 
   

151 
   

Magnolia Audio Video stores  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

International stores  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Musicland stores  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Total retail square footage (000s)  
                                 

U.S. Best Buy stores  
   

12,694 
   

12,026 
   

10,771 
   

8,041 
   

5,072 
   

Magnolia Audio Video stores  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

International stores  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

Musicland stores  
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   

— 
   



   
non-cash impairment charge of $40 that is reflected in our fiscal 2003 financial results as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle. Also effective on March 3, 2002, we changed our method of accounting for vendor allowances in accordance with Emerging 
Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 02-16, Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration Received from a Vendor. The change 
resulted in an after-tax, non-cash charge of $42 that also is reflected in our fiscal 2003 financial results as a cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle. Refer to Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. Prior fiscal years have not been restated to reflect the pro forma effects of these changes. During fiscal 1994, we 
adopted SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, resulting in a cumulative effect adjustment of $1.  

   
(3) 

                                      During the third quarter of fiscal 2002, we acquired the common stock of Future Shop Ltd. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, we 
acquired the common stock of Musicland Stores Corporation (Musicland) and Magnolia Hi-Fi, Inc. (Magnolia Hi-Fi). During fiscal 
2004, Magnolia Hi-Fi began doing business as Magnolia Audio Video. The results of operations of these businesses are included from 
their respective dates of acquisition. As noted previously, Musicland’s financial results are included in discontinued operations.  

   
(4) 

                                      Earnings per share is presented on a diluted basis and reflects a three-for-two stock split in May 2002; two-for-one stock splits in 
March 1999, May 1998 and April 1994; and a three-for-two stock split in September 1993.  

   
(5) 

                                      Comprised of revenue at stores and Internet sites operating for at least 14 full months, as well as remodeled and expanded locations. 
Relocated stores are excluded from the comparable store sales calculation until at least 14 full months after reopening. Acquired stores 
are included in the comparable store sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the first anniversary of the date of 
acquisition. The calculation of the comparable store sales percentage change excludes the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates.  

   
In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, we refined our methodology for calculating our comparable store sales percentage change. It now 
reflects the impact of non-point-of-sale (non-POS) revenue transactions. We refined our comparable store sales calculation in light of 
changes in our business.  Previously, our comparable store sales calculation was based on store POS revenue. The comparable store 
sales change for fiscal 2004 has been computed based on the refined methodology. The comparable store sales changes for prior fiscal 
years have not been computed using the refined methodology. Refining the methodology for calculating our comparable store sales 
percentage change did not impact previously reported revenue, earnings or cash flows.  

   
(6) 

                                      Includes both continuing and discontinued operations.  
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BEST BUY CO., INC.  
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT AS OF 02/28/2004*  

   

   

 

      

State or  
Province of Formation  

   

BBC Insurance Agency, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

BBC Investment Co.  
   

Nevada  
   

BBY Networks, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

Best Buy Stores, L.P.  
   

Delaware  
   

Best Buy Marketing Concepts, LLC  
   

Minnesota  
   

Nichols Distribution, LLC  
   

Minnesota  
   

BestBuy.com, LLC  
   

Delaware  
   

Geek Squad, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

BBC Property Co.  
   

Minnesota  
   

Best Buy Stores, L.P.  
   

Delaware  
   

Best Buy Marketing Concepts, LLC  
   

Minnesota  
   

Nichols Distribution, LLC  
   

Minnesota  
   

BestBuy.com, LLC  
   

Delaware  
   

Geek Squad, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

Best Buy Enterprise Services, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

BBCAN Finance Company One, ULC  
   

Nova Scotia  
   

BBCAN Financial Services, L.P.  
   

Alberta  
   

BBCAN Finance Company Two, ULC  
   

Nova Scotia  
   

BBCAN Financial Services, L.P.  
   

Alberta  
   

Best Buy Canada Ltd.  
   

Canadian Federal Corporation  
   

656956 British Columbia Ltd.  
   

British Columbia  
   

661899 British Columbia Ltd.  
   

British Columbia  
   

6154158 Canada Ltd.  
   

British Columbia  
   

BBCAN Intangibles, Limited Partnership  
   

British Columbia  
   

FutureGard Reinsurance Ltd.  
   

Turks & Caicos Islands  
   

Futureshop.com Ltd.  
   

British Columbia  
   

BBCAN Intangibles, Limited Partnership  
   

British Columbia  
   

Vycom Partners LLP  
   

Washington  
   

Future Shop (U.S.) L.P.  
   

Washington  
   

FutureShop, Inc.  
   

Washington  
   

Vycom Partners LLP  
   

Washington  
   

Future Shop (U.S.) L.P.  
   

Washington  
   

Future Shop (U.S.) L.P.  
   

Washington  
   

Best Buy Holdings BV  
   

Netherlands  
   

Best Buy (Bermuda) Ltd.  
   

Bermuda  
   

Best Buy China  
   

China  
   

BBY (Mauritius III) Ltd.  
   

Republic of Mauritius  
   

Best Buy (Asia Pacific) Ltd.  
   

China  
   

Best Buy Purchasing, LLC  
   

Minnesota  
   

Magnolia Hi-Fi, Inc.  
   

Washington  
   



   

   

*                                          Indirect subsidiaries are indicated by indentation.  
 

Redline Entertainment, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

vpr Matrix, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

vpr Matrix (Bermuda) Limited  
   

Bermuda  
   

vpr Matrix (Hong Kong) Limited  
   

Hong Kong  
   

vpr Matrix (Canada) Company  
   

Nova Scotia  
   

vpr Matrix B.V.  
   

Netherlands  
   

vpr Matrix (U.K.) Ltd.  
   

United Kingdom  
   

BBY Holdings International, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

vpr Matrix (Hong Kong) Limited  
   

Hong Kong  
   

vpr Matrix (Canada) Company  
   

Nova Scotia  
   

vpr Matrix B.V.  
   

Netherlands  
   

vpr Matrix (U.K.) Ltd.  
   

United Kingdom  
   

CP Gal Ritchfield, LLC  
   

Delaware  
   

Best Buy Finance, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
   

BBY (Mauritius I) Ltd.  
   

Republic of Mauritius  
   

BBY (Mauritius II) Ltd.  
   

Republic of Mauritius  
   

GarageSalePro Companies, Inc.  
   

Minnesota  
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Consent of Independent Auditors  

   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 pertaining to the Convertible Debentures due June 27, 
2021 (No. 333-70060) and the 2.25% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due January 15, 2022 (No. 333-83562), the Registration Statements 
on Form S-8 pertaining to the Deferred Compensation Plan (Nos. 333-49371 and 333-80967), the 1997 Directors’ Non-Qualified Stock Option 
Plan (No. 333-39531), the 1997 Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (Nos. 333-39533 and 333-61897), the 1987 Employee Non-
Qualified Stock Option Plan (No. 33-54875), the 1994 Full-Time Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option (No. 33-54871), the 1987 Directors’ 
Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (No. 33-54873), the 2000 Restricted Stock Award Plan (No. 333-46228), and The Assumed Musicland 1988 
Stock Option Plan, The Assumed Musicland 1992 Stock Option Plan, The Assumed Musicland 1994 Stock Option Plan, and The Assumed 
Musicland 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (collectively, No. 333-56146) of our report dated March 29, 2004, with respect to the consolidated 
financial statements and schedule of Best Buy Co., Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended February 28, 2004.  
   

   
   
Minneapolis, Minnesota  
April 26, 2004  
   

 

   

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

RULE 13a-14(a),  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   
I, Bradbury H. Anderson, certify that:  
   
1.                                        I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc.;  
   
2.                                        Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

   
3.                                        Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
   
4.                                        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:  
   

a)                                       Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   
b)                                      Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

   
c)                                       Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

   
5.                                        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

   
a)                                       All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

   
b)                                      Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   
   

   

 

Date: April 28, 2004  
      

         
      

/s/ Bradbury H. Anderson  
      

Bradbury H. Anderson  
      

Vice Chairman  
      

and Chief Executive Officer  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

RULE 13a-14(a),  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   
I, Darren R. Jackson, certify that:  
   
1.                                        I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Best Buy Co., Inc.;  
   
2.                                        Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

   
3.                                        Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
   
4.                                        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:  
   

a)                                       Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   
b)                                      Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

   
c)                                       Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

   
5.                                        The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

   
a)                                       All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

   
b)                                      Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   
   

   

 

Date: April 28, 2004  
      

         
      

/s/ Darren R. Jackson  
      

Darren R. Jackson  
      

Executive Vice President — Finance  
      

and Chief Financial Officer  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 (adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), I, the undersigned Vice Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of Best Buy Co., Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal 
year ended February 28, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.  
   
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  
   
   

   

 

Date: April 28, 2004  
   

      
   

/s/  Bradbury H. Anderson  
   

Bradbury H. Anderson  
   

Vice Chairman  
   

and Chief Executive Officer  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 (adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), I, the undersigned Executive Vice President — 
Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Best Buy Co., Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the 
Company for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company.  
   
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  
   
   

   

 

Date: April 28, 2004  
   

      
   

/s/ Darren R. Jackson  
   

Darren R. Jackson  
   

Executive Vice President — Finance  
   

and Chief Financial Officer  


